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Higher Gear

This has been an exciting year for ATB Financial. Not only have we produced the best financial 
results in ATB’s history, but we’ve done that while achieving the highest engagement among 
team members and building an even stronger reputation and connection with our customers. 

The natural question is: Where do we go from here? While our results this year are impressive, 
the potential for ATB to reach and serve even more Albertans is tremendous.

In a way, running a bank is like riding a bike—you need to be in the right gear to fly by  
your competitors and hit the finish line in record time. For ATB, that means switching to  
a higher gear. 

So we’re taking what we’ve done for 75 years and applying it to how we ride going forward. 
That means creating value for customers and expanding our relationship with them. It means 
giving our team members the tools and inspiration to do their very best work. It means using 
the full potential of the bicycle we’ve built and the talents of the team members who take  
the ride with us every day. 

Our goals remain the same. We want to be the place to work, loved and respected by Albertans, 
and number one in every market we’re in. We’re doing this by developing better leaders,  
being more innovative, streamlining our processes to make them simpler, and understanding 
our customers and what they want and need better than anyone else. 

This report describes how we ramped up in 2013–14 and provides more information about  
our Higher Gear strategy. We look forward to a fantastic ride.
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Performing Loans ($ billions) Total Deposits ($ billions)

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

$24.1 $25.1
$26.6

$29.6

$33.9

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

$20.0 $21.0 $22.2
$23.7

$27.3

2013–14 Financial Highlights

1 These are new key performance measures for the fiscal year.  
2 Number of team members includes casual and commissioned.

For the year ended March 31 2014 2013 restated
Operating results ($ in thousands)  
Net interest income $ 966,012 $ 878,152
Other income 384,447 351,585
Operating revenue 1,350,459 1,229,737
Provision for credit losses 42,395 45,923
Non-interest expenses 949,091 869,392
Net income before payment in lieu of tax 358,973 314,422
Payment in lieu of tax 82,564 73,122 
Net income $ 276,409  $ 241,300
Financial position ($ in thousands)   
Net loans $ 33,885,144 $ 29,658,461 
Total assets $ 37,667,229 $ 33,080,094 
Total deposits $ 27,316,438 $ 23,731,371 
Equity $ 2,583,934 $ 2,255,461 
Key performance measures (%)   
Return on average assets 0.78 0.75 
Operating revenue growth 9.8 9.8 
Other income to operating revenue 28.5 28.6 
Operating expense growth 9.2 3.1 
Efficiency ratio 70.3 70.7  
Net interest spread 2.85 2.85 
Credit losses to average loans 0.13 0.16 
Net impaired loans to total gross loans 0.10 0.26 
Net loan growth 14.3 11.0 
Performing loan growth 14.4 11.1 
Total asset growth 13.9 6.6 
Total deposit growth 15.1 6.8 
Return on risk-weighted assets1 1.1 1.0
Growth in assets under management1 28.1 20.8
Other information
Investor Services’ assets under management
  and administration ($ in thousands) $ 11,029,074 $ 8,608,538 
Branches 171 171 
Agencies 133 130 
ABMs 274 273 
Team members (head count)2 5,055  5,250 
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2011 2012 2013 2014

$6.26
$7.13

$8.61

$11.03

81%
employee engagement

10%
willingness to bank3

13.6%
market share – consumer

21.5%
market share – business

752
overall customer service rating 
(out of 1,000)4

1.1%
return on risk-weighted assets

34%

25%

11%

22%

8% Retail Financial Services (RFS)

Business and Agriculture (B&Ag)

Corporate Financial Services (CFS)

Investor Services (ATBIS)

Strategic service units

Net Income ($ thousands)

2011 2012 2013 2014

$172,905
$195,108

$241,300

$276,409

Assets Under Management  
($ billions)

Total Revenue ($ billions)

2011 2012 2013 2014

$1.02
$1.12

$1.23
$1.35

Efficiency Ratio

2011 2012 2013 2014

71.2%
75.3%

70.7% 70.3%

Revenue Earned by Areas of Expertise

3 Percentage of non-ATB customers willing to “seriously consider” banking with ATB, as per ATB’s branding survey. 
4  J.D. Power’s Canadian Retail Banking Satisfaction study collected online data from over 21,000 Canadian retail customers  

from May 7-24, 2013. It measures customers’ overall satisfaction toward their primary financial institution.   
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2013–14 Operational Highlights

This year, ATB:

Attained record growth in both loans and 
deposits—increases of $4.3 billion and  
$3.6 billion, respectively

Achieved record growth in assets under 
management administered by Investor 
Services; assets grew by $2.4 billion  
to end the year at $11.0 billion

Attained our strongest fiscal results to date, 
with net income of $276 million

Completed Project Enable, which 
implemented close to 200 system and 
process improvements

Improved company-wide employee 
engagement scores from 77% to 81%1— 
a 12% improvement over two years ago  
and our highest score ever

Completed implementation of the current 
version of the SAP Bank Analyzer program

Received top awards from leading 
external parties:

•	 Canada’s	50	Best	Employers	–	Aon	Hewitt

•	 Alberta’s	Top	65	Employers	–	MediaCorp

•	 Canada’s	Best	Employers	for	Young	
People – MediaCorp

•	 Canada’s	Passion	Capitalist	Award	
– Knightsbridge

•	 50	Most	Engaged	Employers	–	Achievers

•	 Elite	8	–	Top	Company	for	Rewards	and	
Recognition in Canada – Achievers

•	 C.M.	Hincks	Award,	one	of	the	Canadian	
Mental Health Association’s most 
prestigious awards for advancing mental 
wellness in the workplace

Was nominated in four categories in the 
Canadian Society of Corporate Secretaries’ 
Excellence in Governance Awards,  
and named a finalist for Best Overall 
Corporate Governance 

Achieved 85% on the Great Place to 
Work Index2

Rolled out our The Place to Work strategy  
to develop outstanding leadership,  
enable team members to contribute,  
and build personal equity

Launched an integrated marketing program 
with the theme “We do.” to leverage our 
products, services, and commitment to 
tangibly demonstrating how we are unique 
in the marketplace

Improved our capabilities to monitor, detect, 
and respond to fraudulent activity within all 
of ATB’s self-service channels

Launched the Masterful Leadership program 
to coach and develop outstanding leaders 
across ATB

Became lead sponsor for the Edmonton 
International Fringe Theatre Festival and  
the new Tour of Alberta cycling race

Increased by 300% the donations made  
by Albertans through our unique  
ATB Cares platform

Retrofitted older branches and reduced  
our carbon footprint

Expanded our focus on conservation through 
partnering with Ducks Unlimited, the Calgary 
Zoo and its conservation program for the 
swift fox, and the Birds of Prey Foundation

1 Employee engagement scores are measured by AON Hewitt.
2 http://www.greatplacetowork.ca/about-us.
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With support from our strategic service units, our areas of expertise:

Retail Financial 
Services 

•	 Achieved	an	employee	engagement	score	of	81%

•	 Attained	46	on	our	Client	Advocacy	Index3 for the year

•	 Launched	Alberta	Private	Banking	to	serve	high-net-worth	clients	 
with customized financial advice and solutions based on their  
specific needs

•	 Implemented	Clear-Cut	Mortgage	Rates

•	 Through	our	branches,	responded	in	tangible	ways	to	the	flood	 
in southern Alberta

Business and 
Agriculture 

•	 Achieved	an	employee	engagement	score	of	89%

•	 Attained	49	on	our	Client	Advocacy	Index	for	the	year

•	 Enhanced	professional	practice	by	introducing	professional	selection,	
professional practice training, and unique talent and leadership 
development opportunities

•	 Put	a	new	team	in	place	to	serve	mass-market	business	and	
agriculture clients

•	 Launched	ATB	Business Beat (atb.com/businessbeat), which includes 
ATB	Business	and	ATB	Business	Economy	indices

•	 Committed	to	returning	personal	guarantees	(or	portions	 
of them) to successful clients

2013–14 Operational Highlights (continued)

3  Client Advocacy Index (CAI) scores are measured by NRG Research Group. The CAI measure reflects our goal to be number one in the markets we are in. The score,  
which ranges from -20 to 90, is intended to reflect our customers’ willingness to continue to bank with ATB and their willingness to recommend ATB.
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Corporate 
Financial  
Services  

•	 Achieved	an	employee	engagement	score	of	74%	

•	 Reached	70	on	our	Client	Advocacy	Index	for	the	year

•	 Launched	the	Mezzanine	Debt	Program	for	Alberta’s	exploration	and	
production market 

•	 Launched	the	ATB	Equipment	Finance	initiative

•	 Enhanced	the	Loans	Syndications	technology	platform

•	 Launched	Leaders	Give	Back,	hosting	over	200	clients	at	nearly	 
20	engagements	as	they	joined	ATB	in	giving	time	to	not-for-profit	
community partners

ATB Investor 
Services

•	 Achieved	an	employee	engagement	score	of	89%

•	 Reached	55	on	our	Client	Advocacy	Index	for	the	year

•	 Increased	assets	under	management	and	administration	by	$2.4	billion

•	 Grew	mutual	fund	assets	by	32%,	doubling	industry	growth

•	 Exceeded	the	$100-million	mark	for	revenues

•	 Earned	a	four-	or	five-star	rating	for	all	our	portfolios—for	the	fifth	year	
in a row

•	 Launched	Online	Advice	for	all	Albertans,	allowing	them	to	do	 
self-serve investing
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Our Strategic Direction

With	year-end	results	up	14.6%	from	last	year,	ATB	Financial	is	on	the	right	track,	and	the	results	
from	this	year	prove	that.	But	the	road	ahead	is	even	more	exciting.	By	shifting	to	a	higher	gear,	
we’ll inspire and motivate our team members, provide outstanding value for our customers,  
and achieve even better results.

Getting	into	a	higher	gear	starts	with	all	of	our	areas	of	expertise—Retail	Financial	Services,	 
Business	and	Agriculture,	Corporate	Financial	Services,	and	ATB	Investor	Services—hitting	their	
stride,	executing	on	their	business	plans	and	strategies,	and	maintaining	a	fast	pace.	Then	we	 
go	one	step	further	by	carefully	examining	the	complementary	roles	that	the	areas	of	expertise	 
can	play	in	creating	value	for	their	customers	and	in	optimizing	ATB’s	overall	financial	results.	

One of the big initiatives that will help us shift into higher gear is our connections strategy.  
Steve	Jobs	famously	said	that	creativity	is	connecting	things;	the	spark	comes	when	an	idea	from	
one field is connected to an idea from another. We agree. We want to make those connections for 
our	customers,	introducing	them	to	experts	from	as	many	areas	of	expertise	as	we	can	to	create	
value. With multiple points of great service and added value, we increase loyalty, and profitability.

We also believe that our ability to seamlessly and easily move money for customers will be critical 
as financial services and technology evolve. We will therefore focus on becoming a leader in channels 
and	payments,	building	on	our	existing	investment	in	information	technology	to	give	customers	
the speed, simplicity, and convenience they are looking for. 

Over	the	next	three	years,	we’ll	also	build	a	deeper	understanding	of	what	it	will	take	to	get	more	
customers	to	bank	with	ATB.	We’ll	differentiate	ourselves	in	the	market	with	a	clear	brand	promise	
and	service	that	is	second	to	none,	and	we’ll	execute	on	our	strategies	and	focus	on	being	loved	 
by Albertans to help us grow our customer base at a faster rate.

+ + =

The place to work Loved and 
respected 

by Albertans

#1 in every 
market we’re in

Extraordinary
results
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Chair’s Message

ATB	Financial	is	entering	the	current	year	with	great	momentum.	We	are	reporting	record	results	for	
year-end,	March	31,	2014,	and	we	expect	even	better	results	going	forward.	Our	shift	in	focus	from	
“lines	of	business”	to	“areas	of	expertise”	will	result	in	team	members	striving	to	become	experts	in	
their	respective	roles	to	contribute	to	making	more	people’s	dreams	come	true.	Rapid	advancements	
in technology continue to create an increasing demand for innovative solutions that satisfy 
customer	needs.	Our	goal	is	to	become	our	customers’	primary	financial	institution—their	
first choice.

One of the key responsibilities of our board is to ensure that risks are identified and managed 
effectively.	ATB’s	board	has	approved	our	Risk	Appetite	Statement,	which	ensures	alignment	
between risk and strategy. We continually refine tactics to mitigate risk. Our management also 
reports	to	the	Risk	Committee	about	initiatives	designed	to	take	advantage	of	opportunities.	 
At	ATB,	we’re	as	concerned	about	missing	the	boat	as	we	are	about	sinking	the	ship.

We	have	all	experienced	frustration	because	of	organizations	overmanaging	inconsequential	risks.	
Needless tasks are performed, and customers understandably lose patience. We are continually 
evaluating	policies	and	processes	to	eliminate	these	annoyances.	For	example,	we’ve	returned	
hundreds of personal guarantees to customers who had already provided adequate security for 
their loans.

This	year,	we	were	nominated	in	four	categories	in	the	Canadian	Society	of	Corporate	Secretaries’	
Excellence	in	Governance	Awards.	We	were	a	finalist	for	Best	Overall	Corporate	Governance	and	
nominated	for	Best	Sustainability,	for	Ethics	and	Environmental	Governance,	and	for	Best	Approach	
to	Board	and	Committee	Support.	We’ve	been	nominated	again	this	year	in	various	categories,	 
and	we	look	forward	to	the	awards	ceremony	on	August	24,	2014,	in	Banff,	Alberta.	

I	would	like	to	extend	my	thanks	to	Doug	Baker,	Bob	Carwell,	Lloyd	Craig,	Art	Froehlich,	and	 
Bern	Kotelko,	who	are	leaving	our	board	this	year.	Your	leadership	has	helped	ATB	establish	a	solid	
foundation	that	will	ensure	our	future	success.	On	behalf	of	the	board,	I	would	like	to	thank	every	
team	member	at	ATB	for	creating	rewarding	relationships	with	each	other	and	with	our	customers.	 

 

Brian Hesje 
Chairman	of	the	Board 
May	29,	2014
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President and CEO’s Message

Yes,	it	has	been	a	great	year	at	ATB.	By	strengthening	our	connection	with	our	customers,	we	have	
improved	our	ability	to	serve	their	needs	and	increased	their	loyalty.	Internally,	with	a	focus	on	
improving	leadership,	our	team	members	are	more	engaged	in	their	work	than	ever.	The	two	
together	produced	the	best	financial	results	in	our	history—results	that	are	only	possible	because	
we have great team members who are focused on creating value for the people we serve.

The	results	are	particularly	remarkable	as	they	come	on	the	heels	of	significant	changes	we’ve	
made	over	the	past	few	years—changes	in	our	banking	system	that	created	lingering	frustration	 
for	customers	and	team	members	alike,	and	changes	in	leadership	that	have	adjusted	our	course	
and	caused	some	uncertainty.	Throughout	this	challenging	time,	our	focus	has	been	on	listening	 
to	our	team	members,	fixing	things	that	don’t	work	well	for	them,	and	making	sure	they	have	
better tools so they can do their best work and serve our customers better than ever. And the 
results speak for themselves. 

Across the entire company, there are clear signs that our connections with Albertans are stronger 
than	ever.	Investor	Services’	Compass	family	of	mutual	funds	is	now	the	fastest-growing	in	Canada.	
We’ve achieved that result by putting together a team of advisors who focus on helping our 
customers	meet	their	financial	goals	to	live	their	best	life.	Business	and	Agriculture	connected	with	
a record number of companies to serve their banking needs and took the bold step of reducing 
personal	guarantees	for	business	owners.	Retail	Financial	Services	is	committed	to	making	things	
simpler for our customers and getting rid of processes that might work for banks but certainly don’t 
work	for	customers.	For	example,	we	implemented	Clear-Cut	Mortgage	Rates	so	customers	know	
exactly	what	the	rates	are—without	any	baffling	bank-ese.	And	finally,	team	members	in	Corporate	
Financial	Services	are	not	only	partnering	with	leading	companies	in	Alberta’s	economy	but	 
also reaching out to engage the leaders of those companies in giving back to the communities 
we serve.

This	past	year	was	also	exciting	because	it	was	our	75th	anniversary	of	doing	business.	We	celebrated	
in	style,	with	75	days	of	activities	that	promoted	our	brand,	increased	awareness	among	potential	
customers,	and	engaged	our	people.	It	was	a	fun	way	to	recognize	where	we’ve	been	and	what	
we’ve done so far, and an energizing springboard to launch us into the future.
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Of	course,	one	of	the	most	memorable—and	devastating—events	this	year	was	the	flooding	in	
southern	Alberta.	The	floods	directly	impacted	thousands	of	Albertans	in	Calgary	and	southern	
Alberta	communities,	including	hundreds	of	ATB	customers	and	team	members.	In	true	ATB	style,	
we reacted quickly, offering ideas and solutions to help people manage their finances and ease 
their	stress	in	the	days,	weeks,	and	months	afterward.	Team	members	also	rolled	up	their	sleeves,	
put on their rubber boots, and went directly to communities and neighbourhoods to help families 
clean	up	the	worst	effects	of	the	floods.	It	was	a	time	that	many	of	us	will	never	forget.

While	we’re	proud	of	how	far	we’ve	come,	we’re	just	beginning	to	see	the	full	potential	for	 
ATB’s	future.	Looking	ahead,	our	plan	is	to	shift	ATB	into	a	higher	gear,	not	by	expecting	our	team	
members	to	pedal	faster,	but	by	looking	at	the	role	each	area	of	expertise	plays	in	achieving	the	
overall	success	of	the	company—by	connecting	our	customers	with	experts	in	all	parts	of	our	
business to provide whatever they need to achieve their goals, and by stepping up our initiatives  
in the fast-moving and changing world of channels and payments.

Going forward, we want to transform banking, making it a source of pride and value for our 
customers and team members. We’ll be doing things differently, making things simpler and easier, 
and empowering our people to make a difference in the lives of our customers. At the same time, 
we	will	become	more	productive,	efficient,	and	nimble	as	an	organization—more	able	to	shift	
quickly	and	meet	our	customers’	changing	needs	and	expectations.	Our	customers	and	all	
Albertans are asking more from of us, and that’s the most powerful reason yet to give them  
our higher gear. 

Dave Mowat 
President	and	CEO 
May	29,	2014
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Our Inspiration

“I	love	the	feeling	of	being	outside	 
and moving your own body through 
the world without a motor other  
than	yourself.	You	are	the	driver	 
of your own power.”

—Kerilee Snatenchuk 





Kerilee Snatenchuk 
Director, People and Culture, ATB 

A	former	triathlete,	Kerilee	Snatenchuk	doesn’t	have	to	push	herself	to	ride	hard	
anymore,	but	she	often	still	does	for	the	sheer	joy	of	exertion.	Whether	through	 
spin classes, quick trips to the store, or long weekend rides through the mountains, 
cycling	is	a	big	part	of	her	life,	and	it’s	even	becoming	part	of	her	work	at	ATB.

“I	love	the	feeling	of	being	outside	and	moving	your	own	body	through	the	world	
without	a	motor	other	than	yourself,”	says	Kerilee	about	her	passion	for	cycling.	 
“You	are	the	driver	of	your	own	power.”

As	well	as	being	responsible	for	Diversity	and	Inclusion,	Kerilee	oversees	Health	and	
Wellness, developing strategic direction and initiatives to help achieve strategic goals. 
Last	year,	Health	and	Wellness	ran	a	bike	challenge	through	an	internal	website	for	team	
members	called	People	First	Interactive.	While	the	site	didn’t	have	many	members	 
at the time, the challenge was a success. Now cycling is being linked to fundraising 
with	the	almost	2,000	members	of	People	First	being	encouraged	to	take	part	in	local	
charity rides.

Kerilee’s	role	impacts	everyone	at	ATB.	Sometimes	that	connection	is	made	on	 
a broad level, through things like physical challenges, printed guides on mental 
health	issues,	and	various	Health	and	Wellness	committees.	But	she	also	makes	 
a point of connecting one-on-one.

And	twice	a	year,	Kerilee	also	rides	with	other	cycling	enthusiasts	during	the	ATB	Golf	
Tournament—an	alternative	way	for	those	who	don’t	golf	to	network	while	sharing	 
a passion for a sport.

“A few years ago, some of us who prefer cycling organized our own ‘golf tournament’ 
where	we	go	out	to	ride	as	a	group,”	she	says.	“It	brought	people	from	different	areas	
of the organization together. We might only see each other a few times a year,  
but there’s such a close camaraderie because we have this in common.”

Kerilee, biking on the Peace Bridge, which connects downtown Calgary 
and the south Bow River pathway to the north Bow River pathway and 
the community of Sunnyside 
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“It	takes	hard	work	and	dedication	to	
reach your goals, and the ability to 
keep your focus on the end result 
even	when	it’s	tough.	The	best	reward	
is when you really hit that higher gear, 
as a result of your hard work and 
preparation—training,	tuning	your	
bike—and	everything	runs	perfectly.	
That’s	very	satisfying.”

—Shawn Bunnin 





Shawn Bunnin 
Director, Corporate Financial Services

Since	he	fell	in	love	with	cycling	at	age	12,	Shawn	Bunnin	has	participated	in	
countless	races,	including	representing	Canada	at	the	world	championships.	 
When he’s not on the starting line, he can often be found logging the miles,  
or in his garage putting the right parts together to make an end product that  
runs	perfectly—much	like	he	does	for	ATB’s	customers.

“There	are	many	types	of	bikes	because	the	same	bike	won’t	work	for	everybody,	just	
as	there	is	no	single	solution	for	every	large	business	I	work	with,”	says	Shawn.	“We’re	
good at discovering where you want to go and crafting innovative solutions to get 
you there, and connecting clients that have needs beyond debt with all the other 
parts of our organization.”

Shawn	is	also	involved	in	the	ATB	2014	cycling	team.	ATB	invited	corporate	clients	
who	enjoy	cycling	to	train	with	our	team	by	participating	in	weekly	rides	led	by	 
a professional coach in order to be prepared to take part in two events this year, 
including	the	ATB	Financial	Gran	Fondo	Highwood	Pass.	The	challenging	events	
involve steep climbs and long distances but also take participants through  
beautiful	scenery.	Training	for	and	participating	in	them	together	will	foster	
deeper relationships.

In	his	personal	life,	Shawn	rides	a	variety	of	bikes;	he	participated	in	about	30	mountain	
bike,	road,	and	cyclocross	races	last	year.	He	loves	the	sport	because	it’s	adventurous	
and gives him an outlet for his strong competitive streak.

“Cycling	is	a	big	part	of	who	I	am,	and	competition	has	given	me	qualities	that	I	use	
every	day,”	says	Shawn.	“It	takes	hard	work	and	dedication	to	reach	your	goals,	and	the	
ability	to	keep	your	focus	on	the	end	result	even	when	it’s	tough.	The	best	reward	is	
when	you	really	hit	that	higher	gear,	as	a	result	of	your	hard	work	and	preparation—
training,	tuning	your	bike—and	everything	runs	perfectly.	That’s	very	satisfying.”

Shawn assembles a bike in his basement workshop
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“It’s	doing	what	you	have	to	do— 
the drive to improve and sometimes 
just	to	stay	afloat.	For	us,	we	were	
driven	to	expand,	but	we	didn’t	want	
22	locations.	We	wanted	to	be	one	big,	
good	location.	It	was	challenging,	 
but we did it.” 

—Brian Sibthorpe





Brian Sibthorpe
Bicycle Enthusiast

With	an	impressive	collection	of	around	400	vintage	bicycles,	ATB	customer	Brian	
Sibthorpe	perfectly	illustrates	our	Higher	Gear	theme.	Brian	started	collecting	in	the	
1970s,	keeping	some	of	the	trade-ins	that	came	into	the	store	owned	by	his	father,	
Jim	Sibthorpe	Sr.,	Calgary’s	legendary	Bow	Cycle.	Brian	ran	the	bicycle	division	while	
his	brother	Jim	ran	the	motorcycle	division.	Given	this	background,	Brian	certainly	
understands what moving into a higher gear means in cycling, in business, and in 
the community.

“It’s	doing	what	you	have	to	do—the	drive	to	improve	and	sometimes	just	to	stay	afloat.	
For	us,	we	were	driven	to	expand,	but	we	didn’t	want	22	locations.	We	wanted	to	be	
one	big,	good	location.	It	was	challenging,	but	we	did	it,”	says	Brian.

Brian	and	his	family	have	always	been	very	connected	to	and	supportive	of	the	
community	of	Bowness,	where	you’ll	still	find	the	iconic	Bow	Cycle	&	Motor	building	
on	Main	Street.	Today,	it	houses	a	local	Calgary	Public	Library	branch,	an	important	
point of connection for area residents that was on the brink of closure before the 
Sibthorpes	stepped	in.

As	always,	the	Sibthorpe	brothers	did	what	needed	to	be	done,	investing	time	 
and	money	to	create	a	bright,	welcoming	space	for	the	library.	The	word	“Bowness”	
followed	by	a	heart	on	the	sign	is	an	evolution	of	the	“I	Love	Bowness”	T-shirts	and	
stickers	Brian	and	Jim	produced	20	years	earlier	to	help	residents	express	their	pride.

Brian’s	connection	with	ATB	goes	back	to	the	1960s,	when	his	father	became	 
a	customer.	In	fact,	his	dad	got	him	a	job	at	a	local	branch	for	a	year	to	help	 
him learn the discipline required for success in business.

The	Sibthorpes	have	since	sold	Bow	Cycle	&	Motor	to	an	employee,	and	it	has	
relocated	to	larger	premises.	They	sold	Bow	Cycle	&	Sports,	their	second	company,	 
to	a	group	of	employees	who	continue	to	thrive	in	the	expanded	location	opened	 
in	2005.	Today,	the	brothers	manage	the	commercial	properties	they	own	while	
enjoying	their	prized	collection	of	bikes.

Brian, standing among his impressive bike collection in his Bowness building
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“When you are going downhill or  
have a tailwind, you’re pushing at a 
higher gear, you’re going faster, and 
you’ve got something helping you 
from behind.”

—Bill Hunt





Bill Hunt
Managing Partner, Evans Hunt

One	of	Bill	Hunt’s	dreams	came	true	in	2013	when	he	got	to	cycle	from	Évian,	 
France,	to	Nice	through	the	Alps,	pedalling	up	steep	inclines	that	even	world-class	
competitors	in	the	Tour	de	France	find	challenging.	The	gruelling	week-long	 
ride	involved	three	mountain	passes	and	six	to	eight	hours	a	day	on	the	bike.	 
Getting through it required stamina, training, commitment, and knowing  
how to take advantage of the downhill portions of the ride.

“When you are going downhill or have a tailwind, you’re pushing at a higher gear, 
you’re	going	faster,	and	you’ve	got	something	helping	you	from	behind,”	says	Bill,	 
who	got	to	watch	the	Tour	de	France	after	his	ride.

Five	and	a	half	years	ago,	Bill	and	business	partner,	Dan	Evans,	started	Evans	Hunt,	 
a	strategic	digital	marketing	company	based	in	Calgary.	Both	men	had	been	working	
with	Fortune	100	companies	around	the	world	and	spending	much	of	their	time	
travelling.	They	decided	it	was	time	to	bring	the	expertise	they’d	developed	back	
to Alberta. 

Today,	Evans	Hunt	has	64	employees	and	an	impressive	client	list	that	includes	many	
well-known	companies—and	ATB	Financial.	The	relationship	began	two	years	ago	
and	led	to	Evans	Hunt	becoming	an	ATB	customer.	

What	Bill	likes	best	about	cycling	is	that	your	returns	are	directly	proportional	to	your	
investment;	how	well	you	perform	is	up	to	you.	The	same	is	true	in	business,	but	in	
both cases, a little help from behind can give you the lift you need to go further.

“Our	previous	banking	partner	was	a	barrier	to	our	growth.	ATB	sent	senior	people	in,	
they	looked	at	our	business,	and	they	talked	to	us	about	our	plans.	They’ve	been	 
a	huge	part	of	enabling	us	to	grow	and	seize	significant	opportunities,”	says	Bill.	 
“I’m	grateful	for	the	relationship.”

Bill cycles along one of his favourite routes, White Avenue in Bragg Creek
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Introduction to ATB

Overview

ATB	is	a	full-service	financial	institution	headquartered	in	Edmonton,	Alberta,	Canada.	With	total	
assets	of	over	$37.6	billion,	ATB	is	the	largest	Alberta-based	deposit-taking	financial	institution.

ATB	is	a	cornerstone	in	communities	throughout	Alberta.	In	fact,	we	are	the	sole	financial	institution	
in	more	than	100	Alberta	communities.	Our	access	points	currently	include	171	branches	and	 
133	agencies	in	243	communities	throughout	the	province,	plus	our	own	Customer	Care	Centre	
based	in	Calgary.	Services	are	also	available	through	274	automated	banking	machines	across	 
the	province,	and	through	Internet,	mobile,	and	telephone	banking.	A	workforce	of	over	5,055	 
team members provides personal, business, agriculture, corporate, and investor financial services  
to	over	676,000	Albertans	and	Alberta-based	businesses.

History and Mandate

ATB	was	established	by	the	Government	of	Alberta	in	1938	to	provide	Albertans	with	an	alternative	
source	of	credit	during	the	Great	Depression.	ATB	became	a	provincial	Crown	corporation	on	
October	8,	1997,	under	the	authority	of	the	Alberta Treasury Branches Act and Alberta Treasury 

Branches Regulation (the ATB Act and ATB Regulation,	respectively).	In	January	2002,	we	launched	our	
new	corporate	identity,	ATB	Financial.	This	identity	reaffirms	the	business	we	are	in—providing	a	full	
range	of	financial	services	across	Alberta—and	reconfirms	our	commitment	to	the	people	 
of our province.

Legislative Mandate

ATB’s	legislative	mandate,	as	established	in	the	ATB Act and ATB Regulation, is to provide Albertans 
with access to financial services and enhance competition in the financial services marketplace  
in	Alberta.	The	President	of	Treasury	Board	and	Minister	of	Finance	(Minister)	and	ATB	have	entered	
into	a	Mandate	and	Roles	Document	(MRD),	which	reflects	a	common	understanding	of	the	
respective	roles	and	responsibilities	of	each	party	in	fulfilling	ATB’s	mandate.	

Regulatory Framework

As	Crown	corporations,	ATB	and	our	subsidiaries	operate	under	a	regulatory	framework	established	
pursuant to the provisions of the ATB Act and ATB Regulation. This	legislation	was	modelled	on	the	
statutes	and	regulations	governing	other	Canadian	financial	institutions,	is	updated	periodically,	
and	establishes	the	Minister	as	the	supervisor	of	ATB.	

ATB	also	operates	within	the	legal	framework	established	by	provincial	legislation	generally	
applying	to	provincial	Crown	corporations,	such	as	the	Financial Administration Act, Fiscal 

Management Act, and  as well as applicable legislation governing consumer protection, privacy, and 
money laundering.
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The	powers	of	the	Minister	as	ATB’s	supervisor	include	the	examination	of	the	business	and	affairs	
of	ATB	to	ensure	compliance	with	legislation,	to	ensure	that	ATB	is	in	sound	financial	condition,	 
and	to	require	ATB	to	implement	any	measures	the	Minister	considers	necessary	to	maintain	 
or	improve	ATB’s	financial	safety	and	soundness.	

The	Minister	has	approved	a	number	of	guidelines	for	ATB	similar	to	those	issued	by	the	Office	 
of	the	Superintendent	of	Financial	Institutions	(OSFI),	which	supervises	federally	regulated	 
deposit-taking	institutions.	Regulatory	oversight	of	these	guidelines	is	the	responsibility	of	the	
Alberta	Superintendent	of	Financial	Institutions	(ASFI).	

Under	the	guidance	of	the	Minister,	ASFI	has	provided	a	draft	framework	that	will	require	us	to	
voluntarily	comply	with	the	international	capital	measurement	framework	promoted	by	the	Bank	 
of	International	Settlements,	known	widely	as	the	Basel	II	framework.	ATB	has	taken	substantive	
steps	to	implement	the	Basel	II	framework	for	measuring	its	capital	adequacy	and	to	develop	 
a	replacement	for	the	existing	ATB	capital	directive	in	order	to	comply	with	Basel	II	standards.	

Although we are still regulated and managed under the old capital directive, we completed  
our	third	annual	Internal	Capital	Adequacy	Assessment	Process	(ICAAP)	that	incorporated	 
the	OSFI	guidelines	under	the	standardized	approach	in	determining	capital	requirements.

The	primary	objective	of	the	ICAAP	is	to	assess	ATB’s	risk	management	capabilities	as	well	as	the	
adequacy	of	ATB’s	capital	to	support	its	risk	appetite,	risk	profile,	and	business	strategy,	and	to	meet	
the	expectations	of	its	key	stakeholders,	in	particular,	ASFI.	The	key	elements	of	the	ICAAP	are:

Identifying	all	material	risks	that	ATB	faced	as	at	the	date	of	the	ICAAP

Assessing	the	amounts	of	capital	required	to	support	ATB’s	risks,	primarily	credit,	market,	
operational,	and	stress	event	risks	subject	to	risk	appetite	

Completing	forward	capital	planning	to	assess	the	amount	of	capital	ATB	may	need	to	support	 
its	three-year	business	plan

Ensuring	ATB	consistently	earns	fair	and	adequate	returns	on	its	economic	capital

Ensuring	ATB	complies	with	all	regulatory	requirements	related	to	capital	adequacy

Both	senior	management	and	the	board	Risk	Committee	review,	challenge,	and	approve	the	ICAAP	
prior	to	its	submission	to	ASFI.	
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ATB	subsidiaries,	which	provide	wealth	management	services,	are	also	subject	to	regulatory	
oversight	by	the	Investment	Industry	Regulatory	Organization	of	Canada	(ATB	Securities	Inc.)	and	
the	Alberta	Securities	Commission	(both	ATB	Investment	Management	Inc.	and	ATB	Securities	Inc.).

ATB	and	its	subsidiaries	place	significant	emphasis	on	compliance	with	all	applicable	laws	and	
regulations.	The	Minister	has	implemented	the	Legislative	Compliance	Management	Guideline,	
pursuant	to	which	the	board	has	adopted	the	Legislative	Compliance	Management	Policy.	 
The	key	aim	of	this	guideline	and	policy	is	to	ensure	that	a	compliance	framework	is	followed.	 
Our	dedicated	Compliance	Department	is	responsible	for	identifying	and	monitoring	regulatory	
risk	across	ATB	and	ensuring	that	the	business	units	have	implemented	key	day-to-day	business	
controls	that	allow	them	to	comply	with	applicable	legislation.	Annually,	ATB	provides	a	formal	
report	on	compliance	to	the	Minister	pursuant	to	the	ATB Regulation.
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Corporate Governance 

Corporate	governance	begins	with	the	board	of	directors	and	its	committees	and	extends	
throughout	the	entire	organization	to	every	team	member.	ATB	is	committed	to	transparency	and	
accountability and has voluntarily adopted governance practices relevant to the corporation, 
including	disclosure	aligned	with	National	Instrument	58-101	Disclosure of Corporate Governance 

Practices	and	National	Instrument	52-110	Audit Committees.

ATB	supports	delivery	of	useful	information	through	broad	channels	of	communication,	and	use	 
of	appropriate	financial	and	operational	performance	measures.	ATB	is	also	committed	to	accurate,	
timely,	and	periodic	financial	reporting.	Remuneration	of	ATB’s	directors	and	key	executives	is	
disclosed	on	page	166.

Additional	information	is	available	at	atb.com	in	the	ATB	Governance	section.

Board of Directors

ATB	operates	under	the	direction	of	a	board	appointed	by	the	Lieutenant-Governor	in	Council.	 
The	board	provides	strategic	oversight	of	ATB’s	operations,	and	its	committees	provide	functional	
oversight.		The	board	oversees	management	in	implementing	appropriate	policies	and	practices	
and receives reports and assurances from management. Oversight responsibilities of the board  
are	set	out	in	the	Terms	of	Reference.

ATB’s	board	has	approved	risk	management	standards	and	business	policies	broadly	comparable	 
to	those	of	other	Canadian	financial	institutions.	The	board	consists	of	members	with	a	broad	range	
of	expertise	and	experience	who	contribute	to	the	board	as	a	whole	as	well	as	the	committees	 
on	which	they	sit.	ATB’s	board	members	are	listed	on	pages	28–29.

Nomination and Selection of New Board Candidates
The	board	chair	is	responsible	for	working	with	an	independent	consultant	who	assists	the	
Governance	and	Conduct	Review	Committee	of	the	board	in	nominating	candidates	for	 
the board based on an inventory of the board’s overall skill-set requirements and competencies. 
The	recommendation	is	based	on	careful	examination	of	the	board’s	size,	composition,	and	director	
tenure, and balances factors such as age, geographical, professional, and industry representation. 

The	Governance	and	Conduct	Review	Committee	ensures	that	the	board	selection	process	complies	
with the Alberta Public Agencies Governance Act	and	the	MRD.	Recruitment	of	board	members	is	
publicly advertised and takes into consideration general qualifications, legal requirements, business 
experience,	independence,	and	future	needs	of	the	board.	Appointment	is	for	a	fixed	term	of	up	to	
3	years,	with	the	potential	for	reappointment	to	a	maximum	of	10	years.	
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Orientation and Professional Development
ATB	provides	new	board	members	with	a	comprehensive	orientation	to	our	business	and	affairs,	
which includes an overview of the roles and responsibilities of the board and its committees,  
and	the	contributions	expected	from	each	board	member.	Board	members	are	also	encouraged	 
to participate in ongoing professional development activities, including attendance at internal  
and	external	seminars.

Board Evaluations
Annually, the board evaluates the effectiveness of the board and its chair, its committees and their 
chairs,	individual	directors,	and	the	CEO.	Board	members	complete	questionnaires	that	include	an	
evaluation of the effectiveness of the board’s activities, an assessment of committee performance, 
and	a	peer	assessment	of	individual	director	performance.	Further,	the	Audit	Committee	completes	
an annual assessment of the financial literacy of its members. 

The	Governance	and	Conduct	Review	Committee	oversees	the	evaluation	process	and	reviews	 
the	questionnaires,	which	assist	in	its	development	of	a	Board	Composition	(Skills)	Matrix	as	well	 
as	succession	planning.	The	board	chair	meets	privately	with	each	director	and	provides	feedback	
with the ultimate goal of performance improvement. 

Committees
The	board	has	established	four	committees	to	assist	in	discharging	its	oversight	responsibilities:

The	Audit Committee	oversees	the	integrity	of	ATB’s	financial	reporting	and	internal	control	
systems,	as	well	as	its	internal	audit	and	finance	functions.	It	serves	as	a	main	forum	of	
communication	between	the	board	and	its	internal	and	external	auditors.

The	Governance and Conduct Review Committee assists with developing corporate  
governance policies and procedures, including those respecting the conduct and ethics of team 
members;	oversees	board	and	committee	evaluation	processes;	and	recommends	candidates	for	
appointment to the board.

The	Human Resources Committee	oversees	ATB’s	human	resources	policies	and	procedures	 
and	compensation	programs,	as	well	as	executive	succession,	development,	performance	and	
compensation, and pension plan governance.

The	Risk Committee	assists	the	board	with	establishing	ATB’s	risk	appetite,	oversees	management	
of	key	business	risks,	reviews	key	risk	management	policies,	and	oversees	ATB’s	compliance	with	
regulatory requirements.

From	time	to	time,	various	special	purpose	committees	of	the	board	may	be	formed.	All	of	the	
committees	have	the	ability	to	engage	outside	advisors	at	the	expense	of	ATB.
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Brian Hesje 
Chair

Principal occupation:	Chair,	Fountain	Tire	Ltd.	 
ATB director since:	2011.	Education:	B.Ed.,	MBA,	
University	of	Alberta;	CA.	Other boards and affiliations: 
Director,	FYidoctors;	director,	Norseman	Group;	director,	
Treadmark	Properties;	director,	Hesje	Farms	Ltd.;	advisor,	
Rick	Hansen	Foundation

Garnet Altwasser  
Audit	Committee,	Chair	of	Risk	Committee

Principal occupation:	Cattle	producer;	retired	 
president	and	CEO,	Lakeside.	ATB director since:	2007.	
Education:	B.Sc.	in	agriculture,	University	of	Saskatchewan. 
Past boards and affiliations: Director,	Canadian	Feed	
Manufacturers’	Association	–	Alberta;	director,	Alberta	
Cattle	Feeders’	Association;	chair,	Canadian	Meat	Council;	
chair,	Veterinary	Infectious	Diseases	Organization;	director,	
Circle	62	Charitable	Foundation

Doug Baker 
Audit	Committee,	Risk	Committee

Principal occupation:	Corporate	director;	managing	
director,	Thoroughbred	2007	Limited	Partnership,	an	oil	 
and gas property acquisition fund. ATB director since:	2009.	
Education:	B.Comm.,	University	of	Saskatchewan;	CA.	 
Other boards and affiliations:	Audit	Committee	chair,	
Bellatrix	Exploration	Ltd.,	RMP	Energy	Inc.,	Winstar	Resources	
Ltd.,	Century	Energy	Ltd.;	director,	Longview	Oil	Corp.;	
trustee,	Apostolic	Church	of	Pentecost

Our Board and Their Committee Roles
As	at	March	31,	2014,	the	board	consists	of	the	following	12	directors,	all	independent.

James (Jim) E.C. Carter 
Governance	and	Conduct	Review	Committee,	 
Human	Resources	Committee,	Vice-Chair	of	Board

Principal occupation:	Retired	president	and	COO,	
Syncrude	Canada	Ltd.	ATB director since:	2010.	
Education:	P.Eng.,	fellow	of	the	Canadian	Academy	of	
Engineering.	Other boards and affiliations:	Director	on	
boards	of	Alberta	Economic	Development	Authority,	
Finning	International	Inc.,	EPCOR	Utilities	Inc.,	Clark	Builders	
Ltd.,	Brand	Energy	and	Industrial	Services,	the	Climate	
Change	and	Emissions	Management	Corp.;	advisory	
member	for	SureHire	Inc.,	the	Edmonton	Symphony	
Orchestra,	CAREERS:	The	Next	Generation;	chair,	Mining	
Industry	Advisory	Committee	to	the	U	of	A	School	of	
Mining	and	Petroleum	Engineering;	chair,	Francis	Winspear	
Centre	for	Music	

Bob Carwell 
Audit	Committee,	Human	Resources	Committee

Principal occupation:	President,	Carwell	Financial	
Corporation	Inc.	ATB director since:	2011.	Education: 
B.Comm.,	University	of	Alberta;	Commissioner	for	Oaths	
(1975–present);	CA;	FCA;	ICD.D;	Certified	Logistics	
Professional.	Other boards and affiliations: Director	on	
boards	of	Ed	Stelmach	Community	Foundation,	Banholme	
Investments	Ltd.;	chair,	Alberta	Blue	Cross;	chair	of	Audit	
Committee,	Edmonton	Regional	Airports	Authority;	
founding	member,	Edmonton	Airports	Business	 
Advisory Group

Lloyd Craig 
Governance	and	Conduct	Review	Committee,	 
Risk	Committee

Principal occupation:	Former	president	and	CEO,	Coast	
Capital	Savings	Credit	Union.	ATB director since:	2011.	
Education:	BA	in	business	administration,	Washington	 
State	University.	Other boards and affiliations: Vice-chair, 
Streetohome	Foundation;	member,	Advisory	Board	to	the	
Dean,	Beedie	School	of	Business,	Simon	Fraser	University;	
consultant	to	Knightsbridge	Human	Capital	Management	Inc.
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James (Jim) M. Drinkwater 
Audit	Committee,	Human	Resources	Committee

Principal occupation:	Corporate	director.	ATB director 
since:	2010.	Education:	B.Sc.	in	mathematics,	University	 
of	Alberta;	MA	in	economics,	Carleton	University,	Ottawa;	
ICD.D.	Other boards and affiliations: Vice-chair, University 
of	Alberta	Board	Investment	Committee;	member,	Province	
of	Alberta’s	Advisory	Committee	on	Alternative	Capital	
Financing;	member	and	past	director,	Financial	Executives;	
member,	Institute	of	Corporate	Directors

Arthur Froehlich  
Audit	Committee,	Human	Resources	Committee

Principal occupation:	Partner,	AdFarm.	ATB director 
since:	2005.	Education:	B.Sc.	in	agriculture,	University	of	
Saskatchewan;	executive	MBA,	Wharton	School	of	Business,	
University	of	Pennsylvania.	Other boards and affiliations: 
Director	on	boards	of	AdFarm,	AVAC	Ltd.,	Prince	Rupert	
Grain,	Ag-West	Bio	Inc.,	Agriview	Inc.,	POS	Bio-Sciences,	
Agricultural	Biotechnology	International	Conference	
Foundation;	chair,	FBSciences,	Inc.;	chair,	Froehlich	Farms	
Inc.;	chair,	Alberta	Innovates	–	Bio	Solutions;	chair,	 
Olds	College	Advisory	Committee

Joan Hertz 
Risk	Committee,	Chair	of	Governance	and	Conduct	 
Review	Committee

Principal occupation:	Lawyer	and	strategic	consultant.	
ATB director since:	2008.	Education:	B.Sc.	in	foreign	
service, magna cum laude in international politics, law,  
and organization, Georgetown University, Washington,  
D.C.;	LLB,	University	of	Alberta;	ICD.D.	Other boards  
and affiliations: Public	member,	Institute	of	Chartered	
Accountants	of	Alberta;	director	on	boards	of	Judicial	Council,	
Edmonton	Police	Foundation,	Kids	Kottage	Foundation,	
HertzBenk	Enterprises	Ltd.,	Hertz	Resources	Ltd.,	Lavacan	
Holdings	Inc.,	Alberta	Accountants	Unification	Agency,	 
Seal	Holdings	Inc.,	Teacher	Development	and	Practice	
Advisory	Committee;	chair,	St.	Vincent	Parent	Council

Bern Kotelko 
Governance	and	Conduct	Review	Committee,	 
Risk	Committee

Principal occupation:	Director	and	founder,	Spring	Creek	
Ranch.	ATB director since:	2005.	Education:	B.Sc.	in	
Agriculture,	University	of	Alberta;	Canadian	Securities	
Course;	ICD.D.	Other boards and affiliations: Chair,	
Himark	Biogas;	chair,	Growing	Power	Hairy	Hill

Colette Miller 
Human	Resources	Committee,	Chair	of	Audit	Committee

Principal occupation:	Partner,	Wilde	&	Company	
Chartered	Accountants.	ATB director since:	2009.	
Education:	B.Comm,	University	of	Alberta;	CA;	FCA;	ICD.D.		
Other boards and affiliations: Chair,	Audit	Committee,	
AVAC	Ltd.;	Board	of	Governors,	Athabasca	University;	
Vegreville	Rotary;	Big	Brothers	Big	Sisters;	Wendy	Brook	
Music	Festival

Dr. Michael Percy 
Governance	and	Conduct	Review	Committee,	 
Chair	of	Human	Resources	Committee

Principal occupation:	Economist	and	professor	of	
strategic	management,	Alberta	School	of	Business.	 
ATB director since:	2009.	Education:	BA,	University	of	
Victoria;	MA	and	PhD	in	economics,	Queen’s	University.	
Other boards and affiliations: Board	member	for	EPCOR;	
director	on	boards	of	K-Bro	Linen	Inc.,	Sawridge	Group	of	
Companies,	Northern	Alberta	Military	Museum	Initiative,	
REACH	Edmonton
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ATB	is	subject	to	the	Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act (PIDA).	To	comply	with	
this	legislation,	the	Ethics	Committee	has	approved	the	Public	Interest	Disclosure	Framework	to	
provide team members with a method to report wrongdoings that fall under PIDA.	In	relation	 
to	ATB,	wrongdoing	means	a	contravention	of	an	act	or	a	regulation	of	Alberta	or	Canada;	an	act	 
or	omission	that	endangers	the	environment	or	the	life,	health,	or	safety	of	individuals;	gross	
mismanagement	of	public	funds	or	a	public	asset;	or	knowingly	directing	or	counselling	a	person	
to commit a wrongdoing, and includes an allegation of wrongdoing.

All disclosures under PIDA receive careful and thorough review to determine whether action  
is	required,	and	must	be	disclosed	in	ATB’s	annual	report	in	accordance	with	PIDA.	In	fiscal	2013–14,	 
no reports of wrongdoing were received.

Recognition and Management of Risk

Details	on	ATB’s	risk	management	governance	are	set	out	on	pages	89–91	of	the	MD&A.	

Recognition of Legitimate Stakeholder Interests

ATB	strives	to	meet	the	expectations	and	unique	needs	of	its	stakeholders,	including	the	Province,	
regulators, team members, customers, vendors, and the community. 

We meet our stakeholders’ need for transparency by adopting disclosure practices as addressed 
above. We also engage and communicate with stakeholders through our annual public meeting, 
annual report, corporate social responsibility report, news releases, and website, as well as through 
a number of other engagement channels. 

Stakeholder	engagement	is	measured	and	progress	is	tracked	annually	in	our	corporate	social	
responsibility report, which is available at atb.com.

Disclosure Under the Public Interest Disclosure  
(Whistleblower Protection) Act
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Dave Mowat 
President	and	Chief	Executive	Officer

Rob Bennett 
Executive	Vice-President 
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Sheldon Dyck 
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Senior	Vice-President	 
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Bob Mann  
Chief	Risk	Officer

Our	Senior	Executives	and	Officers
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Lorne Rubis 
Chief	People	Officer

Curtis Stange 
Chief	Strategy	and	Operations	Officer

Ian Wild 
Executive	Vice-President	 
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Omar Rehman 
Vice-President 
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(For more information on ATB’s senior executives, go to atb.com/about/Pages/executive-team.aspx.)  
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Building Strong Communities and an Even Better Province

Each	September,	ATB	releases	a	corporate	social	responsibility	(CSR)	report	that	outlines	the	ways	in	
which	we’ve	invested	in	Alberta	and	what	we’ve	done	to	be	a	good	corporate	citizen.	The	policies	
that	guide	our	CSR	initiatives	align	with	the	overall	business	goals	of	our	organization,	and	we	focus	
our	efforts	on	four	pillars:	economy,	workplace,	community,	and	environment.	Within	each	pillar,	 
we quantitatively track our progress using a scorecard so we know how we’re doing and what  
we can do better in the future.

Economy

Our history in Alberta and our knowledge of this province’s people and industries help us 
determine where our investments can make significant differences to the economy, now and  
in	the	future.	This	year,	we	continued	to	deliver	the	Junior	ATB	program,	an	investment	in	youth.	 
By	operating	their	own	bank,	students	in	Grades	4–6	learn	important	financial	literacy	skills	that	will	
serve	them	well	in	the	future.	We	also	partnered	with	Empower	U,	a	financial	literacy	and	matched-
savings	program	for	at-risk	women	in	Edmonton,	and	provided	the	YES	Bursary	Program	to	provide	
mentorship and financial assistance to post-secondary students who have previously been in the 
care of the provincial government.

Alberta	has	a	strong	economy,	but	it	also	has	challenges,	including	high	housing	prices.	To	help,	
ATB	partnered	with	the	Calgary	Homeless	Foundation	and	participated	in	several	Habitat	for	
Humanity	builds.	We	also	support	the	innovation	necessary	to	keep	our	economy	growing	 
and	thriving	through	programs	like	Alberta	BoostR,	a	crowdsourced	funding	platform	for	
small businesses.

Workplace

Because	one	of	our	goals	is	to	be	the place to work, we’re always looking for new ways to improve 
the workplace for our team members. One way we’ve done this is by supporting causes our people 
care	about.	We	gave	$75	ATB	Cares	gift	cards	to	each	team	member	to	donate	to	charities	of	their	
choice.	Also,	every	time	a	team	member	volunteers	more	than	40	hours	a	year	to	a	cause,	ATB	
contributes	$500	through	our	Helping	Hands	program.	Last	year,	ATB	gave	$72,300	to	Alberta	
charities	through	Helping	Hands.	Including	our	Leaders	Give	Back	initiative	and	donated	time	to	
help	the	recovery	in	High	River,	ATB	team	members	volunteered	over	28,000	hours	of	their	time.

Another	key	initiative	is	the	President’s	League.	This	award	recognizes	team	members	who	have	
done	an	amazing	job	and	comes	with	three	days’	paid	leave,	among	other	benefits.

Community

Committed	to	serving	Albertans	for	more	than	75	years,	ATB	takes	an	active	role	in	communities	
across	the	province.	In	addition	to	connecting	with	Albertans	and	using	our	financial	expertise	to	
strengthen the communities in which we work and live, through corporate donations, fundraising, 
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sponsorships, and volunteer hours, we continue to invest in communities and causes across  
the	province.	Last	year’s	highlights	include:

Raising	$826,000	in	our	Teddy	for	a	Toonie	campaign	for	the	Stollery	Children’s	Hospital	in	
Edmonton	and	the	Alberta	Children’s	Hospital	in	Calgary	

Raising	$668,000 for the United Way 

Bringing	in	a	total	of	$1,053,803	($949,131	in	donations	and	$104,672	from	ATB)	through	ATB	Cares	
to help a variety of charities

Donating $2.9 million and offering $5.5 million in sponsorships—with a focus on community 
sponsorships	that	mean	more	than	just	good	public	relations	for	ATB	(e.g.,	sponsorships	with	
non-profits)

Environment

ATB	has	been	working	to	reduce	our	carbon	footprint—a	real	challenge,	as	our	biggest	source	of	
carbon emissions is electricity, heating, and cooling. We are making older buildings more energy 
efficient	and	adjusting	the	heating	and	cooling	systems	in	our	newer	buildings	to	maximize	the	
benefits. We also negotiated a new deal with our energy provider that includes the purchase of 
renewable energy certificates that offset our carbon footprint and support the development of 
renewable	energy	resources.	Additionally,	we	power	all	our	ABMs	and	many	of	our	events	through	
Bullfrog	Power,	which	uses	profits	to	support	renewable	energy	development.

ATB	is	also	contributing	to	efforts	to	preserve	threatened	species	and	sensitive	ecosystems	in	 
our province. We engage in a number of initiatives to conserve wildlife and wetlands because  
we understand that our ecosystems and the creatures they support are fragile and finely balanced 
and need to be supported as our province grows.

The	ATB	Financial	Green	Team	organizes	environmental	activities	for	our	team	members.	 
These	include	participating	in	the	National	Commuter	Challenge,	when	we	ask	people	to	think	 
of	a	less	carbon-intensive	way	to	come	to	work,	and	National	Sweater	Day	in	February,	when	we	
turn down the thermostat and wear our brightest, most unique sweaters.

ATB’s	CSR	report	is	produced	annually.	The	next	edition	will	be	available	in	September	2014.	

To ensure our CSR report is transparent and balanced, we use the Global Reporting Initiative’s guidelines 

and have a Scorecard Advisory Committee that develops indicators, targets, and measures. There are 

many more great stories to read in our full report, available to download at ATB.com/community.



34

A 75-Day Party, Alberta Style

ATB	went	all	out	to	celebrate	our	75th	year	of	helping	Albertans	make	their	dreams	come	true	with	
a	75-day	provincewide	party.	Starting	on	August	12,	2013,	we	ran	75	consecutive	events	in	our	
branches,	online,	and	in	our	communities,	showing	Albertans	that	ATB	is	an	important	part	of	the	
province and that we love Alberta!

We	partied	hard,	running	contests	for	a	chance	to	experience	the	magic	of	Symphony	Under	the	
Sky	or	take	in	the	Edmonton	Comedy	Fest,	sharing	what	Albertans	had	to	say	about	where	they	feel	
most	Albertan	through	social	media,	and	partnering	with	seven	Husky	locations	to	give	customers	
75	cents	off	per	litre.	Videos,	photos,	and	postcards	were	shared	through	social	media,	helping	us	
connect	with	potential	customers	and	get	them	to	share	in	the	excitement.

The	75-day	party	was	a	lot	of	fun,	but	it	also	provided	a	great	opportunity	to	increase	brand	
awareness,	support	businesses	across	the	province,	and	showcase	the	spirit	of	ATB.	Thanks	to	 
the	many	team	members	who	helped	make	our	75th	year	our	most	unforgettable	yet.

ATB Wears Blue Day

ATB	got	the	party	started	by	wearing	ATB	75th	Anniversary	T-shirts	to	work.	Team	photos	from	
various	branches	and	departments	were	featured	on	ATB	Facebook,	Twitter,	and	wearealberta.ca	 
to help spread the anniversary cheer. 

ATB Day at the Edmonton Corn Maze

August	13	was	ATB	Day	at	the	Edmonton	Corn	Maze,	and	visitors	found	themselves	wending	their	
way	through	the	ATB	logo.	All	visitors	received	half-price	admission	while	ATB	customers	received	
75%	off	admission	by	showing	their	ATB	debit	card	or	MasterCard.	Visitors	also	received	free	
popcorn and water bottles. 

Pictures From the ATB Archives

To	understand	where	we’re	going,	we	have	to	remember	where	we	came	from.	We	dug	up	images	
from	our	younger	days	to	display	on	wearealberta.ca	and	share	on	Facebook	and	Twitter.	It	was	 
a	fun	peek	at	ATB’s	past.

Food Truck Experience YEG and YYC

On	September	5,	13,	and	19,	hungry	Albertans	were	in	for	a	treat	when	they	visited	the	Red	Wagon	
Diner	food	truck	in	downtown	Calgary	or	The	Act	food	truck	in	Edmonton.	In	Calgary,	every	food	
truck	customer	received	a	delicious	free	ATB	cupcake,	an	anniversary	lunch	bag	with	special	
jellybeans,	and	a	postcard	from	Alberta.	Customers	in	Edmonton	received	a	50%	discount	 
on	a	special	ATB	burger—avocado,	tomato,	bacon—and	lunch	bags.	
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Chris Hadfield’s “Down-to-Earth Interview” With Dave

Former	Canadian	astronaut	and	reigning	Twitter	rock	star	Chris	Hadfield	was	in	Edmonton	 
on	September	12,	igniting	the	imagination	of	those	at	the	E-Town	Festival.	During	a	break,	 
ATB	Financial	president	and	CEO	Dave	Mowat	got	his	chance	to	find	out	what	Chris	had	to	say	
about leadership, literature, lighting the bridge, being happy, and more.

Branch Celebration Day 

Every	ATB	branch	and	agency	across	the	province	celebrated	our	anniversary	simultaneously	 
on	September	27.	Each	branch	gave	its	customers	and	communities	something	to	cheer	about,	
including	a	$1,000	cheque	to	a	local	charity,	courtesy	of	ATB.	Festivities	included	food	and	drinks,	
time	capsules,	tree	planting	ceremonies,	and	customer	contests	with	prizes	like	iPad	Minis	and	 
a	grand	prize	of	a	2013	Vespa.	We	also	announced	the	All-Albertan	Song	Contest	winner	that	
morning so customers could check in to see whether their favourite made it to the top. 

Coffee on Us

ATB	was	proud	to	partner	with	Second	Cup	to	give	away	free	cups	of	a	very	special	ATB	Alberta	
Blend	coffee.	Over	170	team	members	volunteered,	and	we	were	at	every	Second	Cup	in	 
the	province.	In	locations	where	there	wasn’t	a	nearby	Second	Cup,	we	brought	the	coffee	 
to	the	branch	or	agency	for	customers	to	enjoy.

Small Business Week 

Party	at	school!	ATB	brought	prominent	members	of	the	small	business	community	to	speak	to	
university	students	in	select	classes	across	the	province.	Students	learned	about	what	it	takes	to	
make it in today’s economy from some of Alberta’s most successful entrepreneurs.

ATB’s A-ha Conference 

ATB	gathered	some	of	the	country’s	most	inspirational	speakers	to	help	us	do	what	we	don’t	do	
enough	of—sit	down,	think,	listen,	and	talk	to	get	to	those	elusive	a-ha	moments.	We	blogged	
insights	from	CBC	chief	correspondent	Peter	Mansbridge,	Canada	Goose	CEO	Dani	Reiss,	
generational	dynamics	expert	Seth	Mattison,	CBC	business	reporter	Danielle	Bochove,	 
and	ATB	thought	leaders.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Introduction and Index

This section of the annual report presents the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 
of the consolidated results of operations and financial position of Alberta Treasury Branches 
(operating as ATB Financial or ATB) for the year ended and as at March 31, 2014. The MD&A is 
current as at May 29, 2014, and, unless otherwise indicated, all amounts presented are reported 
in thousands of Canadian dollars and are derived from the consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. These statements 
begin on page 112 of this report.

ATB is not a chartered bank under the Bank Act of Canada but is a financial institution incorporated 
under Alberta statute and operates in Alberta only. Any reference to the term banking in this 
report is intended to convey a general description of the financial services provided by ATB to 
its customers. 
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Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This	annual	report	includes	forward-looking	statements.	ATB	may	from	time	to	time	make	forward-
looking	statements	in	other	written	or	verbal	communications.	These	statements	may	involve,	but	
are	not	limited	to,	comments	relating	to	ATB’s	objectives	or	targets	for	the	short	and	medium	term,	
our	planned	strategies	or	actions	to	achieve	those	objectives,	targeted	and	expected	financial	results,	
and	the	outlook	for	our	operations	or	the	Alberta	economy.	Forward-looking	statements	typically	
use the words anticipate, believe, estimate, expect, intend, may, plan,	or	other	similar	expressions,	or	
future or conditional verbs such as could, should, would, or will.

By	 their	 very	 nature,	 forward-looking	 statements	 require	 ATB’s	management	 to	make	 numerous	
assumptions	and	are	subject	to	inherent	risks	and	uncertainties,	both	general	and	specific.	A	number	
of factors could cause actual future results, conditions, actions, or events to differ materially from the 
targets,	 expectations,	 estimates,	 or	 intentions	 expressed	 in	 the	 forward-looking	 statements.	 Such	
factors	include,	but	are	not	limited	to,	changes	in	our	legislative	or	regulatory	environment;	changes	
in	 ATB’s	 markets;	 technological	 changes;	 changes	 in	 general	 economic	 conditions,	 including	
fluctuations	in	interest	rates,	commodity	prices,	currency	values,	and	liquidity	conditions;	and	other	
developments,	 including	the	degree	to	which	ATB	anticipates	and	successfully	manages	the	risks	
implied by such factors.

ATB	cautions	readers	that	the	aforementioned	list	is	not	exhaustive.	Anyone	reading	and	relying	on	
forward-looking statements should carefully consider these and other factors that could have an 
adverse	effect	on	ATB’s	future	results,	as	there	is	a	significant	risk	that	forward-looking	statements	will	
not be accurate.

Readers	should	not	place	undue	reliance	on	forward-looking	statements,	as	actual	results	may	differ	
materially	from	plans,	objectives,	and	expectations.	ATB	does	not	undertake	to	update	any	forward-
looking statements contained in this report.
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Economic Outlook and Implications for ATB 

As	 an	 Alberta-based	 financial	 institution,	 ATB	 regularly	 monitors	 the	 provincial,	 national,	 and	
international	economies	and	considers	their	potential	to	impact	ATB’s	customers	and	our	operations.	
The	recent	performance	of	the	Alberta	economy	is	outlined	in	the	table	below:	

Alberta Economy at a Glance

Reference period Current year Previous year
Unemployment (seasonally adjusted) Mar 2014 4.9% 4.8%
Housing starts urban areas (seasonally adjusted, annualized rate) Mar 2014 39,926 30,460
Building permits ($ in millions, seasonally adjusted) Feb 2014 1,165 1,385
Manufacturing sales ($ in millions, seasonally adjusted) Feb 2014 6.2 6.5
New motor vehicle sales (# vehicles) Feb 2014 16,679 16,217
Consumer Price Index Mar 2014 133.1 128.1
Retail trade ($ in millions, seasonally adjusted) Feb 2014 6.5 6.0
Wholesale trade ($ in millions, seasonally adjusted) Feb 2014 6.8 6.6

Our	outlook	for	the	upcoming	fiscal	year	and	beyond,	prepared	as	at	May	21,	2014,	is	as	follows.	

Building	on	 the	 strength	 and	 calm	of	 the	markets	 in	 the	 fourth	 quarter	 of	 2013,	 economic	data	
through	 the	first	quarter	of	2014	continue	 to	point	 to	a	global	economy	on	 the	mend.	Still,	new	
tensions	and	worries	have	started	to	emerge,	which	could	cloud	forecasts	for	the	rest	of	2014.

Tensions	 between	 Russia	 and	Ukraine	 dominated	 the	 geopolitical	 headlines	 following	 the	 Sochi	
Winter	Olympics,	 and	 the	Russian	 annexation	of	Crimea	has	 led	 to	 some	 troubling	uncertainties.	
Sanctions	against	Russia	could	intensify	if	events	in	eastern	Ukraine	deteriorate	further,	which	could	
invite	 retaliatory	 sanctions.	 Russia	 remains	 the	 primary	 supplier	 of	 energy	 to	 Europe.	 Given	 the	
continued	precarious	position	of	many	European	economies,	the	existential	crisis	of	the	European	
Union could be reignited.

The	fiscal	debates	in	the	United	States	have	subsided,	making	the	country	a	source	of	mainly	positive	
economic	news;	growth	for	the	final	quarter	of	2013	was	revised	up	to	2.6%	(annualized).	As	a	result,	
Federal	 Reserve	 chair	 Janet	Yellen	hinted	at	 removing	monetary	 stimulus	 sooner	 than	previously	
expected.	This	is	positive	news,	but	the	move	carries	risk,	as	markets	have	become	very	accustomed	
to easy money.

Economic Outlook 
All references to years contained in the Economic Outlook and Implications for ATB section are to calendar years, unless 
otherwise stated.
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The	Bank	of	Canada	had	expected	the	Canadian	economy	to	transition	to	export	growth,	 inciting	
business	to	invest.	This	didn’t	occur	and	the	Bank	of	Canada	dropped	all	mention	of	raising	interest	
rates	back	in	October	of	last	year.	The	Bank	of	Canada	will	not	likely	be	in	a	position	to	start	raising	
rates	until	mid-	to	late	2015,	likely	after	the	Federal	Reserve	moves.

For	2014,	Alberta	 is	set	 to	have	another	strong	year	of	growth	and	continue	to	push	ahead	of	 its	
provincial	counterparts.	Alberta’s	real	GDP	growth	for	2014	is	expected	to	be	around	3.8%.

Oil and Gas
North	American	crude	oil	prices	(West	Texas	Intermediate)	have	been	relatively	stable	over	the	first	
few	months	of	2014,	fluctuating	between	US$90	and	US$105	per	barrel.	Prices	above	the	US$100	
mark	in	recent	weeks	are	likely	related	to	tension	in	Crimea	and	the	prospect	of	disruptions	to	Russia’s	
massive	oil	exports.

The	differential	between	the	U.S.-dollar	benchmark	West	Texas	Intermediate	(WTI)	and	the	Western	
Canadian	Select	Blend	price	continued	to	rise	and	fall	over	the	first	quarter,	ranging	from	a	high	of	
$28	in	early	March	to	$20	in	early	April.	

Looking	into	2014,	both	WTI	prices	and	the	differential	will	likely	continue	to	experience	volatility,	but	
are unlikely to fall to worrying levels that would impair or alter investment decisions in the short run. 
A positive development has been a noticeable narrowing of the gap between what international 
prices	received	and	those	in	North	America,	as	pipelines	in	the	Midwest	began	moving	more	crude	
to	the	coasts.	Another	positive	has	been	the	weakness	in	the	Canadian	dollar,	as	energy	prices	are	
priced	in	U.S.	dollars.

After	peaking	briefly	above	US$6	mmBtu	in	February,	Henry	Hub	natural	gas	prices	have	settled	back	
to	the	mid-US$4	range.	Most	recent	spikes	and	relative	highs	in	gas	prices	have	been	due	to	weather-
related	drawdowns	of	inventory,	as	many	regions	in	the	U.S.	experience	a	very	cold	winter.	But	even	
if	prices	do	trend	lower,	overall	natural	gas	prices	are	likely	to	remain	above	the	extremely	low	levels	
of the last few years, providing some welcome relief to Alberta producers.

Energy	transportation	will	again	be	a	central	issue	facing	producers	in	2014.	Decisions	from	the	White	
House	on	the	fate	of	Keystone	XL	have	again	been	delayed,	and,	at	this	point,	 industry	observers	
don’t	expect	the	final	verdict	until	late	this	year.	That	delay	will	keep	a	level	of	uncertainty	lingering	
over	 the	 industry;	 in	 the	meantime,	“oil	by	 rail”	 is	 increasingly	being	considered	as	an	alternative.	
Significant	investment	in	rail	infrastructure	is	expected	in	the	coming	years.
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Agriculture
Last	 year	 set	 a	 record	 for	 farm	 cash	 receipts	 for	 Alberta	 grain	 and	 oilseed	 farmers.	Thanks	 to	 an	
exceptionally	 good	 growing	 season,	 bumper	 crops	 throughout	 most	 of	 the	 province	 made	
agriculture	a	leading	sector	in	2013.

Grain	and	oilseed	prices	have	eased	back	from	their	highs,	but	have	remained	relatively	strong.	Cattle	
prices	have	also	been	strong	lately,	although	beef	and	cattle	exporters	are	still	contending	with	the	
country-of-origin	labelling	(COOL)	legislation	in	the	U.S.

A significant issue for crop farmers this year has been the inability of the railways to place hopper cars 
at	grain	elevators	across	the	Prairies.	As	a	result,	the	elevator	system	has	been	overstocked	with	grain	
and	unable	to	accept	deliveries	from	farmers,	preventing	payment.	The	challenge	is	being	resolved,	
but	it	might	linger	into	2014.

Construction and Real Estate
After reaching a high mark last November, new residential construction pulled back slightly over 
the	winter.	In	spite	of	this	decline,	overall	housing	starts	averaged	37,500	(annualized	rate)	over	the	
last	12	months,	an	increase	of	11%	over	the	previous	12	months.	As	of	March	2014,	total	starts	were	
forecasted	at	39,926	(seasonally	adjusted	at	annualized	rates).

Housing	construction	in	Alberta	remains	a	key	driver	of	the	provincial	economy,	not	only	because	
of the direct spending and employment created, but also because of the strong indirect induced 
spending	 (e.g.,	 furniture	and	flooring).	Steady	 in-migration,	both	 interprovincial	and	 international,	
has	 added	 to	 demand	 for	 housing.	 Still-favourable	mortgage	 lending	 rates	 have	 also	 supported	
new purchases.

Spending	 on	 non-residential	 construction	 was	 up	 marginally	 in	 the	 fourth	 quarter	 of	 2013,	 to	 
$2.6	billion.	That	was	led	by	an	increase	in	commercial	projects,	many	of	them	office	complexes	in	
downtown	Calgary.

For	2014,	conditions	appear	 favourable.	Building	permits—both	 residential	and	non-residential—
saw	a	sizable	decrease	in	February	of	this	year;	however,	despite	the	drop,	overall	permits	in	the	last	
12	months	are	still	higher	than	in	the	preceding	12	months,	especially	for	residential	construction.

Commercial	construction	activity	may	ease	up	slightly	in	Calgary,	as	downtown	office	vacancy	has	
edged	up	to	around	9%.
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Labour Market
Alberta’s	 job	 market	 will	 likely	 continue	 to	 impress,	 with	 substantial	 gains	 in	 employment	 and	
earnings.	Last	year,	total	employment	was	up	by	86,600,	an	increase	of	4.0%.	That	compares	with	a	
national	job	growth	rate	of	only	1.1%.	The	unemployment	rate	in	March	stood	at	4.9%,	close	to	the	
middle	point	of	a	“balanced	job	market.”	The	unemployment	rate	is	expected	to	average	4.6%.

The	temporary	 foreign	worker	program	(TFWP)	 is	 readily	used	 in	Alberta	 to	fill	 job	vacancies.	The	
retail	 trade	and	the	accommodation	and	food	service	 industries—two	 industries	 that	abundantly	
use	the	program—will	require	some	adjustments	due	to	cross-country	suspension	of	the	TFWP	in	
late	April	2014.

Interprovincial In-migration
Alberta	 is	again	experiencing	a	strong	period	of	 interprovincial	 in-migration.	 In	the	fourth	quarter	
of	2013,	there	was	a	pullback	to	just	over	5,600	net	new	migrants;	but	for	the	entire	year,	total	net	
migrants	from	other	provinces	was	43,161—close	to	the	record	in	2006	and	on	par	with	last	year.	

This	high	 level	of	 interprovincial	 in-migration	has	been	accompanied	by	very	strong	 international	
in-migration.	 Every	 year,	 Alberta’s	 net	 international	 migration	 position	 increases.	 In	 recent	 years,	
immigration	has	gone	 from	 the	 20,000-to-25,000	 range	 to	over	 35,000	 today.	These	 factors	 have	
driven the residential real estate market and retail sales in the province.

Challenges
Despite	 the	 ever-present	 volatility	 in	 price	 and	discounts,	 the	 energy	 sector	will	 continue	 to	 see	
acceptable	 price	 ranges	 for	 crude	 oil	 and	 improving	 prices	 for	 natural	 gas.	 Investment	 in	 both	
conventional	 and	 non-conventional	 energy	 plays	 are	 expected	 to	 remain	 stable	 and	 relatively	
strong, but transportation issues still need to be resolved. Oil by rail is proving to be a good stop-gap, 
but	more	stringent	regulation	of	railcars	could	limit	capacity	growth.	Increased	pipeline	capacity	is	
eagerly awaited.  

Agriculture	looks	to	remain	a	leading	sector	in	2014;	however,	the	difficulty	of	accessing	railcars	early	
this	year	has	caused	some	disruptions	to	farmers’	cash	flow.	If	the	backlogs	aren’t	remediated,	the	
agriculture	sector	could	wane	slightly	in	2014.	

Despite	 these	 challenges,	 Alberta’s	 economy	 is	 again	 enjoying	 a	 solid	 year	 and	will	 continue	 to	
outperform	the	rest	of	Canada.
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Implications for ATB
The	 influx	 of	 new	 Albertans	 is	 significantly	 impacting	 the	 economy,	 from	 the	 labour	 market	 to	
retail sales and the housing market. A surging population and signs of a strong economy have 
strengthened	 demand	 for	 housing	 and	 increased	 Albertans’	 willingness	 to	 spend.	 Rising	 home	
values	and	increased	activity	is	expected	to	push	mortgage	volumes	higher	in	2014.	Other	areas	of	
financing,	such	as	vehicle	purchases	and	renovations,	are	also	expected	to	do	well.	

Alberta’s economy continues to be largely driven by investment in the energy sector. Non-
conventional	production	is	projected	to	dominate	in	the	coming	years,	and	these	projects	depend	
on	long-term	energy	price	projections.	Many	factors	go	into	this	projection,	but	transportation	is	an	
important	factor,	as	is	Alberta’s	political	stability.	With	investment	intentions	of	$114	billion	for	2014,	
on balance the energy industry is still very optimistic.   

Though	 the	 low	 Canadian	 dollar	 will	 hurt	 Alberta’s	 import-driven	 businesses,	 this	 province’s	
exporters,	such	as	the	oil	and	gas	companies,	will	benefit	the	most	from	our	soft	dollar.	In	addition,	
as international companies look for a stable, cheap place to invest, a low loonie may attract greater 
investment in Alberta from abroad.

With	investment	and	intentions	expected	to	reach	an	all-time	high	($114	billion)	in	2014,	Alberta	can	
expect	high	levels	of	continued	energy	investment.	Employment,	retail,	and	the	housing	market	will	
all benefit greatly from more investment in our province.

Financial Performance Overview

2013–14 Performance and 2014–15 Objectives
We	have	met	or	exceeded	all	our	financial	targets	set	last	year,	as	shown	below.	Detailed	analysis	of	
our	2013–14	consolidated	operating	results	and	our	financial	position	as	at	March	31,	2014,	can	be	
found	starting	on	pages	45	and	77,	respectively.

(%) 2014 target 2013–14 results achieved 2015 target
Return on average assets 0.70–0.90 0.78 target achieved 0.70–0.90
Operating revenue growth 3.0–5.0 9.8 target achieved 4.0–6.0
Efficiency ratio 68.0–72.0 70.3 target achieved 65.0–69.0
Performing loan growth 4.5–8.0 14.4 target achieved 7.0–10.0
Deposit growth 4.5–8.5 15.1 target achieved 10.0–12.0
Return on risk-weighted assets 1.0–1.1 1.1 target achieved 1.0–1.1
Growth in assets under management 10.0–20.0 28.1 target achieved 10.0–20.0
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Net Income 

For	 the	 year	 ended	March	 31,	 2014,	 ATB	 earned	
$276.4	million,	up	14.6%	 from	the	$241.3	million	
earned	 in	fiscal	 2012–13.	The	 improvement	over	
the	prior	year	was	due	to	an	$87.9-million	increase	
in	net	interest	income,	a	$32.9-million	increase	in	
other	 income,	and	a	$3.5-million	decrease	 in	the	
provision	 for	 credit	 losses.	 These	 positive	 year-
over-year	 variances	 were	 partially	 offset	 by	 a	 
$79.7-million	increase	in	non-interest	expenses.

Outlook	for	Fiscal	2014–15	–	Net	Income
Overall, we expect net income for fiscal 2014–15 to be between $300 million and $330 million, 
$23.6 million to $53.6 million more than this past year. Most of the growth is expected to come from 
interest and other income, partially offset by increased non-interest expenses. With the current low-
interest-rate environment expected to continue, higher net interest income hinges significantly on 
our ability to continue to improve our balance sheet and to gain market share. The increase in other 
income is expected to come from our Investor Services area of expertise, as it continues to grow, and 
from increases in our cash management offering. Non-interest expenses will increase marginally next 
year as we continue work to grow the business; however, we will focus on improving our efficiency 
ratio to a level more comparable with other financial institutions of our size. 

Return on Average Assets
The	return	on	average	assets	for	fiscal	2013–14	was	0.78%,	an	increase	of	0.03%	over	the	prior	year.	
This	was	driven	by	a	14.6%	increase	in	net	income	compared	to	a	9.9%	increase	in	average	total	assets.

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease) 2013
Net income $ 276,409 $ 35,109 14.6% $ 241,300
Average total assets $ 35,506,382 $ 3,187,917 9.9% $ 32,318,465
Return on average assets 0.78% 0.03% 4.3% 0.75%

Review of 2013–14 Consolidated Operating Results
All references to years contained in this section are to fiscal years, unless otherwise stated.

2011 2012 2013 2014

172,905
195,108

241,300
276,409($ in thousands)
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Outlook	for	Fiscal	2014–15	–	Return	on	Average	Assets
We are targeting a return on average assets between 0.70% and 0.90% for fiscal 2014–15. This target 
is based on anticipated net income of $300 million to $330 million and average total assets exceeding 
$37 billion.

Total Operating Revenue
Total	 operating	 revenue	 consists	 of	 net	 interest	 income	 and	 other	 income.	 ATB	 experienced	 an	
increase	of	$87.9	million	 (10.0%)	 in	net	 interest	 income	and	$32.9	million	 (9.3%)	 in	other	 income	
during	the	year.	The	increase	in	interest	income	was	primarily	volume	driven	and	was	a	direct	result	of	
the	significant	growth	in	our	balance	sheet.	The	increase	in	other	income	was	driven	by	the	growth	in	
Investor	Services’	revenue	of	$24.5	million,	an	increase	in	credit	fees	of	$12.0	million,	and	an	increase	
in	revenues	arising	from	our	derivative	products	of	$12.0	million,	partially	offset	by	a	$17.9-million	
reduction	on	the	gains	recognized	on	our	asset-backed	commercial	paper	(ABCP)	portfolio.

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease) 2013
Net interest income $ 966,012 $ 87,860 10.0% $ 878,152
Other income 384,447 32,862 9.3% 351,585
Operating revenue $ 1,350,459 $ 120,722 9.8% $ 1,229,737

Outlook	for	Fiscal	2014–15	–	Operating	Revenue
Our expectation for fiscal 2014–15 is an increase in operating revenue of 4.0% to 6.0%. This target 
reflects an expected increase in net interest income driven by continued growth in our loan portfolio 
and an increase in other income primarily from continued growth in our Investor Services area 
of expertise.
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Net Interest Income 
Net interest income represents the difference between interest earned on assets, such as loans 
and securities, and interest paid on liabilities, such as deposits. Net interest income increased by  
$87.9	million	over	the	prior	year,	with	$74.0	million	of	the	increase	coming	from	growth	in	the	balance	
sheet	and	$13.9	million	coming	from	a	net	benefit	from	the	decrease	in	interest	rates.	In	other	words,	
although we earned less on loans due to lower interest rates, we benefited from lower rates paid on 
deposits, wholesale borrowing, and collateralized borrowing.

Changes in Net Interest Income

2014 vs 2013 2013 vs 2012
Increase (decrease)  
due to changes in 

Increase (decrease)  
due to changes in 

($ in thousands) volume rate Net change volume rate Net change
Assets
Interest-bearing deposits  

with financial institutions,  
and securities $ (3,408) (2,140) $ (5,548) $ (5,958) (2,291) $ (8,249)

Loans

Business 94,965 (3,870) 91,094 84,106 (30,467) 53,639
Residential mortgages 35,818 (32,608) 3,210 11,837 (24,910) (13,073)
Personal 11,529 7,077 18,606 2,480 1,876 4,356
Other 476 496 972 (11,347) 12,487 1,140

Total loans 142,788 (28,905) 113,882 87,076 (41,014) 46,062
Change in interest income $ 139,380 $ (31,045) $ 108,334 $ 80,550 $ (42,737) $ 37,813
Liabilities 
Deposits

Demand $ (6,609) $ (3,937) $ (10,546) $ 18,757 $ (1,622) $ 17,135
Fixed-term 56,168 (20,467) 35,701 (39,438) 3,553 (35,885)

Total deposits 49,559 (24,404) 25,155 (20,681) 1,931 (18,750)
Wholesale borrowings 451 (11,513) (11,062) (6,828) (4,243) (11,071)
Collateralized borrowings 12,844 (8,866) 3,978 5,330 (2,060) 3,270
Subordinated debentures 2,273 (140) 2,133 1,496 (225) 1,271
Capital investment deposits 257 14 271 352 (36) 316
Change in interest expense $ 65,384 $ (44,909) $ 20,475 $ (20,331) $ (4,633) $ (24,964)
Change in net interest income $ 73,996 $ 13,864 $ 87,859 $ 100,881 $ (38,104) $ 62,777

Net Interest Margin and Spread Earned
The	net	interest	margin	is	the	ratio	of	net	interest	income	to	average	total	assets	for	the	year,	while	
net	interest	spread	is	the	ratio	of	net	interest	income	to	average	earning	assets.	Both	are	important	
measures	to	ATB.
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Despite	 the	 low-interest-rate	environment,	 flat	 yield	curve,	 and	competitive	marketplace,	 the	net	
interest	margin	of	2.72%	and	net	 interest	spread	of	2.85%	are	both	consistent	with	the	prior	year.	
Although we are earning a lower yield on loans, we are also paying less for our funding. We have 
benefited from the maturity and subsequent refinancing of certain longer-term wholesale and 
collateralized borrowing agreements at lower interest rates. We have also benefited from reduced 
rates	on	deposits	but	did	see	a	change	in	the	deposit	mix	toward	more	fixed-date	deposits,	which	
increases	our	interest	expense.	One	key	factor	in	this	change	in	the	deposit	mix	was	our	successful	
75th	 Anniversary	 GIC	 campaign	 that	 resulted	 in	 approximately	 $852.8	 million	 flowing	 into	 this	
higher-interest-rate product.

Net Interest Income, Margin, and Spread Earned

Average balances Interest Average rate (%)
($ in thousands) 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Assets
Interest-bearing deposits with financial  

institutions, and securities $ 2,226,453 $ 2,496,772 $ 28,067 $ 33,615 1.3 1.3
Loans

Business 13,796,206 11,672,898 617,038 525,942 4.5 4.5

Residential mortgages 11,445,907 10,443,153 408,839 405,630 3.6 3.9
Personal 5,976,040 5,692,317 242,830 224,225 4.1 3.9
Other 507,169 504,397 87,165 86,192 17.2 17.1

31,725,322 28,312,765 1,355,872 1,241,989 4.3 4.4
Total earning assets 33,951,775 30,809,537 1,383,939 1,275,604 4.1 4.1
Non-earning assets 1,554,607 1,508,928 - - - -
Total assets $ 35,506,382 $ 32,318,465 $ 1,383,939 $ 1,275,604 3.9 3.9
Liabilities and equity
Deposits

Demand $ 15,031,128 $ 16,090,434 $ 93,779 $ 104,325 0.6 0.6
Fixed-term 10,433,066 7,062,455 173,859 138,158 1.7 2.0

Total deposits 25,464,194 23,152,889 267,638 242,483 1.1 1.0
Wholesale borrowings 2,889,291 2,862,850 49,318 60,380 1.7 2.1
Collateralized borrowings 3,187,992 2,695,684 83,170 79,192 2.6 2.9
Non-interest-bearing liabilities 1,084,240 1,060,496 - - - -
Capital investment notes 247,641 241,601 10,525 10,254 4.3 4.2
Subordinated debentures 213,549 146,846 7,276 5,143 3.4 3.5
Equity 2,419,475 2,158,099 - - - -
Total liabilities and equity $ 35,506,382 $ 32,318,465 $ 417,927 $ 397,452 1.2 1.2
Net interest margin $ 966,012 $ 878,152 2.72 2.72
Net interest spread 2.85 2.85
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Other Income
Other income consists of all operating revenue not classified as net interest income.

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease) 2013
Service charges $ 67,273 $ 3,406 5.3% $ 63,867
Investor Services 97,373 24,509 33.6% 72,864
Card fees 58,892 4,468 8.2% 54,424
Credit fees 42,343 12,029 39.7% 30,314
Insurance 13,195 (2,134) (13.9)% 15,329
Foreign exchange 9,879 (5,492) (35.7)% 15,371
Net gains on derivative financial instruments 20,367 11,972 142.6% 8,395
Net gains on financial instruments at fair value through  

net income 70,718 (17,470) (19.8)% 88,188
Sundry 4,407 1,574 55.6% 2,833

$ 384,447 $ 32,862 9.3% $ 351,585

Other	income	was	$384.4	million	for	fiscal	2013–14,	an	increase	of	$32.9	million	(9.3%)	over	the	prior	
year’s	income	of	$351.6	million.	This	increase	was	largely	driven	by	a	$24.5-million	increase	in	Investor	
Services	 income,	 a	 $12.0-million	 increase	 in	 credit	 fees,	 and	 a	 $12.0-million	 increase	 in	derivative	
revenue,	partially	offset	by	a	reduction	of	$17.9	million	in	the	fair	value	adjustment	recognized	on	our	
asset-backed	commercial	paper	portfolio.

Investor	Services	revenue	grew	to	$97.4	million,	a	33.6%	increase	over	the	$72.9	million	earned	in	fiscal	
2012–13.	This	 increase	was	driven	by	a	$2.4-billion	(28.1%)	growth	 in	assets	under	administration.	
Most	of	this	growth	came	in	the	Compass	Portfolio	Series,	ATB’s	proprietary	fund,	resulting	in	a	more	
profitable	asset	mix.

Credit	fee	revenue	was	$42.3	million	for	the	year,	a	39.7%	increase	over	the	$30.3-million	fee	income	
earned	during	the	prior	fiscal	year.	The	year-over-year	increase	in	credit	fees	is	mostly	attributed	to	
higher fee income realized on business loans. A significant portion of this relates to standby fees, 
which are charged on the portion of a loan not being utilized. Overall, business loans have increased 
by	more	than	$2.4	billion	over	the	prior	year.	

Net	gains	on	derivative	financial	instruments	were	$20.4	million	for	the	year,	significantly	higher	than	
the	$8.4-million	net	gain	in	fiscal	2012–13.	Most	of	this	increase	came	from	increased	activity	on	our	
client derivative desk—specifically, increased levels of transactions in client commodity derivatives—
driven by both an increase in the number of customers doing transactions and increased activity per 
customer based on market conditions. 
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These	positive	year-over-year	variances	were	partially	offset	by	a	reduction	in	the	gain	recognized	on	
our	asset-backed	commercial	paper	portfolio	this	year.	Although	we	continue	to	see	our	investment	
increase	 in	value,	with	a	$69.0-million	gain	 recognized	this	year,	 this	 is	 less	 than	the	$86.9	million	
recognized	last	year.	ATB	expects	additional	gains	to	be	recognized	on	this	investment	over	time.

The	ratio	of	other	income	to	operating	revenue	was	28.5%,	consistent	with	the	28.6%	achieved	in	the	
prior	fiscal	year.	This	ratio	is	significantly	lower	than	that	of	the	major	Canadian	banks,	as	ATB	does	not	
generate	revenue	from	trading,	investment	banking,	or	major	brokerage	activities.

Provision for Credit Losses
ATB’s	 results	 for	 fiscal	 2013–14	 include	 a	 $42.4-million	 provision	 for	 credit	 losses	 compared	 to	 
$45.9	million	for	the	prior	year.	The	 improvement	over	the	prior	year	was	driven	by	a	$6.1-million	
decrease	in	the	individual	provision,	partially	offset	by	a	$2.5-million	increase	in	the	collective	provision.

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease) 2013
Individual provisions $ 42,252 $ (6,192) (12.8)% $ 48,444
Recoveries (4,122) 127 3.0% (4,249)
Individual provisions for credit losses 38,130 (6,065) (13.7)% 44,195
Collective provision 4,265 2,537 146.8% 1,728

$ 42,395 $ (3,528) (7.7)% $ 45,923
Credit losses to average loans 0.13% (0.03)% (17.6)% 0.16%

In	 the	 prior	 year,	 the	 individual	 provision	 for	 credit	 losses	 was	 higher	 due	 to	 certain	 high-value	
losses being recognized in our business portfolio, predominantly in the energy sector. We have 
recorded	losses	on	certain	loans	again	this	year,	but	they	are	not	as	significant	as	last	year.	There	was	
improvement	in	fiscal	2014,	as	evidenced	by	the	ratio	of	provision	for	credit	losses	to	average	loans,	
which	decreased	from	0.16%	to	0.13%	in	fiscal	2013–14.	

All else being equal, the collective allowance should have increased more than it has because of 
the growth in the loan portfolio; but other credit factors have improved in the portfolio, limiting the 
growth in the collective allowance. 

ATB	continues	to	benefit	from	its	emphasis	on	strong	credit	practices	and	the	strength	of	the	Alberta	
economy.	 ATB	 emphasizes	 strong	 credit	 and	 effective	 loss-limitation	 practices,	 which	 serve	 to	
minimize	credit	losses.	(Refer	to	the	Risk	Management	section	of	this	report	for	further	details.)	
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Non-Interest Expenses
Non-interest	expenses	consist	of	all	expenses	incurred	by	ATB	except	for	interest	expenses	and	the	
provision for credit losses.

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease) 2013 restated
Salaries and employee benefits $ 481,458 $ 43,428 9.9% $ 438,030
Data processing 108,577 6,425 6.3% 102,152
Premises and occupancy, including depreciation 85,797 (849) (1.0)% 86,646
Professional and consulting costs 50,427 10,242 25.5% 40,185
Deposit guarantee fee 37,592 8,556 29.5% 29,036
Equipment and software and other intangibles, including 

depreciation and amortization 58,980 (6,041) (9.3)% 65,021
General and administrative 78,788 7,379 10.3% 71,409
ATB agencies 9,470 431 4.8% 9,039
Other 38,002 10,128 36.3% 27,874

$ 949,091 $ 79,699 9.2% $ 869,392
Efficiency ratio 70.3% (0.4)% (0.6)% 70.7%

ATB	remains	committed	to	managing	expenses	in	order	to	bring	our	efficiency	ratio	(discussed	on	
page	52)	more	in	line	with	industry	peers.	Even	with	this	commitment,	we	have	seen	an	increase	in	
non-interest	expenses	to	$949.1	million,	an	increase	of	$79.7	million	(9.2%)	over	the	prior	year.	We	
expected	expenses	to	increase	as	we	continued	to	expand	the	business,	but	not	to	this	extent.

The	 biggest	 component	 of	 the	 year-over-year	 increase	 is	 the	 $43.4-million	 increase	 in	 salaries.	
Although	 our	 head	 count	 and	 full-time	 equivalent	 numbers	 decreased	 from	 5,250	 and	 4,582,	
respectively,	to	5,055	and	4,542,	there	is	an	increase	in	salaries	due	to	increased	merit	pay,	variable/
incentive	pay,	 and	pension	costs.	The	variable/incentive	pay	 is	driven	by	 the	performance	of	 the	
business and will only occur again at these levels if the underlying performance supports it.

Other	expenses	increased	by	$10.1	million	(36.3%)	year	over	year.	Most	of	this	increase	relates	to	the	
fair	value	change	in	ATB’s	Achievement	Note	liability.	(Refer	to	note	25	to	the	financial	statements.)	
This	 increased	expense	means	 that	ATB’s	 investment	 in	ATB	 Securities	 has	 increased	 significantly	
in value.

Professional	 and	 consulting	 costs	 increased	 by	 $10.2	 million	 (25.5%),	 and	 data	 processing	
increased	by	$6.4	million	(6.3%)	over	the	prior	year.	These	increases	are	due	to	specific	projects	and	
initiatives	undertaken	during	the	year	that	are	expected	to	result	 in	improvements	in	productivity	
and efficiencies.
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The	deposit	guarantee	 fee	 increased	to	$37.6	million,	an	 increase	of	$8.6	million	 (29.5%)	over	 last	
year.	This	is	the	charge	that	ATB	pays	the	Province	to	cover	its	guarantee	on	customer	deposits.	The	
expense	is	linked	to	the	amount	of	deposits	outstanding	at	the	end	of	the	year.

General	 and	 administrative	 costs	 also	 increased	over	 the	 year	by	 $7.4	million	 (10.3%)	 to	 end	 the	
year	at	$78.8	million.	Most	of	this	increase	relates	to	MasterCard	reward	points.	We	recorded	a	one-
time	adjustment	this	year	to	recognize	our	current	estimated	liability	under	the	various	MasterCard	
reward programs. 

These	 negative	 variances	 were	 partially	 offset	 by	 two	 smaller	 positive	 variances,	 a	 $6.0-million	
decrease	 on	 equipment	 and	 software	 expenses	 due	 to	 a	 reduced	 amortization	 expense	 and	 a	
$0.8-million	decrease	in	premises	and	occupancy	costs.	

Efficiency Ratio
The	efficiency	ratio	was	70.3%	this	fiscal	year,	a	slight	improvement	from	the	prior	year’s	ratio	of	70.7%	
and	within	our	target	ratio	of	68.0%	to	72.0%.	This	improvement	was	driven	by	operating	revenue	
growth	outpacing	non-interest	expense	growth	during	the	year,	as	operating	revenue	increased	by	
$120.7	million	compared	to	the	change	in	non-interest	expenses	of	$79.7	million.	Similar	to	the	prior	
year, the current year’s operating revenue was favourably impacted by an increase in fair value relating 
to	our	asset-backed	commercial	paper	(ABCP).	The	amount	recognized	this	year	was	less	than	last	
year, indicating that a greater proportion of our performance was driven by our primary operations.

Outlook	for	Fiscal	2014–15	–	Efficiency	Ratio
We have targeted the efficiency ratio for fiscal 2014–15 to be 65.0% to 69.0%. We are committed 
to driving our efficiency ratio down to a level that is competitive with financial institutions of 
comparable size.
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Operating Results by Segment

ATB	 is	 organized	 into	 four	 customer-focused	 areas	 of	 expertise:	 Retail	 Financial	 Services	 (RFS),	
Business	and	Agriculture	 (B&Ag),	Corporate	Financial	 Services	 (CFS),	 and	 Investor	Services	 (ATBIS).	
The	following	highlights	the	key	aspects	of	how	our	business	segments	are	managed	and	reported:

•	 RFS	 includes	 branches	 and	 agencies	 throughout	 the	 province	 providing	 financial	 services,	
including private banking, to individuals.

•	 B&Ag	provides	services	to	Alberta’s	small	and	mid-sized	business,	farm,	and	agricultural	customers.
•	 CFS	provides	services	to	Alberta’s	mid-sized	to	large	companies	in	the	energy,	commercial,	food,	
forestry,	infrastructure	project	financing,	and	real	estate	sectors.	

•	 ATBIS	offers	its	customers	integrated	wealth	management	expertise.

The	strategic	service	units	consist	of	corporate	or	head-office	business	units	that	support	our	four	
areas	of	expertise.

Results	presented	in	the	following	schedule	are	based	on	ATB’s	internal	financial	reporting	systems.	
The	 accounting	 policies	 used	 in	 preparing	 the	 schedules	 are	 consistent	 with	 those	 followed	 in	
preparing	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	as	disclosed	in	the	notes	to	the	statements.	Since	
these	results	are	based	on	ATB’s	internal	management	structure,	they	may	not	be	directly	comparable	
to those of other financial institutions.

Year-Over-Year Area of Expertise Results
The	manner	in	which	ATB	determines	the	revenues,	expenses,	assets,	and	liabilities	attributable	to	
the	various	areas	of	expertise	is	outlined	below.

Key Methodologies
The	net	interest	income,	other	income,	and	non-interest	expenses	reported	for	each	line	may	also	
include	certain	interline	charges.	The	net	effects	of	the	internal	funds	transfer	pricing	and	interline	
charges, if any, are offset by amounts reported for strategic service units.

Review of Business Segments
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The	costs	associated	with	our	business	segments’	day-to-day	operations	are	allocated	based	on	the	
following	methodologies:

•	 Direct	 allocations	 include	 expenses	 that	 segments	 have	 influence	 over,	 which	 benefit	 the	
segment’s operations. 

•	 Other	costs	that	are	not	directly	attributable	to	the	business	segment,	including	indirect	expenses,	
follow specific methodologies based on best-suited cost drivers. 

Determination of Segmented Reporting

($ in thousands)

Retail 
Financial 
Services

Business and 
Agriculture

Corporate 
Financial 
Services

Investor 
Services

Strategic 
service units Total

For the year ended March 31, 2014

Net interest income $ 374,781 $ 225,416 $ 245,187 $ 4,100 $ 116,528 $ 966,012
Other income 86,777 72,766 96,448 101,247 27,209 384,447
Total operating revenue 461,558 298,182 341,635 105,347 143,737 1,350,459
Provision for credit losses 12,662 8,454 20,423 - 856 42,395
Non-interest expenses 370,706 162,915 76,934 87,802 250,734 949,091
Payment in lieu of tax - - - - 82,564 82,564
Net income (loss) $ 78,190 $ 126,813 $ 244,278 $ 17,545 $ (190,417) $ 276,409
Increase (decrease) from 2013
Net interest (loss) income $ (1,974) $ 17,297 $ 31,402 $ (380) $ 41,515 $ 87,860
Other (loss) income (157) 6,013 16,440 25,151 (14,585) 32,862
Total operating (loss) revenue (2,131) 23,310 47,842 24,771 26,930 120,722
(Recovery of ) provision for credit losses (13,363) 8,858 3,372 - (2,395) (3,528)
Non-interest expenses 5,058 12,655 13,090 14,005 34,891 79,699
Payment in lieu of tax - - - - 9,442 9,442
Net income (loss) $ 6,174 $ 1,797 $ 31,380 $ 10,766 $ (15,008) $ 35,109
For the year ended March 31, 2013, restated
Net interest income $ 376,755 $ 208,119 $ 213,785 $ 4,480 $ 75,013 878,152
Other income 86,934 66,753 80,008 76,096 41,794 351,585
Total operating revenue 463,689 274,872 293,793 80,576 116,807 1,229,737
Provision for (recovery of ) credit losses 26,025 (404) 17,051 - 3,251 45,923
Non-interest expenses 365,648 150,260 63,844 73,797 215,843 869,392
Payment in lieu of tax - - - - 73,122 73,122
Net income (loss) $ 72,016 $ 125,016 $ 212,898 $ 6,779 $ (175,409) $ 241,300
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Retail Financial Services (RFS) 

Overview 
RFS	spans	Alberta	through	our	network	of	branches,	agencies,	Customer	Care	Centre,	and	direct	sales	
teams.	With	close	to	2,600	front-line	team	members	serving	our	customers’	core	banking	needs,	we	
are	the	face	and	voice	of	ATB	for	most	customers.

Business Plan Summary
RFS	established	a	bold	vision	in	its	business	plan	for	the	past	year—to	serve	Alberta	better	than	any	
other financial institution in the province and to be respected as one of the very best retail financial 
services	groups	in	the	world.	A	number	of	RFS-specific	initiatives	addressed	the	biggest	productivity	
barriers for our front-line team members, and the positive impact of these initiatives resonated 
throughout	the	area	of	expertise	as	both	team	member	and	customer	experience	rebounded.	We	
also	saw	a	turnaround	in	customer	growth	and	notable	gains	in	J.D.	Power’s	customer	satisfaction	
scores, starting to align us with the rest of the industry. 

This	past	year,	we	had	three	areas	of	focus:	

•	 Branch	leadership
•	 Market	share
•	 Productivity

We have some of the best team members in the industry, but our understanding of customer 
experience	had	not	evolved	as	expectations	changed.	

Over	 the	 past	 year,	we	 have	worked	 hard	 to	 understand	 the	 baseline	 of	 customer	 expectations,	
build our competencies toward evolving consumer needs, and ensure continuous improvement in 
this area. 

We	focused	on	several	principal	strategies:	

•	 Elevating	our	culture	of	performance
•	 Enhancing	our	service	relationship	and	“trust”
•	 Improving	client	access	to	our	team	members
•	 Building	out	our	scale	
•	 Enhancing	the	retail	products	and	customer	solutions	we	offer
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For	fiscal	2014–15,	we	will	direct	our	energy	toward	leadership	and	execution	with	a	new	emphasis	on	
our key contribution to the overall success of the enterprise. Our goal will be to increase the number 
of	new	and	active	ATB	customers,	gather	their	transactional	accounts,	and	increase	the	breadth	and	
depth	of	 their	ATB	 connections.	This	 approach	will	 improve	our	overall	 financial	performance	by	
building on our strong momentum in leadership, people, customers, and operations, which will 
position us to make increasing contributions to the net profitability and relevance of the enterprise.

2013–14 Accomplishments

Leadership
Fiscal	 2013–14	 saw	 continued	 focus	 on	 leadership	 and,	 in	 particular,	 the	 key	 role	 of	 the	 branch	
manager. We have enhanced branch managers’ entrepreneurial accountability for presence in their 
communities and branch performance, streamlining procedures to re-establish their pre-eminent 
role	 in	 local	decision	making.	Furthermore,	we	continue	 to	 improve	 the	calibre	of	 talent	 in	 these	
critical roles through focused development support and recruitment.

Productivity
To	elevate	our	culture	of	performance,	we	have	introduced	new	short-term	incentive	plans	for	key	
members of our team, such as branch managers and our in-branch sales force. We have also renewed 
our productivity and performance framework for other team members. With a strengthened focus 
on enhancing our service relationship with customers, we are bringing trust to the forefront. We 
have changed how we do business, identifying and eliminating outdated and inefficient rules 
and processes, beginning to optimize our workforce, and working to create an environment of 
continuous improvement.

Market Share
RFS	successfully	launched	Alberta	Private	Client—our	new	high-net-worth	offering—with	locations	
in	Edmonton	and	Calgary	 staffed	by	hand-picked	advisory	 specialists.	We	strengthened	our	non-
branch channels, enhancing the competitiveness of our product offerings and improving back-
office processes, allowing our products to compete effectively in the alternate acquisition space 
with dealers and brokers, and providing specialized mortgage sales services.
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We have also enhanced our broader retail product suite, which now includes best-in-class card 
offerings	 and	 account	 fees,	 plus	 best-rate	 mortgages	 and	 GICs.	We	 have	 gone	 against	 industry	
practices	to	serve	the	best	interest	of	our	customers	by	simplifying	retail	banking	for	them.	RFS	no	
longer	offers	market-linked	GIC	products	and	has	taken	the	confusion	out	of	mortgages	with	our	
Clear-Cut	Mortgage	ideology.	We	are	beginning	to	differentiate	ATB	in	the	marketplace	by	creating	
fair, market-leading products that are easy to understand. 

Customer and Team Member Engagement
In	fiscal	2013–14,	we	achieved	an	employee	engagement	score	of	81%	(surveyed	by	AON	Hewitt),	up	
from	77%	last	year.	Our	Client	Advocacy	Index,	a	measure	of	client	loyalty	and	engagement,	reached	
46	this	year,	an	improvement	over	a	score	of	43	at	the	end	of	last	year.	

($ in thousands) 2014 2013 restated
Net interest income $ 374,781 $ 376,755
Other income 86,777 86,934
Operating revenue 461,558 463,689
Provision for credit losses 12,662 26,025
Non-interest expenses 370,706 365,648
Net income $ 78,190 $ 72,016
Total assets 18,483,339 16,684,902
Total liabilities 11,325,690 10,548,810

2013–14 Financial Performance
RFS	saw	net	income	improve	by	$6.2	million	(8.6%)	over	last	year,	ending	the	year	at	$78.2	million.	This	
improvement	was	driven	by	a	$13.4-million	decrease	in	loan	losses,	partially	offset	by	a	$5.1-million	
increase	in	non-interest	expenses	and	a	$2.1-million	decrease	in	operating	revenue.

Despite	 significant	 growth	 in	 the	 loan	 portfolio,	 RFS	 has	 experienced	 a	 reduction	 in	 net	 interest	
income, driven by decreasing loan spreads. 

The	significant	reduction	in	loan	loss	expense	is	driven	by	the	improved	underlying	quality	of	the	
loan portfolio.

The	$5.1-million	increase	in	non-interest	expenses	is	driven	by	a	combination	of	employee	expenses	
and deposit guarantee fees.
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2014–15 Objectives
In	fiscal	2014–15,	RFS	will	enhance	its	balance	sheet	strength	and	profitability,	driving	productivity	by	
acquiring low-cost deposits, attracting new customers, and welcoming customers to the complete 
range	of	expertise	and	services	offered	by	ATB	as	a	whole.	We	will	expand	our	operating	revenues,	
continue to manage our costs aggressively, and increase our overall efficiency.

Our goal is to narrow our strategic focus to productivity and market share. We will continue to 
emphasize	the	critical	 role	of	 leadership	and	 improved	execution.	Strong	execution	against	 these	
strategies	will	 improve	 both	 our	 net	 profitability	 and	 our	 overall	 contribution	 to	 ATB’s	 improved	
financial performance.

Productivity
Our	productivity	focus	for	fiscal	2014–15	will	continue	to	drive	progress	across	three	key	areas:	

•	 Continuing	to	expand	and	deepen	our	culture	of	performance
•	 Enhancing	the	ongoing	focus	on	trust,	service,	and	relationships
•	 Maintaining	the	evolution	of	Branch	Manager	2.0

Operational Soundness
We	 want	 to	 be	 one	 of	 the	 best-managed	 retail	 financial	 institutions	 in	 the	 world.	 Building	 our	
business	 performance,	 operational	 excellence,	 risk	management,	 and	 regulatory	 compliance	will	
be	key	for	RFS	in	fiscal	2014–15.	We	will	 focus	on	process	efficiencies,	operational	excellence,	and	
capacity utilization in our drive for top performance.

Market Share
Our	market	focus	for	fiscal	2014–15	will	emphasize	automation	of	sales	and	supporting	processes	
to increase the capacity of our sales force. We will substantially increase the number of new and 
active	ATB	customers	by	building	on	our	strong	momentum	in	leadership,	people,	customers,	and	
operations	along	with	leveraging	connections	across	our	other	areas	of	expertise.	We	will	continue	to	
expand	the	ability	of	current	and	future	customers	to	connect	to	the	right	expert	at	ATB.	Furthermore,	
we have committed to keeping a spotlight on transactional accounts. Our focus on growth will be 
to continue to optimize our credit offerings, acquire low-cost deposits in the form of chequing 
accounts,	attract	new	customers,	and	improve	our	retention	of	existing	customers.	



ATB Financial 2014 Annual Report 59

“ATB’s	mandate	is	to	serve	Alberta.	We	know	Alberta	better	than	the	other	 
banks, and we’re applying what we know to serve Alberta better than any other 
financial	institution	in	the	province.	The	difference	with	us	is	how	and	where	
decisions	get	made.	We	have	empowered	experts	in	each	aspect	of	financial	
services.	This	gives	us	a	sophisticated	and	holistic	system	for	tackling	all	of	our	
customers’ financial needs with a team approach.” 

—Rob Bennett, Executive Vice-President, Retail Financial Services

Team Member Value Proposition
RFS	 plays	 a	 significant	 part	 in	making	 ATB	 the place to work. We will continue investing in the 
development and success of our branch leaders and front-line team members. We are introducing 
more progressive competency development to increase team members’ skills and abilities, and to 
give them more control over their careers. We are also evolving our total rewards programs for sales, 
service, and leadership roles, and enhancing employee recognition programs. 

Customer Value Proposition
Our goal is to be loved and respected by Albertans. New products and solutions will be introduced to 
create more value for our customers. We will enhance our presence in ways that truly suit Alberta by 
ensuring that we have clear value for all of our markets and by developing a high-net-worth offering 
with private-banking capabilities.
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Business and Agriculture (B&Ag) 

Overview
B&Ag	is	a	dedicated	team	within	ATB	that	is	working	to	match	the	entrepreneurial	spirit	of	Alberta’s	
business owners and agriculture producers. Our financial professionals take the time to understand 
their	clients’	unique	needs	in	order	to	help	them	manage	their	finances	and	banking.	B&Ag	currently	
supports	over	83,000	small	and	medium-sized	businesses	and	primary	agriculture	producers	across	
Alberta, leading the way in overall market share.

Business Plan Summary 
For	 any	 business	 to	 be	 successful,	 it	 needs	 support	 from	 trusted	 professionals—most	 use	 an	
accountant	for	tax	advice	and	a	lawyer	for	legal	advice.	However,	we	don’t	think	that’s	enough	and	
believe Alberta businesses need more professional support when it comes to their business finances. 

To	provide	 that	 support,	we’ve	established	 the	professional	practice	within	B&Ag	and	positioned	
it	as	the	foundation	for	the	entire	area	of	expertise.	The	professional	practice	is	designed	to	ensure	
our clients are receiving the support they need to achieve their goals, while building long-term 
relationships	with	our	professionals.	For	B&Ag,	the	professional	practice	will	also	provide	opportunities	
to acquire more low-cost deposits and higher-yielding loans, and drive strong growth in other 
income as we work to support a growing number of clients throughout the province. 

2013–14 Accomplishments 

Professional Practice
The	professional	practice	has	continued	to	evolve	and	now	allows	our	professionals	 to	build	and	
manage their practice in a way that best suits their interests, skills, and capabilities, while creating 
the	ultimate	“professional	banking”	experience	for	our	clients.	With	the	concept	now	well	established	
within	our	area	of	expertise,	we	are	beginning	to	take	the	next	steps	to	further	enhance	it	through	
the introduction of a professional selection process, professional practice training, and unique talent 
and	leadership	development	opportunities.	Each	of	these	enhancements	is	intended	to	ensure	we	
are	attracting	the	right	professionals	to	work	within	our	area	of	expertise	and	prepare	them	as	quickly	
as possible to run their business successfully. 



ATB Financial 2014 Annual Report 61

B&Ag Centres of Expertise 
Critical	to	the	continued	success	of	B&Ag	moving	forward	is	development	of	the	Business	Centre	of	
Expertise	(BCE)	and	the	Agriculture	Centre	of	Expertise	(ACE).	Both	centres	are	made	up	of	industry-
specific	experts	who	have	elevated	our	ability	to	provide	sophisticated	solutions	to	more	businesses	
within	 the	 “magical	 middle.”	 The	 BCE	 and	 ACE	 also	 directly	 support	 each	 of	 our	 client-facing	 
teams, while ensuring the relationship with the client is always owned by the local professional, who 
remains	the	go-to	person	for	the	client.	Both	centres	have	generated	dramatic	growth	over	the	past	
12	months,	and	we	expect	that	success	to	continue.	

Mass Market
A	new	team	is	now	in	place	to	help	improve	the	overall	experience	we	offer	to	mass	market	business	
and	agriculture	clients	across	Alberta.	This	team	will	continue	to	evolve	in	order	to	welcome	new	ATB	
clients	and	provide	them	with	a	consistent	level	of	service.	These	changes	will	ensure	that	our	smaller	
and micro clients have the access they need to a business banking professional.

Understanding Alberta Business Better Than Anyone Else
ATB	has	served	Albertans	for	75	years,	and	because	of	that	history,	we’ve	developed	an	understanding	
of	this	province	that	is	second	to	none.	However,	history	alone	won’t	keep	us	up	to	speed	on	what	
makes	doing	business	in	Alberta	truly	unique	in	the	present.	That’s	why	we	launched	the	ATB	Business 

Beat (atb.com/businessbeat). 

Based	on	the	results	collected	through	quarterly	surveys,	which	come	directly	from	small	and	mid-
sized Alberta businesses, we’ve been able to gather insights about what keeps business owners in 
this province up at night, what challenges they continue to face, and how we can identify ways to 
help them. Within each edition of the Business Beat,	we	also	publish	our	own	ATB	Business	Index	and	
ATB	Business	Economy	Index,	providing	insight	on	the	expectations	Alberta	business	owners	have	
for their company’s future performance and where they see the Alberta economy going. 

A New Approach to Personal Guarantees
When it comes to securing a business loan through a financial institution, it’s become a widely 
accepted	practice	 for	clients	 to	give	 full	 joint	and	several	guarantees	 in	support	of	 their	business	
loans.	Going	forward,	ATB	is	breaking	this	 industry	model	by	giving	back	guarantees	(or	portions)	
to	our	existing	clients	as	our	relationship	with	them	grows	and	they	are	successful.	For	new	clients,	
we will no longer always ask for full guarantees and will typically ask for only a small percentage 
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guarantee	for	the	outstanding	loan	amount	(with	some	minimums	in	place).	This	new	approach	to	
personal guarantees is one way we’re showing Alberta business owners that we believe in them, trust 
them, and are committed to helping them run a successful business that keeps our province thriving. 

Customer and Team Member Engagement
In	fiscal	2013–14,	we	achieved	an	employee	engagement	score	of	89%	(surveyed	by	AON	Hewitt),	
consistent	with	the	prior	year’s	 result.	The	Client	Advocacy	 Index	 (CAI)	 is	 the	standard	metric	ATB	
uses	to	measure	a	client’s	willingness	to	continue	to	bank	with	ATB	and	to	recommend	ATB	to	others,	
allowing	us	to	benchmark	ourselves	against	other	financial	institutions	in	Alberta.	In	fiscal	2013–14,	
we	were	able	to	increase	our	overall	CAI	measure	of	client	loyalty	and	engagement	from	44	to	49.	This	
increase was our first time returning to levels similar to what we had prior to implementing the new 
banking	system	and	is	a	reflection	of	our	professionals’	commitment	to	building	strong	relationships	
with	their	clients.	This	commitment	will	also	help	us	reach	our	fiscal	2014–15	CAI	target	of	52.

($ in thousands) 2014 2013 restated
Net interest income $ 225,416 $ 208,119
Other income 72,766 66,753
Operating revenue 298,182 274,872
Provision for credit losses 8,454 (404)
Non-interest expenses 162,915 150,260
Net income $ 126,813 $ 125,016
Total assets 5,712,616 4,808,883
Total liabilities 8,005,506 7,113,886

2013–14 Financial Performance 
Net	 income	for	 the	year	was	$126.8	million,	a	$1.8-million	 increase	over	 the	prior	year.	Significant	
drivers of the increase were an increase in operating revenue, offset by an increase in non-interest 
expenses	and	provision	for	credit	losses.

Operating	 revenue	 for	 the	 year	was	 $298.2	million,	 a	 $23.3-million	 (8.5%)	 increase	 over	 the	prior	
year.	This	was	driven	by	strong	growth	across	all	product	categories;	the	combined	loan	and	deposit	
growth	reached	$1.8	billion,	a	$551.3-million	(44%)	year-over-year	increase.			

Non-interest	expenses	increased	$12.7	million	(8.4%)	from	the	prior	year,	driven	by	a	combination	
of	employee	expenses	and	deposit	guarantee	fees.	The	$8.9-million	increase	in	loan	loss	expenses	is	
driven	by	a	one-time	adjustment	made	in	the	prior	year	that	resulted	in	a	significant	recovery.	
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2014–15 Objectives
Strategic	objectives	for	fiscal	2014–15	include	the	following:

•	 Strengthen	the	professional	practice	as	the	foundational	strategy	of	our	area	of	expertise
•	 Leverage	the	success	of	the	BCE	and	ACE	to	provide	highly	customized	solutions	to	clients	in	the	

“magical middle”
•	 Further	develop	our	team	to	better	serve	mass	market	clients
•	 Re-engineer	the	business	to	produce	productivity	gains
•	 Work	in	closer	partnership	with	the	other	areas	of	expertise	to	connect	our	clients	with	as	many	
ATB	experts	as	possible

•	 Continue	 to	 raise	 ATB’s	 profile	within	 the	 business	 and	 agriculture	markets	 and	 showcase	 our	
made-in-Alberta	expertise

“Our team of professionals get Alberta entrepreneurs and what it takes for them to 
succeed	here.	To	prove	it,	we	are	doing	business	differently	at	ATB.	We’re	no	longer	
taking full personal guarantees on many business loans, showing our clients we 
trust	and	believe	in	them,	and	we’re	offering	new	solutions	like	the	Business	
Growth	Mortgage,	which	is	built	for	doing	business	in	Alberta.	We	want	to	build	
business relationships that last, so we’re investing in professional team members 
who	aren’t	just	business	experts,	but	advisors	who	will	stick	with	their	clients	for	
the	long	haul.	It’s	not	just	what	we	do	that	is	different.	We	‘speak	entrepreneur’	
here too, which means we translate business banking into a language that 
business owners get.”

—Wellington Holbrook, Executive Vice-President, Business and Agriculture
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Corporate Financial Services (CFS) 

Overview
CFS	is	the	area	of	expertise	within	ATB	Financial	that	focuses	on	building	relationships	with	mid-sized	
to	large	corporate	businesses	with	operations	in	the	province	of	Alberta.	Through	teams	of	industry	
and	solution	experts,	CFS	custom-builds	a	wide	 range	of	capital,	 corporate	 investment,	 cash	and	
treasury management, and financial market solutions for its clients. 

As	demonstrated	by	its	market-leading	levels	of	client	advocacy,	CFS’s	focus	is	squarely	on	its	clients,	
providing them with access to industry-specialized relationship management teams and other 
experts	in	order	to	meet	their	needs.	Through	good	times	or	bad,	CFS	is	the	market	leader	that	clearly	
understands the risks inherent in our Alberta and global environment well enough to be able to stay 
the course for its clients. 

Business Plan Summary
CFS’s	strategic	priorities	remain	as	true	today	as	when	they	were	developed	over	two	years	ago.	The	
clear	aim	of	the	plan	is	to	build	client-focused	solutions,	expertise,	and	market	presence	in	order	to	
gain	market	significance	in	all	the	industry	sectors	and	categories	it	serves.	As	CFS	achieves	this	level	
of	market	significance,	it	will	work	to	expand	its	market	presence,	actively	develop	its	business,	and	
leverage	the	technology	to	improve	internal	and	external	capabilities.

Over	the	remaining	course	of	the	strategic	plan,	CFS	will	have	grown	significantly	in	both	breadth	of	
market	coverage	and	depth	of	client	relationships.	Through	the	active	development	of	the	business,	
team,	 and	 capabilities,	 CFS	will	 expand	 its	 presence	 in	 the	marketplace	 and	become	 a	 leader	 in	
the	 community.	 Successful	 execution	 of	 its	 plan	 will	 deliver	 clear	 results:	 industry-leading	 client	
advocacy, strong engagement of team members, significant gains in market share, and increased 
levels of profitability balanced with preserved levels of efficiency.

2013–14 Accomplishments
Over	 fiscal	 2013–14,	 CFS	 made	 significant	 progress	 on	 the	 strategic	 priorities	 outlined	 in	 its	
five-year plan.
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Significance From Client Depth
During	the	second	quarter,	CFS	launched	a	new	capital	solution	called	the	Mezzanine	Debt	Program,	
initially	tailored	to	Alberta’s	exploration	and	production	market,	as	part	of	its	overall	suite	of	offerings.	
The	program	keenly	addresses	the	financing	gap	in	the	current	market	between	selective	or	dilutive	
equity	and	reduced	senior	debt	financing.	This	unique	program	was	also	designed	to	avoid	many	of	
the	pitfalls	of	traditional	mezzanine	financing.	Later	in	the	fourth	quarter,	ATB	Equipment	Finance	was	
launched.	This	specialized	team	has	extensive	equipment	finance	expertise	 in	the	Alberta	market,	
and partners with clients to provide competitive and customized solutions.

Alberta as a Global Centre
CFS	continues	to	serve	in	its	capacity	as	a	conduit	for	businesses	operating	and	striving	to	operate	
in	Alberta.	As	a	direct	result	of	this	approach,	over	the	past	year	ATB	was	invited	to	join	the	select	
banking	syndicate	for	China	Offshore	Oil	Corporation	and	Nexen.	Participation	in	this	transaction	is	a	
direct	result	of	our	expert	knowledge	of	the	market,	derived	from	our	industry-specialized	approach,	
and	 the	 shared	benefits	 that	 can	 result	 from	establishing	 strong	global	 relationships.	During	 the	
course	of	this	year,	CFS	also	created	new	relationships	with	foreign	financial	institutions	in	order	to	
improve the capital availability to businesses operating in the province.

Strong Client Advocacy and Team Member Engagement
ATB’s	measure	for	client	loyalty	and	satisfaction,	the	Client	Advocacy	Index,	reached	yet	another	high	
of	70	over	fiscal	2013–14	compared	to	a	score	of	67	the	previous	year.	This	continues	to	be	a	strong	
endorsement	for	the	CFS	client-centric	model.	Perhaps	more	importantly,	these	results	continue	to	
place	CFS	as	one	of	the	highest-ranking	institutions	in	client	advocacy	among	major	commercial	and	
corporate	banks	in	Alberta	according	to	research	conducted	by	the	NRG	Research	Group.	In	fiscal	
2013–14,	CFS	achieved	an	employee	engagement	score	of	74%	(surveyed	by	AON	Hewitt).

Developing Our Business Through Technology
Over	 the	 past	 year,	 CFS	 advanced	 many	 projects	 to	 continue	 to	 develop	 our	 business,	 client	
capabilities,	 and	 internal	controls.	As	 just	one	example,	 the	Loan	Syndications	 team	completed	a	
project	 to	 enhance	 its	 technology	 platform	 and	 processes	 dedicated	 to	 the	 syndicated	 lending	
practice.	 The	 resulting	 enhanced	 platform	moves	 CFS’s	 Loan	 Syndications	 operations	 to	 a	more	
efficient systematic record versus our previous platform, which merged multiple technology 
solutions and more manual processes. 
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The	benefits	of	scale	that	ATB	will	receive	from	this	change	are	significant	as	it	will	allow	the	team	to	
continue to add new business without the associated human capital, further increasing its efficiency 
and productivity. A second but equally important benefit from this enhanced platform will be 
even	greater	 internal	 controls,	which	complement	CFS’s	overall	 approach	 to	 further	enhance	 the	
governance and oversight of its business.

Leadership in Our Communities
In	September	2013,	CFS	launched	a	program	called	Leaders	Give	Back,	designed	to	engage	its	clients	
to	join	ATB	in	giving	back	time	in	a	meaningful	way	to	our	shared	community.	Leaders	Give	Back	was	
an	exciting	opportunity	for	Alberta	leaders	to	give	their	time	at	one	of	our	special	volunteer	events.	

For	seven	months,	ATB	hosted	a	series	of	volunteer	opportunities	with	not-for-profit	organizations	
throughout	Alberta.	Team	members	from	CFS	joined	clients	who	demonstrate	the	qualities	of	a	great	
leader—passion	 for	what	 they	do,	 the	ability	 to	positively	 impact	others	around	 them,	and	most	
importantly, an understanding of the importance of giving back to the communities in which they 
live and work. 

Over	the	course	of	this	program,	CFS	organized	and	hosted	over	200	clients	at	nearly	20	Giving	Back	
engagements. While the end result developed deeper and more meaningful connections with many 
of our clients, we sincerely hope the real impact was felt by the not-for-profit partners involved with 
us	in	this	journey.	

($ in thousands) 2014 2013 restated
Net interest income $ 245,187 $ 213,785
Other income 96,448 80,008
Operating revenue 341,635 293,793
Provision for credit losses 20,423 17,051
Non-interest expenses 76,934 63,844
Net income $ 244,278 $ 212,898
Total assets 9,735,770 8,151,100
Total liabilities 7,364,220 5,553,768

2013–14 Financial Performance 
CFS	continued	to	deliver	strong	results,	ending	the	year	at	$244.3	million	in	net	income,	an	increase	
of	$31.4	million	(14.7%)	over	last	year.	A	significant	driver	of	this	performance	was	a	33%	and	19%	
growth	 in	 deposits	 and	 loans,	 respectively,	 which	 contributed	 to	 a	 $31.4-million	 increase	 in	 net	
interest income.
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Other	 income	for	 the	year	was	also	up	by	21%,	driven	primarily	by	credit	 fees,	growing	the	share	
of	 wallet	 in	 our	 cash	management	 portfolio,	 and	 continued	 client	 penetration	 by	 our	 Financial	
Markets	team.	

Continuing	 on	 with	 the	 mantra	 of	 efficiency,	 productivity,	 and	 results,	 increases	 in	 non-interest	
expenses	were	measured,	with	 a	 significant	 portion	 of	 the	 year-over-year	 increases	 coming	 as	 a	
result of higher deposit guarantee fees and team member growth to continue to serve our growing 
client	base.	As	with	B&Ag,	the	 increase	 in	deposit	guarantee	fees	 is	a	direct	result	of	a	$1.8-billion	
increase	in	deposits	over	the	year.	The	increase	in	employee-related	expenses	is	driven	primarily	by	
performance-based	pay,	which	is	indicative	of	CFS’s	performance	during	the	year.

2014–15 Objectives
As	CFS	continues	to	hit	its	stride,	it	will	deliver	on	year-over-year	growth	in	operating	revenue,	direct	
contribution, and market share while focusing on strong team member engagement and maintaining 
its strong standing for client advocacy in the commercial and corporate banking marketplace.

In	the	final	three	years	of	the	strategic	plan	and	specifically	over	the	course	of	fiscal	2014–15,	CFS	will	
continue	to	deliver	on	all	four	of	its	strategic	objectives.

Lead Change in Alberta by Moving From Relevance to Significance
Today,	 key	 subsets	 within	 CFS’s	 team,	 including	 our	 energy,	 real	 estate,	 and	 forestry	 practices,	
have achieved a level of market significance. We have achieved this significance by attracting and 
retaining	expert	team	members	who	have	become	true	authorities	in	their	sectors.	We	will	continue	
to advance our human capital model in order to develop all of our sector practices and capabilities 
to this same level of market recognition and adoption.

Expand the CFS Presence
We	will	expand	our	presence	and	become	significant	through	developing	more	breadth	and	depth:	
breadth of market coverage and depth of relationships with our clients. We aim to achieve a similar 
level of success across all industries key to the growth and advancement of the province. 

Actively Develop Our Business
To	enable	the	successful	execution	of	our	strategy,	we	will	continue	to	focus	 largely	on	our	team	
members.	By	actively	developing	our	team	and	business,	we	seek	to	inspire	a	movement	of	leadership	
in	our	communities	to	further	our	professional	and	social	influence.
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“To	be	significant	in	this	marketplace,	you	need	to	be	an	expert	on	the	market	
dynamics	and	know	your	clients	really	well	to	be	able	to	stay	the	course.	That’s	
what this market needs, and that’s what we try to do. Whether through the global 
credit crunch or through this recent depressed commodity price environment, we 
remain	by	the	sides	of	our	clients	to	help	them	succeed.	In	the	end,	each	success	
will continue to transform Alberta into a global market power.”

—Ian Wild, Executive Vice-President, Corporate Financial Services

Leverage the Banking System Technology 
We will continue to evolve our business operational structure and processes in order to better 
integrate	with	our	banking	system.	Throughout	the	remainder	of	this	strategic	plan,	work	on	business	
process mapping will continue in order to complement our unique and differentiated client service 
model and clearly drive out even more efficiencies and scalability. 
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Investor Services (ATBIS)

Overview
ATBIS	 is	 a	 key	 component	 of	 ATB’s	 overall	 business,	 offering	 our	 customers	 world-class	 wealth	
management	expertise.	Our	 team	of	advisors	and	other	 specialized	professionals	brings	 together	
savings,	 investments,	 insurance,	tax	planning,	and	estate	planning	into	a	single,	 integrated	wealth	
management	plan	that	will	grow,	protect,	maximize	income	from,	and	eventually	transfer	our	clients’	
wealth.	In	fiscal	2013–14,	ATBIS	continued	its	trend	of	rapid	expansion,	as	revenue	growth	outpaced	
expense	growth	by	12%,	and	enterprise	value	grew	58%	year	over	year.

Business Plan Summary
We	believe	that	four	major	factors	set	us	apart	in	the	way	we	add	value	for	our	clients,	and	that	these	
factors have enabled our gain in market share. 

Attributes
For	almost	a	decade,	we	have	studied	the	attributes	that	make	a	great	advisor.	Our	clients	continually	
tell us they are seeking an advisor who challenges them, and who they feel has their best interests 
at	heart.	We	believe	we	have	surpassed	our	competitors	in	understanding	the	DNA	of	a	world-class	
advisor and have tailored our selection process to clearly identify those candidates who can deliver 
on our dream statement.

Mastery 
Now that we have the right people in place, we have the opportunity to develop them to meet our 
standard	of	excellence.	We	have	created	an	ecosystem	that	includes	high-level	coaches	who	mentor	
our advisors based on their areas of developmental need and use measurement tools to track their 
improvement. Using video technology to observe and record advisors while they meet with clients, 
we have also captured many masterful practices that can be shared with other advisors in a virtual 
library of content.

Portfolio 
Another	element	that	sets	us	apart	from	our	competitors	is	our	award-winning	Compass	Portfolio	
Series.	After	a	decade	of	maintaining	a	consistent	approach	in	our	investment	philosophy,	Compass	
has	earned	a	four-	or	five-star	rating	for	100%	of	the	portfolios	every	year	for	the	past	five	years	in	a	
row, clearly outperforming our peers and helping to build loyalty among our clients and our advisors.  

Teamwork
We believe that no individual can be great at managing client relationships while also being 
responsible for allocating assets, selecting managers and stocks, and administering an office. We 
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have developed a team approach that allows individuals to focus on their respective areas of 
expertise.	By	having	some	of	 the	best	 researchers	and	analysts,	 combined	with	advisors	who	are	
brilliant	at	understanding	clients,	we	offer	much	greater	value	to	our	clients.	For	fiscal	2013–14,	our	
Client	Advocacy	Index,	a	measure	of	client	loyalty	and	satisfaction,	reached	55	compared	to	a	score	
of	53	the	previous	year.	This	continues	to	be	a	strong	endorsement	for	the	ATBIS	client-centric	model.	
In	addition,	our	team	member	engagement	score	increased	to	89%	this	year,	up	from	the	80%	score	
attained last year.

2013–14 Accomplishments

Produce More
In	fiscal	2013–14,	we	continued	our	focus	on	mastery	using	a	panel	of	experienced	coaches	who	
provide our advisors with individual development plans based on video observation, deep practice, 
and	access	to	our	video	library	of	masterful	advisor-client	interactions.	We	currently	have	62	of	our	100	
advisors in our mastery program and continue to see the gap in revenue generation and customer 
satisfaction widen between those advisors who participate in the program and those who do not.

In	November	of	2013,	we	launched	our	Online	Advice	tool	to	all	Albertans,	allowing	them	to	fulfil	
investment	plans	 in	 an	 efficient,	 self-serve	manner,	while	 still	 having	 the	 availability	 and	 security	
of	 advice	 and	 service	built	 into	 the	 tool.	 Before	 launching	 the	 tool,	 ATBIS	was	 losing	 an	 average	
of	$100	per	mass	market	account	per	year.	The	online	model	 is	expected	to	shift	 that	figure	 to	a	
profitable amount.

Consume Less
We	piloted	 the	Client	 Care	Group	 (CCG)	 for	 advisory	 teams	 to	 reduce	 time	on	 account	 opening	
and maintenance, allowing more time to be reinvested back into business development, client 
relationships, and mastery. We saw a quantum increase in advisor capacity, and today all advisors 
and	their	assistants	have	access	to	the	CCG.

Financial Performance

($ in thousands) 2014 2013 restated
Net interest income $ 4,100 $ 4,480
Other income 101,247 76,096
Operating revenue 105,347 80,576
Non-interest expenses 87,802 73,797
Net income $ 17,545 $ 6,779
Total assets 136,604 136,376
Total liabilities 97,454 105,623
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ATBIS	 has	 experienced	 a	 record-breaking	 year.	 Assets	 under	 management	 and	 administration	
increased	by	$2.4	billion	to	$11.0	billion	at	March	31,	2014,	driven	by	significantly	improved	advisor	
productivity	and	strong	market	conditions.	ATBIS	mutual	 fund	assets	grew	32%	 in	fiscal	2013–14,	
doubling	industry	growth	of	16%	over	the	same	period.	

Our	phenomenal	asset	growth	resulted	in	revenues	exceeding	the	$100-million	mark	for	the	first	time	
in	our	history,	fuelled	by	47%	growth	in	Compass	management	fees	and	healthy	portfolio	returns.

ATBIS	ended	the	year	with	a	net	income	of	$17.5	million,	an	increase	of	$10.8	million	(158.8%)	over	
the	prior	year.	This	was	a	direct	result	of	the	increase	in	assets	under	management	and	the	increased	
penetration	 of	 the	 Compass	 Portfolio.	 Operating	 revenue	 growth	 of	 $24.8	 million	 (30.7%)	 more	
than	offset	the	$14.0-million	(19.0%)	increase	in	non-interest	expenses,	which	is	consistent	with	our	
initiative to produce more while consuming less.

Beyond	our	exceptional	financial	performance,	our	customer	satisfaction	scores	have	also	improved	
this	year.	Our	internal	Client	Advocacy	Index	showed	steady	growth	each	quarter	in	how	likely	our	
clients are to stay with us, as well as in the likelihood that they will refer us to others.

2014–15 Objectives
This	year,	we	will	focus	on	three	main	priorities:	

•	 Growing our share
•	 Harvesting	profits
•	 Widening the gap between ourselves and the competition

These	priorities	will	be	supported	by	the	key	areas	of	focus	that	have	helped	us	get	where	we	are	
today, including the following.

Helping Albertans With Cross-Border Living
Many	affluent	Albertans	own	homes	in	the	warm	southern	states,	and	while	this	lifestyle	provides	a	
wonderful	opportunity	for	them,	cross-border	living	also	involves	complexities	such	as	taxation	rules,	
immigration	laws,	currency	transfers,	estate	taxes,	and	the	need	to	move	money	between	accounts	
in	different	countries.	Having	our	advisors	registered	to	operate	in	Arizona,	California,	and	Nevada	will	
allow	us	to	offer	advice	and	service	to	our	clients	year-round,	regardless	of	geographic	borders,	and	
our	partnership	with	Alberta	Private	Client	will	give	us	access	to	the	expertise	to	help	clients	with	the	
complexities	of	cross-border	lives.	
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Achieving Mastery for All
Based	 on	 the	 tremendous	 financial	 growth	 we	 have	 already	 realized	 because	 of	 our	 mastery	
development	program	(our	masters	produce	300%	to	500%	more	than	average	advisors),	our	goal	
is	to	have	more	than	80%	of	our	advisors	receive	coaching	support	from	our	advisor	development	
team	this	year.	We	will	also	expand	the	mastery	content	to	include	new	program	material,	workshops,	
and	 seminars	 through	 which	 we	 plan	 to	 offer	 mastery	 development	 to	 additional	 back-office	
support teams. 

Using the Online Advice Channel 
Today,	our	Online	Advice	channel	is	operating	with	25	advisors	and	allows	us	to	reach	all	Albertans,	
regardless	of	geographic	boundaries.	We	expect	this	medium	will	be	a	gateway	for	many	new	clients,	
and	our	 goal	 this	 year	 is	 to	 significantly	 increase	penetration	of	ATB	 retail	 customers.	We	will	 be	
working	closely	with	our	RFS	partners	in	fiscal	2014–15	to	create	and	begin	to	implement	a	plan	that	
will enable clients to easily request everyday banking services within our online offering.

Expanding Partnerships With Other Areas of Expertise
Increasing	 the	 number	 of	 experts	 surrounding	 each	 of	 our	 clients	 is	 another	 key	 way	 we	 will	
contribute	to	our	targets	in	fiscal	2014–15.	Our	leadership	team	is	already	working	closely	with	the	
other	areas	of	expertise	to	develop	a	connections	strategy.	We	also	plan	to	increase	revenues	and	
experts	per	client	this	year	through	our	partnership	with	the	Alberta	Private	Client	team	to	develop	
new	offerings,	as	well	as	through	plans	to	expand	our	Compass	offering	outside	of	ATB	with	other,	
non-competing	financial	institutions.	

Helping Advisors Spend More Time With Clients and Less Time With Documents
Another	way	we	expect	to	reach	our	targets	this	year	is	to	continue	to	uncover	cost-	and	time-saving	
opportunities	in	our	business.	Some	specific	initiatives	we	plan	to	implement	in	fiscal	2014–15	are	
digital client signatures and electronic statements. 

“Our	three-year	strategy	is	to	hold	the	largest	market	share	in	the	Alberta	
investment	industry,	to	harvest	$96	million	in	earnings,	and	to	keep	innovating	
and widening the gap between us and our competitors.”

—Sheldon Dyck, President, Investor Services
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Strategic Service Units (SSUs)

ATB’s	SSUs	are	dedicated	to	supporting	our	areas	of	expertise	and	include	corporate	or	head-office	
business units whose results are either not directly attributable to an operating segment or are 
strictly	corporate	in	nature.	The	SSUs’	objective	is	to	support	the	areas	of	expertise	in	meeting	their	
strategic and operational goals as efficiently as possible. 

People and Culture (P&C) 
P&C’s	primary	role	is	to	support	ATB	in	delivering	the	best	“people	journey”	for	our	team	members	
and	 to	 fulfil	 the	need	 to	 attract,	 select,	 onboard,	 reward,	develop,	 inform,	 engage,	 and	exit	 team	
members in ways that bring the very best talent to the right roles, at the right time. Our work culture 
and	environment	help	 team	members	 at	 every	 level	 to	 thrive.	To	 this	 end,	we	continue	 to	 strive	
to be vital business partners and consultants that provide trusted advice and insights that leaders 
find indispensable.

Reputation and Brand (R&B)
R&B	 includes	 corporate-wide	 brand	 and	 marketing	 initiatives,	 corporate	 social	 responsibility,	
community investment and specific community initiatives, media and story, internal communications, 
government	relations	and	customer	relations,	and	ATB’s	chief	economist.	We	provide	award-winning	
talent	and	creative	ideas	to	support	ATB’s	three	goals.	

Strategy and Operations (S&O)
This	team’s	strategic	focus	is	on	creating	value	for	our	internal	and	external	customers	through	deep	
understanding,	 anticipating	 needs,	 and	 enabling	 accelerated	 performance	 at	 ATB.	 S&O	 includes	
Information	Technology	and	Service	Delivery,	Central	 Services,	 the	Strategy	Group,	Channels	 and	
Payments,	and	the	Innovation	Team.	In	the	fourth	quarter,	we	transferred	the	Customer	Care	Centre	
and	 Card	 Services	 teams	 from	 Retail	 Financial	 Services	 to	 S&O	 in	 order	 to	 bring	 the	 focus	 and	
benefits	of	these	services	to	the	broader	enterprise.	Functionally,	we	bring	strategy	together	with	
our	operational	areas	in	order	to	accelerate	and	execute	enterprise	solutions.

Risk Management
Risk	Management	 provides	 a	 disciplined	 and	 systematic	means	 to	 proactively	 identify,	measure,	
manage, control, and report on all significant credit, market, liquidity, legal and regulatory, operational, 
strategic,	and	reputational	risks	inherent	in	all	ATB	operations.	For	fiscal	2014–15,	we	will	continue	
to create and sustain a strong risk and compliance culture, work toward making credit a strong 
competitive	advantage	for	ATB,	and	optimize	efficiencies	and	productivity.		
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CFO Portfolio
The	CFO	Portfolio	includes	the	accounting,	legal,	treasury,	real	estate,	and	facilities	functions	of	ATB.	The	
team is currently focused on delivering relevant financial management information, operationalizing 
capital management, diversifying our funding sources, and optimizing our facility space utilization. 
We	deliver	insight	on	complex	legal	issues,	innovative	branch	design,	alternate	funding	mechanisms,	
efficient	ways	to	manage	financial	risk,	and	ways	to	enhance	profitability.	To	do	so,	we	invest	in	talent	
who	understand,	anticipate,	and	adapt	to	the	external	and	internal	environment,	simplify	processes	
to deliver value through trust, and leverage enabling technology that we use adeptly and that will 
lead others to success.
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Review of 2013–14 Fourth-Quarter Operating Results
Summarized Consolidated Statement of Income

2014 2013 restated
For the three months ended
($ in thousands)

Q4  
Mar 31/14

Q3  
Dec 31/13

Q2  
Sep 30/13

Q1  
Jun 30/13

Q4  
Mar 31/13

Q3  
Dec 31/12

Q2  
Sep 30/12

Q1  
Jun 30/12

Interest income $ 357,029 $ 355,173 $ 341,904 $ 329,833 $ 319,019 $ 325,332 $ 321,815 $ 309,438
Interest expense 108,893 111,061 99,961 98,012 94,806 99,719 100,109 102,818
Net interest income 248,136 244,112 241,943 231,821 224,213 225,613 221,706 206,620
Other income 98,987 95,248 97,288 92,924 117,183 81,491 68,870 84,041
Operating revenue 347,123 339,360 339,231 324,745 341,396 307,104 290,576 290,661
Provision for credit losses 2,185 7,434 16,144 16,632 19,949 13,921 7,519 4,534
Non-interest expenses 265,227 235,026 226,220 222,618 224,616 217,416 211,616 215,744
Net income before payment  

in lieu of tax 79,711 96,900 96,867 85,495 96,831 75,767 71,441 70,383
Payment in lieu of tax 18,334 22,287 22,279 19,664 23,076 17,427 16,431 16,188
Net income $ 61,377 $ 74,613 $ 74,588 $ 65,831 $ 73,755 $ 58,340 $ 55,010 $ 54,195

Net Income
For	 the	quarter	ended	March	31,	 2014,	ATB	earned	net	 income	of	$61.4	million,	 a	decrease	 from	
the	$73.8	million	earned	in	the	same	quarter	 last	year.	This	was	driven	by	a	prior-period	one-time	
$33.0-million	 gain	 on	 asset-backed	 commercial	 paper	 (ABCP),	 partially	 offset	 by	 a	 $23.9-million	
year-over-year	increase	in	net	interest	income.	Compared	to	the	third	quarter	of	fiscal	2013–14,	net	
income	decreased	by	$13.2	million	(17.7%).

Operating Revenue
Operating	 revenue	 was	 $347.1	 million	 in	 the	 fourth	 quarter	 of	 fiscal	 2013–14,	 representing	 an	
increase	of	$5.7	million	over	the	same	quarter	last	year.	This	improvement	was	primarily	driven	by	
a	$23.9-million	 (10.7%)	 increase	 in	net	 interest	 income,	partially	offset	by	an	$18.2-million	 (15.5%)	
decrease	in	other	income.	The	favourable	movement	in	net	interest	income	resulted	from	significant	
growth	in	ATB’s	loan	and	deposit	portfolios,	which	increased	by	$4.3	billion	(14.4%)	and	$3.6	billion	
(15.1%),	respectively.	The	year-over-year	decrease	in	other	income	was	due	to	a	reduction	in	the	fair	
value	increase	on	ABCP	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	the	current	year	relative	to	fiscal	2012–13.

Operating	revenue	increased	by	$7.8	million	(2.3%)	compared	to	the	third	quarter	of	this	year.	This	
increase	was	the	result	of	a	$4.0-million	increase	in	net	interest	income	and	a	$3.7-million	increase	in	
other	income.	While	net	interest	spread	did	not	change—at	2.76%	for	both	quarters—the	increase	
in net interest income can be attributed to movement in overall loan and deposit balances and the 
interest	rate	environment.	Other	income,	driven	by	an	increase	in	Investor	Services	revenue	of	$2.0	
million,	a	$2.9-million	increase	in	the	fair	value	of	financial	instruments,	and	a	$1.6-million	increase	in	
insurance	revenue,	was	partially	offset	by	a	$4.0-million	loss	on	derivative	products.

Quarterly Operating Results and Trend Analysis
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Provision for Credit Losses
The	quarter	saw	a	$2.2-million	provision	for	credit	 losses,	a	decrease	of	$17.8	million	(89.1%)	from	
the	same	quarter	 last	year.	Compared	to	the	third	quarter	of	this	year,	the	provision	decreased	by	
$5.2	million	(70.6%).	The	provision	for	the	Alberta	flooding	in	2013	was	removed	during	the	quarter,	
causing	 a	 recovery	 that	 offset	 the	 other	 current-quarter	 provisions.	 Additionally,	 there	 are	 fewer	
expected	losses	in	the	RFS	and	CFS	portfolio	relative	to	the	same	quarter	last	year.

Non-Interest Expenses and Efficiency Ratio
Non-interest	 expenses	 for	 the	 quarter	were	 $265.2	million,	 an	 increase	 of	 $40.6	million	 over	 the	
same	quarter	 last	 year.	 Compared	 to	 the	prior	 year,	 salaries	 and	 employee	benefits	 increased	by	 
$30.3	million	(29.2%),	the	deposit	guarantee	fee	increased	by	$3.7	million	(47.3%),	and	professional	
and	consulting	costs	increased	by	$2.3	million	(19.8%).		

Quarter	over	quarter,	non-interest	expenses	increased	by	$30.2	million	(12.9%).	This	movement	was	
mostly	driven	by	increases	in	salaries	and	employee	benefits	of	$24.6	million	(22.5%)	and	a	deposit	
guarantee	fee	increase	of	$1.6	million	(16.4%).

ATB’s	efficiency	ratio,	measured	as	total	non-interest	expenses	divided	by	total	operating	revenue,	
increased	(worsened)	from	69.3%	in	the	third	quarter	of	fiscal	2013–14	to	76.4%	this	quarter.	This	is	
also	worse	than	the	65.8%	at	the	same	time	last	year.	However,	the	prior-year	fourth-quarter	efficiency	
ratio	was	favourably	impacted	by	the	previously	mentioned	one-time	ABCP	adjustment.

Trend Analysis

Net	 interest	 income	has	steadily	 increased	each	quarter,	a	consistent	and	direct	result	of	our	 loan	
portfolio	growth,	which	has	also	steadily	increased	over	the	period.	This	increase	is	driven	by	all	areas	
of	expertise	increasing	their	customer	base	in	a	tough	low-interest-rate	environment.	Other	income	
has	 been	 relatively	 consistent	 over	 the	 quarters.	 Non-interest	 expenses	 have	 increased	 quarter	
over	quarter,	which	is	reasonable	given	the	growth	of	ATB	over	the	past	two	fiscal	years.	While	our	 
non-interest	expenses	have	grown,	our	efficiency	ratio	has	steadily	declined	over	this	same	period;	
the	efficiency	ratio	last	year	was	70.7%	compared	to	the	current	year’s	70.3%.
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Total Assets

Our	total	assets	were	over	$37.7	billion	as	at	March	31,	2014,	an	increase	of	$4.6	billion	(13.9%)	over	
last	year,	driven	by	a	14.3%	increase	in	loans.	This	level	of	growth	is	a	record	at	ATB.

Cash and Liquid Securities
Like	other	financial	institutions,	ATB	maintains	a	portfolio	of	cash	and	short-term	investments	as	part	
of its liquidity management strategy.

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease) 2013
Cash $ 438,917 $ (117,686) (21.1)% $ 556,603
Interest-bearing deposits with financial institutions 1,143,128 340,056 42.3% 803,072
Liquid securities 193,871 (14,927) (7.1)% 208,798
Cash and liquid securities $ 1,775,916 $ 207,443 13.2% $ 1,568,473
As a percentage of total assets 4.7% (0.0)% (0.6)% 4.7%

Cash	varies	due	to	changes	 in	customer	product	preferences	and	the	timing	of	certain	 interbank	
activities such as foreign currency clearing, cheque clearing, and other transit items. Securities and 
interest-bearing	deposits	with	financial	institutions	decreased	from	the	prior	year	as	ATB	managed	its	
liquidity	position.	(Refer	to	the	Risk	Management	section	of	this	report	for	further	details.)

To	support	our	participation	in	Canadian	clearing	and	payment	systems,	we	are	required	to	pledge	
collateral	to	the	Bank	of	Canada	and	other	clearing	networks.	We	use	a	variety	of	collateral	sources,	
including,	from	time	to	time,	liquid	assets	such	as	cash	or	treasury	bills.	(Refer	to	notes	6	and	23	to	the	
statements for further details.)

Asset-Backed Commercial Paper (ABCP)

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease) 2013
Asset-backed commercial paper $ 728,458 $ (45,061) (5.8)% $ 773,519
As a percentage of total assets 1.9% (0.4)% (17.3)% 2.3%

ATB	holds	ABCP,	which	consists	of	third-party	restructured	notes	under	the	Montreal	Accord	(Master	
Asset	Vehicle	 notes,	 or	MAV	notes)	 and	outside	 the	Montreal	 Accord,	 and	bank-sponsored	ABCP	
restructured	under	separate	agreements.	As	at	March	31,	2014,	 the	 face	value	of	 the	restructured	
notes	of	the	MAV	conduits	and	the	other	restructured	notes	is	$880,526	(2013:	$996,952).	The	current	
fair	value	of	these	notes	is	$728,458	(2013:	$773,519),	with	$728,084	(2013:	$773,050)	designated	at	
fair	value	through	profit	and	loss,	and	$374	(2013:	$469)	designated	as	available	for	sale.	The	decrease	
in	holdings	from	the	prior	year	was	a	result	of	a	significant	maturity.	ATB	is	not	purchasing	any	new	

Review of Consolidated Financial Position  
as at March 31, 2014
All references to years contained in this section are to fiscal years, unless otherwise stated.
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ABCP,	but	is	holding	on	to	its	existing	investment	until	it	matures.	(Refer	to	note	7	to	the	statements	
for further details.)

Loans

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease) 2013
Gross loans $ 34,016,535 $ 4,235,185 14.2% $ 29,781,350
Less: individual allowances (57,926) (4,237) (7.9)% (53,689)
Loans, net of individual allowances 33,958,609 4,230,948 14.2% 29,727,661
Less: collective allowances (73,465) (4,265) (6.2)% (69,200)
Net loans $ 33,885,144 $ 4,226,683 14.3% $ 29,658,461

Net	 loans	grew	by	14.3%	during	 the	year,	 a	$4.2-billion	 increase	over	 the	$29.7-billion	balance	at	
the	same	time	 last	year.	The	growth	 in	net	 loans	was	driven	primarily	by	a	$1.6-billion	 increase	 in	
commercial	loans	in	CFS,	a	$1.3-billion	increase	in	residential	mortgages	in	RFS,	and	$554.4-million	
and	$343.9-million	 increases	 in	business	and	agricultural	 loans	 in	B&Ag.	The	allowances	 increased	
by	$8.5	million,	with	the	collective	allowance	increasing	by	$4.3	million	while	individual	allowances	
increased	by	$4.2	million.	The	increases	in	both	the	collective	and	individual	allowances	were	driven	
primarily by loan growth. Our loan portfolio and the related allowances for credit losses are discussed 
in	greater	detail	in	the	Risk	Management	section	of	this	report.

ATB’s	performing	 loan	growth	 for	fiscal	2013–14	of	14.4%	exceeded	our	 targeted	growth	of	4.5%	 
to	8.0%.

Outlook	for	Fiscal	2014–15	–	Performing	Loan	Growth
We are targeting overall growth in our performing loan balance of 7.0% to 10.0% in fiscal 2014–15, 
based primarily on our expectation of continued loan growth in our business loan portfolio 
and mortgages.

Remaining Assets
As at March 31 
($ in thousands) 2014

2014 vs 2013
increase (decrease) 2013

Derivative financial instruments $ 392,531 $ 106,023 37.0% $ 286,508
Property and equipment 359,900 69,105 23.8% 290,795
Software and other intangibles 266,101 (18,484) (6.5)% 284,585
Accrued interest receivable 97,457 (16,992) (14.8)% 114,449
Prepaid expenses and other receivables 136,148 49,380 56.9% 86,768
Other 25,574 9,038 54.7% 16,536

$ 1,277,711 $ 198,070 18.3% $ 1,079,641



ATB Financial 2014 Annual Report 79

ATB’s	 remaining	 assets	 are	 composed	 primarily	 of	 derivative	 financial	 instruments,	 property	 and	
equipment,	software	and	other	intangibles,	and	other	assets.	(Refer	to	notes	10,	11,	12,	and	13	to	the	
statements for further details.)

Derivative	financial	instruments	increased	by	$106.0	million,	largely	due	to	a	$145.1-million	increase	
in	 the	 fair	value	of	client-related	 trades,	offset	by	a	$37.0-million	decrease	 in	 fair	value	of	market-
linked	 deposits.	 Both	 changes	 are	 consistent	 with	 changes	 in	 the	 related	 liability	 account,	 with	
client	derivatives’	 fair	 value	 increasing	by	$148.3	million	 and	market-linked	 liability	decreasing	by	
$36.8	million.

Property	and	equipment	increased	by	$69.1	million	compared	to	the	prior	fiscal	year	due	to	capital	
leases	and	leasehold	improvement	costs	as	ATB	moved	its	head	office	to	a	new	location.

Software	and	other	intangibles	decreased	by	$18.5	million	compared	to	fiscal	2012–13.	This	decrease	
is	mostly	attributable	to	the	amortization	of	ATB’s	banking	system	and	continued	depreciation	of	our	
existing	assets.	

Other	 assets	 comprise	 accrued	 interest,	 prepayments,	 and	 other	 receivables.	These	 increased	 by	
$41.4	million,	mostly	due	to	fair	value	gains	on	matured	but	not	settled	client-related	trades,	CMHC	
prepayments, and syndicated fee accruals.

Outlook	for	Fiscal	2014–15	–	Capital	Expenditures
Our major capital expenditure for 2014–15 is in facilities constructions and renovations, expected 
to be $42 million. This includes moving to a new data centre, completing the move into the new 
ATB Place in Edmonton, completing the move of CFS and Alberta Private Client into a new space in 
Calgary, and opening two new branches. 

We also expect to invest $24 million in application development and upgrades, including banking 
services and customer relationship management; $15 million in IT infrastructure; and $17 million in 
other projects related to payments and channels, wealth management, and regulatory requirements. 
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Total Liabilities

Total	 liabilities	ended	the	year	at	$35.1	billion.	This	13.8%	increase	over	 last	year	was	driven	by	an	
increase in deposits.

Deposits

($ in thousands)
Payable  

on demand
Payable 

 on fixed date Total
Percentage

of total
2014

Personal $ 7,035,138 $ 4,805,311 $ 11,840,449 43.3%
Business and other 9,472,974 6,003,015 15,475,989 56.7%

$ 16,508,112 $ 10,808,326 $ 27,316,438 100.0%
60.4% 39.6% 100.0%

2013
Personal $ 6,936,478 $ 4,163,879 $ 11,100,357 46.8%
Business and other 9,006,080 3,624,934 12,631,014 53.2%

$ 15,942,558 $ 7,788,813 $ 23,731,371 100.0%
67.2% 32.8% 100.0%

ATB’s	principal	source	of	funding	is	customer	deposits,	which	consist	of	personal	and	business	deposits.

Deposits	increased	from	$23.7	billion	last	year	to	$27.3	billion,	a	15.1%	increase.	Most	of	this	growth	
is	attributed	to	our	$3.0-billion	increase	in	fixed-date	deposits,	with	the	increase	experienced	by	all	
areas	of	expertise.	The	increase	is	mostly	due	to	successful	promotional	campaigns	undertaken	by	
ATB	to	attract	more	deposits.	

ATB	was	also	above	its	targeted	deposit	growth	of	4.5%	to	8.5%.

Outlook	for	Fiscal	2014–15	–	Deposit	Growth
We are targeting a deposit growth rate of 10.0% to 12.0% in fiscal 2014–15. Although competition 
for available deposits continues to be significant, strategic initiatives that focus on business deposit 
growth, such as cash management solutions, are expected to attract new business. Additionally, 
continued investment in people, training, and marketing will enable us to better serve Albertans and 
will also lead to stronger deposit growth.
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Remaining Liabilities

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease) 2013
Wholesale borrowings $ 2,694,161 $ 98,450 3.8% $ 2,595,711
Collateralized borrowings 3,411,352 307,860 9.9% 3,103,492
Derivative financial instruments 324,665 117,081 56.4% 207,584
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 513,280 85,141 19.9% 428,139
Accrued interest payable 98,512 30,614 45.1% 67,898
Payment in lieu of tax payable 82,563 9,441 12.9% 73,122
Deposit guarantee fee payable 37,591 8,555 29.5% 29,036
Due to clients, brokers, and dealers 22,706 (4,716) (17.2)% 27,422
Achievement Notes 37,466 14,920 66.2% 22,546
Accrued pension-benefit liability 65,278 (72,764) (52.7)% 138,042
Capital investment notes 250,508 5,891 2.4% 244,617
Subordinated debentures 228,775 73,122 47.0% 155,653

$ 7,766,857 $ 673,595 9.5% $ 7,093,262

ATB’s	remaining	liabilities	are	composed	primarily	of	wholesale	borrowings,	collateralized	borrowings,	
derivative financial instruments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, accrued pension-benefit 
liability,	capital	investment	notes,	and	subordinated	debentures.	(Refer	to	notes	10,	15,	16,	17,	18,	and	
20	to	the	statements	for	further	details.)

Wholesale borrowings are used as a source of funds to supplement customer deposits in supporting 
our	 lending	 activities.	 These	 consist	 primarily	 of	 bearer	 deposit	 notes,	 floating-rate	 notes,	 and	 
mid-term	 notes	 issued	 on	 ATB’s	 behalf	 by	 the	 Government	 of	 Alberta.	 The	 balance	 outstanding	
can	 swing	 significantly	 over	 each	 year	 to	 compensate	 for	 fluctuations	 in	 our	 customer	 deposit	
balances.	Wholesale	borrowings	increased	by	$98.5	million	over	the	prior	fiscal	year	due	to	issuance	
of	a	$500-million	mid-term	note	at	a	lower	interest	rate	that	replaced	a	maturing	$400-million	note	
during	fiscal	2013–14.

Collateralized	 borrowings	 increased	 by	 $307.9	 million	 due	 to	 additional	 issuances	 of	 Canada	
Mortgage	Bonds	during	the	year.

Derivative	financial	instruments	increased	by	$117.1	million	over	the	prior	year	due	to	a	$148.3-million	
increase	 in	 the	 fair	value	of	client-related	trades,	partially	offset	by	a	$36.8-million	decrease	 in	 fair	
value of market-linked products.

Accounts	 payable	 and	 accrued	 liabilities	 increased	 by	 $85.1	 million,	 mainly	 due	 to	 fair	 value	
movement	on	matured	but	not	settled	client-related	trades	and	new	capital	lease	obligations	as	ATB	
moved	to	ATB	Plaza.

Accrued	pension	liability	decreased	by	$72.8	million	compared	to	the	prior	fiscal	year	as	a	result	of	
actuarial	gains	on	ATB’s	registered	pension	plan.
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Subordinated	debentures	increased	by	$73.1	million	over	last	year	as	we	converted	the	prior	year’s	
payment	in	lieu	of	tax	liability	to	a	five-year	subordinated	debenture.	

Regulatory Capital 
ATB	measures	and	reports	capital	to	ensure	that	it	meets	the	minimum	levels	set	out	by	its	regulator,	
the	Alberta	Superintendent	of	Financial	 Institutions,	while	supporting	the	continued	growth	of	its	
business and building value for its owner.

As	a	Crown	corporation,	ATB	and	its	subsidiaries	operate	under	a	regulatory	framework	established	
pursuant to the Alberta Treasury Branches Act	and	associated	regulation	and	guidelines.	The	capital	
adequacy	requirements	for	ATB	are	defined	in	a	guideline	authorized	by	the	Government	of	Alberta’s	
President	of	Treasury	Board	and	Minister	of	Finance,	which	was	modelled	after	guidelines	governing	
other	Canadian	deposit-taking	institutions.	ATB’s	minimum	Tier	1	capital	requirement	is	7.0%,	and	the	
total	capital	requirement	is	the	greater	of	10.0%	of	risk-weighted	assets	or	5.0%	of	total	assets.

As set out in the following table, our regulatory capital consists of retained earnings, notional (or 
deemed)	capital	(which	reduces	quarterly	by	25.0%	of	net	income),	eligible	portions	of	the	collective	
allowance	for	credit	losses,	subordinated	debentures,	and	capital	investment	notes	(to	a	maximum	
of	$500	million).

Regulatory Capital and Capital Ratios

($ in thousands) 2014
2014 vs 2013

increase (decrease)
2013  

restated
Tier 1 capital

Retained earnings $ 2,591,694 $ 276,409 11.9% $ 2,315,285
Tier 2 capital

Eligible portions of:
Subordinated debentures 124,800 27,367 28.1% 97,433
Capital investment deposits - (48,923) (100.0)% 48,923
Collective allowance for credit losses 73,465 4,265 6.2% 69,200
Notional capital 364,515 (69,102) (15.9)% 433,617

562,780 (86,393) (13.3)% 649,173
Total regulatory capital $ 3,154,474 $ 190,016 6.4% $ 2,964,458
Total risk-weighted assets $ 27,355,286 $ 3,019,399 12.4% $ 24,335,887
Risk-weighted capital ratios

Tier 1 capital ratio 9.5% - - 9.5%
Total regulatory capital ratio 11.5% (0.7)% (5.6)% 12.2%

Assets-to-capital multiple 11.9 0.7 6.1% 11.2
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Our	Tier	1	capital	ratio	was	9.5%,	and	our	total	regulatory	capital	ratio	was	11.5%	of	risk-weighted	
assets	as	at	March	31,	2014.

Total	risk-weighted	assets	are	determined	by	applying	risk	weightings	defined	in	the	Capital Adequacy 

Guideline	to	ATB’s	on-	and	off-balance-sheet	assets,	as	follows:

Risk-Weighted Assets

2014 2014 vs 2013 2013

($ in thousands)

Risk-
weighted 

percentage

On- or 
off-balance-
sheet value

Risk-
weighted 

value
Risk-weighted value
increase (decrease)

On- or 
off-balance-
sheet value

Risk-
weighted 

value
Balance sheet amounts

Cash resources 0–20 $ 1,582,045 $ 235,536 $ 53,693 29.5% $ 1,359,675 $ 181,843
Securities 0–100 922,329 728,458 (145,068) (16.6)% 982,317 873,526
Residential mortgages 0–100 11,995,769 3,296,267 68,383 2.1% 10,687,875 3,227,884
Other loans 0–100 21,889,375 20,438,889 2,810,001 15.9% 18,970,586 17,628,888
Other assets 20–100 1,277,711 1,239,278 211,774 20.6% 1,079,641 1,027,504
Total balance sheet amounts $ 37,667,229 $ 25,938,428 $ 2,998,783 13.1% $ 33,080,094 $ 22,939,645

Off-balance-sheet amounts
Guarantees and letters of credit 0–100 14,420,441 1,055,960 (143,888) (12.0)% 13,091,941 1,199,848
Derivative financial instruments 0–50 19,554,378 360,898 164,504 83.8% 12,571,837 196,394
Total off-balance-sheet amounts $ 33,974,819 $ 1,416,858 $ 20,616 1.5% $ 25,663,778 $ 1,396,242

Total risk-weighted assets $ 71,642,048 $ 27,355,286 3,019,399 12.4% $ 58,743,872 $ 24,335,887

Return on Risk-Weighted Assets
ATB	achieved	a	1.1%	return	on	risk-weighted	assets	during	the	year,	driven	by	the	 increase	 in	net	
income over the year.

Outlook	for	Fiscal	2014–15	–	Return	on	Risk-Weighted	Assets
We are targeting a return on risk-weighted assets in fiscal 2014–15 of between 1.0% and 1.1%. 

Outlook	for	Fiscal	2014–15	–	Regulatory	Capital
Over fiscal 2014–15, we expect our capital levels to continue to exceed both our regulatory and 
economic capital requirements for prudent and responsible management of our business as a 
financial institution.
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Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements 

As	a	financial	institution,	ATB	participates	in	a	variety	of	financial	transactions	that,	under	International	
Financial	Reporting	Standards,	are	either	not	recorded	on	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	
Position	 or	 recorded	 at	 amounts	 different	 from	 the	 full	 notional	 or	 contract	 amount.	 These	
transactions	include:

Assets Under Administration and Assets Under Management
Assets under administration and assets under management consist of client investments managed 
and	 administered	 by	 ATB’s	 subsidiary	 entities,	 commonly	 known	 as	 ATB	 Investor	 Services.	 Client	
accounts	under	administration	and	management	increased	from	$8.6	billion	to	$11.0	billion	during	
the	year.	(Refer	to	the	Investor	Services	(ATBIS)	section	of	this	MD&A	on	page	69.)

Derivative Financial Instruments
ATB	enters	 into	various	over-the-counter	and	exchange-traded	derivative	contracts	 in	 the	normal	
course of business, including interest rate swaps, options and futures, equity and commodity options, 
and	foreign-exchange	and	commodity	instruments.	These	contracts	are	used	either	for	ATB’s	own	risk	
management	purposes	to	manage	exposure	to	fluctuations	in	interest	rates,	equity	and	commodity	
markets,	and	foreign-exchange	rates,	or	to	facilitate	our	clients’	own	risk	management	programs.

All derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives and those qualifying for hedge 
accounting,	are	measured	at	fair	value	on	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position.	Although	
transactions	 in	derivative	financial	 instruments	are	expressed	as	notional	values,	 it	 is	the	fair	value	
and	not	the	notional	amount	that	is	recorded	on	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position.	
Notional	amounts	serve	as	points	of	reference	only	for	calculating	payments	and	do	not	truly	reflect	
the	 credit	 risk	 associated	 with	 the	 financial	 instrument.	 (Refer	 to	 note	 10	 to	 the	 statements	 for	
further details.)

Credit Instruments
In	the	normal	course	of	lending	activities,	ATB	enters	into	various	commitments	to	provide	customers	
with	 sources	 of	 credit.	 These	 typically	 include	 credit	 commitments	 for	 loans	 and	 related	 credit	
facilities, including revolving facilities, lines of credit, overdrafts, credit card authorized limits, and so 
forth.	To	the	extent	that	a	customer’s	authorized	limit	on	a	facility	exceeds	the	outstanding	balance	
drawn	as	at	March	31,	2014,	we	consider	the	undrawn	portion	to	represent	a	credit	commitment.

For	 demand	 facilities,	 we	 still	 consider	 the	 undrawn	 portion	 to	 represent	 a	 commitment	 to	 our	
customer;	however,	the	terms	of	the	commitment	are	such	that	ATB	could	adjust	the	credit	exposure	
if circumstances warranted doing so. Accordingly, from a risk management perspective, these 
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demand	facilities	are	considered	to	 represent	a	 lesser	exposure	than	 facilities	 that	have	extended	
commitment	terms.	(Refer	to	note	23	to	the	statements	for	further	details.)

Contractual Obligations
During	 its	normal	daily	operations,	ATB	enters	 into	various	contractual	obligations	to	make	future	
payments	in	respect	of	certain	purchase	transactions	and	operating	leases.	(Refer	to	note	23	to	the	
statements for details.) We are also obligated to make future interest payments in respect of our 
subordinated	debentures.	(Refer	to	note	18	to	the	statements	for	further	details.)

Guarantees
In	the	normal	course	of	operations,	ATB	enters	into	guarantee	arrangements	that	satisfy	the	definition	
of	guarantees	established	by	IAS	39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.	The	principal	
types	of	guarantees	are	standby	letters	of	credit	and	performance	guarantees.	(Refer	to	note	23	to	
the statements for further details.)

MAV Margin-Funding Facility
MAV	1	note	holders	are	required	to	provide	a	margin-funding	facility	(MFF)	to	cover	possible	collateral	
calls	on	the	 leveraged	super-senior	trades	underlying	the	 individual	notes.	 (Refer	to	note	7	to	the	
statements	 for	 further	details.)	Advances	under	 this	 facility	are	expected	to	bear	 interest	at	a	 rate	
based	on	the	bankers’	acceptance	rate.	If	ATB	fails	to	fund	any	collateral	under	this	facility,	the	notes	
held	by	ATB	could	be	terminated	or	exchanged	for	subordinated	notes.	ATB’s	share	of	the	MFF	credit	
commitment	is	$551.5	million,	for	which	ATB	will	not	receive	a	fee.	To	recognize	the	fair	value	of	this	
commitment,	$12.2	million	has	been	recorded	in	other	liabilities.	As	at	March	31,	2014,	no	amount	
has	been	funded	under	the	MFF.

Securitization
ATB	participates	in	the	Canada	Mortgage	Bond	program.	Under	this	program,	ATB	pledges	qualifying	
mortgages	 to	Canada	Housing	Trust	 (CHT),	 a	 special-purpose	entity	 set	up	by	Canada	Mortgage	
and	Housing	Corporation	in	return	for	funding.	Part	of	the	program	is	a	swap	agreement	between	
ATB	and	CHT.	This	swap	establishes	the	required	cash	payments	between	ATB	and	CHT.	Due	to	the	
nature	of	the	program	and	the	fact	that	ATB	substantially	retains	the	risks	and	rewards	related	to	the	
qualifying	mortgages,	the	mortgages	and	the	funding	are	both	recognized	on	ATB’s	Consolidated	
Statement	of	Financial	Position,	while	the	swap	is	not.
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Significant Accounting Policies

ATB’s	significant	accounting	policies	are	outlined	in	note	2	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	
These	policies	are	essential	to	understanding	and	interpreting	the	financial	results	presented	in	this	
MD&A	and	in	the	statements.	(Refer	to	the	notes	to	the	statements,	beginning	on	page	120	of	this	
report, for specific accounting policies.)

Critical Accounting Estimates

Certain	accounting	estimates	made	by	management	during	the	preparation	of	the	statements	are	
considered	critical	 in	 that	management	 is	 required	 to	make	 significant	estimates	 and	 judgments	
considered	to	be	subjective	or	complex	about	matters	that	are	inherently	uncertain.	It	is	possible	that	
significantly	different	amounts	could	have	been	 reported	 if	different	estimates	or	 judgments	had	
been	made.	The	following	accounting	policies	require	such	estimates	and	judgments.

Allowance for Credit Losses
The	allowance	for	credit	 losses	adjusts	the	net	carrying	value	of	 loan	assets	to	reflect	evidence	of	
impairment as a result of one or more events (a “loss event”) that occurred after the initial recognition 
of	the	asset	and	that	have	an	impact	on	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	the	financial	asset	or	group	
of	financial	assets	that	can	be	reliably	estimated.	The	allowance	for	credit	losses	consists	of	individually	
assessed allowances for impaired loans and collectively assessed allowances for credit losses.

In	 assessing	 credit	 losses	 incurred,	management	must	 rely	 on	 estimates	 and	 exercise	 judgment	
regarding	matters	 for	which	 the	ultimate	outcome	 is	 unknown.	These	 include	 economic	 factors,	
developments affecting companies in particular industries, and specific issues with respect to 
individual borrowers, such as financial difficulty, breach of contract, and probability of bankruptcy.

Changes	in	circumstances	may	cause	future	assessments	of	credit	risk	to	be	materially	different	from	
current	assessments	and	may	require	an	increase	or	decrease	in	the	allowance	for	credit	losses.	(Refer	
to	the	Risk	Management	section	of	this	MD&A	and	note	9	to	the	statements	for	further	details.)

Depreciation of Premises, Equipment, and Software
The	expense	recognized	for	the	depreciation	of	premises	and	equipment	depends	on	the	estimated	
useful	 life	 and	 salvage	 value	of	 such	 assets.	Management	has	derived	 estimates	 for	 these	 values	
based	on	past	experience	and	its	judgment	regarding	future	expectations.	If	actual	experience	differs	
from	management’s	 estimates,	 depreciation	 expense	 could	 increase	 or	 decrease	 in	 future	 years.	
(Refer	to	notes	11	and	12	to	the	statements	for	further	details.)

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
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Assumptions Underlying the Accounting for Employee Future Benefits
ATB	engages	actuarial	consultants	 in	 the	valuation	of	pension-benefit	obligations	 for	our	defined	
benefit	 pension	 plans	 and	 Public	 Service	 Pension	 Plan	 based	 on	 assumptions	 determined	 by	
management.	The	most	significant	of	these	assumptions	include	the	rate	of	future	compensation	
increases,	discount	rates	for	pension	obligations,	and	the	inflation	rate.	 If	actual	experience	differs	
from	 the	 assumptions	 made	 by	 management,	 our	 pension-benefit	 expense	 could	 increase	 or	
decrease	in	future	years.	(Refer	to	note	20	to	the	statements	for	further	details.)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The	fair	value	of	a	financial	 instrument	 is	the	price	that	would	be	received	to	sell	a	financial	asset	
or paid to transfer a financial liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement	date.	For	those	instruments	with	an	available	market	price,	fair	value	is	established	by	
reference	to	the	last	traded	price	prior	to	the	balance	sheet	date.	Many	of	ATB’s	financial	instruments	
lack such an available trading market, and the associated fair values represent management’s best 
estimates of the current value of the instruments, taking into account changes in market rates or 
credit	 risk	 that	have	occurred	 since	 their	origination.	The	most	 significant	 fair	 value	estimate	 this	
year	relates	to	ATB’s	holding	of	asset-backed	commercial	paper	and	derivative	financial	instruments.	
(Refer	to	notes	7	and	10	to	the	statements	for	further	details.)

Future Changes in Accounting Policies

A	 number	 of	 standards	 and	 amendments	 have	 been	 issued	 by	 the	 International	 Accounting	
Standards	Board,	which	may	have	an	 impact	on	ATB’s	financial	statements	 in	 the	 future.	 (Refer	 to	
note	3	to	the	statements,	beginning	on	page	137	of	this	report,	for	a	detailed	explanation	of	future	
accounting	changes	and	their	expected	impact	on	the	statements.)
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The	shaded	areas	presented	on	pages	92–100	represent	a	discussion	of	risk	
management policies and procedures relating to credit, market, and liquidity risks 
as	required	by	IFRS	7	Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which permits these specific 
disclosures	to	be	included	in	the	MD&A.	They	therefore	form	an	integral	part	of	the	
audited	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014.	

Overview

ATB	provides	comprehensive	personal,	business,	agricultural,	and	corporate	financial	services	within	
the	province	of	Alberta.	As	a	result,	we	face	exposure	to	a	broad	range	of	financial,	business,	and	
regulatory	 risks,	many	 of	which	 are	 beyond	ATB’s	 direct	 control.	 ATB	 operates	 in	 a	 dynamic	 and	
increasingly competitive environment with substantial regulatory requirements and growing client 
and	market	expectations.	ATB’s	mandated	focus	on	the	Alberta	market	implies	an	increased	level	of	
geographic and industrial concentration risk.

ATB	 continues	 to	 have	 a	 strong	 commitment	 to	 managing	 risk	 strategically	 with	 the	 objective	
of	 increasing	 and	 protecting	 owner	 value.	 Effective	 governance	 mitigates	 risk	 and	 provides	
opportunities	to	create	value,	supporting	ATB’s	goals	while	ensuring	that	it	remains	a	safe	and	sound	
financial institution.

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework

ATB	seeks	to	create	and	protect	enterprise	value	by	enabling	risk-informed	decision	making	and	by	
balancing	risk	and	return	 in	our	business	processes.	ERM	 is	applied	 in	strategy	setting	and	across	
the	enterprise,	designed	 to	 identify	potential	 events	 that	may	affect	ATB,	manage	 risk	within	our	
risk	appetite,	and	provide	reasonable	assurance	regarding	the	achievement	of	ATB’s	objectives.	ERM	
includes	coordinated	activities	 to	direct	 and	control	ATB’s	enterprise-wide	 risk	 for	 the	purpose	of	
increasing	ATB’s	short-	and	long-term	value	for	our	owner.

ATB’s	ERM	Framework	aligns	ERM	processes	with	industry-leading	standards	for	institutions	of	ATB’s	
complexity,	establishes	common	risk	language	and	direction	related	to	risk	management,	outlines	
how	ERM	processes	are	deployed	across	the	enterprise,	and	clearly	defines	responsibilities	for	risk	
management,	oversight,	and	assurance	among	ATB’s	three	lines	of	defence.

The	 framework	 is	 designed	 to	make	 ERM	 an	 integral	 part	 of	 our	management	 practices	 and	 an	
essential	element	of	our	corporate	governance.	ERM	is	intended	to	manage	losses	to	expected	levels	
and	to	levels	within	ATB’s	Risk	Appetite	Statement.	Our	framework	recognizes	that	ERM	is	an	iterative	
process, which encourages and facilitates continuous improvement in decision making across the 
institution, as well as in individual and organizational performance. 

Risk Management
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Risk Management Governance and Structure

Ultimate	responsibility	for	risk	management	lies	with	ATB’s	board	of	directors	(board),	according	to	the	 
three-tier	risk	governance	framework.	The	graphic	below	illustrates	the	distribution	of	responsibilities	
for risk governance and strategic direction, risk oversight and control, and risk management and 
reporting.	It	provides	an	overview	of	duties	among	those	who	take	on	risk,	those	who	control	risk,	
and those who provide assurance along three lines of defence.

Risk governance 
and strategic 
direction

Board of directors

Risk Committee Audit Committee

Risk oversight  
and control

Chief executive officer and Corporate Management Committee 

Asset Liability 
Committee

Credit 
Committee

Operational 
Risk Committee

Executive Risk 
Management 
Committee

Compliance 
Committee

Risk management 
and reporting

Three lines of defence

First line:  
Business Operations
•	 Areas of expertise
•	 Strategic service units
•	 Treasury
•	 Information technology

Second line:  
Risk Management
•	 Credit risk
•	 Market risk
•	 Enterprise risk
•	 Stress testing
•	 Operational risk and 

business continuity 
•	 Legal
•	 Compliance

Third line: 
Assurance
•	 Internal audit
•	 External auditors

Risk Governance and Strategic Direction
Authority	for	risk	management	flows	from	the	board	to	the	CEO	and	from	the	CEO	to	the	heads	of	
the	areas	of	expertise	and	strategic	service	units.	While	 retaining	overall	 responsibility	 for	 risk,	 the	
board	delegates	risk	oversight	to	the	board	Risk	Committee	and	the	board	Audit	Committee.

Risk Oversight and Control
Chaired	 by	 the	CEO,	 the	Corporate	Management	 Committee	 (CMC)	 comprises	 senior	 executives	
spanning	 all	 areas	 of	 expertise	 and	 major	 strategic	 service	 units.	 Together,	 they	 develop	 ATB’s	
strategic direction, oversee the development of appropriate risk management frameworks, and 
review	and	approve	policies	and	procedures	designed	to	maintain	risk	within	our	risk	appetite.	The	
CMC	delegates	risk	oversight	to	the	Asset	Liability	Committee	(ALCO),	Credit	Committee,	Operational	
Risk	Committee	(ORC),	Compliance	Committee,	and	Executive	Risk	Management	Committee	(ERMC).



90

Board Committees and Management Committees 
Board	committees	and	management	committees	have	the	following	risk	governance	responsibilities:

Board Committees

Risk Committee Responsible for overseeing risk management throughout ATB. Reviews and 
recommends for the board’s approval all major risk policies, approves ATB’s Risk 
Appetite Statement, and regularly reviews ATB’s performance in relation to approved 
risk tolerance levels. 

Audit Committee Principally responsible for overseeing financial reporting, but also responsible for 
monitoring and overseeing the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls.

Management Committees

Asset and Liability 
Committee (ALCO)

Oversees the direction and management of market risk and liquidity risk, as well as 
ATB’s funding and capital positions. Chaired by the chief financial officer.

Credit Committee Adjudicates credit within prescribed limits, and establishes operating guidelines, 
business rules, and internal policies to support the management of credit risk 
throughout ATB. Chaired by the senior vice-president, Credit.

Operational Risk 
Committee

Provides oversight and direction on operational risks from an enterprise-wide 
perspective. Chaired by the chief risk officer.

Executive Risk 
Management Committee 
(ERMC)

Sets overall direction and makes key decisions relating to enterprise risk management 
activities across ATB and guides the design, execution, and assessment of results from 
ATB’s enterprise risk management program. Chaired by the chief risk officer.

Compliance Committee Oversees ATB’s compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements and its 
internal compliance management program. Chaired by the chief risk officer.

Risk Management 
Risk	is	managed	through	ATB’s	“three	lines	of	defence”:

•	 The	first	line	of	defence	includes	the	areas	of	expertise	and	all	strategic	service	units	that	face	risks	
directly.	These	groups	are	accountable	for	taking	and	managing	risk,	within	their	respective	areas	
of responsibility, in line with approved limits, policies, and authorities.

•	 The	second	line	of	defence	is	the	Risk	Management	Group,	which	establishes	policies,	practices,	
limits,	 and	 authorities	 throughout	 ATB.	 It	 is	 responsible	 for	 monitoring	 and	 reporting	 on	 risk	
management	activities,	as	appropriate,	to	both	senior	management	and	the	board	Risk	Committee.

•	 The	 third	 line	 of	 defence,	 assurance,	 monitors	 the	 activities	 of	 management	 and	 provides	
independent assurance to the board of directors regarding the effectiveness of, and adherence to, 
risk management policies, procedures, and internal controls.
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Risk Appetite
ATB’s	governance	structure,	ERM	framework,	and	board-approved	risk	policies	reflect	a	risk	philosophy	
and a risk profile appropriate to our structure, size, and regional nature. Our overall corporate risk 
appetite	is	conservative	and	balanced.	We	will:

•	 Ensure	that	we	fully	understand	and	effectively	manage	the	risks	in	all	of	our	business	activities

•	 Aim to build strong company value and will not “bet the bank” on any new product, service, 
or strategy 

•	 Hold	ourselves	to	the	highest	ethical	standard	possible	and	consider	reputational	risk,	and	impact	
to our brand, in all that we do

ATB’s	geographical	restrictions	and	business	activities	expose	the	institution	to	a	wide	variety	of	risks,	
and while the incurring of risk is a fundamental aspect of a financial services corporation, the level of 
risk taken must be understood, assessed, and monitored against a predefined level of risk appetite. 
Our	Risk	Appetite	Statement,	which	has	been	approved	by	the	board,	reflects	the	nature	and	extent	
of	risks	that	we	are	willing	to	accept	in	pursuit	of	our	business	objectives.

The	Risk	Appetite	Statement	establishes	the	boundaries	for	risk	taking,	includes	risk	definitions	and	
measurable qualitative and quantitative statements, and provides a platform for measuring risk 
management	activities	for	key	risks	across	the	enterprise.	Key	risks	for	ATB	include	legal	and	regulatory	
risk,	credit	risk,	market	risk,	liquidity	risk,	operational	risk,	business	and	execution	risk,	strategic	risk,	
and reputational risk.

The	 level	of	 risk	 appetite	within	ATB	may	 change	over	 time,	 and	consequently	 the	Risk	Appetite	
Statement	 is	 regularly	 revisited	and	 formally	 reviewed	at	 least	 annually.	We	 report	our	 exposures	
against	our	risk	appetite	to	the	board	Risk	Committee	on	a	quarterly	basis.

Stress-Testing
Stress	 testing	 is	 an	 indispensable	 component	 of	 risk	 management.	 Through	 stress-testing,	 ATB	
defines and analyzes severe but plausible scenarios that could have important consequences for the 
company.	Senior	management	reviews	results	from	enterprise-wide	stress	tests,	and	where	the	impact	
of	a	stress	test	exceeds	ATB’s	risk	appetite,	the	company	pursues	development	of	mitigating	action.

In	practice,	stress-testing	supports	ATB	and	its	various	business	units	in	making	informed	decisions	
about key business initiatives, product launches, risk management, and strategic directions, which 
contribute	to	the	realization	of	ATB’s	goals.
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Credit Risk

Credit	risk	is	the	risk	of	financial	loss	resulting	from	failure	of	a	debtor,	for	whatever	reason,	to	fully	
honour	its	financial	or	contractual	obligations	to	ATB.	Examples	of	typical	products	bearing	credit	risk	
include	retail	and	commercial	loans,	guarantees,	letters	of	credit,	and	derivatives.	Credit	risk	typically	
poses the greatest inherent risk of financial loss to lending institutions. 

The	 areas	 of	 expertise—which	 own	 credit	 risk	 and	 are	 accountable	 for	 credit	 decisions	 in	
adherence with approved policies, frameworks, and operating procedures, including delegated 
lending	authority—form	the	first	level	of	defence	in	ATB’s	three-lines-of-defence	model.	The	Credit	
group,	part	of	the	Risk	Management	group,	forms	the	second	line	of	defence.	 It	 is	responsible	for	
providing policies, frameworks, and operating procedures to independently evaluate and support 
recommended	credit	decisions	provided	by	the	areas	of	expertise	and	to	continually	monitor	the	
overall	credit	risk	level	inherent	in	ATB’s	credit	portfolio.	Monitoring	of	credit	risk	within	the	portfolio	
is	performed	 independently	 from	 the	 credit	decision	process;	 it	 entails	 assessing	ATB’s	 credit	 risk	
level against defined credit risk thresholds, risk tolerances, risk appetite, and industry peer group 
performance.	The	 third	 line	 of	 defence	 is	 ATB’s	 Internal	 Audit	 department,	which	 independently	
evaluates and reports on all stages and aspects of the credit granting and monitoring process. 

We believe the three-lines-of-defence model adequately measures and mitigates any credit risk 
exposures	 produced	 through	 daily	 lending	 and	 investment	 operations.	 This	 model	 satisfies	 the	
parameters of our credit risk appetite. 

The	amounts	shown	in	the	table	below	best	represent	ATB’s	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk:

($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Financial assets(1) $ 36,830,667 $ 32,335,604
Other commitments and off-balance-sheet items 14,420,618 13,091,941
Total credit risk $ 51,251,285 $ 45,427,545

1 Includes derivatives stated net of collateral held and master netting agreements.

Credit Risk Appetite
ATB	 Financial	 has	 a	 moderate	 appetite	 for	 credit	 risk,	 which	 is	 adhered	 to	 by	 pursuing	 lending	
strategies that balance risk and return, and that maintain an overall high-quality loan portfolio by 
applying	prudent	 lending	 limits	 and	practices.	Our	 credit	 risk	 appetite	 requires	 that	 ATB’s	 credit-
granting	operations	will:

•	 Only enter into lending activities in markets where we have the knowledge and processes in place 
to adequately control risk

•	 Manage	 individual	client	credit	exposures	 so	 that	anticipated	 losses	 from	a	given	borrower	are	
below	risk	appetite	maximums
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•	 Operate	 within	 the	 boundaries	 of	 prudent	 lending	 policies	 with	 exceptions	 held	 to	 defined	
thresholds and provide reasonable oversight of the ongoing performance of loan assets

•	 Maintain	credit	loss	provisions	and	losses	within	established	tolerances
•	 Maintain	a	diversified	loan	portfolio	and	not	expose	ATB	to	excessive	risk	concentrations	that,	under	
stress	scenarios,	have	the	potential	to	result	in	credit	losses	that	may	exceed	forecasted	earnings

•	 Maintain	a	high-quality	loan	portfolio,	with	a	risk	performance	consistently	at	or	above	industry	
average when compared to our peer group

Although	legislation	largely	restricts	ATB’s	lending	operations	to	the	Alberta	marketplace,	we	manage	
a	diversified	portfolio	by	way	of:

•	 Policies	and	limits	that	ensure	broad	diversification	across	various	credit	borrower	types,	sizes,	and	
credit quality levels

•	 Policies	 that	ensure	 the	portfolio	 is	not	overly	 concentrated	within	a	particular	 industry	 sector,	
common risk or related group of individual credit clients, credit product or loan type, operational 
loan origination channel, or geographic region within Alberta

•	 Out-of-province	syndicated	loan	exposures	permitted	under	the	ATB Regulation

2014 Industry Concentration Risk
As	at	March	31,	2014,	no	single	industry	segment	represented	more	than	23.2%	of	the	total	gross	
business	loans,	and	no	single	borrower	represented	more	than	0.43%	of	the	total	gross	loan	portfolio.

Real Estate Secured Lending
Residential	mortgages	and	home	equity	lines	of	credit	(HELOCs)	are	secured	by	residential	properties.	
The	following	table	presents	a	breakdown	of	the	amounts	and	percentages	of	insured	and	uninsured	
residential	mortgages	and	HELOCs:

($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Residential mortgages Insured $ 5,847,738 49% $ 5,245,895 49%

Uninsured 6,164,716 51% 5,460,013 51%
12,012,454 100% 10,705,908 100%

Home equity lines of credit Uninsured 3,914,809 100% 4,052,995 100%
3,914,809 100% 4,052,995 100%

Total Insured $ 5,847,738 37% $ 5,245,895 36%
Uninsured $ 10,079,525 63% $ 9,513,008 64%
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The	 following	 table	 shows	 the	percentages	of	our	 residential	mortgages	portfolio	 that	 fall	within	
various	amortization	period	ranges:

2014 2013
< 25 years 62.3% 56.0%
25–30 years 19.1% 17.8%
30–35 years 18.4% 22.2%
35–40 years 0.2% 4.0%
> 40 years - -
Total 100.0% 100.0%

The	following	table	provides	a	summary	of	our	average	loan-to-value	ratio	for	newly	originated	and	
acquired	uninsured	residential	mortgages	and	HELOC	products:

2014 2013
Residential mortgages 0.53 0.58 
Home equity lines of credit 0.16 0.27 

Credit Risk Management Strategy
In	striving	to	balance	loan	growth	against	maintaining	credit	risk	exposures	and	key	performance	
indicators within acceptable parameters, we manage the credit risk inherent in both individual 
transactions	and	the	overall	portfolio.	ATB	believes	that	this	dual	approach	to	credit	risk	management	
and its alignment with our corporate risk management policy is essential to our long-term success.

ATB’s	credit	risk	management	strategy	recognizes	that	ATB	operates	in	a	historically	volatile	economy	
and must take measures to manage and moderate the potential variability of credit losses over the 
course	of	a	full	economic	cycle	by:

•	 Using	validated	credit	score	models	for	adjudication	and	behavioural	monitoring	purposes	
•	 Having	 accurate	 and	 supportable	 estimation	 processes	 and	 models	 for	 establishing	 credit	

loss allowances
•	 Using early-warning systems to provide management with advance notification of changing risk 
dimensions	in	credit	portfolio	profiles	and	external	lending	environments

•	 Monitoring	key	portfolio	risk	indicators	to	actively	maintain	risk	within	the	approved	risk	appetite	
levels or established management tolerances

•	 Using stress-testing techniques to identify and understand the potential impact of credit quality 
migration	or	loss-rate	movements	as	a	result	of	extreme	economic	events

•	 Continuously	monitoring	 to	ensure	ongoing	compliance	with	ATB’s	 risk	policies,	practices,	 and	
desired tolerances

•	 Ensuring	accountability	 for	managing	credit	 risk	 throughout	ATB	 in	accordance	with	our	 three-
lines-of-defence	model	 (i.e.,	areas	of	expertise	operations,	credit	 risk	management,	and	 Internal	
Audit assurance)
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Counterparty Credit Risk
Customer	 counterparties	 are	 scrutinized	 through	 our	 regular	 credit	 risk	management	 processes,	
and financial institution counterparties are limited, by policy, to those having a minimum long-term 
public credit rating of A–low/A3/A– or better. We also use credit mitigation techniques such as 
netting and requiring the counterparty to collateralize obligations above agreed thresholds to limit 
potential	exposure.	

Derivative	exposure	for	ATB’s	corporate	clients	is	measured	using	cash	flow	at	risk	for	commodities	
and	 foreign-exchange	derivatives,	and	potential	 future	exposure	 for	 interest	 rate	derivatives.	Both	
of	 these	exposure	measures	are	calculated	and	monitored	daily.	We	are	generally	not	exposed	to	
credit risk for the full face value (notional amount) of derivative contracts, but only to the current 
replacement cost if the counterparty defaults.

Market Risk 

Market	 risk	 is	 the	 risk	 that	ATB	may	 incur	a	 loss	due	 to	adverse	changes	 in	 interest	 rates,	 foreign-
exchange	 rates,	 and	 equity	 or	 commodity	 market	 prices.	 Financial	 institutions	 such	 as	 ATB	 are	
exposed	to	market	risk	in	day-to-day	operations	such	as	investing,	lending,	and	deposit-taking.

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest	rate	risk	is	the	risk	of	a	negative	impact	on	ATB’s	financial	condition	due	to	changes	in	market	
interest rates.

Asset/liability	management	risk	exists	due	to	differences	in	the	timing	and	pricing	of	interest-sensitive	
assets and liabilities on our balance sheet and the need to invest non-interest-sensitive liabilities and 
equity	 in	 interest-earning	assets.	Risks	arise	 from,	among	other	 factors,	different	timing	of	 interest	
rate	resets,	varying	use	of	floating	interest	rate	reference	indices,	early	prepayments	or	unexpected	
drawdowns of loan balances, and unanticipated changes in deposit redemption behaviour.

The	impact	of	changes	in	interest	rates	on	ATB’s	net	interest	income	will	depend	on	several	factors,	
including the size and rate of change in interest rates, the size and maturity of the assets and liabilities, 
and	the	observed	 lending	and	deposit	behaviour	of	our	customers	versus	expectations.	ATB	uses	
derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, and other capital markets alternatives to 
manage our interest rate risk position.

Asset/liability	management	encompasses	the	following:

•	 Developing	interest	rate	risk	management	policies	and	limits
•	 Developing	methods	to	measure	and	report	interest	rate	risk
•	 Managing	interest	rate	risk	versus	approved	limits
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•	 Monitoring	 and	 reporting	 interest	 rate	 risk	 exposure	 to	 the	 Asset	 Liability	 Committee	 (ALCO)	
monthly	and	to	the	board	Risk	Committee	quarterly

ATB	measures	interest	rate	risk	every	month	through	two	primary	metrics:

•	 Interest	 rate	gap	measurement,	which	compares	 the	notional	difference	or	gap	 in	 interest	 rate	
repricings between assets and liabilities, grouped according to their repricing date

•	 Sensitivity	 of	 net	 interest	 income	 to	 sudden	 increases	 or	 decreases	 in	market	 interest	 rates,	 as	
measured	over	a	12-month	horizon

(Refer	to	note	24	to	the	statements	for	further	details.)	

The	board	reviews	risk	limits	annually	for	interest	rate	gap	and	sensitivity	of	net	interest	income.

Foreign-Exchange Risk
Foreign-exchange	 risk	 is	 the	potential	 risk	of	 loss	 resulting	 from	fluctuations	 in	 foreign-exchange	
rates.	This	 risk	arises	 from	the	existence	of	a	net	asset	or	 liability	position	denominated	 in	 foreign	
currencies	and/or	a	difference	in	maturity	profiles	for	purchases	and	sales	of	a	given	currency.	ATB	
manages	its	foreign-currency	exposure	through	the	use	of	foreign-exchange	forward	contracts.

Equity and Commodity Price Risks
Equity	price	risk	arises	when	ATB	offers	deposit	products	where	the	rate	of	return	is	linked	to	changes	
in the value of equity securities or equity market indices. We use equity derivatives to hedge our 
associated	risk	exposure	on	these	products.	We	have	no	material	net	exposure	as	at	March	31,	2014.	

Commodity	price	risk	arises	when	ATB	offers	deposit	or	derivative	products	where	the	value	of	the	
derivative instrument or rate of return on the deposit is linked to changes in the price of the underlying 
commodity. We use commodity-linked derivatives to fully hedge our associated commodity risk 
exposure	on	these	products.	ATB	does	not	accept	any	net	direct	commodity	price	risk.	(Refer	to	the	
following	Use	of	Derivatives	section	and	to	note	10	to	the	statements	for	further	details.)

Use of Derivatives
ATB	 has	 traditionally	 used	 derivatives	 for	managing	 our	 asset	 and	 liability	 positions	 and	 the	 risk	
associated with individual loan and deposit products offered to customers. We use several types of 
derivatives for this purpose, including interest rate swaps, options, equity- and commodity-linked 
options	 and	 foreign-exchange	 forward	 contracts.	 We	 refer	 to	 these	 contracts	 as	 our	 “corporate	
derivative portfolio.”

All	derivative	transactions	are	reviewed	and	managed	within	the	policies	approved	by	the	board.	ATB	
employs	appropriate	segregation	of	duties	to	ensure	that	the	market	risk	and	counterparty	exposure	
for the client and corporate derivative portfolios are managed and monitored daily within approved 
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limits.	Further,	the	Market	Risk	group	monitors	derivative	positions	on	a	daily	basis,	and	ALCO	reviews	
them monthly.

The	use	of	derivatives	 inherently	 involves	credit	risk	due	to	the	potential	 for	counterparty	default.	
To	 control	 this	 risk,	 we	 engage	 in	 various	 risk	mitigation	 strategies	 through	master	 netting	 and	
collateral agreements.

ATB	provides	commodity,	 foreign-exchange,	 and	 interest	 rate	derivatives	 to	corporate	customers,	
allowing	 them	 to	 hedge	 their	 existing	 exposure	 to	 commodity,	 foreign-exchange,	 and	 interest	
rate	 risks.	 The	 client	 derivative	 portfolio	 is	 not	 used	 to	 generate	 trading	 income	 through	 active	
assumption	of	market	risk,	but	rather	is	used	to	meet	the	risk	management	requirements	of	ATB’s	
corporate	 customers.	 ATB	does	 not	 accept	 net	 exposure	 to	 such	derivative	 contracts	 (except	 for	
related credit risk) as we either enter into offsetting contracts with other financial institution 
counterparties or, in the case of foreign-currency contracts only, we may incorporate them into our 
own	foreign-exchange	position.

The	Market	Risk	group	within	Risk	Management	provides	control	oversight	and	reports	to	ATB’s	ALCO	
and	the	board	Risk	Committee	on	ATB’s	market	 risk	exposures	against	board-approved	 limits.	The	
ERM	framework	gives	the	board	Risk	Committee	a	view	of	the	market	risk	profile	compared	to	the	
approved market risk appetite.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	of	ATB	being	unable	to	meet	our	known	financial	commitments	when	they	
come	due	and	being	unable	to	meet	unexpected	financial	obligations	at	a	reasonable	cost	and	in	a	
timely	manner.	As	with	other	similar	financial	institutions,	ATB’s	risk	arises	from	fluctuations	in	cash	
flows	from	lending,	deposit-taking,	investing,	and	other	activities.	These	commitments	are	generally	
met	through	cash	flows	supplemented	by	investment	assets	readily	convertible	to	cash,	or	through	
our capacity to borrow.

ATB’s	 liquidity	management	 policy	 ensures	 sufficient	 funds	 are	 available	 to	 sustain	 our	 ongoing	
operations, to meet our customers’ needs (such as cash withdrawals or loan advances), and to 
satisfy other obligations. We take into account both our liquid assets on hand and our ability to raise 
additional funds at a reasonable cost to meet liquidity requirements.

We	mitigate	our	liquidity	risk	through	the	following	activities:

•	 Diversifying	our	funding	sources
•	 Regularly	monitoring	expected	cash	inflows	and	outflows
•	 Regularly	forecasting	our	 liquidity	position,	 including	the	flows	from	off-balance-sheet	 items,	to	
ensure	adequate	liquidity	is	available	to	meet	cash	flow	fluctuations	and	to	react	to	commitments
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•	 Performing	 and	 reporting	 the	 results	 of	 stress	 tests	 to	 understand	 the	 impact	 of	 unfavourable	
market conditions on our liquidity position

•	 Reporting	liquidity	regularly	to	ensure	compliance	with	our	limits	and	guidelines

A traditional method of describing balance sheet liquidity is to compare the gap between the timing 
of contractual loan and investment maturities, and claims on cash from maturing deposits, including 
demand deposits and debt issuance.

Contractual	 maturities	 of	 certain	 on-balance-sheet	 financial	 instruments	 as	 at	 March	 31	 were	
as	follows:

($ in thousands) Term
On-balance-sheet  

financial instruments
Within
1 year

1–2
years

2–3
years

3–4
years

4–5
years

Over
5 years Total

March 31, 2014
Deposits $ 24,651,079 $ 1,141,245 $ 1,242,009 $ 107,172 $ 174,933 $ - $ 27,316,438
Wholesale borrowings 299,999 - 898,589 998,224 497,349 - 2,694,161
Collateralized borrowings 1,323,730 307,262 470,068 - 724,962 585,330 3,411,352
Capital investment notes 250,508 - - - - - 250,508
Subordinated debentures - 38,075 59,298 58,280 73,122 - 228,775
March 31, 2013
Deposits $ 21,937,315 $ 1,328,381 $ 212,729 $ 159,670 $ 93,276 $ - $ 23,731,371
Wholesale borrowings 399,121 299,951 - 898,836 997,803 - 2,595,711
Collateralized borrowings 1,453,639 872,770 306,947 470,136 - - 3,103,492
Capital investment notes - 244,617 - - - - 244,617
Subordinated debentures - - 38,075 59,298 58,280 - 155,653

Contractual	 maturities	 of	 certain	 off-balance-sheet	 financial	 instruments	 as	 at	 March	 31	 were	
as	follows:

($ in thousands) Term
Off-balance-sheet  

financial instruments
Within
1 year

1–2
years

2–3
years

3–4
years

4–5
years

Over
5 years Total

March 31, 2014
Guarantees and letters of credit(1) $ 550,659 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 550,659
Commitments to extend credit(2) 13,869,959 - - - - - 13,869,959
Purchase obligations 132,623 37,968 13,603 8,803 3,096 7,020 203,115
March 31, 2013
Guarantees and letters of credit(1) $ 437,163 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 437,163
Commitments to extend credit(2) 12,654,778 - - - - - 12,654,778
Purchase obligations 158,398 78,176 29,468 7,219 4,508 4,935 282,704

1  ATB is only called upon to satisfy a guarantee when the guaranteed party fails to meet its obligations. Additionally, ATB has recourse against the customer for 
such commitments.

2  Commitments to extend credit represent undertakings by ATB to make credit available in the form of loans or other financing for specific amounts and 
maturities, subject to certain conditions, and include recently authorized credit not yet drawn down and credit facilities available on a revolving basis. ATB 
does not expect all facilities to be drawn, and some may lapse before drawdown.
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We	manage	our	liquidity	through	the	following	activities:

•	 Using a variety of funding sources for liquidity, such as our retail deposit base
•	 Encouraging	growth	in	deposits	from	individuals,	which	provide	a	stable	source	of	funding	over	

the long term
•	 Participating	 in	 Canadian	 financial	markets	 through	 the	 Government	 of	 Alberta’s	 consolidated	

borrowing program, which issues short- and medium-term notes
•	 Maintaining	holdings	of	highly	liquid	assets	in	proportion	to	anticipated	demand
•	 Establishing	access	to	other	sources	of	liquidity	that	can	be	obtained	on	short	notice	if	additional	

funds are required
•	 Maintaining	a	 securitization	program	 to	 raise	 funds	using	our	 residential	mortgages	and	credit	

card receivables as collateral

The	following	table	describes	ATB’s	long-term	funding	sources:

($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Wholesale borrowings $ 2,694,161 $ 2,595,711
Collateralized borrowings 3,411,352 3,103,492
Capital investment notes 250,508 244,617
Subordinated debentures 228,775 155,653

$ 6,584,796 $ 6,099,473

Long-Term Debt – Funding Mix by Product

41%

3%

52%

4%

ATB	operates	under	a	liquidity	risk	management	policy	and	limit	framework	designed	to	be	broadly	
compliant	with	global	 liquidity	standards	announced	by	the	Bank	for	 International	Settlements	 in	
December	2010,	known	as	the	Basel	III	framework.	Under	our	liquidity	risk	management	policy,	we	
measure liquidity primarily through two metrics designed to capture liquidity risks over differing 
time	horizons:

Wholesale borrowings

Collateralized borrowings

Capital investment notes

Subordinated debentures
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•	 The	 short-term available funding (STAF) minimum coverage ratio, which compares our cash and 
highly	liquid	securities	balances	to	a	scenario-based	measure	of	the	maximum	cash	outflows	that	
may	occur	over	a	near-term	(14-calendar-day)	horizon,	and	which	is	comparable	to	the	Liquidity	
Coverage	Ratio	under	Basel	III

•	 The	 intermediate-term available funding (ITAF) minimum coverage ratio, which compares our 
available,	highly	reliable	external	funding	sources	(primarily	our	Wholesale	Borrowing	Agreement	
with	the	Province	of	Alberta)	to	a	scenario-based	measure	of	the	maximum	liquidity	outflows	that	
may	occur	over	 an	 intermediate-term	12-month	horizon,	 and	which	 is	 comparable	 to	 the	Net	
Stable	Funding	Ratio	under	Basel	III	and	the	Canadian	specific	Net	Cumulative	Cash	Flow	measure	

On	March	31,	2014,	the	STAF	minimum	coverage	ratio	was	232.7%	(2013:	269.2%)	versus	a	board-
approved	minimum	level	of	100%,	and	the	ITAF	minimum	coverage	ratio	was	124.2%	(2013:	137.6%),	
versus	a	board-approved	minimum	level	of	90%.

The	Market	Risk	group	within	Risk	Management	provides	control	oversight	and	reports	to	ATB’s	ALCO	
and	the	board	Risk	Committee	on	ATB’s	liquidity	risk	exposures	against	board-approved	limits.	ERM	
gives	the	board	Risk	Committee	a	view	of	the	liquidity	risk	profile	compared	to	the	approved	liquidity	
risk appetite. 
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Operational Risk

ATB	is	exposed	to	potential	losses	arising	from	a	variety	of	operational	risks,	including	process	failure,	
theft and fraud, errors or misrepresentation in our products, employment practices, workplace safety, 
regulatory	noncompliance,	business	disruption,	information	security	breaches	and	exposure	related	
to outsourcing, and damage to physical assets. 

Operational risk is inherent in all our business activities, including the processes and controls used 
to	manage	credit	risk,	market	risk,	and	all	other	risks	we	face.	It	has	the	potential	to	cause	monetary	
losses and reputational harm, or result in legal action or regulatory sanctions. While operational risk 
can	never	be	fully	eliminated,	it	can	be	managed	to	reduce	exposure	to	financial	loss,	reputational	
harm, or regulatory sanctions. 

The	three-lines-of-defence	operating	model	establishes	appropriate	accountability	for	operational	
risk management. 

Operational Risk Management (ORM) Policy and Framework
The	 ORM	 policy	 and	 framework	 define	 the	 processes	 we	 use	 to	 identify,	 measure,	 manage,	
mitigate,	monitor,	and	report	key	operational	risk	exposures.	A	primary	objective	of	the	ORM	policy	
and framework is to ensure that our operational risk profile is consistent with our risk appetite. 
Embedding	an	effective	and	strong	operational	risk	management	program	also	requires	awareness	
and understanding of operational risk through effective challenge, training, and communication.

Governance
The	Operational	Risk	Committee	(ORC),	a	subcommittee	of	the	Corporate	Management	Committee	
(CMC),	 is	 the	governance	committee	 for	ORM	matters	 and	has	 responsibility	 for	 the	oversight	of	
operational risk strategy, management, and governance, consistent with our operational risk appetite. 
ORC	also	oversees	the	development	of	policies	and	framework	that	provide	the	governing	principles	
and	processes	for	effective	management	of	operational	risk.	The	ORC	membership	includes	senior	
leaders representing all business units and is chaired by the chief risk officer. 

Risk and Control Assessment (RCA)
RCA	is	a	process	used	by	our	areas	of	expertise	and	strategic	service	units	to	identify	the	key	risks	
associated with their businesses and the controls required to mitigate risk to a level consistent with our 
risk	appetite.	On	an	aggregate	basis,	RCA	results	also	provide	an	enterprise-level	view	of	operational	
risks relative to risk appetite, to ensure all key risks are adequately managed and mitigated.
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New Initiative Risk Assessment Process (NIRAP)
The	NIRAP	is	used	to	evaluate	new	(or	significant	changes	to	existing)	products,	services,	or	strategies	
that	 could	 alter	 the	 risk	 profile	 of	 ATB.	 Consistent	 deployment	 of	 this	 structured	 risk	 assessment	
process	improves	risk	awareness	throughout	ATB	and	will	allow	initiative	sponsors	to	identify	where	
further	mitigation	is	necessary	for	alignment	with	ATB’s	risk	appetite.

Loss Data Collection and Analysis 
Internal	 loss	 data	 serves	 as	 an	 important	means	 of	 assessing	 our	 operational	 risk	 exposure	 and	
identifying	 opportunities	 for	 future	 risk	 prevention	measures.	 Significant	 trends	 or	 incidents	 are	
regularly reported to ensure preventative and corrective action can be taken where appropriate.

Business Continuity Management (BCM)
BCM	 includes	 business	 continuity	 planning	 and	 emergency	 management.	 ATB’s	 BCM	 program	
is	 designed	 to	make	 sure	ATB	 can	maintain	business	 resiliency	 and	 service	 to	 its	 customers,	 and	
minimize financial and operational impacts in the event of a business disruption, thereby minimizing 
any adverse effects on our customers and other stakeholders.

Insurance
ATB’s	corporate	insurance	program	provides	further	mitigation	of	certain	operational	risk	exposures.	
We look to industry benchmarks as well as legal, regulatory, and contractual requirements when 
deciding	 on	 types	 of	 coverage	 and	 limits.	 Insurance	 coverage	 is	 placed	 at	 limits	 considered	
appropriate for our size, structure, and type of operations. We review our program annually to ensure 
it	remains	well	suited	to	ATB	as	well	as	compliant	with	regulations	and	requirements.

Reporting
Regular	 analysis	 and	 reporting	 of	 our	 enterprise	 operational	 risk	 profile	 compared	 against	 the	
approved	operational	 risk	appetite	 is	a	key	component	of	ORM.	Timely	and	relevant	reporting	on	
changes in the operational risk profile, analysis of losses and incidents, and an overview of the top 
operational	risks	that	ATB	faces	enhance	risk	transparency	and	facilitate	the	proactive	management	
of	material	and	emerging	operational	risk	exposures.	

Cyber Risk 
As	we	increasingly	come	to	rely	on	digital	and	Internet-based	technologies,	cyber	risk	has	become	
a	top	risk	 to	financial	 institutions.	Events	such	as	unauthorized	access	 to	systems	 for	 the	purpose	
of stealing assets, sensitive information, corruption of data, or causing operational disruption are 
becoming more prevalent. 
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The	consequences	of	such	an	event	to	ATB	could	be	very	significant	 in	terms	of	 loss	of	customer	
confidential information, significant remediation costs, loss of revenue, and legal and reputational 
damage.	The	costs	and	resources	needed	to	manage	the	risks	continue	to	 increase	as	the	attacks	
broaden and intensify.

ATB	has	put	in	place	an	information	security	framework	to	ensure	that	enforced	enterprise	measures	
protect information assets and implement technologies, policies, and practices to protect our 
systems and data.

Key Talent Risk
Key	 talent	 risk	 is	 the	 risk	 that	 ATB	will	 not	 be	 able	 to	 attract,	 retain,	 and	 leverage	 the	 key	 talent	
necessary	to	achieve	its	strategic	goals.	In	the	emerging	era	of	talent	scarcity,	growing	competition,	
and	 increasing	 customer	 expectations,	 ATB	 continues	 to	 focus	 on	 leading	 people	 and	 culture	
programs,	 building	 on	 the	 ATB	 dream	 and	 proposition	 of	 putting	 people	 first,	 and	 creating	 an	
undeniable reputation in the talent marketplace as being the place to work. Vibrant people and 
culture	programs	have	a	strong	focus	on	recognition,	learning,	and	leadership,	which	will	enable	ATB	
to continue to attract, acquire, engage, develop, and retain key talent.

Reputational Risk
Reputational	 risk	 is	 the	 potential	 that	 negative	 stakeholder	 impressions,	 whether	 true	 or	 not,	
regarding	ATB’s	business	practices,	actions,	or	inaction,	will	or	may	cause	deterioration	in	ATB’s	value,	
brand, liquidity, customer base, or relationship with its owner.

ATB	 takes	 reputational	 risk	 seriously	 and	 strives	 to	 build	 and	 maintain	 a	 solid	 reputation	 with	
stakeholders. We recognize reputational risk as a foundational risk that is impacted by all other risks 
to	which	we	are	exposed.	As	a	result,	effectively	managing	all	other	risks	within	ATB	is	critical	to	our	
management of reputational risk.

ATB	 proactively	manages	 reputational	 risk	 in	 a	 number	 of	 ways,	 including	 adopting	 transparent	
communication with our customers, maintaining high standards of governance, reinforcing 
ATB’s	 Code	 of	 Conduct,	 providing	 clear	 direction	 through	 board	 and	management	 policies,	 and	
consistently monitoring social and traditional media to identify and respond to potential threats to 
ATB’s	reputation.	

Legal and Regulatory Risk
Legal	 and	 regulatory	 risk	 is	 the	 risk	of	non-compliance	with	 laws,	 rules,	 regulations,	or	 regulators’	
expectations,	 directives,	 guidelines,	 agreements,	 or	 other	 legal	 requirements,	 including	 the	
effectiveness	 of	 preventing	 and	 handling	 litigation.	 This	 includes	 compliance	 with	 anti-money-
laundering and anti-terrorist regulatory requirements and privacy regulatory requirements.
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Failure	to	properly	manage	legal	and	regulatory	risks	may	result	in	civil	litigation,	criminal	or	regulatory	
proceedings	 being	 commenced	 against	 ATB,	 sanctions,	 and	 potential	 harm	 to	 ATB’s	 reputation.	
Financial	penalties,	 judgments,	 and	other	costs	associated	with	 legal	and	 regulatory	proceedings	
may	also	adversely	affect	ATB’s	business,	results,	or	financial	condition.	

ATB	is	exposed	to	legal	and	regulatory	risks	in	almost	everything	it	does	and	has	designed	controls	
and practices to proactively promote risk-based management of regulatory and legal risk through an 
enterprise-wide risk-based model.

The	areas	of	expertise	and	strategic	service	units	have	responsibility	for	managing	legal	and	regulatory	
compliance	risks	in	their	daily	operations.	This	is	done	primarily	through	implementation	of	policies,	
processes, procedures, and controls as well as by ensuring appropriate staffing in business operations.

Board of directors

Code of Conduct and Ethics
Sets the “tone at the top” for a 
culture of integrity within ATB

Compliance and Legal Services

Compliance
Identifies, accesses, and manages 
legal and regulatory requirements, 
using a risk-based approach

Areas of expertise and  
strategic service units

Are responsible for managing legal 
and regulatory compliance risks

The chairman of the board
Has responsibility for monitoring 
compliance with the Code of 
Conduct and Ethics by members of 
the board

Legal Services
Provides legal strategies and  
advice on the performance of  
legal obligations and manages 
litigation that involves or impacts 
ATB or its subsidiaries

The	Compliance	group	has	established	a	legislative	compliance	management	framework	to	identify,	
assess, and manage legal and regulatory requirements, using a risk-based approach. 

The	Legal	Services	group	provides	enterprise-wide	legal	strategies	and	advice	on	the	interpretation	
of	legal	obligations	and	applicable	legislation.	Legal	Services	also	manages	litigation	that	involves	or	
impacts	ATB	or	its	subsidiaries.

In	addition,	ATB’s	Code	of	Conduct	and	Ethics	outlines	the	principles	and	standards	of	conduct	that	
should	guide	the	conduct	of	every	ATB	director	and	team	member.	The	Code	of	Conduct	and	Ethics	
sets	the	“tone	at	the	top”	for	a	culture	of	integrity	within	ATB.	

The	board	chair	is	ultimately	responsible	for	monitoring	compliance	with	the	Code	of	Conduct	and	
Ethics	by	members	of	 the	board.	The	board,	with	 the	assistance	of	 the	Governance	and	Conduct	
Review	Committee,	oversees	compliance	with	the	Code	of	Conduct	and	Ethics	by	ATB	team	members.	
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ATB	has	both	unionized	and	non-unionized	team	members.	Unionized	team	member	compensation	
is	based	on	the	AUPE	collective	agreement.	Non-unionized	team	member	compensation	is	based	on	
ATB’s	overall	compensation	philosophy.

ATB	compensation	programs	are	designed	 to	attract,	 retain,	 and	motivate	 the	high-calibre	 talent	
needed	in	a	competitive	marketplace,	based	on	the	following	key	principles:

•	 Align with strategic goals of the enterprise
•	 Align	with	shareholder	expectation	by	being	relevant	to	Albertans	and	creating	ongoing	financial	

value and sustainability
•	 Compensate	team	members	in	a	fully	transparent	fashion	for	demonstrated	performance	within	

acceptable risk practices and tolerances
•	 Provide	total	rewards	programs	that	are	internally	equitable	and	externally	competitive

Role of the Human Resources Committee 

The	board’s	Human	Resources	Committee	governs	and	oversees	any	significant	change	to	ATB’s	total	
rewards programs, and acts as the approval body for the appointment, performance evaluation, and 
compensation	of	the	CEO	and	other	designated	executive	officers.	

The	following	are	other	accountabilities	of	the	Human	Resources	Committee:

•	 Executive	succession	and	development
•	 Philosophy	and	principles	for	enterprise-wide	compensation	programs
•	 Pension	plan	funding,	administration,	and	governance	and	major	design	changes

Components of Compensation

The	following	are	the	key	components	of	ATB’s	compensation	program:

Base Salary
Base	pay	forms	the	foundation	of	ATB’s	compensation	framework.	Salary	ranges	for	all	salary	grades	
consist	of	a	minimum,	market	 reference,	and	maximum	rate.	The	market	 reference	point	 for	each	
salary grade is set at a competitive rate, based on annual survey data from our comparator markets. 

The	annual	salary	 review	process	has	 two	elements:	a	 review	of	 the	ATB	salary	 range	 (pay	grade)	
structure and a determination of an overall budget for the aggregate of base salary increases for 
team members.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 
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Pension
Pension	 benefits	 are	 also	 an	 important	 part	 of	 ATB’s	 total	 rewards	 programs.	 Our	 pension	 plans	
are	very	competitive.	Unionized	and	professional	 team	members	participate	 in	 the	Public	Service	
Pension	Plan.	

Benefits
Health,	wellness,	benefit,	and	retirement	programs	provide	security	and	contribute	to	the	quality	of	
life	of	ATB’s	team	members	and	their	families.	Group	insurance	plans,	as	well	as	illness	and	special	leave	
provisions,	give	team	members	income	protection	in	the	event	of	illness	or	unexpected	absences	
from the workforce. Vacation is also an important component of health and wellness, allowing 
time to re-energize and to balance work and family issues. All of these benefits are measured and 
benchmarked	in	line	with	the	total	rewards	programs	to	ensure	that	ATB	remains	competitive	with	
our comparators.

Discounted Banking Products
As	 a	 financial	 institution,	we	 encourage	 team	members	 to	 use	 ATB	 products	 by	 offering	 special	
interest rates for various deposit and loan accounts. Using our products and services makes team 
members more knowledgeable about our offerings, which helps them to promote those offerings 
to our customers.

Short-Term Incentive Pay
The	 objective	 of	 the	 short-term	 incentive	 plan	 (STIP)	 is	 to	 recognize	 short-term,	 year-over-year	
achievements,	and	corporate	net	income	is	the	key	performance	driver	for	the	plan.	This	vital	metric	
acts	as	a	hurdle,	in	that	a	minimum	of	50%	of	the	target	corporate	net	income	must	be	achieved	for	
any payout to occur. 

Each	business	unit	has	a	performance	scorecard	that	focuses	on	achieving	target	financial	measures	
(revenue generation and operational effectiveness), customer measures, and employee engagement 
scores.	 The	 scorecard	 uses	 quantitative	 performance	 measurements	 in	 three	 payout	 categories:	
achievement of the threshold measures results in minimal payouts, achievement of the target 
measures	generally	pays	out	at	100%,	and	achievement	at	the	highest	level	pays	out	at	150%	in	most	
non-executive	plans.

Certain	front-line	sales	roles,	such	as	branch	managers,	in-branch	sales	staff,	and	ATBIS	employees,	
participate in other sales incentive programs. All of these programs cap earnings to discourage team 
members from taking unmanageable risk and to ensure that there are no potential windfalls for 
unsustainable performance.
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The	 executive	 team’s	 short-term	 incentive	 has	 a	 maximum	 payout	 of	 200%,	 which	 is	 based	 on	
quantitative performance measurements and an individual performance multiplier within the 
context	of	results.

Long-Term Incentive Pay
The	objective	of	the	long-term	incentive	plan	(LTIP)	is	to	recognize	contributions	to	achieving	longer-
term	goals.	Participants	 in	 the	plan	are	primarily	executives,	but	 there	 is	also	a	discretionary	non-
executive	LTIP,	a	pool	of	funds	allocated	annually	to	the	executive	to	use	for	retaining	and	rewarding	
senior team members. 

The	LTIP	grant	 is	based	on	pay	grade	and	expressed	as	a	percentage	of	 salary.	The	percentage	 is	
set	at	75%	 to	100%	 for	 senior	executives	and	20%	 to	55%	 for	other	executives.	The	discretionary	
LTIP	portion	granted	to	senior	managers	is	a	dollar	amount	(with	a	suggested	guideline	of	10%	of	
base salary).

The	LTIP	grants	vest	over	a	three-year	term	and	appreciate	or	depreciate	based	on	actual	return-on-
equity	(ROE)	performance,	after	payment	in	lieu	of	tax,	measured	against	an	ROE	target	determined	
by the board in advance. 

The	following	graph	represents	the	degree	of	base	pay	versus	variable	(long-	and	short-term)	pay	
targeted for the various levels of accountability.
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Summarized Consolidated Balance Sheet

2014 2013
As at
($ in thousands)

Q4
Mar 31/14

Q3
Dec 31/13

Q2
Sep 30/13

Q1
Jun 30/13

Q4
Mar 31/13

Q3
Dec 31/12

Q2
Sep 30/12

Q1
Jun 30/12

Assets
Cash resources  

and securities $ 2,504,374 $ 2,693,748 $ 2,311,362 $ 2,016,243 $ 2,341,992 $ 2,600,703 $ 3,191,655 $ 3,392,336

Loans, net of allowances 
for credit losses:
Business 15,167,687 14,296,076 13,750,864 13,215,983 12,732,228 12,497,009 11,682,063 10,937,871

Residential mortgages 12,012,454 11,861,295 11,516,593 11,041,384 10,705,908 10,581,633 10,415,445 10,343,913

Personal 6,184,463 6,041,465 6,007,456 5,921,334 5,744,958 5,719,192 5,746,562 5,659,017

Credit card 651,931 673,852 657,040 638,421 598,256 626,942 619,748 612,674

Allowance for  
credit losses (131,391) (144,769) (145,040) (134,977) (122,889) (113,377) (107,514) (105,409)

33,885,144 32,727,919 31,786,913 30,682,145 29,658,461 29,311,399 28,356,304 27,448,066

Other assets 1,277,711 1,016,365 1,120,385 1,043,104 1,079,641 1,101,255 1,156,533 1,177,268

Total assets $ 37,667,229 $ 36,438,032 $ 35,218,660 $ 33,741,492 $ 33,080,094 $ 33,013,357 $ 32,704,492 $ 32,017,670

Liabilities and equity
Deposits

Personal $ 11,840,449 $ 11,633,948 $ 11,336,320 $ 11,115,811 $ 11,100,357 $ 10,803,042 $ 10,785,122 $ 10,821,999

Business and other 15,475,989 14,922,424 13,611,492 12,967,266 12,631,014 12,968,690 12,303,770 12,092,586

27,316,438 26,556,372 24,947,812 24,083,077 23,731,371 23,771,732 23,088,892 22,914,585

Other liabilities 7,287,574 6,885,529 7,373,128 6,875,104 6,692,992 6,651,922 7,061,726 6,584,038

Capital investment 
deposits 250,508 250,851 251,352 243,556 244,617 245,046 245,475 237,496

Subordinated 
debentures 228,775 228,774 228,774 228,774 155,653 155,652 155,652 155,652

Equity 2,583,934 2,516,506 2,417,594 2,310,981 2,255,461 2,189,005 2,152,747 2,125,899

Total liabilities  
and equity $ 37,667,229 $ 36,438,032 $ 35,218,660 $ 33,741,492 $ 33,080,094 $ 33,013,357 $ 32,704,492 $ 32,017,670

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2014 2013 restated
For the three months ended
($ in thousands)

Q4
Mar 31/14

Q3
Dec 31/13

Q2
Sep 30/13

Q1
Jun 30/13

Q4
Mar 31/13

Q3
Dec 31/12

Q2
Sep 30/12

Q1
Jun 30/12

Retained earnings
Balance at beginning of  

the period $ 2,530,317 $ 2,455,704 $ 2,381,116 $ 2,315,285 $ 2,241,530 $ 2,183,190 $ 2,128,180 $ 2,073,985

Net income 61,377 74,613 74,588 65,831 73,755 58,340 55,010 54,195

Balance at end of the period $ 2,591,694 $ 2,530,317 $ 2,455,704 $ 2,381,116 $ 2,315,285 $ 2,241,530 $ 2,183,190 $ 2,128,180

Accumulated other 
comprehensive (loss) income
Balance at beginning of  

the period (13,811) (38,110) (70,135) (59,824) (52,525) (30,443) (2,281) (12,422)

Other comprehensive  
income (loss) 6,051 24,299 32,025 (10,311) (7,299) (22,082) (28,162) 10,141

Balance at end of the period $ (7,760) $ (13,811) $ (38,110) $ (70,135) $ (59,824) $ (52,525) $ (30,443) $ (2,281)

Equity as at end of the period $ 2,583,934 $ 2,516,506 $ 2,417,594 $ 2,310,981 $ 2,255,461 $ 2,189,005 $ 2,152,747 $ 2,125,899

Quarterly Results – Summarized Financial Results
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2014 2013 restated
For the three months ended
($ in thousands)

Q4
Mar 31/14

Q3
Dec 31/13

Q2
Sep 30/13

Q1
Jun 30/13

Q4
Mar 31/13

Q3
Dec 31/12

Q2
Sep 30/12

Q1
Jun 30/12

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 61,377 $ 74,613 $ 74,588 $ 65,831 $ 73,755 $ 58,340 $ 55,010 $ 54,195

Adjustments for non-cash items  
and others:

Provision for credit losses 2,185 7,434 16,144 16,632 19,949 13,921 7,519 4,534

Depreciation and amortization 21,137 21,441 21,254 20,579 24,986 23,128 21,707 22,134

Net gains on financial instruments at  
fair value through net income (17,700) (14,760) (14,402) (23,856) (45,990) (13,129) (10,038) (19,031)

Adjustments for net change in operating 
assets and liabilities:

Loans (1,132,754) (927,448) (1,098,638) (1,018,837) (347,531) (950,673) (899,274) (726,999)

Deposits 762,652 1,611,823 861,590 354,967 (233,663) 680,124 171,574 874,973

Derivative financial instruments 2,316 408 (3,418) 2,303 (6,385) (1,505) (4,537) (2,025)

Interest-bearing deposits with  
financial institutions (249,751) (267,005) (75,725) 252,438 162,729 80,053 (568,873) 392,943

Prepayments and other receivables (33,898) 25,066 (21,620) (18,928) 134 7,753 1,808 (3,290)

Due to clients, brokers, and dealers 6,927 (66,812) 26,295 28,874 8,592 (6,567) (4,887) 12,694

Deposit guarantee fee payable 11,385 9,780 8,849 (21,459) 7,730 7,102 7,433 (19,885)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 97,268 19,534 17,681 (34,422) 134,672 (8,425) (36,915) 17,235

Liability for payment in lieu of tax 18,333 22,287 22,279 (53,458) 23,076 17,427 16,431 (42,091)

Net interest receivable and payable 21,731 2,113 23,200 8,804 30,732 (6,550) 26,457 (2,454)

Change in accrued pension-benefit 
liability 13,273 (24,669) (36,950) (24,418) 7,430 9,079 16,784 (49,779)

Others, net (39,498) 66,552 (16,098) 14,846 16,492 (1,141) (32,352) 18

Net cash (used in) provided by  
operating activities (455,017) 560,357 (194,971) (430,104) (123,292) (91,063) (1,232,153) 513,172

Cash flows from investing activities:
Change in securities measured at fair 

value through net income 552,443 (597,885) 248,186 (242,751) 244,752 739,254 705,612 (657,111)

Change in securities purchased under 
reverse repurchase agreements - 249,613 (249,613) 100,007 (8) (99,999) - 99,997

Change in securities sold under 
repurchase agreements - - - - (98,970) (348,622) 447,592 -

Purchases of property and equipment, 
and software and other intangibles (86,831) (27,928) (15,929) (4,344) (24,529) (18,126) (21,250) (34,762)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing 
activities 465,612 (376,200) (17,356) (147,088) 121,245 272,507 1,131,954 (591,876)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Change in wholesale borrowings (124,353) (448,659) 374,299 297,163 (299,344) (53,329) 37,558 130,087

Change in capital investment notes (343) (501) (446) (1,061) (429) (429) (71) (205)

Change in collateralized borrowings 227,470 32,082 56,339 (8,031) 450,568 576 571 560

Issuance of subordinated debentures - - - 73,122 - - - 42,290

Net cash provided by (used in)  
financing activities 102,774 (417,078) 430,192 361,193 150,795 (53,182) 38,058 172,732

Net increase (decrease) in cash 113,369 (232,921) 217,865 (215,999) 148,748 128,262 (62,141) 94,028

Cash at beginning of period 325,548 558,469 340,604 556,603 407,855 279,593 341,734 247,706

Cash at end of period $ 438,917 $ 325,548 $ 558,469 $ 340,604 $ 556,603 $ 407,855 $ 279,593 $ 341,734

Net cash (used in) provided by  
operating activities includes:
Interest paid $ (91,195) $ (111,875) $ (93,190) $ (91,053) $ (103,350) $ (113,458) $ (82,650) $ (123,202)

Interest received $ 361,061 $ 358,100 $ 350,091 $ 331,678 $ 358,296 $ 332,522 $ 322,763 $ 327,368
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Quarterly Segmented Results
Consolidated Statement of Income

For the three months ended
($ in thousands)

Net 
interest 
income

Other 
income

Operating 
revenue

Provision 
for 

(recovery 
of) credit 

losses

Non-
interest 

expenses

Net income 
(loss) 

before 
payment in 

lieu of tax

Payment 
in lieu of 

tax
Net income 

(loss)
Total

assets
Total

liabilities

March 31, 2014

Retail Financial Services $ 92,465 $ 23,135 $ 115,600 $ 256 $ 96,202 $ 19,142 $ - $ 19,142 $ 18,483,339 $ 11,325,690

Business and Agriculture 56,681 18,168 74,849 2,975 43,985 27,889 - 27,889 5,712,616 8,005,506

Corporate Financial Services 64,737 18,739 83,476 2,282 23,795 57,399 - 57,399 9,735,770 7,364,220

Investor Services 976 28,051 29,027 - 23,599 5,428 - 5,428 136,604 97,454

Strategic service units 33,277 10,894 44,171 (3,328) 77,646 (30,147) 18,334 (48,481) 3,598,900 8,290,425

Total $ 248,136 $ 98,987 $ 347,123 $ 2,185 $ 265,227 $ 79,711 $ 18,334 $ 61,377 $ 37,667,229 $ 35,083,295

December 31, 2013

Retail Financial Services $ 91,033 $ 22,536 $ 113,569 $ 3,554 $ 83,063 $ 26,952 $ - $ 26,952 $ 18,194,780 $ 11,071,227

Business and Agriculture 56,758 19,002 75,760 1,948 40,593 33,219 - 33,219 5,598,469 8,162,675

Corporate Financial Services 62,944 24,132 87,076 3,281 18,011 65,784 - 65,784 8,904,300 6,618,427

Investor Services 1,009 25,962 26,971 - 21,991 4,980 - 4,980 122,961 79,240

Strategic service units 32,368 3,616 35,984 (1,349) 71,368 (34,035) 22,287 (56,322) 3,617,522 7,989,957

Total $ 244,112 $ 95,248 $ 339,360 $ 7,434 $ 235,026 $ 96,900 $ 22,287 $ 74,613 $ 36,438,032 $ 33,921,526

September 30, 2013

Retail Financial Services $ 96,453 $ 22,490 $ 118,943 $ 1,486 $ 96,998 $ 20,459 $ - $ 20,459 $ 17,785,086 $ 10,768,526

Business and Agriculture 56,237 17,920 74,157 1,467 39,477 33,213 - 33,213 5,239,631 7,878,840

Corporate Financial Services 59,115 28,356 87,471 9,015 17,902 60,554 - 60,554 8,744,332 5,644,467

Investor Services 1,069 24,281 25,350 - 21,236 4,114 - 4,114 204,228 172,272

Strategic service units 29,069 4,241 33,310 4,176 50,607 (21,473) 22,279 (43,752) 3,245,383 8,366,961

Total $ 241,943 $ 97,288 $ 339,231 $ 16,144 $ 226,220 $ 96,867 $ 22,279 $ 74,588 $ 35,218,660 $ 32,801,066

June 30, 2013

Retail Financial Services $ 94,830 $ 18,616 $ 113,446 $ 7,366 $ 94,443 $ 11,637 $ - $ 11,637 $ 17,189,756 $ 10,644,704

Business and Agriculture 55,740 17,676 73,416 2,064 38,860 32,492 - 32,492 5,029,583 7,626,086

Corporate Financial Services 58,391 25,221 83,612 5,845 17,226 60,541 - 60,541 8,417,258 5,272,178

Investor Services 1,046 22,953 23,999 - 20,976 3,023 - 3,023 160,595 129,763

Strategic service units 21,814 8,458 30,272 1,357 51,113 (22,198) 19,664 (41,862) 2,944,300 7,757,780

Total $ 231,821 $ 92,924 $ 324,745 $ 16,632 $ 222,618 $ 85,495 $ 19,664 $ 65,831 $ 33,741,492 $ 31,430,511

Year ended March 31, 2014 $ 966,012 $ 384,447 $ 1,350,459 $ 42,395 $ 949,091 $ 358,973 $ 82,564 $ 276,409 $ 37,667,229 $ 35,083,295
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Consolidated Statement of Income (cont’d)

For the three months ended
($ in thousands)

Net interest 
income

Other 
income

Operating 
revenue

Provision 
for 

(recovery 
of ) credit 

losses

Non-
interest 

expenses

Net income 
(loss) 

before 
payment in 

lieu of tax

Payment 
in lieu of 

tax
Net income 

(loss)
Total

assets
Total

liabilities

March 31, 2013, restated

Retail Financial Services $ 92,987 $ 20,314 $ 113,301 $ 7,219 $ 94,042 $ 12,040 $ - $ 12,040 $ 16,684,902 $ 10,548,810

Business and Agriculture 52,171 16,675 68,846 (1,903) 41,885 28,864 - 28,864 4,808,883 7,113,886

Corporate Financial Services 53,313 28,716 82,029 15,446 18,103 48,480 - 48,480 8,151,100 5,553,768

Investor Services 1,081 20,981 22,062 - 18,841 3,221 - 3,221 136,376 105,623

Strategic service units 24,661 30,497 55,158 (813) 51,745 4,226 23,076 (18,850) 3,298,833 7,502,546

Total $ 224,213 $ 117,183 $ 341,396 $ 19,949 $ 224,616 $ 96,831 $ 23,076 $ 73,755 $ 33,080,094 $ 30,824,633

December 31, 2012, restated

Retail Financial Services $ 95,313 $ 22,671 $ 117,984 $ 11,531 $ 90,784 $ 15,669 $ - $ 15,669 $ 16,536,463 $ 10,316,748

Business and Agriculture 53,187 16,424 69,611 4,248 36,752 28,611 - 28,611 4,756,703 6,880,553

Corporate Financial Services 57,382 18,937 76,319 683 15,174 60,462 - 60,462 7,983,992 6,030,044

Investor Services 1,095 19,447 20,542 - 17,894 2,648 - 2,648 122,299 92,234

Strategic service units 18,636 4,012 22,648 (2,541) 56,812 (31,623) 17,427 (49,050) 3,613,900 7,504,773

Total $ 225,613 $ 81,491 $ 307,104 $ 13,921 $ 217,416 $ 75,767 $ 17,427 $ 58,340 $ 33,013,357 $ 30,824,352

September 30, 2012, restated

Retail Financial Services $ 96,417 $ 22,200 $ 118,617 $ 2,046 $ 90,094 $ 26,477 $ - $ 26,477 $ 16,386,111 $ 10,339,102

Business and Agriculture 52,123 17,074 69,197 (613) 35,696 34,114 - 34,114 4,567,151 6,685,673

Corporate Financial Services 51,421 15,185 66,606 (127) 13,429 53,304 - 53,304 7,345,793 5,501,321

Investor Services 1,123 18,405 19,528 - 18,624 904 - 904 122,033 92,877

Strategic service units 20,622 (3,994) 16,628 6,213 53,773 (43,358) 16,431 (59,789) 4,283,404 7,932,772

Total $ 221,706 $ 68,870 $ 290,576 $ 7,519 $ 211,616 $ 71,441 $ 16,431 $ 55,010 $ 32,704,492 $ 30,551,745

June 30, 2012, restated

Retail Financial Services $ 92,038 $ 21,749 $ 113,787 $ 5,229 $ 90,728 $ 17,830 $ - $ 17,830 $ 16,227,029 $ 10,467,931

Business and Agriculture 50,638 16,580 67,218 (2,136) 35,927 33,427 - 33,427 4,476,674 6,607,464

Corporate Financial Services 51,669 17,170 68,839 1,049 17,138 50,652 - 50,652 6,686,990 5,262,541

Investor Services 1,181 17,263 18,444 - 18,438 6 - 6 125,758 93,748

Strategic service units 11,094 11,279 22,373 392 53,513 (31,532) 16,188 (47,720) 4,501,219 7,460,087

Total $ 206,620 $ 84,041 $ 290,661 $ 4,534 $ 215,744 $ 70,383 $ 16,188 $ 54,195 $ 32,017,670 $ 29,891,771

Year ended March 31, 2013 $ 878,152 $ 351,585 $ 1,229,737 $ 45,923 $ 869,392 $ 314,422 $ 73,122 $ 241,300 $ 33,080,094 $ 30,824,633
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Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2014 ($ in thousands)

114 Statement of Responsibility for Financial Reporting
Summary	of	management’s	responsibility	for	sound	financial	reporting

115 Independent Auditor’s Report
Auditor’s opinion on the financial statements

116 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Summary	view	of	ATB’s	consolidated	assets	and	liabilities

117 Consolidated Statement of Income
Summary	view	of	ATB’s	consolidated	income	and	expenses

118 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Summary	view	of	ATB’s	comprehensive	income

118 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Summary	view	of	movement	in	ATB’s	equity

119 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Summary	view	of	movement	in	ATB’s	cash	flows

120 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

120 Note 1 – Nature of Operations
Summary	of	ATB’s	operations	and	the	statutes	guiding	its	activities	as	a	financial	services	provider

120 Note 2 – Significant Accounting Policies
Summary	of	accounting	policies	and	principles	used	in	preparing	the	financial	statements

137 Note 3 – Summary of Accounting Policy Changes
Summary	of	changes	in	accounting	policies	that	were	adopted	this	year	and	those	that	will	impact	ATB	
in the future

141 Note 4 – Financial Instruments
Summary	of	the	classification	and	carrying	value	of	ATB’s	financial	instruments	and	related	schedules

147 Note 5 – Financial Instruments – Risk Management
Summary	of	management’s	policies	and	procedures	relating	to	credit,	market,	and	liquidity	risk	and	
related schedules

147 Note 6 – Cash Resources
Summary	of	ATB’s	cash	components	and	their	corresponding	balances

148 Note 7 – Securities
Summary	review	and	schedule	for	security	holdings

154 Note 8 – Loans
Summary	review	of	ATB’s	loans,	credit	quality,	and	carrying	value	of	impaired	loans
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155 Note 9 – Allowance for Credit Losses
Summary	schedule	of	the	continuity	of	ATB’s	allowances	for	credit	losses

156 Note 10 – Derivative Financial Instruments
Summary	schedules	and	overview	of	derivative	financial	instruments	and	associated	risks

161 Note 11 – Property and Equipment
Summary	schedule	of	the	components	making	up	property	and	equipment

162 Note 12 – Software and Other Intangibles
Summary	schedule	of	the	components	of	software	and	intangible	assets

162 Note 13 – Other Assets
Summary	schedule	of	the	components	of	other	assets

163 Note 14 – Deposits
Summary	schedule	showing	classification	of	deposit	balances	

163 Note 15 – Collateralized Borrowings
Summary	of	ATB’s	securitization	program	and	related	schedule

165 Note 16 – Other Liabilities
Summary	schedule	of	the	components	of	other	liabilities

165 Note 17 – Capital Investment Notes
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Statement of Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The	consolidated	financial	statements	of	Alberta	Treasury	Branches	(ATB	Financial	or	ATB)	and	all	other	
information	 contained	 in	 the	 annual	 report,	 including	 the	 Management’s	 Discussion	 and	 Analysis	
(MD&A)	 of	 ATB’s	 operating	 results	 and	 financial	 position,	 have	 been	 prepared	 and	 presented	 by	
management, who are responsible for the integrity and fair presentation of the information therein. 
The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	
Reporting	Standards.

Other financial information presented in this annual report is consistent with that in the consolidated 
financial	statements.	The	consolidated	financial	statements,	the	MD&A,	and	related	financial	information	
presented	 in	 this	 annual	 report	 reflect	 amounts	 determined	 by	 management	 based	 on	 informed	
judgments	 and	estimates	as	 to	 the	expected	 future	effects	of	 current	events	 and	 transactions	with	
appropriate consideration to materiality.

Management	is	responsible	for	the	design	and	maintenance	of	an	accounting	and	financial	reporting	
system, along with supporting systems of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that financial information is reliable, that transactions are properly authorized and recorded and 
liabilities	are	recognized,	and	that	ATB’s	assets	are	appropriately	safeguarded.	These	controls	 include	
written policies and procedures, the careful selection and training of qualified staff, a corporate code of 
conduct, and the establishment of organizational structures with well-defined delegations of authority 
that provide appropriately defined divisions of responsibilities and accountabilities for performances. 
This	process	includes	a	compliance	team	that	independently	supports	management	in	its	evaluation	
of the design and effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting.

The	vice-president	of	Internal	Audit	and	his	team	of	internal	auditors	periodically	review	and	evaluate	
all	aspects	of	ATB’s	operations	and,	in	particular,	its	systems	of	internal	controls.	The	vice-president	of	
Internal	Audit	has	 full	and	unrestricted	access	to,	and	meets	regularly	with,	 the	Audit	Committee	to	
discuss the results of his team’s work.

The	board	of	directors,	acting	through	the	Audit	Committee,	oversees	management’s	responsibilities	
for	 ATB’s	 financial	 reporting	 and	 systems	 of	 internal	 control.	 The	 Audit	 Committee	 reviews	 the	
consolidated financial statements and other financial information presented in the quarterly and 
annual	reports,	as	well	as	any	issues	related	to	them,	with	both	management	and	the	external	auditors	
before	recommending	the	consolidated	financial	statements	 for	approval	to	the	board.	Their	 review	
of the consolidated financial statements includes an assessment of key management estimates and 
judgments	material	 to	 the	 financial	 results.	The	Audit	 Committee	 also	 assesses	 the	 effectiveness	 of	
internal controls over the accounting and financial reporting systems.

The	Auditor	General	of	Alberta	has	been	engaged	to	perform	an	independent,	external	audit	of	these	
consolidated	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards	
and	has	expressed	his	opinion	 in	the	report	 following.	The	Auditor	General	has	 full	and	unrestricted	
access	to	the	Audit	Committee	and	meets	with	them	periodically,	both	in	the	presence	and	absence	of	
management,	to	discuss	their	audit,	including	any	findings	as	to	the	integrity	of	ATB’s	financial	reporting	
processes and the adequacy of our systems of internal controls.

Brian Hesje Dave Mowat Jim McKillop
Chairman	of	the	Board		 President	and	Chief	Executive	Officer	 Chief	Financial	Officer
Edmonton,	Alberta	 Edmonton,	Alberta	 Edmonton,	Alberta
May	29,	2014	 May	29,	2014	 May	29,	2014
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To	the	President	of	Treasury	Board	and	Minister	of	Finance	

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
I	 have	 audited	 the	 accompanying	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 of	 ATB	 Financial,	 which	
comprise	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	March	31,	2014,	and	the	consolidated	
statements	of	income,	comprehensive	income,	changes	in	equity	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	
ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	these	consolidated	financial	
statements	 in	 accordance	with	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standards,	 and	 for	 such	 internal	
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
My	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	consolidated	financial	statements	based	on	my	
audit.	 I	 conducted	my	audit	 in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards.	
Those	standards	 require	 that	 I	comply	with	ethical	 requirements	and	plan	and	perform	the	audit	
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	The	procedures	selected	depend	on	the	auditor’s	judgment,	
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditor	considers	
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	entity’s	internal	control.	An	audit	
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

I	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	I	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	
my audit opinion.

Opinion
In	 my	 opinion,	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 present	 fairly,	 in	 all	 material	 respects,	 the	
financial	position	of	ATB	Financial	as	at	March	31,	2014,	and	its	financial	performance	and	its	cash	
flows	for	the	year	then	ended	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.

[Original	signed	by	Merwan	N.	Saher,	FCA]

Auditor General
May	29,	2014 
Edmonton,	Alberta
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at March 31
($ in thousands)

2014 2013 
restated (note 3)

Assets

Cash resources (note 6)
Cash $ 438,917 $ 556,603
Interest-bearing deposits with financial institutions 1,143,128 803,072

1,582,045 1,359,675
Securities (note 7)
Securities measured at fair value through net income 921,955 881,841
Securities available for sale 374 469

922,329 882,310

Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements - 100,007

Loans (note 8)
Business 15,167,687 12,732,228
Residential mortgages 12,012,454 10,705,908
Personal 6,184,463 5,744,958
Credit card 651,931 598,256

34,016,535 29,781,350
Allowance for credit losses (note 9) (131,391) (122,889)

33,885,144 29,658,461
Other assets 
Derivative financial instruments (note 10) 392,531 286,508
Property and equipment (note 11) 359,900 290,795
Software and other intangibles (note 12) 266,101 284,585
Other assets (note 13) 259,179 217,753

1,277,711 1,079,641
Total assets $ 37,667,229 $ 33,080,094
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities 
Deposits (note 14)
Personal $ 11,840,449 $ 11,100,357
Business and other 15,475,989 12,631,014

27,316,438 23,731,371
Other liabilities 
Wholesale borrowings 2,694,161 2,595,711
Collateralized borrowings (note 15) 3,411,352 3,103,492
Derivative financial instruments (note 10) 324,665 207,584
Other liabilities (note 16) 857,396 786,205

7,287,574 6,692,992
Capital investment notes (note 17) 250,508 244,617
Subordinated debentures (note 18) 228,775 155,653
Total liabilities 35,083,295 30,824,633
Equity 
Retained earnings 2,591,694 2,315,285
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) (7,760) (59,824)
Total equity 2,583,934 2,255,461
Total liabilities and equity $ 37,667,229 $ 33,080,094

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved	by	the	board:

Brian Hesje Colette Miller
Chairman	of	the	Board	 Chair	of	the	Audit	Committee
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Consolidated Statement of Income

For the year ended March 31
($ in thousands)

2014 2013 
restated (note 3)

Interest income
Loans $ 1,355,872 $ 1,241,989
Interest-bearing deposits with financial institutions 8,962 7,446
Securities measured at fair value through net income 19,105 26,169

1,383,939 1,275,604
Interest expense
Deposits 267,638 242,483
Wholesale borrowings 49,318 60,380
Collateralized borrowings 83,170 79,192
Capital investment notes 10,525 10,254
Subordinated debentures 7,276 5,143

417,927 397,452
Net interest income 966,012 878,152
Other income
Service charges 67,273 63,867
Investor Services 97,373 72,864
Card fees 58,892 54,424
Credit fees 42,343 30,314
Insurance 13,195 15,329
Foreign exchange 9,879 15,371
Net gains on derivative financial instruments 20,367 8,395
Net gains on financial instruments at fair value through net income 70,718 88,188
Sundry 4,407 2,833

384,447 351,585
Operating revenue 1,350,459 1,229,737
Provision for credit losses (note 9) 42,395 45,923
Non-interest expenses
Salaries and employee benefits (notes 19 and 20) 481,458 438,030
Data processing 108,577 102,152
Premises and occupancy, including depreciation 85,797 86,646
Professional and consulting costs 50,427 40,185
Deposit guarantee fee 37,592 29,036
Equipment, including depreciation 21,355 23,742
Software and other intangibles amortization 37,625 41,279
General and administrative 78,788 71,409
ATB agencies 9,470 9,039
Other 38,002 27,874

949,091 869,392
Net income before payment in lieu of tax 358,973 314,422
Payment in lieu of tax  (note 21) 82,564 73,122
Net income $ 276,409 $ 241,300

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended March 31
($ in thousands)

2014 2013 
restated (note 3)

Net income $ 276,409 $ 241,300
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Unrealized net gains on financial assets available for sale:
Unrealized net gains arising during the period 63 3
Net gains (losses) reclassified to net income (42) 9

Unrealized net gains on derivative financial instruments 
designated as cash flow hedges:
Unrealized net gains arising during the period 26,979 27,878
Net gains reclassified to net income (36,427) (27,917)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of defined benefit plan liabilities 61,491 (47,375)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 52,064 (47,402)
Comprehensive income $ 328,473 $ 193,898

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended March 31
($ in thousands)

2014 2013 
restated (note 3)

Retained earnings
Balance at beginning of the year $ 2,315,285 $ 2,073,985
Net income 276,409 241,300
Balance at end of the year 2,591,694 2,315,285

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Balance at beginning of the year (173) (185)
Other comprehensive income 21 12
Balance at end of the year (152) (173)

Derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges
Balance at beginning of the year 55,905 55,944
Other comprehensive (loss) (9,448) (39)
Balance at end of the year 46,457 55,905

Defined benefit plan liabilities
Balance at beginning of the year (115,556) (68,181)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 61,491 (47,375)
Balance at end of the year (54,065) (115,556)

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) (7,760) (59,824)
Equity $ 2,583,934 $ 2,255,461

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31
($ in thousands)

2014 2013 
restated (note 3)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 276,409 $ 241,300
Adjustments for non-cash items and others:

Provision for credit losses 42,395 45,923
Depreciation and amortization 84,411 91,955
Net gains on financial instruments at fair value through  

net income (70,718) (88,188)
Adjustments for net changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Loans (4,177,677) (2,924,477)
Deposits 3,591,032 1,493,008
Derivative financial instruments 1,609 (14,452)
Interest-bearing deposits with financial institutions (340,043) 66,852
Prepayments and other receivables (49,380) 6,405
Due to clients, brokers, and dealers (4,716) 9,832
Deposit guarantee fee payable 8,555 2,380
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 100,061 106,567
Liability for payment in lieu of tax 9,441 14,843
Net interest receivable and payable 55,848 48,185
Change in accrued pension-benefit liability (72,764) (16,486)
Others, net 25,802 (16,983)

Net cash used in operating activities (519,735) (933,336)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Change in securities measured at fair value through net income (40,007) 1,032,507
Change in securities purchased under reverse repurchase 

agreements 100,007 (10)
Purchases of property and equipment, software, and  

other intangibles (135,032) (98,667)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (75,032) 933,830
Cash flows from financing activities:

Change in wholesale borrowings 98,450 (185,028)
Change in capital investment notes (2,351) (1,134)
Change in collateralized borrowings 307,860 452,275
Issuance of subordinated debentures 73,122 42,290

Net cash provided by financing activities 477,081 308,403
Net (decrease) increase in cash (117,686) 308,897
Cash at beginning of period 556,603 247,706
Cash at end of period $ 438,917 $ 556,603
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities includes:
Interest paid $ (387,313) $ (422,660)
Interest received $ 1,400,930 $ 1,340,949

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Nature of Operations

Alberta	Treasury	Branches	(ATB)	is	an	agent	of	the	Crown	in	right	of	Alberta	and	operates	under	
the authority of the Alberta Treasury Branches Act (the ATB Act),	Revised	Statutes	of	Alberta,	2000,	
chapter	A-37.	Under	the	ATB Act,	ATB	was	established	as	a	provincial	Crown	corporation	governed	
by	a	board	of	directors	appointed	by	 the	Lieutenant-Governor	 in	Council.	The	address	of	 the	
head	office	is	2100,	10020	–	100	Street,	Edmonton,	Alberta,	Canada.

ATB	is	exempt	from	Canadian	federal	and	Alberta	provincial	income	taxes	but	pays	an	amount	to	
the	provincial	government	designed	to	be	in	lieu	of	such	a	charge.	(Refer	to	note	21.)	ATB	is	an	
Alberta-based financial services provider engaged in retail and commercial banking, credit cards, 
wealth management, and investment management services.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

a. General Information

Basis of Preparation
These	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	
Financial	 Reporting	 Standards	 (IFRS)	 as	 issued	 by	 the	 International	 Accounting	 Standards	
Board	 (IASB)	 and	 the	 accounting	 requirements	 of	 the	 Alberta	 Superintendent	 of	 Financial	
Institutions	 (ASFI).	These	consolidated	financial	 statements	were	approved	by	 the	board	of	
directors	on	May	29,	2014.

The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	on	a	historical	cost	basis,	except	
for available-for-sale investments, derivative financial instruments, other financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading, financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit 
or loss, and liabilities for cash-settled share-based payments, which have been measured at 
fair value.

The	consolidated	financial	 statements	are	presented	 in	Canadian	dollars,	and	all	values	are	
rounded	to	the	nearest	thousand	dollars,	except	when	otherwise	indicated.

Consolidation – Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries	are	entities	controlled	by	ATB.	Control	exists	when	ATB	is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns	through	its	power	over	the	entity.	The	financial	statements	of	subsidiaries	are	included	
in the consolidated financial statements from the date control commences until the date 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2014 ($ in thousands)
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control	ceases.	The	financial	statements	of	the	subsidiaries	have	been	prepared	using	uniform	
accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances.

These	consolidated	financial	statements	include	the	assets,	liabilities,	and	results	of	operations	
and	cash	flows	of	ATB	and	its	subsidiaries.	All	intercompany	transactions	and	balances	have	
been eliminated from the consolidated results. 

The	following	wholly	owned	subsidiaries,	created	for	the	purpose	of	offering	investor	services,	
were	 established	 by	 Order	 in	 Council	 and	 incorporated	 under	 the	 Business Corporations  

Act	(Alberta):

•	 ATB	Investment	Management	Inc.,	incorporated	August	21,	2002
•	 ATB	Securities	Inc.,	incorporated	February	6,	2003
•	 ATB	Insurance	Advisors	Inc.,	incorporated	July	21,	2006

Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions
In	the	process	of	applying	ATB’s	accounting	policies,	management	has	exercised	judgment	
and has made estimates in determining amounts recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements.	 The	 most	 significant	 judgments	 and	 estimates	 made	 include	 the	 allowance	
for credit losses, the fair value of financial instruments, and assumptions underlying the 
accounting for employee benefit obligations. Actual results could differ significantly from 
these estimates, and the impact of any such differences will be recorded in future periods.

The	consolidated	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014,	provide	additional	
information	in	the	following	notes:

•	 Note	2(c):	Financial	instruments	–	fair	value	
•	 Note	2(d):	Impairment	of	financial	assets	–	for	the	establishment	of	allowance	for	credit	losses
•	 Note	7:	Securities	–	for	establishing	fair	value	of	asset-backed	commercial	paper	notes	
•	 Note	20:	Employee	benefits	–	description	of	assumptions	used

Translation of Foreign Currencies
Financial	assets	and	liabilities	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	are	translated	into	Canadian	
dollars	at	the	exchange	rate	in	effect	as	at	the	balance	sheet	date.	Operating	revenues	and	
expenses	 related	 to	 foreign-currency	 transactions	 are	 translated	 using	 the	 exchange	 rate	
at	 the	date	of	 the	 transaction.	Realized	and	unrealized	gains	and	 losses	arising	 from	these	
translations	are	included	in	foreign	exchange	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.
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b. Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement
Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	classified	based	on	their	characteristics	and	the	intention	of	
management	upon	their	acquisition.	ATB	classifies	financial	assets	as	either	financial	assets	
at fair value through net income, loans and receivables, or held-to-maturity or available-for-
sale	financial	assets.	Financial	liabilities	are	classified	as	either	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	
through net income or financial liabilities at amortized cost.

All	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	initially	recognized	on	the	trade	date.	This	is	the	date	that	
ATB	becomes	a	party	to	the	contractual	provisions	of	the	instrument.	

ATB	derecognizes	a	financial	asset	when	the	contractual	right	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	
asset	has	expired	or	when	 it	 transfers	 the	rights	 to	 receive	the	contractual	cash	flows	on	a	
financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the	financial	asset	are	transferred.	For	funding	transactions,	all	financial	assets	that	cannot	be	
derecognized	continue	to	be	held	on	ATB’s	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position,	and	
a	secured	liability	is	recognized	for	the	proceeds	received.	ATB	derecognizes	a	financial	liability	
when	its	contractual	obligations	are	discharged	or	cancelled,	or	expire.

Financial Assets

Financial	Assets	at	Fair	Value	Through	Net	Income

This	 category	 comprises	 two	 subcategories:	 financial	 assets	 held	 for	 trading	 and	 financial	
assets	designated	by	ATB	at	fair	value	through	net	income	upon	initial	recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent 
actual	pattern	of	short-term	profit-taking.	Derivatives	are	classified	as	financial	assets	held	for	
trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging instruments. Gains and losses 
arising	 from	 changes	 in	 fair	 value	 are	 included	 directly	 in	 the	 Consolidated	 Statement	 of	
Income	and	are	reported	as	net	gains	on	derivative	financial	instruments.

Financial	 instruments	 included	 in	 this	 category	 are	 recognized	 initially	 at	 fair	 value	 with	
transaction	costs	taken	directly	to	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	 Income.	Gains	and	losses	
arising	 from	 changes	 in	 fair	 value	 are	 included	 directly	 in	 the	 Consolidated	 Statement	 of	
Income	 and	 are	 reported	 as	 net	 gains	 on	 financial	 instruments	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 net	
income.	 Interest	 income	 and	 expense	 on	 financial	 assets	 held	 for	 trading	 are	 included	 in	
net	interest	income.	Interest	accruals	are	recorded	separately	from	fair	value	measurements.	
Changes	in	fair	value	are	determined	on	a	clean-price	basis.
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ATB	designates	certain	financial	assets	upon	initial	recognition	as	financial	assets	at	fair	value	
through	net	 income	(fair	value	option).	This	designation	cannot	subsequently	be	changed.	
The	fair	value	option	is	only	applied	when	one	of	the	following	conditions	is	met:

•	 The	designation	eliminates	or	 significantly	 reduces	 an	accounting	mismatch	 that	would	
otherwise arise.

•	 The	financial	assets	are	part	of	a	portfolio	of	financial	instruments	that	is	risk	managed	and	
reported to senior management on a fair value basis.

•	 The	financial	asset	contains	one	or	more	embedded	derivatives	that	must	be	separated.

The	fair	value	option	is	applied	to	certain	interest-bearing	deposits	and	securities	that	are	part	
of	a	portfolio	managed	on	a	fair	value	basis.	The	fair	value	option	is	also	applied	to	structured	
instruments	 that	 include	 embedded	 derivatives.	 Fair	 value	 changes	 relating	 to	 financial	
assets designated at fair value through net income are recognized in net gains on financial 
instruments at fair value through net income.

Loans	and	Receivables

Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	
that	are	not	quoted	in	an	active	market,	other	than:

•	 Those	that	ATB	intends	to	sell	immediately	or	in	the	short	term,	classifies	as	held	for	trading,	
or upon initial recognition designates as fair value through net income or available for sale

•	 Those	for	which	the	holder	may	not	recover	substantially	all	of	its	initial	investment,	other	
than because of credit deterioration

Loans	and	receivables	are	initially	recognized	at	fair	value—which	is	the	cash	consideration	to	
originate	or	purchase	the	loan	including	any	transaction	costs—and	measured	subsequently	
at	amortized	cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	Loans	and	receivables	are	reported	
in	 the	 Consolidated	 Statement	 of	 Financial	 Position	 as	 securities	 purchased	 under	 reverse	
repurchase	 agreements	 or	 loans.	 Interest	 on	 items	 classified	 as	 loans	 and	 receivables	 is	
included	 in	 the	Consolidated	 Statement	of	 Income	and	 is	 reported	 as	part	 of	 net	 interest	
income.	Loans,	subject	to	impairment	losses,	are	reported	as	a	deduction	from	the	carrying	
value	of	the	loan	and	recognized	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income	as	provision	for	
credit losses.

Available-for-Sale	Financial	Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets intended to be held for an indefinite 
period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest 
rates,	exchange	rates,	or	equity	prices,	or	that	are	not	classified	as	loans	and	receivables,	held-
to-maturity investments, or financial assets at fair value through net income. 
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Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognized at fair value, which is the cash 
consideration including any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with 
gains	and	 losses	being	recognized	 in	other	comprehensive	 income,	except	 for	 impairment	
losses	and	foreign-exchange	gains	and	losses,	until	the	financial	asset	is	derecognized.	

If	an	available-for-sale	financial	asset	 is	determined	 to	be	 impaired,	 the	cumulative	gain	or	
loss	previously	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income	is	recognized	in	the	Consolidated	
Statement	 of	 Income.	 However,	 interest	 is	 calculated	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	method,	
and foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available for sale are 
recognized	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.	

Available-for-sale	 financial	 assets	 are	 reported	 in	 the	 Consolidated	 Statement	 of	 Financial	
Position	as	securities	available	for	sale.

Held-to-Maturity	Financial	Assets

Held-to-maturity	 investments	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	
payments	and	fixed	maturities	that	ATB’s	management	has	the	intention	and	ability	to	hold	
to maturity.

These	are	initially	recognized	at	fair	value	including	direct	and	incremental	transaction	costs	
and	measured	subsequently	at	amortized	cost,	using	the	effective	interest	method.	Interest	
on	held-to-maturity	investments	is	included	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income	as	net	
interest	income.	In	the	case	of	an	impairment,	the	impairment	loss	would	be	reported	as	a	
deduction	 from	 the	 carrying	 value	of	 the	 investment	 and	 recognized	 in	 the	Consolidated	
Statement	of	Income.	ATB	did	not	hold	any	instrument	in	this	category	at	the	reporting	date.

Financial Liabilities

Financial	Liabilities	at	Fair	Value	Through	Net	Income

This	category	comprises	two	subcategories:	financial	liabilities	held	for	trading	and	financial	
liabilities	designated	by	ATB	as	fair	value	through	net	income	upon	initial	recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent 
actual	pattern	of	short-term	profit-taking.	Derivatives	are	also	categorized	as	held	for	trading	
unless	 they	 are	 designated	 and	 effective	 as	 hedging	 instruments.	 These	 instruments	 are	
included	in	derivative	financial	instruments	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position.	
Gains	and	losses	arising	from	changes	in	fair	value	are	included	directly	in	the	Consolidated	
Statement	of	Income	and	are	reported	as	net	gains	on	derivative	financial	instruments.
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Financial	 liabilities	 classified	 as	 designated	 as	 fair	 value	 through	 net	 income	 have	 been	
designated	as	 such	by	ATB	upon	 initial	 recognition,	on	an	 instrument-by-instrument	basis.	
Management	may	designate	a	financial	 instrument	as	 fair	value	through	net	 income	upon	
initial	recognition	when	one	of	the	following	conditions	is	met:

•	 The	 designation	 eliminates	 or	 significantly	 reduces	 a	 measurement	 or	 recognition	 
inconsistency.

•	 The	liabilities	are	part	of	a	group	of	financial	liabilities	or	financial	assets	and	liabilities	that	is	
managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.

•	 The	 financial	 instrument	 contains	 one	 or	more	 embedded	 derivatives	 that	 significantly	
modify	the	cash	flows	and	that	would	otherwise	be	separated	from	their	host	contract.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial liabilities classified as fair 
value	 through	net	 income	are	 included	 in	 the	Consolidated	Statement	of	 Income	and	are	
reported	 as	 net	 gains	 on	 financial	 instruments	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 net	 income.	 Interest	
expenses	 on	 financial	 liabilities	 held	 for	 trading	 are	 included	 in	 net	 interest	 income.	 As	 at	
March	31,	2014,	ATB	has	no	financial	liabilities	classified	as	fair	value	through	net	income.

Other	Liabilities	Measured	at	Amortized	Cost

Financial	liabilities	not	classified	as	fair	value	through	net	income	fall	into	this	category	and	are	
measured	at	amortized	cost.	Interest	expense	is	recognized	using	the	effective	interest	method	
in	 net	 interest	 expense.	 Financial	 liabilities	 measured	 at	 amortized	 cost	 include	 deposits,	
capital investment notes, wholesale borrowings, subordinated debentures, collateralized 
borrowings, and other liabilities. 

c. Financial Instruments – Fair Value
Financial	 assets	 and	 financial	 liabilities	 can	 be	 measured	 at	 fair	 value	 or	 amortized	 cost,	
depending on their classification.

Estimated Fair Value
The	fair	value	of	a	financial	instrument	is	the	price	that	would	be	received	to	sell	a	financial	asset	
or paid to transfer a financial liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the	measurement	date.	The	best	evidence	of	the	fair	value	of	a	financial	instrument	at	initial	
recognition is the fair value of the consideration received or paid.

When financial instruments are subsequently remeasured, quoted market prices in an active 
market	provide	the	best	evidence	of	fair	value,	and	when	such	prices	are	available,	ATB	uses	
them to measure financial instruments. A financial instrument is considered to be quoted in 
an	active	market	when	quoted	prices	are	readily	and	regularly	available	from	an	exchange,	
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dealer,	broker,	industry	group,	or	pricing	service	and	those	prices	reflect	actual	and	regularly	
occurring	market	 transactions	 on	 an	 arm’s-length	 basis.	 The	 fair	 value	 of	 a	 financial	 asset	
traded	in	an	active	market	generally	reflects	the	bid	price,	and	that	of	a	financial	liability	traded	
in	an	active	market	generally	reflects	the	ask	price.	If	the	market	for	a	financial	instrument	is	
not	active,	ATB	establishes	fair	value	using	a	valuation	technique	that	primarily	makes	use	of	
observable	market	inputs.	Such	valuation	techniques	include	the	use	of	available	information	
concerning recent market transactions, reference to the current fair value of a comparable 
financial	 instrument,	 discounted	 cash	 flow	 analysis,	 option	 pricing	 models,	 and	 all	 other	
valuation techniques commonly used by market participants that provide reliable estimates.

In	cases	where	the	fair	value	is	established	using	valuation	models,	ATB	makes	assumptions	
about	the	amount,	 the	timing	of	estimated	future	cash	flows,	and	the	discount	rates	used.	
These	assumptions	are	based	primarily	on	observable	market	inputs	such	as	interest	rate	yield	
curves,	foreign-exchange	rates,	credit	curves,	and	price	and	rate	volatility	factors.	When	one	
or more significant inputs are not observable in the markets, fair value is established primarily 
on the basis of internal estimates and data, taking into account the valuation policies in effect 
at	ATB,	the	economic	environment,	the	specific	characteristics	of	the	financial	asset	or	liability,	
and other relevant factors.

The	 fair	 values	 are	 estimated	 at	 the	 balance	 sheet	 date	 using	 the	 valuation	methods	 and	
assumptions described below.

Financial Instruments Whose Carrying Value Equals Fair Value
The	estimated	fair	value	of	 items	that	are	short	term	in	nature	is	considered	to	be	equal	to	
their	carrying	value.	These	items	include	cash,	securities	purchased	under	reverse	repurchase	
agreements, other assets, and other liabilities.

Securities and Interest-Bearing Deposits With Financial Institutions
The	fair	values	of	securities	and	interest-bearing	deposits	with	financial	institutions	are	based	
on	quoted	market	prices,	if	available.	Where	an	active	market	does	not	exist,	the	fair	value	is	
estimated	using	a	valuation	technique	that	makes	maximum	use	of	observable	market	data.	

Derivative Instruments
Fair	value	of	over-the-counter	and	embedded	derivative	financial	 instruments	 is	estimated	
using pricing models that take into account current market and contractual prices of the 
underlying instruments, and time value and yield curve or volatility factors underlying 
the positions.
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Loans and Deposits
For	 floating-rate	 financial	 instruments,	 fair	 value	 is	 equal	 to	 carrying	 value	 as	 the	 interest	
rates	reprice	to	market	when	market	rates	change.	For	fixed-rate	loans,	fair	value	is	estimated	
by	discounting	 the	expected	 future	cash	flows	at	market	 rates.	 For	fixed-rate	deposits,	 fair	
value	 is	 estimated	 by	 discounting	 the	 contractual	 cash	 flows	 using	 market	 interest	 rates	
currently	offered	 for	deposits	with	similar	 terms.	Due	to	 the	use	of	subjective	assumptions	
and measurement uncertainty, the fair value amounts should not be interpreted as being 
realizable in an immediate settlement of these instruments.

Wholesale Borrowings, Collateralized Borrowings, Subordinated Debentures, and Capital 
Investment Notes
The	fair	values	of	wholesale	borrowings,	collateralized	borrowings,	subordinated	debentures,	
and	 capital	 investment	 notes	 are	 estimated	 by	 discounting	 contractual	 cash	 flows	 using	
market reference rates currently offered for debt instruments with similar terms and credit 
risk ratings.

d. Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost
ATB	 assesses	 at	 each	 reporting	 date	 whether	 there	 is	 objective	 evidence	 that	 a	 financial	
asset or group of financial assets measured at amortized cost is impaired. A financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there 
is	 objective	 evidence	 of	 impairment	 as	 a	 result	 of	 one	 or	more	 events	 (a	 loss	 event)	 that	
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	the	financial	asset	or	group	of	financial	assets	that	can	
be	reliably	estimated.	The	criteria	that	ATB	uses	to	determine	that	there	is	objective	evidence	
of	an	impairment	loss	include:

a. Significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	obligor
b. A breach of contract, such as a default or significant delinquency in interest or 

principal payments
c. The	 lender,	 for	 economic	 or	 legal	 reasons	 relating	 to	 the	 borrower’s	 financial	 difficulty,	

granting to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider
d. An assessed probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial  

reorganization
e. The	disappearance	of	an	active	market	for	that	financial	asset	because	of	financial	difficulties
f. Observable	 data	 indicating	 a	 measurable	 decrease	 in	 the	 estimated	 future	 cash	 flows	

from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although 
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the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, 
including:
i. Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio
ii. National or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in 

the portfolio

For	 purposes	 of	 impairment	 assessments,	 two	 groups	 of	 assets	 are	 formed:	 individually	
significant	 and	 individually	 insignificant.	 For	 individually	 significant	 assets,	 ATB	 determines	
whether	objective	evidence	of	impairment	exists	and,	if	the	asset	is	found	to	be	impaired,	an	
individual	assessment	of	impairment	loss	is	made.	For	all	other	assets,	a	collective	assessment	
of impairment loss is made, which includes individually significant assets that are not impaired 
as	well	as	all	 individually	insignificant	assets,	whether	impaired	or	not.	As	soon	as	objective	
evidence of impairment loss becomes available for individually significant assets, those assets 
are removed from the collective assessment group. 

For	 loans	 and	 receivables,	 the	 amount	 of	 impairment	 loss	 is	 measured	 as	 the	 difference	
between	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	and	the	present	value	of	estimated	future	cash	flows	
discounted	at	the	asset’s	original	effective	interest	rate.	The	amount	of	the	loss	is	recognized	
using	 an	 allowance	 account,	 and	 the	 amount	 of	 the	 loss	 is	 included	 in	 the	 Consolidated	
Statement	 of	 Income	 as	 a	 provision	 for	 credit	 losses.	The	 calculation	 of	 the	 present	 value	
of	 the	estimated	 future	cash	flows	of	a	collateralized	financial	asset	 reflects	 the	cash	flows	
that may result from foreclosure costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not 
foreclosure is probable.

For	a	collective	evaluation	of	impairment	(including	individually	significant	assets	for	which	no	
objective	evidence	of	impairment	exists,	and	individually	insignificant	assets),	financial	assets	
are	grouped	by	similar	risk	characteristics.	These	characteristics	are	relevant	to	the	estimation	
of	future	cash	flows	for	groups	of	such	assets	by	indicating	the	counterparty’s	ability	to	pay	all	
amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future	cash	flows	in	a	group	of	financial	assets	that	are	collectively	evaluated	for	impairment	
are	 estimated	by	 the	 contractual	 cash	 flows	 of	 the	 assets	 in	 the	 group	 and	 historical	 loss	
experience	for	assets	with	credit	risk	characteristics	similar	to	those	in	the	group.	Historical	loss	
experience	is	adjusted	by	current	observable	data	to	reflect	the	effects	of	current	conditions	
that	did	not	affect	the	period	on	which	the	historical	loss	experience	is	based	and	to	remove	
the	effects	of	conditions	in	the	historical	period	that	do	not	currently	exist.

The	 methodology	 and	 assumptions	 used	 for	 estimating	 future	 cash	 flows	 are	 reviewed	
regularly	to	reduce	any	differences	between	loss	estimates	and	actual	loss	experience.
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Following	 impairment,	 interest	 income	 is	 recognized	 using	 the	 original	 effective	 rate	 of	
interest	 used	 to	discount	 the	 future	 cash	 flows	 for	measuring	 the	 impairment	 loss.	 If,	 in	 a	
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related	objectively	to	an	event	occurring	after	the	impairment	was	recognized,	the	previously	
recognized	impairment	loss	is	reversed	by	adjusting	the	allowance	account.	The	amount	of	
the	reversal	is	recognized	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.

When	a	loan	has	been	subjected	to	an	individually	assessed	provision	and	there	is	no	likelihood	
of	 recovery,	 the	 loan	 is	written	off	against	 the	 related	allowance.	Subsequent	 recoveries	of	
written-off	amounts	are	recorded	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income	as	a	reduction	to	
the provision.

Assets Classified as Available for Sale
ATB	 assesses	 at	 each	 reporting	 date	 whether	 there	 is	 objective	 evidence	 that	 a	 financial	
asset	or	a	group	of	financial	assets	is	impaired.	In	the	case	of	equity	investments	classified	as	
available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its 
cost	is	objective	evidence	of	impairment	resulting	in	the	recognition	of	an	impairment	loss.	If	
such	evidence	exists	for	available-for-sale	financial	assets,	the	cumulative	loss—the	difference	
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial	asset	previously	recognized	in	profit	or	loss—is	removed	from	equity	and	recognized	
in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.	If	the	fair	value	of	a	debt	instrument	classified	as	
available	 for	sale	subsequently	 increases,	and	the	 increase	can	be	objectively	 related	to	an	
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss 
is	reversed	through	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.

e. Securities Purchased Under Reverse Repurchase Agreements and Securities Sold 
Under Repurchase Agreements
Securities	 purchased	 under	 reverse	 repurchase	 agreements	 represent	 a	 purchase	 of	
Government	of	Canada	securities	by	ATB	with	a	simultaneous	agreement	to	sell	them	back	
at	a	specified	price	on	a	 future	date.	The	difference	between	the	cost	of	the	purchase	and	
the predetermined proceeds to be received based on the repurchase agreement is recorded 
as	securities	interest	income.	Securities	purchased	under	reverse	repurchase	agreements	are	
fully collateralized, minimizing credit risk, and have been classified and measured at amortized 
cost.	No	securities	purchased	under	reverse	repurchase	agreements	exist	at	the	reporting	date.	

Securities	 sold	 under	 repurchase	 agreements	 represent	 a	 sale	 of	 Government	 of	 Canada	
securities	by	ATB	with	a	simultaneous	agreement	to	buy	them	back	at	a	specified	price	on	
a	future	date.	The	difference	between	the	proceeds	of	the	sale	and	the	predetermined	cost	
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to	be	paid	based	on	the	repurchase	agreement	is	recorded	as	deposit	interest	expense.	No	
securities	sold	under	repurchase	agreements	exist	at	the	reporting	date.

f. Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative	 financial	 instruments	 are	 financial	 contracts	 whose	 value	 is	 derived	 from	 an	
underlying	reference	rate	such	as	an	interest	rate,	a	currency	exchange	rate,	the	price	of	an	
equity	or	debt	security,	or	an	equity	or	commodity	index.	

ATB	enters	into	various	over-the-counter	and	exchange-traded	derivatives	in	the	normal	course	
of business, including interest rate swaps, options and futures, equity and commodity options, 
and	foreign-exchange	and	commodity	forwards	and	futures.	ATB	uses	such	instruments	for	
two	purposes:	for	its	risk	management	program	and	to	meet	the	needs	of	ATB	customers.	

ATB’s	 corporate	derivative	portfolio	 is	not	 intended	 for	 speculative	 income	generation	but	
for	 asset/liability	 management	 purposes—that	 is,	 to	 manage	 ATB’s	 interest-rate,	 foreign-
exchange,	 and	 equity-	 and	 commodity-related	 exposures	 arising	 from	 its	 portfolio	 of	
investments and loan assets and deposit obligations. 

ATB’s	 client	 derivative	 portfolio	 is	 not	 used	 to	 generate	 trading	 income	 through	 active	
assumption of market risk, but rather is used to meet the risk management requirements of 
ATB	customers.	ATB	accepts	no	net	exposure	to	such	derivative	contracts	(except	for	credit	
risk), as it either enters into offsetting contracts with other financial institution counterparties 
or incorporates them into its own risk management programs. 

All derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives, are classified as held 
for	 trading	and	measured	at	 fair	value	 in	 the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position.	
Derivatives	with	positive	fair	value	are	presented	as	derivative	assets,	and	those	with	negative	
fair	 value	 are	 presented	 as	 derivative	 liabilities.	 Changes	 in	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 derivative	
financial instruments are recorded in net income, unless the derivative qualifies for hedge 
accounting	as	a	cash	flow	hedge,	in	which	case	the	changes	in	fair	value	are	reflected	in	other	
comprehensive	income	(OCI).

Hedge Accounting
For	a	derivative	instrument	to	qualify	for	hedge	accounting,	the	hedging	relationship	between	
the derivative (hedging) instrument and the hedged item(s) must be designated and formally 
documented	at	 inception.	ATB	must	also	document	an	assessment	of	 the	effectiveness	of	
the	derivative	instrument	in	offsetting	changes	in	cash	flows	or	fair	value	of	the	hedged	item,	
both	at	inception	of	the	hedging	relationship	and	on	an	ongoing	basis.	When	ATB	designates	
a	derivative	as	a	hedge,	it	is	classified	as	either	a	cash	flow	hedge	or	a	fair	value	hedge.
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ATB	discontinues	hedge	accounting	when	one	of	the	following	occurs:

•	 It	is	determined	that	a	derivative	is	not,	or	has	ceased	to	be,	highly	effective	as	a	hedge.
•	 The	derivative	expires,	or	is	sold,	terminated,	or	exercised.
•	 The	hedged	item	matures	or	is	sold	or	repaid.
•	 A forecast transaction is no longer deemed highly probable.

When	a	hedging	instrument	expires	or	is	sold,	or	when	a	hedge	no	longer	meets	the	criteria	
for	hedge	accounting,	any	cumulative	gain	or	loss	existing	in	equity	at	that	time	remains	in	
equity	and	is	recognized	when	the	hedged	item	is	ultimately	recognized	in	the	Consolidated	
Statement	 of	 Income.	 When	 a	 forecast	 transaction	 is	 no	 longer	 expected	 to	 occur,	 the	
cumulative	gain	or	loss	recognized	in	equity	is	immediately	transferred	to	the	Consolidated	
Statement	of	Income.

Cash	Flow	Hedge	

ATB’s	derivative	 instruments	 in	cash	flow	hedges	are	 intended	 to	generate	cash	flows	 that	
offset	 the	variability	 in	expected	and/or	anticipated	cash	flows	 from	the	hedged	 item.	ATB	
uses	various	 interest	 rate	derivatives	to	manage	risk	 relating	to	the	variability	of	cash	flows	
from	 certain	 loans.	 In	 a	 qualifying	 cash	 flow	 hedge	 relationship,	 the	 effective	 portion	 of	
the	change	in	fair	value	of	the	hedging	derivative	instrument	is	recognized	in	OCI,	and	the	
ineffective	portion	in	net	income.	Any	such	amounts	recognized	in	OCI	are	reclassified	from	
OCI	into	net	income	in	the	same	period	that	the	underlying	hedged	item	affects	net	income.	

Fair	Value	Hedge

Changes	in	fair	value	of	derivatives	that	qualify	and	are	designated	as	fair	value	hedges	are	
recorded	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income,	together	with	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	
the	hedged	asset	or	liability	attributable	to	the	hedged	risk.	If	the	hedge	relationship	no	longer	
meets	the	criteria	for	hedge	accounting,	it	is	discontinued.	For	fair	value	hedges	of	interest	rate	
risk,	the	fair	value	adjustment	to	the	hedged	item	is	amortized	to	the	Consolidated	Statement	
of	Income	over	the	period	to	maturity	of	the	previously	designated	hedge	relationship	using	
the	effective	interest	method.	If	the	hedged	item	is	sold	or	repaid,	the	unamortized	fair	value	
adjustment	is	recognized	immediately	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.	No	fair	value	
hedges	exist	at	the	reporting	date.

Embedded Derivatives
Embedded	derivatives	are	components	within	a	financial	instrument	or	other	contract	with	
features	similar	to	a	derivative.	Embedded	derivatives	with	economic	characteristics	and	risks	
considered not closely related to the characteristics and risks of the host contract may need 
to be accounted for separately if a separate instrument with the same terms would qualify as 
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a	derivative	and	if	the	host	contract	is	not	already	measured	at	fair	value.	ATB	has	identified	
embedded	derivatives	within	certain	extendible	 loan	contracts	and	within	all	equity-linked	
and commodity-linked deposit contracts. Any such embedded derivatives are not considered 
closely related to the host contract and have been accounted for separately as derivative 
assets or liabilities.

g. Property and Equipment
Property	and	equipment	are	carried	at	cost	less	accumulated	depreciation,	except	for	 land,	
which	 is	 carried	 at	 cost.	 Buildings,	 computer	 equipment,	 other	 equipment,	 and	 leasehold	
improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
Additions	and	subsequent	expenditures	are	capitalized	only	to	the	extent	that	they	enhance	
the	future	economic	benefits	expected	to	be	derived	from	the	assets.	The	depreciable	amount	
is the gross carrying amount, less the estimated residual value at the end of the assets’ useful 
economic	 life.	Property	and	equipment	acquired	under	a	finance	 lease	are	capitalized,	and	
the depreciation period for a finance lease corresponds to the lesser of the useful life or lease 
term plus the first renewal option, if applicable. No depreciation is calculated on property 
and	equipment	under	construction	or	development	until	the	assets	are	available	for	use.	The	
estimated	useful	life	for	each	asset	class	is	as	follows:

•	 Buildings	–	Up	to	20	years
•	 Buildings	under	finance	lease	–	Up	to	15	years
•	 Computer	equipment	–	3	years
•	 Other	equipment	–	5	years
•	 Leasehold	improvements	–	Lease	term	plus	first	renewal	period,	if	applicable

Depreciation	rates,	methods,	and	the	residual	values	underlying	the	calculation	of	depreciation	
of items of property and equipment are kept under review to account for any change in 
circumstances. Gains and losses on the disposal of property and equipment are recorded in 
the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income	in	the	year	of	disposal.

h. Software and Other Intangibles
Software	 and	 other	 intangibles	 are	 carried	 at	 cost	 less	 accumulated	 amortization	 and	
are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. No amortization is 
calculated on software under construction or development until the assets are available for 
use.	The	estimated	useful	life	for	software	and	other	intangibles	is	3	to	5	years,	with	certain	
software	having	a	useful	life	of	15	years.

Costs	related	to	software	developed	or	obtained	for	internal	use	are	capitalized	if	it	is	probable	
that	 future	economic	benefits	will	flow	to	ATB	and	that	 the	cost	can	be	measured	reliably.	
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Eligible	 costs	 include	 external	 direct	 costs	 for	 materials	 and	 services,	 as	 well	 as	 payroll	
and payroll-related costs for employees directly associated with an internally developed 
software	project.

i. Impairment of Property and Equipment and Software and Other Intangibles
The	 carrying	 amount	 of	 non-financial	 assets,	which	 include	 property	 and	 equipment	 and	
software and other intangibles, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 
in	circumstances	indicate	that	the	carrying	amount	may	not	be	recoverable.	Software	under	
development	 is	 tested	annually	 for	 impairment.	For	 the	purposes	of	assessing	 impairment,	
assets	are	grouped	at	 the	 lowest	 level	where	 there	are	 separately	 identifiable	cash	 inflows	
(cash-generating units).

If	 there	 is	 any	 indication	 of	 impairment,	 the	 asset’s	 recoverable	 amount	 is	 estimated.	The	
recoverable amount is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. 
If	 the	carrying	amount	of	 the	asset	exceeds	 its	 recoverable	amount,	 an	 impairment	 loss	 is	
recognized.	Impairment	losses	are	recognized	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.

Impairment	losses	may	be	reversed	if	the	circumstances	leading	to	impairment	are	no	longer	
present.	An	impairment	loss	is	reversed	only	to	the	extent	that	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	
does	not	exceed	the	carrying	amount	net	of	depreciation	or	amortization	that	would	have	
been	determined	if	no	impairment	loss	had	been	recognized.	Impairment	loss	reversals	are	
recognized	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.

j. Finance and Operating Leases
Leases	of	assets	where	ATB	has	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	incidental	to	ownership	
are classified as finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized 
in	 the	 Consolidated	 Statement	 of	 Financial	 Position	 at	 an	 amount	 equal	 to	 the	 lower	 of	
the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
The	 corresponding	 liability	 to	 the	 lessor	 is	 included	 in	other	 liabilities	 in	 the	Consolidated	
Statement	of	 Financial	Position.	The	discount	 rate	used	 in	calculating	 the	present	value	of	
the minimum lease payments is either the interest rate implicit in the lease, if it is practicable 
to	 determine,	 or	 the	 incremental	 borrowing	 rate.	 Contingent	 rentals	 are	 recognized	 as	 an	
expense	in	the	periods	in	which	they	are	incurred.

Leases	 in	which	a	significant	portion	of	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	are	retained	by	
another party, the lessor, are classified as operating leases. Operating lease rentals payable 
are	recognized	as	an	expense	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	lease	term,	which	commences	
when	the	lessee	controls	the	physical	use	of	the	property.	Lease	incentives	are	treated	as	a	
reduction	of	 rental	expense	and	are	also	 recognized	over	 the	 lease	 term	on	a	 straight-line	
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basis.	Contingent	rentals	arising	under	operating	leases	are	recognized	as	an	expense	in	the	
period in which they are incurred.

k. Employee Benefits
ATB	 provides	 benefits	 to	 current	 and	 past	 employees	 through	 a	 combination	 of	 defined	
benefit	(DB)	and	defined	contribution	(DC)	plans.

ATB’s	 current	 non-management	 employees	 participate	 in	 the	 Public	 Service	 Pension	 Plan	
(PSPP)	with	other	Alberta	public-sector	employees.	The	PSPP	is	a	DB	pension	plan	that	provides	
benefits	 based	 on	members’	 years	 of	 service	 and	 earnings.	 ATB	 provides	 its	management	
employees	with	 a	 registered	pension	plan	 (the	ATB	Plan)	with	 either	DB	or	DC	provisions.	
ATB	also	provides	a	non-registered	DB	supplemental	 retirement	plan	(SRP)	and	other	post-
employment	benefits	(OPEB)	for	designated	management	employees.

All	 expenses	 related	 to	 employee	benefits	 are	 recorded	 in	 the	Consolidated	 Statement	 of	
Income	as	salaries	and	employee	benefits	in	non-interest	expenses.

The	cost	of	 the	DB	plan	 is	determined	using	an	actuarial	valuation.	The	actuarial	valuation	
involves	making	assumptions	about	discount	rates,	expected	rates	of	return	on	assets,	future	
salary	increases,	mortality	rates,	and	future	pension	increases.	Due	to	the	long-term	nature	of	
these	plans,	such	estimates	are	subject	to	significant	uncertainty.

Accounting for Defined Benefit Plans – Registered, Supplemental, and Other
The	PSPP	and	the	DB	portion	of	the	ATB	Plan,	SRP,	and	OPEB	obligations	provide	employee	
benefits	based	on	members’	years	of	service	and	highest	average	salary.	The	liability	recognized	
in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	in	respect	of	DB	pension	plans	is	the	present	
value	of	the	DB	obligation	at	the	date	of	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	less	
the	fair	value	of	plan	assets.	The	DB	obligation	is	calculated	annually	by	independent	actuaries	
using	the	projected	unit	credit	method.	The	present	value	of	the	DB	obligation	is	determined	
by	discounting	the	estimated	future	cash	outflows.	Actuarial	gains	and	losses	are	recognized	
in	OCI.	Past-service	costs	are	recognized	immediately	 in	 income,	unless	the	changes	to	the	
pension plan are conditional on the employees’ remaining in service for a specified period of 
time	(the	vesting	period).	In	this	case,	the	past-service	costs	are	amortized	on	a	straight-line	
basis over the vesting period.

Accounting for Defined Contribution Plans
Contributions	are	expensed	as	they	become	due	and	are	recorded	in	salaries	and	employee	
benefits	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.
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Plan Valuations, Asset Allocation, and Funding
ATB	annually	measures	 its	accrued	benefit	obligations	and	the	fair	values	of	plan	assets	 for	
accounting	 purposes	 on	March	 31	 for	 the	 PSPP,	 ATB	 Plan,	 SRP,	 and	OPEB	 obligations.	 ATB	
makes	regular	funding	contributions	to	the	DB	plan	according	to	the	most	recent	valuation	
for	funding	purposes.	The	SRP	and	OPEB	obligations	are	not	pre-funded,	and	such	benefits	
are	paid	from	ATB’s	assets	as	they	become	due.	The	most	recent	actuarial	valuation	of	the	DB	
provisions	of	the	ATB	Plan	was	performed	on	December	31,	2011.	The	DB	plan’s	investment	
policy sets targets for an acceptable range for the allocation of plan assets between equity, 
debt,	and	other	assets.	(Refer	to	note	20.)

l. Provisions
Provisions	are	recognized	when	it	 is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	benefits	will	be	
required to settle a current legal or constructive obligation, which has arisen as a result of past 
events and for which a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Contingent	 liabilities,	 which	 include	 certain	 guarantees	 and	 letters	 of	 credit	 pledged	 as	
collateral	security,	are	possible	obligations	that	arise	from	past	events	whose	existence	will	be	
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not	wholly	within	 the	control	of	ATB,	or	are	present	obligations	 that	have	arisen	 from	past	
events	but	are	not	recognized	because	it	is	not	probable	that	settlement	will	require	outflow	
of economic benefits or because the amount of the obligations cannot be reliably measured. 
Contingent	liabilities	are	not	recognized	in	the	financial	statements	but	are	disclosed	unless	
the probability of settlement is remote.

m. Financial Guarantees
Liabilities	under	financial	guarantee	contracts	are	initially	recorded	at	their	fair	value,	which	is	
generally	the	fee	received	or	receivable.	Subsequently,	the	financial	guarantee	liabilities	are	
measured at the higher of the initial fair value, less cumulative amortization, and the best 
estimate	of	the	expenditure	required	to	settle	the	obligations.

n. Securitization
Securitization	of	residential	mortgage	loans	guaranteed	by	the	Canada	Mortgage	and	Housing	
Corporation	through	the	Canada	Mortgage	Bond	program	and	securitization	of	credit	card	
receivables	provide	ATB	with	additional	sources	of	liquidity.	As	ATB	retains	substantially	all	the	
risks and rewards related to the assets, the credit card receivables and mortgage loans are not 
derecognized	and	remain	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position,	and	are	carried	
at	amortized	cost.	The	risks	associated	with	credit	card	receivables	and	residential	mortgage	
loans are credit and interest rate risks, with prepayment risks also impacting residential 



136

mortgage	 loans.	 ATB	 recognizes	 a	 liability	 for	 cash	 proceeds	 received	 from	 securitization.	
This	 liability	 is	presented	under	collateralized	borrowings	 in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	
Financial	Position.

o. Segmented Information
A	segment	is	a	distinguishable	component	of	ATB	engaged	in	providing	products	or	services	
(business	segment)	that	is	subject	to	risks	and	returns	that	are	different	from	those	of	other	
business	 segments.	 The	 Corporate	 Management	 Committee	 regularly	 reviews	 operating	
activity by business segments. All transactions between business segments are conducted 
on an arm’s-length basis, with intra-segment revenue and costs being eliminated in strategic 
service	units.	 Income	and	expenses	directly	associated	with	each	segment	are	 included	 in	
determining business segment performance.

p. Revenue Recognition

Interest Income and Expense
Interest	 income	 and	 expense	 for	 all	 interest-bearing	 financial	 instruments	 are	 recognized	
in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income	using	the	effective	interest	method.	The	effective	
interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and 
allocates	 the	 interest	 income	 or	 interest	 expense	 over	 the	 relevant	 period.	 The	 effective	
interest	 rate	 is	 the	 rate	 that	 exactly	 discounts	 estimated	 future	 cash	payments	 or	 receipts	
through	the	expected	life	of	the	financial	instrument	or,	when	appropriate,	a	shorter	period	
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the 
effective	 interest	 rate,	 ATB	 estimates	 cash	 flows	 considering	 all	 contractual	 terms	 of	 the	
financial	 instrument	(for	example,	prepayment	options)	but	does	not	consider	future	credit	
losses.	The	calculation	includes	all	fees	paid	or	received	between	parties	to	the	contract	that	
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums 
or discounts.

Fees and Commission Income and Expenses
Fees	 and	 commission	 income	 and	 expenses	 integral	 to	 the	 effective	 interest	 rate	 on	 a	
financial asset or liability are included when calculating the effective interest rate. Other fees 
and commission income, including account servicing fees, investment management fees, 
card fees, commitment fees, and placement fees, are recognized as the related services are 
performed.	Where	ATB	is	the	lead	in	a	syndication,	loan	syndication	fees	are	recognized	in	fees	
and commission income, unless the yield on any loans retained is less than that of the other 
lenders involved in the financing, in which case an appropriate portion of the syndication fee 
is	recorded	as	interest	income	over	the	term	of	the	loan.	Other	fees	and	commission	expenses	
relate	mainly	to	transaction	and	service	fees,	which	are	expensed	as	the	services	are	received.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policy  Changes

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosures
On	April	 1,	 2013,	 ATB	 adopted	 the	 amendments	 to	 IFRS	 7	 Financial Instruments – Disclosures. 
These	amendments	enhance	the	requirements	for	disclosure	about	the	effect	or	potential	effects	
of offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities and related arrangements on an entity’s 
financial position.

The	 amendments	 to	 IFRS	 7	 have	 been	 applied	 retrospectively	 to	 all	 comparative	 periods.	
Although	 the	 amendments	 did	 not	 impact	 ATB’s	 financial	 results,	 the	 additional	 disclosures	
required are presented in note 4.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
On	April	 1,	 2013,	 ATB	 adopted	 IFRS	 10	Consolidated Financial Statements.	 IFRS	 10	 defines	 the	
principles for presenting and preparing consolidated financial statements and establishes control 
as	the	basis	for	consolidation.	IFRS	10	defines	a	new	approach	for	determining	consolidation	of	
entities	based	on	the	concept	of	power,	variability	of	returns,	and	their	linkage.	This	differs	from	
the	previous	approach,	which	emphasized	legal	control	or	exposure	to	risk	and	rewards.

Based	 on	 the	 new	 definition	 of	 control,	 ATB	 has	 reassessed	 its	 control	 in	 other	 entities	 and	
concluded that there is no change. Although the adoption of the new standard did not 
impact	ATB’s	financial	results,	consolidation	disclosures	have	been	amended	to	reflect	the	new	
consolidation	principles.	These	are	presented	in	note	2.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
On	April	1,	2013,	ATB	adopted	IFRS	12	Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.	IFRS	12	establishes	
the	disclosure	requirements	for	all	forms	of	interests	in	other	entities,	including	subsidiaries,	joint	
arrangements, associates, and unconsolidated structured entities.

IFRS	12	has	been	applied	prospectively	 as	of	 the	beginning	of	 fiscal	 2013–14.	 Since	 the	new	
standard	pertains	to	disclosure	requirements	only,	there	was	no	impact	on	ATB’s	financial	results.	
New	disclosure	requirements	are	presented	in	note	7.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
On	 April	 1,	 2013,	 ATB	 adopted	 IFRS	 13	 Fair Value Measurement.	 IFRS	 13	 establishes	 a	 single	
framework	for	all	fair	value	measurements	when	fair	value	is	required	or	permitted	by	IFRS	and	
enhances the fair value measurement disclosures.
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IFRS	13	has	been	applied	prospectively	as	of	the	beginning	of	fiscal	2013–14.	There	is	no	impact	
on	ATB’s	financial	results.	The	new	disclosure	requirements	are	presented	in	notes	2	and	4.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
On	April	 1,	 2013,	ATB	adopted	amendments	 to	 IAS	1	Presentation of Financial Statements.	The	
amendments require items presented in other comprehensive income not reclassified in a 
subsequent	 period	 to	 the	 Consolidated	 Statement	 of	 Income	 to	 be	 separately	 distinguished	
from those that will be.

The	 amendment	 has	 been	 applied	 retrospectively	 to	 all	 comparative	 periods.	 The	 new	
requirements	of	IAS	1	are	presented	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income.	
There	was	no	impact	on	ATB’s	financial	results.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits
Effective	April	1,	2013,	the	IASB	made	revisions	to	IAS	19	Employee Future Benefits.	This	revision	
is	to	be	applied	retrospectively.	The	impact	to	ATB	is	the	replacement	of	the	interest	cost	and	
expected	return	on	plan	assets	by	a	finance	cost	component.	The	finance	cost	component	 is	
the net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset determined by applying the same 
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation to the net defined benefit liability 
or	asset.	The	effect	of	this	change	would	be	to	increase	the	pension	expense	and	reduce	other	
comprehensive	income	by	the	difference	between	the	current	expected	return	on	plan	assets	
and the return calculated by applying the relevant discount rate with no impact to the plan 
assets or liabilities. 

ATB	 has	 applied	 this	 amended	 standard	 retrospectively.	 The	 Consolidated	 Statement	 of	
Comprehensive	Income	has	been	amended	to	reflect	the	requirements	of	IAS	19,	and	the	impact	
of	adopting	the	amendments	is	presented	below.	Enhanced	disclosures	are	provided	in	note	20.	
The	impact	to	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	and	Income	of	adopting	these	
amendments	is	as	follows:

As at March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands)
Retained earnings as previously reported $ 2,324,785 
Change in accounting policy (9,500)
Retained earnings as restated 2,315,285 

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) as previously reported (69,324)
Change in accounting policy 9,500 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) as restated (59,824)
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In	addition,	the	prior-year	salaries	and	employee	benefits	expense	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	
of	Income;	remeasurement	of	defined	benefit	plan	liabilities	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	
Comprehensive	Income;	and	others,	net	balance	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Cash	Flows	
increased	by	$3,500.	

Future Accounting Policy Changes

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets
On	May	29,	2013,	the	IASB	modified	some	of	the	disclosure	requirements	of	IAS	36	Impairment 

of Assets by issuing the Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments 

to IAS 36).	The	amendments	require	disclosure	of	the	recoverable	amount	of	an	asset	or	cash-
generating	unit	(CGU)	only	when	impairment	has	been	recorded	or	reversed	for	that	asset	or	CGU.	
The	revision	to	IAS	36	also	elaborates	on	the	disclosure	requirements	whenever	the	recoverable	
amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal.

ATB	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	the	amendments,	which	must	be	applied	retrospectively	
for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2014.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
On	June	27,	2013,	the	IASB	issued	Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting, 
which	 amends	 IAS	 39	 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.	 This	 amendment	
requires	 a	 continuation	of	 the	existing	hedging	 relationship	when	 the	hedging	 instrument	 is	
novated to a central counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations, or if specific conditions 
are met.

ATB	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	the	amendments,	which	must	be	applied	retrospectively	
for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2014.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits
On	 November	 21,	 2013,	 the	 IASB	 published	 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions 

(Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits).	The	amendments	clarify	the	accounting	requirements	
that relate to how contributions from employees (or third parties) that are linked to service 
should be attributed to periods of service.

ATB	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	the	amendments,	which	must	be	applied	retrospectively	
for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	July	1,	2014.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The	IASB	issued	on	November	12,	2009,	and	amended	on	October	28,	2010,	the	first	phase	of	a	
project	that	will	replace	IAS	39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.	This	standard	
defines	 a	new	way	 to	 classify	 and	measure	 financial	 assets	 and	 liabilities.	 Financial	 assets	will	
be classified in three categories (amortized cost, fair value through profit or loss, and fair value 
through equity) based on the entity’s business model to manage its financial assets and the 
contractual	cash	flow	characteristics	of	the	financial	assets.	Financial	liabilities	will	be	classified	in	
the	same	categories	as	those	defined	in	IAS	39,	but	measurement	of	financial	liabilities	under	the	
fair value option has been modified. 

On	December	16,	2011,	the	IASB	issued	amendments	to	IFRS	9	Financial Instruments that provide 
relief	from	the	requirements	to	restate	comparative	financial	statements	to	apply	IFRS	9,	although	
additional	transitional	disclosures	will	be	required.	Earlier	application	of	the	standard	is	permitted.

On	November	19,	2013,	the	IASB	published	a	new	amendment	to	IFRS	9	as	it	concluded	another	
phase	of	its	project	of	replacing	IAS	39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.	The	
amendment incorporates a new general hedge accounting model whereby risk components of 
non-financial items may be designated as the hedge item, provided that the risk components 
are	separately	 identifiable	and	reliably	measurable.	The	new	model	also	 introduces	a	different	
way to account for the change in time value of an option when the intrinsic value is designated, 
resulting in less volatility in profit or loss.

The	 amendment	 to	 IFRS	 9	 proposes	 a	 change	 in	 the	 determination	 of	 hedge	 effectiveness	
whereby	 the	quantitative	measure	 is	 replaced	by	an	objective-based	 test	 that	 focuses	on	 the	
existence	of	an	economic	relationship	between	the	hedged	item	and	the	hedging	instrument.	
All	of	these	amendments	mean	more	extensive	disclosures	about	risk	management	strategy,	cash	
flows	from	hedging	activities,	and	the	impact	of	hedge	accounting	on	the	financial	statements.

ATB	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	the	amendments,	which	are	effective	for	annual	periods	
beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2018.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
In	December	2011,	the	IASB	issued	amendments	to	IAS	32	Financial Instruments: Presentation to 
clarify the criteria for offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability. 

ATB	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	the	amendments,	which	are	effective	for	annual	periods	
beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2014.
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4. Financial Instruments

Classification and Carrying Value
The	 following	 tables	 summarize	 ATB’s	 financial	 instrument	 classifications	 and	 provide	 their	
carrying	value	as	at	March	31:

As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands) Carrying value

Held-for-
trading assets 
and liabilities 

measured at 
fair value

Designated 
at fair value 
through net 

income

Available-
for-sale 

instruments 
measured at 

fair value

Loans and 
receivables 

measured at 
amortized cost

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortized cost

Derivatives 
designated 

for hedge 
accounting

Total carrying 
value

Financial assets
Cash $ - $ - $ - $ 438,917 $ - $ - $ 438,917(1)

Interest-bearing deposits with 
financial institutions - 1,143,128 - - - - 1,143,128(1)

Securities - 921,955 374 - - - 922,329(1)

Securities purchased under reverse 
repurchase agreements - - - - - - -(1)

Loans
Business - - - 15,167,687 - - 15,167,687
Residential mortgages - - - 12,012,454 - - 12,012,454
Personal - - - 6,184,463 - - 6,184,463
Credit card - - - 651,931 - - 651,931
Allowance for credit losses - - - (131,391) - - (131,391)

- - - 33,885,144 - - 33,885,144(2)

Other
Derivative financial instruments 330,033 - - - - 62,498 392,531
Other assets - - - 122,076 - - 122,076

330,033 - - 122,076 - 62,498 514,607(1)

Financial liabilities
Deposits

Personal - - - - 11,840,449 - 11,840,449
Business and other - - - - 15,475,989 - 15,475,989

- - - - 27,316,438 - 27,316,438(3)

Other 
Wholesale borrowings - - - - 2,694,161 - 2,694,161(4)

Collateralized borrowings - - - - 3,411,352 - 3,411,352(5)

Derivative financial instruments 324,502 - - - - 163 324,665(1)

Other liabilities - - - - 759,892 - 759,892(1)

324,502 - - - 6,865,405 163 7,190,070
Capital investment notes - - - - 250,508 - 250,508(6)

Subordinated debentures - - - - 228,775 - 228,775(7)

1 Fair value estimated to equal carrying value.
2 Fair value of loans estimated to be $35,108,338.
3 Fair value of deposits estimated to be $27,187,021.
4 Fair value of wholesale borrowings estimated to be $2,704,044.
5 Fair value of collateralized borrowings estimated to be $3,464,854.
6 Fair value of capital investment notes estimated to be $254,136.
7 Fair value of subordinated debentures estimated to be $241,111.
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As at March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands) Carrying value

Held-for-
trading assets 
and liabilities 
measured at 

fair value

Designated 
at fair value 
through net 

income

Available-
for-sale 

instruments 
measured at 

fair value

Loans and 
receivables 

measured at 
amortized cost

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortized cost

Derivatives 
designated 

for hedge 
accounting

Total carrying 
value

Financial assets
Cash $ - $ - $ - $ 556,603 $ - $ - $ 556,603(1)

Interest-bearing deposits with 
financial institutions - 803,072 - - - - 803,072(1)

Securities - 881,841 469 - - - 882,310(1)

Securities purchased under reverse 
repurchase agreements - - - 100,007 - - 100,007(1)

Loans
Business - - - 12,732,228 - - 12,732,228
Residential mortgages - - - 10,705,908 - - 10,705,908
Personal - - - 5,744,958 - - 5,744,958
Credit card - - - 598,256 - - 598,256
Allowance for credit losses - - - (122,889) - - (122,889)

- - - 29,658,461 - - 29,658,461(2)

Other
Derivative financial instruments 219,068 - - - - 67,440 286,508
Other assets - - - 130,073 - - 130,073

219,068 - - 130,073 - 67,440 416,581(1)

Financial liabilities
Deposits

Personal - - - - 11,100,357 - 11,100,357
Business and other - - - - 12,631,014 - 12,631,014

- - - - 23,731,371 - 23,731,371(3)

Other 
Wholesale borrowings - - - - 2,595,711 - 2,595,711(4)

Collateralized borrowings - - - - 3,103,492 - 3,103,492(5)

Derivative financial instruments 207,584 - - - - - 207,584(1)

Other liabilities - - - - 619,884 - 619,884(1)

207,584 - - - 6,319,087 - 6,526,671
Capital investment notes - - - - 244,617 - 244,617(6)

Subordinated debentures - - - - 155,653 - 155,653(7)

1 Fair value estimated to equal carrying value.
2 Fair value of loans estimated to be $30,892,864.
3 Fair value of deposits estimated to be $23,588,906.
4 Fair value of wholesale borrowings estimated to be $2,610,268.
5 Fair value of collateralized borrowings estimated to be $3,192,485.
6 Fair value of capital investment notes estimated to be $255,067.
7 Fair value of subordinated debentures estimated to be $169,173.
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Fair Value Hierarchy
Financial	instruments	recorded	at	fair	value	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	
are classified using a fair value hierarchy based on the quality and reliability of the information 
used	to	estimate	the	fair	value.	The	fair	value	hierarchy	has	the	following	levels:

•	 Level	1	–	Fair	value	based	on	quoted	prices	in	active	markets
•	 Level	2	–	Fair	value	estimated	using	valuation	techniques	that	use	market-observable	inputs	

other than quoted market prices
•	 Level	3	–	Fair	value	estimated	using	inputs	not	based	on	observable	market	data

The	fair	value	hierarchy	requires	the	use	of	observable	market	inputs	whenever	such	inputs	exist.	
A financial instrument is classified at the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input 
has been considered in measuring fair value.

The	 categories	 of	 financial	 instruments	 whose	 fair	 values	 are	 classified	 at	 Level	 3	 consist	 of	
the	following:

•	 Securities	 designated	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 net	 income—investments	 in	 asset-backed	
commercial	paper	(ABCP).	Valuation	techniques	are	disclosed	in	note	7.

•	 Securities	available	for	sale—investments	in	ABCP.	Valuation	techniques	are	disclosed	in	note	7.
•	 Embedded	 derivatives	 relating	 to	 interest	 rate	 options	 on	 certain	 residential	 mortgages.	
Valuation	techniques	are	disclosed	in	note	2(c).
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The	following	tables	present	the	level	within	the	fair	value	hierarchy	of	ATB’s	financial	assets	and	
liabilities	measured	at	fair	value:

As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets
Interest-bearing deposits with financial institutions

Designated at fair value through net income $ - $ 1,143,128 $ - $ 1,143,128
Securities

Designated at fair value through net income 193,871 - 728,084 921,955
Available for sale - - 374 374

Other assets
Derivative financial instruments - 392,531 - 392,531

Total financial assets $ 193,871 $ 1,535,659 $ 728,458 $ 2,457,988
Financial liabilities
Other liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 143 324,522 - 324,665
Total financial liabilities $ 143 $ 324,522 $ - $ 324,665

As at March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets
Interest-bearing deposits with financial institutions

Designated at fair value through net income $ - $ 803,072 $ - $ 803,072
Securities

Designated at fair value through net income 108,791 - 773,050 881,841
Available for sale - - 469 469

Other assets
Derivative financial instruments - 286,508 - 286,508

Total financial assets $ 108,791 $ 1,089,580 $ 773,519 $ 1,971,890
Financial liabilities
Other liabilities

Derivative financial instruments - 207,584 - 207,584
Total financial liabilities $ - $ 207,584 $ - $ 207,584

ATB	performs	a	sensitivity	analysis	for	fair	value	measurements	classified	at	Level	3,	substituting	
one	 or	more	 reasonably	 possible	 alternative	 assumptions	 for	 the	 unobservable	 inputs.	These	
sensitivity	 analyses	 are	 detailed	 in	 note	 7	 for	 the	 ABCP	 investments	 designated	 at	 fair	 value	
through	 net	 income.	 The	 sensitivity	 analysis	 for	 the	 available-for-sale	 ABCP	 resulted	 in	 an	
insignificant change in fair value.
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The	following	tables	present	the	changes	in	fair	value	of	Level	3	financial	instruments:

($ in thousands)
Securities  

available for sale 

Securities designated  
at fair value through 

net income
Fair value of derivative 

financial liabilities

Fair value as at March 31, 2013 $ 469 $ 773,050 $ -
Total realized and unrealized gains included in net income 42 73,514 -
Total realized and unrealized gains included in other 

comprehensive income (21) - -
Net purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements (116) (118,480) -
Fair value as at March 31, 2014 $ 374 $ 728,084 $ -
Change in unrealized gains included in income with respect 

to financial instruments held as at March 31, 2014 $ - $ 57,632 $ -

($ in thousands)
Securities  

available for sale 

Securities designated  
at fair value through  

net income
Fair value of derivative 

financial liabilities

Fair value as at March 31, 2012 $ 2,200 $ 698,081 $ (101)
Total realized and unrealized gains included in net income (9) 88,643 101
Total realized and unrealized gains included in other 

comprehensive income 21 - -
Net purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements (1,743) (13,674) -
Fair value as at March 31, 2013 $ 469 $ 773,050 $ -
Change in unrealized gains included in income with respect 

to financial instruments held as at March 31, 2013 $  - $ 75,919 $ 101

The	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income	line	item	net	gains	on	financial	instruments	at	fair	value	
through net income includes realized and unrealized fair value movements on all financial 
instruments designated at fair value and realized gains on securities available for sale.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
A	financial	asset	or	 liability	must	be	offset	 in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	
when, and only when, there is a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and an intention 
to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. A legally 
enforceable	right	exists	when	the	right	is	enforceable	in	the	normal	course	of	business	or	in	the	
event of default, insolvency, or bankruptcy.

Related	 amounts	 not	 offset	 in	 the	 Consolidated	 Statement	 of	 Financial	 Position	 include	
transactions	where	the	following	conditions	apply:

•	 The	 counterparty	 has	 an	 offsetting	 exposure	 with	 ATB	 and	 a	 master	 netting	 or	 similar	
arrangement in place.

•	 Financial	collateral	has	been	received	or	pledged	against	the	transactions	described	below.

Securities	 purchased	 under	 reverse	 repurchase	 agreements	 subject	 to	 master	 netting	
arrangements	or	similar	arrangements	and	derivative	assets	and	liabilities	subject	to	the	master	
netting	agreements	of	the	International	Swaps	and	Derivatives	Association	(ISDA)	do	not	meet	
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the	 criteria	 for	 offsetting	 in	 the	Consolidated	 Statement	of	 Financial	 Position	 as	 the	 ability	 to	
offset is only enforceable in the event of default, insolvency, or bankruptcy. 

ATB	receives	and	pledges	collateral	in	the	form	of	cash	and	marketable	securities	relating	to	its	
derivative assets and liabilities to manage credit risk in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of	the	ISDA	credit	support	annex.

The	following	tables	present	information	about	financial	assets	and	liabilities	that	are	set	off	and	
not	set	off	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	and	are	subject	to	a	master	netting	
agreement	or	similar	arrangement:

Gross 
recognized 

amounts
Set-off 

amounts

Net amounts 
recognized in 

the Consolidated 
Statement of 

Financial Position

Related amounts not offset in  
the Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Position

Net amount
As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands)

 Financial
instruments(1)

Financial collateral 
received/pledged

Financial assets
Securities borrowed or purchased under 

reverse purchase agreements $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Derivative financial instruments 429,777 37,246 392,531 73,458 - 319,073
Amounts receivable from clients and 

financial institutions 487,888 - 487,888 487,888 - -
$ 917,665 $ 37,246 $ 880,419 $ 561,346 $ - $ 319,073

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments $ 324,665 $ - $ 324,665 $ 73,458 $ 128,300 $ 122,907
Amounts payable to clients and financial 

institutions 487,888 - 487,888 487,888 - -
$ 812,553 $ - $ 812,553 $ 561,346 $ 128,300 $ 122,907

Gross 
recognized 

amounts
Set-off 

amounts

Net amounts 
recognized in 

the Consolidated 
Statement of 

Financial Position

Related amounts not offset in  
the Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Position

Net amount
As at March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands)

 Financial
instruments(1)

Financial collateral 
received/pledged

Financial assets
Securities borrowed or purchased under 

reverse purchase agreements $ 100,007 $ - $ 100,007 $ 100,007 $ - $ -
Derivative financial instruments 347,212 60,704 286,508 - 81,430 205,078
Amounts receivable from clients and 

financial institutions 2,854 - 2,854 2,854 - -
$ 450,073 $ 60,704 $ 389,369 $ 102,861 $ 81,430 $ 205,078

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments $ 207,584 $ - $ 207,584 $ - $ - $ 207,584
Amounts payable to clients and financial 

institutions 2,854 - 2,854 2,854 - -
$ 210,438 $ - $ 210,438 $ 2,854 $ - $ 207,584

1  Carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities that are subject to a master netting agreement or similar arrangement but that do not meet the 
offsetting criteria.
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5. Financial Instruments – Risk Management

ATB	has	included	certain	disclosures	required	by	IFRS	7	in	shaded	sections	of	the	Management’s	
Discussion	and	Analysis	(MD&A).	These	shaded	sections	of	the	Risk	Management	section	of	the	
MD&A	relating	to	credit,	market,	and	liquidity	risks	are	an	integral	part	of	the	2014	consolidated	
financial statements.

6. Cash Resources

Cash	consists	of	cash	on	hand,	bank	notes	and	coins,	non-interest-bearing	deposits,	and	cash	
held	at	the	Bank	of	Canada	through	the	large	value	transfer	system.	Interest-bearing	deposits	with	
other financial institutions have been classified as designated at fair value through net income, 
and	are	 recorded	at	 fair	value.	 Interest	 income	on	 interest-bearing	deposits	 is	 recorded	on	an	
accrual	basis.	Cash	has	been	classified	as	loans	and	receivables	for	financial	instruments	purposes.

The	carrying	value	as	at	March	31,	2014,	of	interest-bearing	deposits	with	financial	 institutions	
consists	of	$1,143,128	(2013:	$803,072)	classified	as	designated	at	fair	value	through	net	income.

ATB	has	restricted	cash	that	represents	deposits	held	in	trust	in	connection	with	ATB’s	securitization	
activities.	 These	 deposits	 include	 cash	 accounts	 that	 hold	 principal	 and	 interest	 payments	
collected from mortgages securitized through the mortgage-backed security program awaiting 
payment to their respective investors and deposits held in interest reinvestment accounts in 
connection	with	 ATB’s	 participation	 in	 the	 Canada	Mortgage	 Bond	 program.	The	 amount	 of	
restricted	cash	as	at	March	31,	2014,	is	$64,021	(2013:	$40,854).
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7. Securities

The	carrying	value	of	securities	by	remaining	term	to	maturity	and	net	of	valuation	provisions	is	
as	follows:

As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands)

Within  
1 year 1–5 years Over 5 years

Total  
carrying value

Securities available for sale 
Commercial paper

Third-party-sponsored ABCP $ - $ 374 $ - $ 374
Total securities available for sale - 374 - 374
Securities measured at fair value through net income
Issued or guaranteed by the Canadian federal  

or provincial government 193,871 - - 193,871
Commercial paper

Third-party-sponsored ABCP - 694,119 - 694,119
Bank-sponsored ABCP - 33,965 - 33,965

Total securities measured at fair value through net income 193,871 728,084 - 921,955
Total securities $ 193,871 $ 728,458 $ - $ 922,329

As at March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands)

Within  
1 year 1–5 years Over 5 years

Total  
carrying value

Securities available for sale 
Commercial paper

Third-party-sponsored ABCP $ - $ 469 $ - $ 469
Total securities available for sale - 469 - 469
Securities measured at fair value through net income
Issued or guaranteed by the Canadian federal  

or provincial government 108,791 - - 108,791
Commercial paper

Third-party-sponsored ABCP - 713,046 2,992 716,038
Bank-sponsored ABCP - 57,012 - 57,012

Total securities measured at fair value through net income 108,791 770,058 2,992 881,841
Total securities $ 108,791 $ 770,527 $ 2,992 $ 882,310

The	total	carrying	value	of	securities	in	the	preceding	schedule	includes	securities	denominated	
in	U.S.	funds	totalling	$23,824	as	at	March	31,	2014	(2013:	$25,898).
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Gross	unrealized	gains	(losses)	on	securities	available	for	sale	are	presented	in	the	following	table:

As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands)

Cost or 
amortized 

cost

Gross 
unrealized 

gains

Gross 
unrealized 

losses Carrying value
Securities available for sale 

Third-party-sponsored ABCP $ 526 $ - $ (152) $ 374
Total securities available for sale $ 526 $ - $ (152) $ 374

As at March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands)

Cost or 
amortized cost

Gross 
unrealized 

gains

Gross 
unrealized 

losses Carrying value
Securities available for sale 

Third-party-sponsored ABCP $ 642 $ - $ (173) $ 469
Total securities available for sale $ 642 $ - $ (173) $ 469

Asset-Backed Commercial Paper (ABCP)
As	at	March	31,	2014,	ATB	held	ABCP	with	a	total	face	value	of	$880,526	(2013:	$996,952).	ABCP	
is	 considered	 an	 unconsolidated	 structured	 entity.	 During	 the	 year,	 ATB	 received	 principal	
payments	 of	 $118,596	 (2013:	 $15,417)	 and	 interest	 payments	 of	 $13,243	 (2013:	 $16,215)	 on	
these investments.

ATB’s	holdings	can	be	divided	into	three	general	types:

•	 Third-party	 ABCP	 restructured	 under	 the	 Montreal	 Accord	 (Master	 Asset	 Vehicle	 notes,	 or	
MAV	notes)

•	 Third-party	ABCP	restructured	outside	of	the	Montreal	Accord
•	 Bank-sponsored	ABCP	restructured	under	separate	agreements

All	are	debt	instruments	with	underlying	exposure	to	a	range	of	financial	instruments,	including	
residential mortgages, commercial loans, and credit default swaps.
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These	investments	were	short	term	when	first	purchased	by	ATB,	but	as	a	result	of	the	general	
credit	crisis	that	occurred	in	fiscal	2007–08,	they	were	restructured	into	longer-term	floating-rate	
notes with maturity dates that more closely matches the maturities of the underlying assets, as 
detailed	in	the	following	table:

As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands) Cost Coupon 

Expected 
principal 

repayment Credit rating
Third-party ABCP

MAV 1
Class A-1 $ 328,824 0.30%(1) Dec 2016 AA (low)
Class A-2 384,808 0.30%(1) Dec 2016 A
Class B 65,605 0.30%(1) Dec 2016 BBB (low)
Class C 26,818 20.0%(1) Dec 2016 None

Total MAV 1 806,055
MAV 3

Tracking notes for traditional assets 526 Floating(2) Sept 2016 None
Total MAV 3 526
Other 34,770 1.55%(1) Dec 2016 BBB (low)

Total third-party ABCP 841,351
Bank-sponsored ABCP 39,175 0%–0.35%(1) Sept 2016 BBB–A
Total ABCP $ 880,526

1 Spread over bankers’ acceptance rate.
2 Coupon rate floats based on the yield of the underlying assets.

All	the	ABCP	investments	have	been	designated	as	fair	value	through	net	income,	except	for	the	
MAV	3	notes,	which	have	been	classified	as	securities	available	for	sale.

MAV Notes
The	MAV	 1	 notes	 are	 supported	 in	whole	 or	 in	 part	 by	 the	 originally	 pledged	 collateral	 and	
synthetic	(or	derivative-type)	assets.	These	notes	are	subject	to	risk	of	loss	and	potential	additional	
collateral	calls	relative	to	the	leveraged	super-senior	trades	included	in	the	synthetic	assets.	The	
notes have different levels of subordination relative to potential losses and principal and interest 
payments.	Specifically,	C	notes	absorb	the	first	realized	losses,	followed	by	B	notes,	A-2	notes,	and	
A-1	notes.	In	addition,	interest	on	C	notes	is	cumulative	and	payable	only	when	the	principal	and	
interest	for	the	A-1,	A-2,	and	B	notes	is	settled	in	full.	Interest	on	B	notes	is	cumulative	and	payable	
only	when	the	principal	and	 interest	 for	 the	A-1	and	A-2	notes	 is	 settled	 in	 full.	The	structure	
is	designed	 to	ensure	 that	 the	 lowest-ranking	notes,	C	 and	B,	 absorb	 the	first	 losses,	 thereby	
reducing	the	risk	of	loss	on	the	A-1	and	A-2	notes.
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MAV	1	note	holders	are	 required	 to	provide	a	margin-funding	 facility	 (MFF)	 to	cover	possible	
collateral	 calls	 on	 the	 leveraged	 super-senior	 trades	 underlying	 the	 A-1,	 A-2,	 B,	 and	 C	 notes.	
Advances	 under	 this	 facility	 are	 expected	 to	 bear	 interest	 at	 a	 rate	 based	 on	 the	 bankers’	
acceptance	rate.	If	ATB	fails	to	fund	any	collateral	under	this	facility,	the	notes	held	by	ATB	could	
be	 terminated	 or	 exchanged	 for	 subordinated	 notes.	 In	 order	 to	 continue	 to	 participate	 in	 
MAV	1	and	self-fund	the	MFF,	ATB	will	have	to	maintain	a	credit	rating	equivalent	to	AA	(high)	
with	at	least	two	of	four	credit-rating	agencies.	If	ATB	does	not	maintain	the	required	credit	rating,	
it will be required to provide collateral or obtain the required commitment through another 
entity	with	a	sufficiently	high	credit	rating.	ATB’s	share	of	the	MFF	credit	commitment	is	$551,500,	
for	which	ATB	will	not	receive	a	fee.	To	recognize	the	fair	value	of	this	commitment,	$12,188	(2013:	
$16,628)	has	been	recorded	in	other	liabilities.	As	at	March	31,	2014,	no	amount	has	been	funded	
under	the	MFF.	

The	 Montreal	 Accord	 restructuring	 included	 an	 18-month	 post-closing	 moratorium	 period,	
during	which	time	margin	calls	could	not	be	made.	The	moratorium	period	expired	in	July	2010,	
and,	as	a	result,	ATB	is	now	exposed	to	collateralization	triggers.	

In	addition	to	the	MFF,	there	was	also	a	senior	funding	facility,	supported	by	the	governments	of	
Canada,	Quebec,	Alberta,	and	Ontario,	to	cover	possible	shortfalls	in	the	MFFs	under	MAV	1.	This	
facility	matured	in	August	2010.	ATB	and	all	other	investors	must	continue	to	pay	a	fee	to	cover	
the	cost	of	this	facility	until	December	2016.

ATB’s	MAV	 3	 notes	 are	 supported	 exclusively	 by	 traditional	 assets,	with	 interest	 and	maturity	
directly linked to the return and maturities of the underlying assets.

Other Third-Party ABCP
ATB	holds	one	non-MAV	third-party	note,	White	Knight,	with	exposure	to	leveraged	super-senior	
trades.	There	are	no	potential	collateral	calls	relative	to	this	note,	although	if	losses	were	to	occur,	
the	result	would	be	significant	based	on	the	amount	of	leverage	on	the	underlying	exposure.

Bank-Sponsored ABCP
ATB	 holds	 two	 bank-sponsored	 notes:	 one	 issued	 by	 Apex	Trust	 and	 one	 issued	 by	 Superior	
Trust.	These	notes	have	exposure	 to	 a	 combination	of	 commercial	mortgages	 and	 leveraged	
super-senior trades.
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Establishing Fair Value
As	at	March	31,	2014,	there	is	no	observable	market	price	for	the	various	ABCP	notes;	accordingly,	
ATB	has	estimated	the	fair	value	of	the	various	notes	using	a	valuation	technique.	The	table	below	
provides	a	breakdown	of	the	composition	and	fair	value	of	ATB’s	ABCP	holdings	as	at	March	31,	
2014	and	2013:

($ in thousands) 2013 cost

2013 
estimated  
fair value

Note 
redemptions

 Foreign-
 exchange

 impact(1) 2014 cost

2014 
estimated fair 

value
MAV 1 $ 894,519 $ 689,863 $ (90,634) $ 2,170 $ 806,055 $ 666,096
MAV 3 642 469 (116) - 526 374
Other third-party-

sponsored ABCP 34,770 26,175 - - 34,770 28,023
Bank-sponsored ABCP 67,021 57,012 (27,846) - 39,175 33,965
Total ABCP $ 996,952 $ 773,519 $ (118,596) $ 2,170 $ 880,526 $ 728,458

1 MAV 1 includes securities with a carrying value of $23,824 (March 31, 2013: $25,898) denominated in U.S. funds.

MAV Notes – Fair Value
ATB	has	estimated	the	fair	value	of	the	MAV	1	A-1,	A-2,	B,	and	C	notes	using	a	discounted	cash	
flow	model.	The	key	assumption	in	this	model	is	the	market	discount	rate.	The	market	discount	
rate	is	based	on	the	CDX.IG	index	tranches	adjusted	by	a	2.70%	premium,	where	an	increase	in	
this	premium	would	result	in	a	decrease	in	fair	value	on	certain	notes	held,	to	reflect	the	lack	of	
liquidity	inherent	in	these	notes.	The	coupon	rates,	term	to	maturity,	and	anticipated	cash	flows	
have	been	based	on	the	expected	terms	of	each	note.

The	 value	of	 the	MAV	1	 tracking	notes	 for	 ineligible	 assets	 and	 the	MAV	3	 tracking	notes	 for	
traditional assets has been estimated based on a review of the underlying assets.

ATB	has	recognized	a	$64,697	increase	in	fair	value	on	the	MAV	1	notes	and	a	$21	increase	in	the	
value	of	the	MAV	3	notes	this	year	(2013:	MAV	1	$77,736,	MAV	3	$12).

Other Third-Party ABCP
ATB	 holds	 an	 investment	 of	 $34,770	 in	 third-party-sponsored	 ABCP	 restructured	 outside	 the	
Montreal	Accord.	The	Dominion	Bond	Rating	Service	(DBRS)	currently	rates	this	 investment	as	
BBB	(low).	This	 is	an	increase	from	the	prior	year,	when	the	investment	was	rated	as	BB	(high).	
ATB	continues	to	estimate	the	fair	value	of	this	investment	based	on	a	review	of	the	underlying	
assets in the trust.



ATB Financial 2014 Annual Report 153

The	 estimated	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 other	 third-party-sponsored	 ABCP	 notes	 increased	 by	 $1,848	
(2013:	$3,899).	This	valuation	was	based	on	a	review	of	the	underlying	assets	in	the	trust.

Bank-Sponsored ABCP
ATB	also	holds	investments	in	certain	bank-sponsored	commercial	paper	that	were	restructured	
similarly	to	the	Montreal	Accord	notes.	The	valuation	of	these	notes	was	based	on	a	review	of	the	
underlying	assets	in	each	of	the	trusts.	The	estimated	fair	value	of	these	notes	increased	by	$4,799	
(2013:	$6,378)	during	the	year.	This	increase	in	value	during	the	year	was	due	to	an	improvement	
in the credit quality of the notes.

During	the	year,	the	Apex	Trust	notes,	which	were	previously	unrated	by	DBRS,	received	a	rating	
of	BBB.	

Income Impact
Because	of	the	measurement	uncertainty,	ATB	recognizes	interest	income	on	B	notes,	C	notes,	
and	the	tracking	notes	in	MAV	1	and	MAV	3	only	as	it	is	received—no	accruals	are	recorded.

In	 addition	 to	 the	 $13,423	 (2013:	 $16,215)	 in	 interest	 income	 recognized	 on	 its	 ABCP	 during	
the	year,	ATB	also	recognized	$4,440	(2013:	$4,380)	in	other	income,	representing	the	accretion	
of	the	MFF	deferral.	ATB	recorded	a	$73,556	adjustment	to	the	fair	value	of	the	ABCP	portfolio,	
compared	to	the	$88,634	recognized	in	2013.	

Measurement Uncertainty
There	remains	continued	uncertainty	regarding	the	amount	and	timing	of	cash	flows	and	the	
value	of	the	assets	that	underlie	ATB’s	ABCP.	Consequently,	the	ultimate	fair	value	of	these	assets	
may vary significantly from current estimates, and the magnitude of any such difference could 
be	material	to	ATB’s	financial	results.	The	most	significant	input	into	the	estimate	of	value	is	the	
market	discount	rate.	A	1%	increase	in	the	discount	rate	will	decrease	the	value	of	ATB’s	ABCP	
notes	by	approximately	$19,457	(2013:	$26,398).
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8. Loans

Credit Quality
Loans	consist	of	the	following:

Allowances assessed
As at March 31, 2014 
($ in thousands) Gross loans Individually Collectively Net carrying value
Business $ 15,167,687 $ 39,291 $ 35,125 $ 15,093,271
Residential mortgages 12,012,454 4,580 12,104 11,995,770
Personal 6,184,463 14,055 14,829 6,155,579
Credit card 651,931 - 11,407 640,524
Total $ 34,016,535 $ 57,926 $ 73,465 $ 33,885,144

Allowances assessed
As at March 31, 2013 
($ in thousands) Gross loans Individually Collectively Net carrying value
Business $ 12,732,228 $ 34,660 $ 31,318 $ 12,666,250
Residential mortgages 10,705,908 6,711 11,322 10,687,875
Personal 5,744,958 12,318 14,888 5,717,752
Credit card 598,256 - 11,672 586,584
Total $ 29,781,350 $ 53,689 $ 69,200 $ 29,658,461

The	total	net	carrying	value	of	the	above	loans	includes	loans	denominated	in	U.S.	funds,	totalling	
$783,050	as	at	March	31,	2014	(2013:	$477,101).	The	amount	of	foreclosed	assets	held	for	resale	as	
at	March	31,	2014,	is	$6,054	(2013:	$15,093).

Loans Past Due
The	following	are	loans	past	due	but	not	impaired	because	they	are	less	than	90	days	past	due	or	
because	it	is	reasonable	to	expect	timely	collection	of	principal	and	interest:

As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands)

Residential 
mortgages Business Personal Credit card(1) Total

Up to 1 month $ 97,139 $ 40,853 $ 42,816 $ 28,687 $ 209,495
Over 1 month up to 2 months 24,902 33,567 16,251 6,190 80,910
Over 2 months up to 3 months 8,357 4,068 3,450 2,440 18,315
Over 3 months 1,242 6,919 2,481 3,339 13,981
Total past due but not impaired $ 131,640 $ 85,407 $ 64,998 $ 40,656 $ 322,701

As at March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands)

Residential 
mortgages Business Personal Credit card(1) Total

Up to 1 month $ 192,657 $ 185,172 $ 43,324 $ 33,440 $ 454,593
Over 1 month up to 2 months 46,533 5,168 12,317 7,906 71,924
Over 2 months up to 3 months 5,077 3,833 7,306 2,532 18,748
Over 3 months 3,540 2,699 4,604 3,178 14,021
Total past due but not impaired $ 247,807 $ 196,872 $ 67,551 $ 47,056 $ 559,286

1  Consumer credit card loans are classified as impaired and written off when payments become 180 days past due. Business and agricultural credit card 
loans that become due for three consecutive billing cycles (or approximately 90 days) are removed from the credit card portfolio and transferred into 
the applicable impaired loan category
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Impaired Loans
Impaired	loans,	including	the	related	allowances,	are	as	follows:

As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands) Gross impaired loans

Allowances individually 
assessed Net carrying value

Business $ 64,307 $ 39,291 $ 25,016
Residential mortgages 63,255 4,580 58,675
Personal 36,478 14,055 22,423
Total $ 164,040 $ 57,926 $ 106,114

As at March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands) Gross impaired loans

Allowances individually 
assessed Net carrying value

Business $ 77,817 $ 34,660 $ 43,157
Residential mortgages 86,122 6,711 79,411
Personal 37,126 12,318 24,808
Total $ 201,065 $ 53,689 $ 147,376

Industry Concentration
ATB	is	inherently	exposed	to	significant	concentrations	of	credit	risk	as	its	customers	all	participate	
in the Alberta economy, which in the past has shown strong growth and occasional sharp 
declines.	ATB	manages	its	credit	risk	by	diversifying	its	credit	portfolio,	limiting	concentrations	in	
single	borrowers,	industries,	and	geographic	regions	of	Alberta.	As	at	March	31,	2014,	no	single	
industry	segment	represents	more	than	23.2%	(2013:	22.8%)	of	total	gross	business	loans,	and	no	
single	borrower	represents	more	than	0.43%	(2013:	0.28%)	of	the	total	gross	loan	portfolio.

9. Allowance for Credit Losses

The	 allowance	 for	 credit	 losses	 is	maintained	 at	 a	 level	management	 considers	 adequate	 to	
absorb	credit-related	losses	for	all	items	in	its	credit	portfolio.	(Refer	to	note	23.)	

The	continuity	of	the	allowance	for	credit	losses	is	as	follows:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Collectively assessed
Balance at beginning of the year $ 69,200 $ 67,472
Provision for credit losses 4,265 1,728
Balance at end of the year 73,465 69,200
Individually assessed
Balance at beginning of the year $ 53,689 $ 39,630
Writeoffs and recoveries (33,893) (30,136)
Provision for credit losses 38,130 44,195
Balance at end of the year 57,926 53,689
Total $ 131,391 $ 122,889
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10. Derivative Financial Instruments

The	 majority	 of	 ATB’s	 derivative	 contracts	 are	 over-the-counter	 (OTC)	 transactions	 that	 are	
privately	 negotiated	 between	 ATB	 and	 the	 counterparty	 to	 the	 contract.	 The	 remainder	 are	
exchange-traded	contracts	transacted	through	organized	and	regulated	exchanges	and	consist	
primarily	of	options	and	futures.	ATB	uses	the	following	derivative	financial	instruments:

Swaps
Swaps	are	transactions	in	which	two	parties	agree	to	exchange	defined	cash	flows.	ATB	uses	the	
following	types	of	swap	contracts:

•	 Interest	rate	swaps	are	OTC	contracts	in	which	ATB	exchanges	fixed-	and	floating-rate	interest	
payments with a counterparty based on an agreed notional principal amount denominated 
in	a	single	currency.	These	are	used	in	the	corporate	and	client	derivative	portfolio	to	manage	
exposure	 to	 interest	 rate	 fluctuations,	 primarily	 arising	 from	 the	 investment,	 loan,	 and	
deposit portfolios.

•	 Cross-currency	swaps	are	foreign-exchange	transactions	in	which	ATB	exchanges	interest	and	
principal	payments	in	different	currencies.	These	are	used	in	the	corporate	and	client	portfolio	
to	manage	ATB’s	foreign-exchange	risk.

Options
Options	 are	 OTC	 contractual	 agreements	 in	 which	 the	 party	 that	 writes	 an	 option	 contract	
charges	 the	buyer	a	premium	in	exchange	 for	 the	 right,	but	not	 the	obligation,	 to	either	buy	
or sell a specified amount of currency or financial instruments at a specified price on a future 
date	or	within	a	specified	time	period.	ATB	buys	specialized	forms	of	option	contracts,	such	as	
interest rate caps, collars, and swap options, as well as equity- and commodity-linked options 
direct	from	counterparties	in	the	OTC	market	(i.e.,	not	purchased	on	market	exchanges).	These	
are	used	in	the	corporate	derivative	portfolio	to	manage	exposure	to	interest	rate	and	equity	and	
commodity	market	fluctuations,	primarily	arising	from	the	loan	and	deposit	portfolios.	ATB	also	
buys and sells (or writes) similar option contracts relating to energy commodities in the client 
derivative portfolio.

Forwards and Futures
Foreign-exchange	or	commodity	forwards	are	OTC	transactions	 in	which	two	parties	agree	to	
either buy or sell a specified amount of a currency or security at a specific price or within a 
specified	time	period.	ATB	uses	 foreign-exchange	 forward	contracts	 in	both	 its	corporate	and	
client	derivative	portfolios	 to	manage	 currency	exposure,	 either	 arising	 from	 its	 own	 foreign-
currency-denominated	loans	and	deposits,	or	for	 its	customers.	Commodity	forward	contracts	
are used only in the client derivative portfolio.
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Futures	are	contractual	obligations	to	buy	or	sell	an	interest-rate-sensitive	financial	instrument	on	
a	predetermined	future	date	at	a	specified	price.	Futures	contracts	are	transacted	in	standardized	
amounts	 on	 regulated	 exchanges	 that	 are	 subject	 to	 daily	 cash	margining	 used	 only	 in	 the	
corporate derivative portfolio.

The	fair	value	of	derivative	financial	instruments,	segregated	between	contracts	in	a	favourable	
position (i.e., having positive fair value) and contracts in an unfavourable position (i.e., having 
negative	fair	value)	consists	of	the	following:

2014 2013
As at March 31  
($ in thousands)

Favourable
position

Unfavourable
position

Favourable
position

Unfavourable
position

Contracts ineligible for hedge accounting
Interest rate contracts
Swaps $ 5,433 $ (9,925) $ 3,482 $ (5,472)
Futures - (143) - -
Other 18,813 (18,830) 25,128 (26,290)

24,246 (28,898) 28,610 (31,762)
Embedded derivatives 
Equity- and commodity-linked deposits - (38,220) - (74,580)

- (38,220) - (74,580)
Foreign-exchange contracts
Forwards 5,855 (6,598) 3,034 (2,356)
Cross-currency swaps 12,701 (11,380) 4,894 (4,107)
Equity contracts
Options 38,028 - 74,531 -
Forward contracts
Commodities 249,203 (239,406) 107,999 (94,779)
Total fair value ineligible contracts 305,787 (257,384) 219,068 (207,584)

Contracts eligible for hedge accounting
Interest rate contracts
Swaps 62,498 (163) 67,440 -
Total fair value eligible contracts 62,498 (163) 67,440 -

Total fair value $ 392,531 $ (324,665) $ 286,508 $ (207,584)
Less impact of master netting agreements (73,458) 73,458 - -
Less impact of financial institution counterparty 

collateral held/posted - 128,300 (81,430) -
Residual credit exposure on derivatives to ATB $ 319,073 $ (122,907) $ 205,078 $ (207,584)

The	residual	credit	exposure	presented	above	includes	contracts	with	financial	 institution	and	
client	counterparties.	For	the	residual	amounts	above,	$256,661	(2013:	$61,678)	of	the	derivative	
asset	and	$97,424	(2013:	nil)	of	the	derivative	liability	exposure	relates	to	client	counterparties.
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The	amount	of	other	comprehensive	 income	expected	 to	be	 reclassified	 to	 the	Consolidated	
Statement	of	Income	over	the	next	12	months	is	$41,891	(2013:	$27,883).	This	will	be	offset	by	
gains	and	losses	on	assets	and	liabilities	that	were	hedged.	ATB	has	recognized	in	profit	and	loss	
during	the	year	$802	(2013:	$2,580)	relating	to	ineffectiveness	arising	from	its	cash	flow	hedges.

The	following	table	presents	the	expected	maturity	dates	on	which	hedged	cash	flows	will	be	
recognized	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Within 1 year $ 134,496 $ 78,385
1–2 years 155,077 64,110
2–3 years 185,121 45,397
3–4 years 218,634 24,847
4–5 years 148,299 18,205
Over 5 years 862,444 -
Total $ 1,704,071 $ 230,944

The	non-trading	 interest	 rate	 risk,	which	 is	 hedged	with	 interest	 rate	 swaps,	 has	 a	maximum	
maturity	of	10	years	as	at	March	31,	2014	(March	31,	2013:	5	years).

Term to Maturity
The	notional	amounts	of	derivative	 instruments	represent	the	underlying	principal	amount	to	
which	 the	specified	 rate	or	price	 is	applied	 in	order	 to	calculate	 the	amount	of	cash	flows	 to	
be	exchanged,	and	have	varying	maturity	dates.	Notional	amounts	do	not	represent	assets	or	
liabilities	and	are	not	recorded	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position.	The	remaining	
contractual	terms	to	maturity	for	the	notional	amounts	of	all	derivative	instruments	are	as	follows:
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Residual term of contract

As of March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands)

Ineligible 
for hedge 

accounting

Eligible 
for hedge 

accounting
Within

3 months
3–12

months
1–5

years
Over 5  

years Total
Over-the-counter contracts

Interest rate contracts
Swaps $ 7,562,635 $ 4,496,000 $ 425,000 $ 2,430,603 $ 8,324,975 $ 878,057 $ 12,058,635
Other 967,120 - 15,293 115,064 633,946 202,817 967,120
Embedded derivatives
Equity- and commodity-

linked deposits 182,339 - 23,250 104,744 54,345 - 182,339
Foreign-exchange 

contracts
Forwards 1,703,345 - 1,267,495 391,403 44,447 - 1,703,345
Cross-currency swaps 338,200 - - - 290,172 48,028 338,200
Equity contracts
Options 181,265 - 23,202 104,054 54,009 - 181,265
Forward contracts
Commodities 4,442,903 - 188,278 2,545,798 1,708,827 - 4,442,903

Exchange-traded contracts
Interest rate contracts
Futures 84,900 - 84,900 - - - 84,900

Total $ 15,462,707 $ 4,496,000 $ 2,027,418 $ 5,691,666 $ 11,110,721 $ 1,128,902 $ 19,958,707

Residual term of contract

As of March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands)

Ineligible 
for hedge 

accounting

Eligible 
for hedge 

accounting
Within

3 months
3–12

months
1–5

years
Over 5 

years Total
Over-the-counter contracts

Interest rate contracts
Swaps $ 4,762,824 $ 2,760,000 $ 1,590,000 $ 900,000 $ 5,032,824 $ - $ 7,522,824
Other 724,326 - - 39,704 684,622 - 724,326
Embedded derivatives 
Equity- and commodity-

linked deposits 299,509 - 8,363 85,132 206,014 - 299,509
Foreign-exchange 

contracts
Forwards 1,500,397 - 924,842 520,842 54,713 - 1,500,397
Cross-currency swaps 275,000 - - - 275,000 - 275,000
Equity contracts
Options 298,630 - 8,293 85,343 204,994 - 298,630
Forward contracts
Commodities 2,488,161 - 2,264 1,435,016 1,050,881 - 2,488,161

Exchange-traded contracts
Interest rate contracts
Futures - - - - - - -

Total $ 10,348,847 $ 2,760,000 $ 2,533,762 $ 3,066,037 $ 7,509,048 $ - $ 13,108,847

In	 addition	 to	 the	 notional	 amounts	 of	 derivative	 instruments	 shown	 above,	 ATB	 has	 certain	
foreign-exchange	spot	deals	that	settle	in	one	day.	These	deals	had	notional	amounts	of	$444,720	
as	at	March	31,	2014	(2013:	$280,800).
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Derivative-Related Credit Risk 
Derivative	financial	instruments	traded	in	the	OTC	market	are	subject	to	credit	risk	of	a	financial	
loss	occurring	if	a	counterparty	defaults	on	its	contractual	obligation.	ATB’s	maximum	credit	risk	in	
respect	of	such	derivatives	is	the	fair	value	of	all	derivatives	where	ATB	is	in	a	favourable	position.	ATB	
endeavours to limit its credit risk by dealing only with counterparties believed to be creditworthy 
and manages the credit risk for derivatives using the same credit risk process applied to loans and 
other	credit	assets.	Financial	institution	counterparties	must	have	a	minimum	long-term	public	
credit	rating	of	A	(low)	/A3/A–	or	better.	The	exposure	to	credit	risk	on	derivatives	is	also	reduced	
by	entering	into	master	netting	agreements	and	collateral	agreements	with	counterparties.	To	
the	extent	that	any	unfavourable	contracts	with	the	counterparty	are	not	settled,	they	reduce	
ATB’s	net	exposure	in	respect	of	favourable	contracts	with	the	same	counterparty.

The	 current	 replacement	 cost	 represents	 the	 cost	 of	 replacing,	 at	 current	 markets	 rates,	 all	
contracts	with	a	positive	fair	value	to	ATB.	The	credit	equivalent	amount	is	the	sum	of	the	current	
replacement	cost	and	the	potential	future	exposure,	which	is	defined	in	a	guideline	authorized	
by	 the	 Minister,	 which	 was	 modelled	 after	 guidelines	 governing	 other	 Canadian	 deposit-
taking	institutions.	The	risk-weighted	amount	is	determined	by	applying	standard	measures	of	
counterparty	credit	 risk	 to	 the	credit	equivalent	amount.	The	derivative-related	credit	 risks	 for	
derivative	instruments	are	as	follows:

2014 2013

As at March 31  
($ in thousands)

Replacement 
cost

Credit 
equivalent 

amount

Risk-
adjusted 
balance

Replacement 
cost

Credit 
equivalent 

amount

Risk-
adjusted 
balance

Contracts ineligible for hedge accounting
Interest rate contracts
Swaps $ 5,433 $ 36,014 $ 7,203 $ 3,482 $ 16,346 $ 3,269
Other 18,813 29,801 12,091 25,128 32,551 14,010
Foreign-exchange contracts
Forwards 5,855 24,666 7,132 3,034 20,227 5,582
Cross-currency swaps 12,701 21,405 6,264 4,894 11,769 5,884
Equity contracts
Options 38,028 49,984 9,997 74,531 96,549 19,310
Forward contracts
Commodities 249,203 727,669 286,176 107,999 377,832 132,390

Contracts eligible for hedge accounting
Interest rate contracts
Swaps 62,498 86,716 17,343 67,440 79,740 15,948

Total $ 392,531 $ 976,255 $ 346,206 $ 286,508 $ 635,014 $ 196,393
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11. Property and Equipment

($ in thousands)
Leasehold 

improvements
Computer 

equipment Buildings
Other 

equipment

Leasehold 
improvements 

under 
construction

Computer 
equipment 

under 
development

Buildings 
under  

finance  
lease Land Total

Cost
Balance as at April 1, 2012 $ 181,260 $ 90,519 $ 93,421 $ 51,830 $ 9,535 $ 6,210 $ 123,591 $ 7,470 $ 563,836
Acquisitions 23,501 4,717 2,471 8,381 10,800 19,972 48,745 - 118,587
Disposals (4,732) - (1,313) (950) (9,334) (10,481) (15,807) (90) (42,707)
Balance as at March 31, 2013 $ 200,029 $ 95,236 $ 94,579 $ 59,261 $ 11,001 $ 15,701 $ 156,529 $ 7,380 $ 639,716

Balance as at April 1, 2013 $ 200,029 $ 95,236 $ 94,579 $ 59,261 $ 11,001 $ 15,701 $ 156,529 $ 7,380 $ 639,716
Acquisitions 6,949 14,059 3,841 7,366 26,902 30,284 48,951 - 138,352
Disposals (9,208) (54) (441) (4,627) (6,726) (15,053) (3,447) (8) (39,564)
Balance as at March 31, 2014 $ 197,770 $ 109,241 $ 97,979 $ 62,000 $ 31,177 $ 30,932 $ 202,033 $ 7,372 $ 738,504

Depreciation
Balance as at April 1, 2012 $ 111,386 $ 61,245 $ 63,749 $ 36,625 $ - $ - $ 35,030 $ - $ 308,035
Depreciation for the period 12,372 15,373 2,555 5,962 - - 11,955 - 48,217
Disposals (2,260) - (1,198) (921) - - (2,952) - (7,331)
Balance as at March 31, 2013 $ 121,498 $ 76,618 $ 65,106 $ 41,666 $ - $ - $ 44,033 $ - $ 348,921

Balance as at April 1, 2013 $ 121,498 $ 76,618 $ 65,106 $ 41,666 $ - $ - $ 44,033 $ - 348,921
Depreciation for the period 11,816 12,814 2,314 6,693 - - 11,859 - 45,496
Disposals (8,673) (54) (225) (3,831) - - (3,030) - (15,813)
Balance as at March 31, 2014 $ 124,641 $ 89,378 $ 67,195 $ 44,528 $ - $ - $ 52,862 $ - $ 378,604

Carrying amounts
Balance as at March 31, 2013 $ 78,531 $ 18,618 $ 29,473 $ 17,595 $ 11,001 $ 15,701 $ 112,496 $ 7,380 $ 290,795
Balance as at March 31, 2014 $ 73,129 $ 19,863 $ 30,784 $ 17,472 $ 31,177 $ 30,932 $ 149,171 $ 7,372 $ 359,900

Depreciation	 expense	 charged	 to	 the	Consolidated	 Statement	 of	 Income	 for	 the	 year	 ended	
March	 31,	 2014,	 for	 premises	 and	 equipment	was	 $45,496	 (2013:	 $48,217).	There	was	 $1,555	
(2013:	$2,482)	in	impairment	write-downs	recognized	during	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014.	A	
loss	of	$1,010	(2013:	$654)	was	recognized	during	the	year	for	the	disposal	of	capital	assets.
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12. Software and Other Intangibles

($ in thousands) Purchased software
Software under 

development Other intangibles Total
Cost
Balance as at April 1, 2012 $ 387,377 $ 8,122 $ 2,125 $ 397,624
Acquisitions 7,600 12,022 - 19,622
Disposals (661) (6,515) - (7,176)
Balance as at March 31, 2013 $ 394,316 $ 13,629 $ 2,125 $ 410,070

Balance as at April 1, 2013 $ 394,316 $ 13,629 $ 2,125 $ 410,070
Acquisitions 16,443 14,697 - 31,140
Disposals (684) (11,999) - (12,683)
Balance as at March 31, 2014 $ 410,075 $ 16,327 $ 2,125 $ 428,527

Amortization 
Balance as at April 1, 2012 $ 83,175 $ - $ 1,582 $ 84,757
Amortization for the period 40,826 - 453 41,279
Disposals (551) - - (551)
Balance as at March 31, 2013 $ 123,450 $ - $ 2,035 $ 125,485

Balance as at April 1, 2013 $ 123,450 $ - $ 2,035 $ 125,485
Amortization for the period 37,535 - 90 37,625
Disposals (684) - - (684)
Balance as at March 31, 2014 $ 160,301 $ - $ 2,125 $ 162,426

Carrying amounts
Balance as at March 31, 2013 $ 270,866 $ 13,629 $ 90 $ 284,585
Balance as at March 31, 2014 $ 249,774 $ 16,327 $ - $ 266,101

Amortization	expense	 charged	 to	 the	Consolidated	 Statement	of	 Income	 for	 the	 year	 ended	
March	31,	2014,	for	software	and	intangibles	was	$37,625	(2013:	$41,279).	There	were	no	(2013:	
$110)	impairment	write-downs	recognized	during	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014.

13. Other Assets

Other	assets	consist	of	the	following:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Accrued interest receivable $ 97,457 $ 114,449
Prepaid expenses and other receivables 136,148 86,768
Other 25,574 16,536
Total $ 259,179 $ 217,753
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14. Deposits

Deposit	balances	consist	of	the	following:

As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands)

Payable  
on demand Payable on a fixed date Total

Within  
1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years

Personal $ 7,035,138 $ 2,544,982 $ 1,005,619 $ 1,012,673 $ 89,679 $ 152,358 $ 11,840,449
Business and other 9,472,974 5,597,985 135,626 229,336 17,493 22,575 15,475,989
Total $ 16,508,112 $ 8,142,967 $ 1,141,245 $ 1,242,009 $ 107,172 $ 174,933 $ 27,316,438

As at March 31, 2013  
($ in thousands)

Payable  
on demand Payable on a fixed date Total

Within  
1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years

Personal $ 6,936,478 $ 2,559,173 $ 1,200,919 $ 186,946 $ 134,457 $ 82,384 $ 11,100,357
Business and other 9,006,080 3,444,361 121,060 23,408 25,213 10,892 12,631,014
Total $ 15,942,558 $ 6,003,534 $ 1,321,979 $ 210,354 $ 159,670 $ 93,276 $ 23,731,371

The	total	deposits	presented	above	include	$756,120	(2013:	$725,207)	denominated	in	U.S.	funds.

As	 at	March	 31,	 2014,	 deposits	 by	 various	 departments	 and	 agencies	 of	 the	 Government	 of	
Alberta	included	in	the	preceding	schedule	total	$261,381	(2013:	$235,041).	

The	 repayment	of	 all	 deposits	without	 limit,	 including	 accrued	 interest,	 is	 guaranteed	by	 the	
Crown	in	right	of	Alberta	in	respect	of	which	the	Crown	assesses	an	annual	deposit	guarantee	fee	
payable	by	ATB.	For	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014,	the	fee	was	$37,592	(2013:	$29,036).

15. Collateralized Borrowings

Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB) Program
ATB	 periodically	 securitizes	 insured	 residential	 mortgage	 loans	 by	 participating	 in	 the	 CMB	
program.	 Through	 the	 program,	 ATB	 bundles	 residential	 mortgage	 loans	 guaranteed	 by	 the	
Canada	Mortgage	and	Housing	Corporation	(CMHC)	into	mortgage-backed	securities	(MBSs)	and	
transfers	them	to	the	Canada	Housing	Trust	(CHT).	CHT	uses	the	proceeds	of	its	bond	issuance	
to	finance	the	purchase	of	MBSs	issued	by	ATB.	As	an	issuer	of	the	MBSs,	ATB	is	responsible	for	
advancing	all	scheduled	principal	and	interest	payments	to	CMHC,	irrespective	of	whether	or	not	
the amounts have been collected on the underlying transferred mortgages. Amounts advanced 
but	not	 recovered	are	ultimately	 recovered	 from	the	 insurer.	The	sale	of	mortgage	pools	 that	
comprise	the	MBSs	do	not	qualify	for	derecognition	as	ATB	retains	the	prepayment,	credit,	and	
interest rate risks associated with the mortgages, which represent substantially all of the risks and 
rewards. Also included in the collateralized borrowing liabilities are accrued interest, deferred 
transaction costs, and premium and discounts, representing the difference between cash 
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proceeds and the notional amount of the liability issued. Accrued interest on the collateralized 
borrowing	 liability	 is	based	on	the	CMB	coupon	 for	each	 respective	series.	At	 the	 time	of	 the	
CMB	coupon	settlement,	any	excess	or	shortfall	between	the	CMB	coupon	payment	and	interest	
accumulated	with	swap	counterparties	is	received	or	paid	by	ATB.

There	are	no	expected	credit	 losses	on	the	securitized	mortgage	assets,	as	the	mortgages	are	
insured	against	default.	Further,	the	investors	and	CMHC	have	no	recourse	to	other	assets	of	ATB	
in the event of failure of debtors to pay when due.

As	 part	 of	 a	 CMB	 transaction,	 ATB	 must	 enter	 into	 a	 total	 return	 swap	 with	 highly	 rated	
counterparties,	exchanging	cash	flows	of	the	CMB	for	those	of	the	MBSs	transferred	to	CHT.	Any	
excess	or	shortfall	in	these	cash	flows	is	absorbed	by	ATB.	These	swaps	are	not	recognized	on	ATB’s	
Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position,	as	the	underlying	cash	flows	of	these	derivatives	
are	 captured	 through	 the	continued	 recognition	of	 the	mortgages	 and	 their	 associated	CMB	
collateralized borrowing liabilities. Accordingly, these swaps are recognized on an accrual basis 
and	are	not	fair	valued	through	ATB’s	Consolidated	Statement	of	Income.	The	notional	amount	of	
these	swaps	as	at	March	31,	2014,	is	$2,963,946	(2013:	$2,655,990).

Collateralized	 borrowing	 liabilities	 are	 non-amortizing	 liabilities	 with	 fixed	 maturity	 dates.	
Principal	 payments	 collected	 from	 the	mortgages	 underlying	 the	MBSs	 sold	 to	 the	 CHT	 are	
transferred	 to	 the	CHT	monthly,	where	 they	are	either	 reinvested	 in	new	MBSs	or	 invested	 in	
eligible	investments.	To	the	extent	that	these	eligible	investments	are	not	ATB’s	own	issued	MBSs,	
the	investments	are	recorded	on	ATB’s	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	as	securities	
measured	at	fair	value	through	net	income.	The	amount	of	investments	as	at	March	31,	2014,	is	
nil	(2013:	nil).

Credit Card Securitization
ATB	entered	into	a	program	with	another	financial	institution	to	securitize	credit	card	receivables	
to	obtain	additional	 funding.	This	program	allows	ATB	to	borrow	up	to	85%	of	the	amount	of	
credit	card	receivables	pledged.	The	secured	credit	card	receivables	remain	on	ATB’s	Consolidated	
Statement	 of	 Financial	 Position	 and	 have	 not	 been	 transferred	 as	 they	 do	 not	 qualify	 for	
derecognition.	Should	the	amount	securitized	not	adequately	support	the	program,	ATB	will	be	
responsible for funding this shortfall. 
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The	 following	 table	 presents	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 ATB’s	 residential	mortgage	 loans,	 credit	
card receivables, and assets pledged as collateral for the associated liability recognized in the 
Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Principal value of mortgages pledged as collateral $ 2,399,767 $ 1,583,120
ATB mortgage-backed securities pledged as collateral 

through repurchase agreements 562,092 1,070,049
Principal value of credit card receivables pledged as collateral 537,858 536,230
Total $ 3,499,717 $ 3,189,399
Associated liabilities $ 3,411,352 $ 3,103,492

16. Other Liabilities

Other	liabilities	consist	of	the	following:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 513,278 $ 428,139
Accrued interest payable 98,512 67,898
Payment in lieu of tax payable (note 21) 82,564 73,122
Deposit guarantee fee payable 37,592 29,036
Due to clients, brokers, and dealers 22,706 27,422
Achievement Notes (note 25) 37,466 22,546
Accrued pension-benefit liability (note 20) 65,278 138,042
Total $ 857,396 $ 786,205

17. Capital Investment Notes

Capital	investment	notes	are	five-year	non-redeemable	guaranteed	notes	issued	to	the	general	
public	that	qualify	under	ATB’s	capital	requirements	as	Tier	2	capital	to	a	maximum	of	$500,000.	
As	at	March	31,	2014,	$250,508	(2013:	$244,617)	of	these	notes	were	outstanding	with	a	fixed	rate	
of	return	of	4.25%	and	will	mature	in	fiscal	2014–15.

18. Subordinated Debentures

ATB	 privately	 places	 debentures	 with	 the	 Crown	 in	 right	 of	 Alberta.	 These	 debentures	 are	
subordinated to deposits and other liabilities and are unsecured, non-convertible, non-
redeemable,	 and	 non-transferable.	 They	 bear	 a	 fixed	 rate	 of	 interest	 payable	 semi-annually.	 
The	outstanding	subordinated	debentures	were	issued	with	an	original	term	of	five	years.	
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As	detailed	in	note	21,	since	March	31,	2011,	ATB	has	issued	subordinated	debentures	annually	to	
settle	the	outstanding	liability	for	ATB’s	payment	in	lieu	of	tax	for	each	fiscal	year.

Subordinated	debentures	consist	of	the	following:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands)
Maturity date Interest rate 2014 2013
June 30, 2015 3.6% $ 38,075 $ 38,075
June 30, 2016 3.6% 59,298 59,298
June 30, 2017 3.3% 58,280 58,280
June 30, 2018 3.4% 73,122 -
Total $ 228,775 $ 155,653

19. Salaries and Benefits

The	following	table	discloses	the	amounts	earned	by	board	members	and	key	senior	executives	
in	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014:

2014 2013

Base salary(1)

 Other 
  cash

 benefits(4)

Retirement 
and other post-

employment 
benefits

 Other
 non-cash

benefits(5) Total
 Total

restated(6)($ in thousands)
Incentive plan

Short-term(2) Long-term(3)

Chairman of the board $ 67 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 67 $ 57

Board members(7) 385 - - - - - 385 419
President and chief executive officer(8) 502 720 767 22 710 22 2,743 2,496
Chief risk officer 276 149 283 10 117 24 859 710
Chief financial officer 277 149 300 1 103 15 845 786
Chief people officer 276 186 329 33 25 24 873 700
Executive vice-president,  

Retail Financial Services 246 180 207 63 25 15 736 618
Executive vice-president,  

Corporate Financial Services 306 265 412 63 108 18 1,172 1,180
Executive vice-president,  

Business and Agriculture 261 279 371 34 25 21 991 890
President, ATB Investor Services 326 528 513 14 100 11 1,492 1,391
Chief strategy and operations officer 306 259 532 56 25 12 1,190 1,057
Senior vice-president, Reputation and Brand 256 140 287 16 25 11 735 650

1  Base salary consists of all regular pensionable base pay earned.
2 Short-term incentive plan pay is accrued based on goal attainment for the fiscal year but is paid after the fiscal year-end.
3  Long-term incentive plan pay is earned in the year, though payment is deferred for up to 36 months and depends on the employee’s continued 

employment with ATB. The actual amount each employee receives appreciates or depreciates from the amount reported above based on a specified 
methodology to reflect ATB’s actual financial performance over the next three fiscal years.

4  Other cash benefits consist of fees for attendance at meetings, retainers, honoraria, lump-sum payments, perquisite allowances, and other direct 
cash remuneration.

5  Other non-cash benefits consist of ATB’s share of all employee benefits and contributions or payments made on behalf of employees, including 
statutory contributions, health care, parking, group life insurance, accidental disability and dismemberment insurance, and long-term disability plans.

6  The amounts included for the prior-year column have been restated to reflect a correction.
7  The board consists of 11 members plus the chairman, whose remuneration is disclosed separately.
8  The incumbent does not participate in either the registered pension plan or the supplemental retirement plan, but does receive other 

post-employment benefits.



ATB Financial 2014 Annual Report 167

Retirement and Other Post-Employment Benefits
Retirement	 and	other	post-employment	benefits	presented	 in	 the	Salaries	 and	Benefits	 table	
reflect	 the	 period	 expense	 for	 pension	 and	 other	 post-employment	 benefit	 (OPEB)	 rights	 to	
future	compensation.	Executive	officers	may	receive	such	benefits	through	participation	in	either	
the	defined	benefit	(DB)	or	defined	contribution	provisions	of	ATB’s	registered	pension	plan	(the	
ATB	Plan)	 together	with	participation	 in	 the	non-registered	DB	 supplemental	 retirement	plan	
(SRP),	or	through	other	supplemental	post-retirement	benefit	arrangements.	(Refer	to	note	20.)

2014 2013

($ in thousands)
Registered plan 

service cost

 Supplemental
 and other post-
 employment
 benefit service

costs(1)
Prior service 

and other costs Total Total

President and chief executive officer(2) $ - $ 564 $ 146 $ 710 $ 651
Chief risk officer 13 64 40 117 104
Chief financial officer 13 63 27 103 91
Chief people officer 25 - - 25 10
Executive vice-president, Retail Financial Services 25 - - 25 18
Executive vice-president, Corporate Financial Services 13 63 32 108 95
Executive vice-president, Business and Agriculture 25 - - 25 24
President, ATB Investor Services 14 53 33 100 83
Chief strategy and operations officer 25 - - 25 24
Senior vice-president, Reputation and Brand 25 - - 25 22

1  As the SRP and the OPEB provided are unfunded obligations and are paid from operating revenues as they come due, none of the SRP and OPEB costs 
represent cash payments in the period; they represent the period expense for rights to future payments. These benefit costs also represent the total 
estimated cost incurred in the year ended March 31, 2014, to provide annual pension income over an actuarially determined post-employment period. 

2  The incumbent does not participate in either the ATB Plan or the SRP, but does receive OPEB.

The	accrued	SRP	and	OPEB	obligation	for	each	executive	is	as	follows:(1)

($ in thousands)
Accrued obligation 

March 31, 2013
Change in accrued 

obligation
 Accrued obligation

March 31, 2014(2)

President and chief executive officer(3) $ 2,894 $ 562 $ 3,456
Chief risk officer 894 115 1,009
Chief financial officer 570 95 665
Executive vice-president, Corporate Financial Services 688 100 788
President, ATB Investor Services 744 64 808

1  The executive vice-presidents of Business and Agriculture and Retail Financial Services, the chief people officer, and the chief strategy and operations 
officer do not participate in the SRP.

2  The accrued obligation is the amount of funds that would need to be set aside today to meet the obligations in the future based on predetermined 
assumptions. The discount rate was increased from 4.2% on March 31, 2013, to 4.5% on March 31, 2014, because of changes in market interest rates. 
Consequently, there was a decrease in the accrued obligation on March 31, 2014.

3  The incumbent does not participate in either the ATB Plan or the SRP, but does receive OPEB.
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20. Employee Benefits

Public Service Pension Plan (PSPP)
The	PSPP	 is	 a	multi-employer	pension	plan	 for	eligible	employees	of	 the	Province	of	Alberta,	
approved	provincial	agencies	and	public	bodies.	The	Minister	is	the	legal	trustee	for	the	plan	and,	
accordingly,	Alberta	Treasury	Board	and	Finance	is	the	manager	of	the	plan.	The	plan	is	governed	
by	the	Public	Service	Pension	Board.

The	plan	provides	a	pension	of	1.4%	for	each	year	of	pensionable	service	based	on	average	salary	
of	the	highest	five	consecutive	years	up	to	the	year’s	maximum	pensionable	earnings	and	2.0%	
on	the	excess,	subject	to	the	maximum	pension	benefit	limit	allowed	under	the	Income Tax Act.

As	 a	 participant	 in	 this	 plan,	 ATB	 and	 its	 participating	 employees	 are	 responsible	 for	making	
current service contributions sufficient to provide for the accruing service of members and the 
amortization	of	any	unfunded	liability.	ATB’s	share	of	the	current	service	contributions	(employer	
and	employee)	is	based	on	the	current	pensionable	earnings	of	active	ATB	participants	(prorated	
against	the	total	current	pensionable	earnings	of	all	active	PSPP	members).	The	employer	and	
employee	share	the	required	contributions	50/50.	

Although	 the	 PSPP	 pools	 all	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 of	 participating	 employers	 and	 there	 is	 no	
allocation of assets and liabilities to participating employers, in order to recognize an estimate 
of	its	current	liability	under	this	plan,	ATB	has	applied	defined	benefit	(DB)	accounting.	ATB	has	
estimated	its	share	of	the	fair	value	of	assets,	the	DB	obligation,	and	the	net	pension	liability	as	at	
March	31,	2014,	based	on	its	pro	rata	share	of	contributions	into	the	plan,	adjusted	for	its	pro	rata	
contribution	rate	(split	50/50	between	employer	and	employee).	ATB	reassesses	and	discloses	
the estimated value of this liability annually.

Registered Pension Plan – DB Provisions
ATB	provides	 its	management	 employees	with	 a	 registered	pension	plan	 (the	ATB	Plan)	with	
either	 DB	 or	 defined	 contribution	 (DC)	 provisions.	 The	 DB	 plan	 provides	 benefits	 based	 on	
members’	years	of	service	and	earnings.	The	DC	plan	provides	annual	contributions	based	on	
members’ earnings.

Effective	July	15,	2006,	ATB	finalized	arrangements	with	the	Government	of	Alberta	to	assume	
pension	obligations	 relating	 to	 current	ATB	employees	who	participated	 in	 the	PSPP	prior	 to	
joining	 the	 ATB	 Plan	 (the	 PSPP	 take-on).	The	 arrangements	 formalized	 ATB’s	 commitment	 to	
providing	 combined	 pensionable	 service	 (CPS)	 benefits	 for	 qualifying	 members	 whose	 CPS	
benefits	were	affected	by	the	withdrawal	of	ATB	from	the	Management	Employees	Pension	Plan.
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Following	execution	of	the	PSPP	take-on	agreements,	certain	assets	and	liabilities	were	transferred	
from	the	PSPP	into	the	ATB	Plan	in	respect	of	all	employees	promoted	to	management	positions	
between	January	1,	1994,	and	December	31,	2005,	who	were	employed	by	ATB	on	July	15,	2006.	
In	addition,	there	are	ongoing	annual	transfers	of	obligations	and	assets	in	respect	of	employees	
promoted into management positions in the previous calendar year.

Non-Registered Plans
ATB	 also	 provides	 a	 non-registered	 DB	 supplemental	 retirement	 plan	 (SRP)	 and	 other	 post-
employment	benefits	(OPEB)	for	designated	management	employees.	The	SRP	provides	benefits	
based	 on	members’	 years	 of	 service	 and	 earnings	 in	 excess	 of	 the	 Canada	 Revenue	 Agency	
maximum	pension	limits.

Plan Risks
The	DB	plans	expose	ATB	to	actuarial	risks	such	as	longevity	risk,	currency	risk,	interest	rate	risk,	
and	market	 risk.	 ATB,	 in	 conjunction	with	 the	 Human	 Resources	 Committee	 and	 Retirement	
Committee,	manages	risk	through	the	plans’	Statement	of	 Investment	Policies	and	Procedures	
and	Pension	Investment	Risk	Management	Policy,	which:	

•	 Establishes	allowable	and	prohibited	investment	types
•	 Sets	diversification	requirements
•	 Limits	portfolio	mismatch	risk	through	an	asset	allocation	policy
•	 Limits	market	risks	associated	with	the	underlying	fund	assets

Breakdown of Defined Benefit Obligation
The	breakdown	of	the	DB	obligations	for	each	plan	is	as	follows:

As at March 31 
($ in thousands)

2014
Registered plan Supplemental and other ATB’s share of PSPP

Active $ 208,023 $ 10,089 $ 126,930
Deferred 24,661 920 31,774
Pensioners and beneficiaries 112,309 3,102 95,708
Total defined benefit obligation $ 334,993 $ 14,111 $ 254,412

As at March 31 
($ in thousands)

2013
Registered plan Supplemental and other ATB’s share of PSPP

Active $ 197,900 $ 10,455 $ 141,484
Deferred 23,483 1,064 37,040
Pensioners and beneficiaries 103,419 2,980 103,288
Total defined benefit obligation $ 324,802 $ 14,499 $ 281,812
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Breakdown of Plan Assets
A	breakdown	of	plan	assets	for	the	ATB	Plan	is	as	follows:

2014 2013
As at March 31 
($ in thousands)

Non-quoted  
on an active market

Quoted  
on an active market

Non-quoted  
on an active market

Quoted  
on an active market

Bonds
Provinces, municipal corporations, 

and other public administrations $ - $ 126 $ - $ 145
Other issuers - 217,485 - 170,563

Shares - 140,072 - 129,351
Cash and money market securities - 936 - 2,521
Total fair value of plan assets $ - $ 358,619 $ - $ 302,580

Asset/Liability Matching Strategy
The	investment	policy	is	reviewed	each	year.	The	current	policy	is	to	match	those	assets	in	respect	
of	inactive	members	with	a	matching	fixed-income	portfolio.	For	active	members	with	liabilities	
that have other variabilities such as salary growth, assets are not matched but an equity-centric 
portfolio	is	held	(70%	benchmark	in	equities).	A	more	in-depth	asset/liability	study	is	conducted	
every three to five years, whereby the investment policy is reviewed in more detail.

Cash Payments
Total	cash	paid	or	payable	for	employee	benefits	for	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014—consisting	
of	cash	contributed	by	ATB	in	respect	of	the	DB	and	DC	provisions	of	the	ATB	Plan,	cash	payments	
made	directly	 to	beneficiaries	 for	 the	unfunded	SRP,	 and	cash	contributed	 to	 the	PSPP—was	
$57,900	(2013:	$97,094).	

Contributions	expected	during	the	upcoming	year	are	$15,957	(2013:	$25,549)	for	the	DB	portion	
of	the	ATB	plan,	$201	(2013:	$200)	for	the	unfunded	SRP	and	CPS,	and	$13,972	(2013:	$14,417)	
for	the	PSPP.	

Pension Plan Obligation Maturity Profile
For	2014,	the	weighted-average	financial	duration	of	the	main	group	plans	was	approximately	
17	years	(2013:	17	years).
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Net Accrued Benefit Liability
The	funded	status	and	net	accrued	pension-benefit	liability	for	the	DB	provisions	of	the	ATB	Plan	
and	the	other	pension	obligations,	which	include	the	PSPP,	SRP,	obligations	recognized	in	respect	
of	the	CPS	benefit	obligation	to	inactive	plan	members,	and	OPEB,	consist	of	the	following:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013 restated
Registered plan
Fair value of plan assets $ 358,619 $ 302,580
Projected benefit obligation (344,993) (324,802)
Net pension-benefit liability(1) $ 13,626 $ (22,222)
Supplemental and other
Unfunded projected benefit obligation, representing the plan funding deficit (14,111) (14,499)
Net pension-benefit liability (1) $ (14,111) $ (14,499)
ATB's share of PSPP
Fair value of plan assets $ 189,619 $ 180,468
Projected benefit obligation (254,412) (281,812)
Net pension-benefit liability (1) $ (64,793) $ (101,344)
Total net pension-benefit liability (1), (2) $ (65,278) $ (138,065)

1 Effect of asset limitation and IAS minimum funding requirements is nil.
2 There are no unrecognized actuarial gains/losses and past-service costs.

The	net	accrued	benefit	liability	is	included	in	other	liabilities	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	
Financial	Position	as	appropriate.	(Refer	to	note	16.)

Other Comprehensive Income
Registered plan Supplemental and other ATB’s share of PSPP

As at March 31  
($ in thousands)

2014 2013 
restated

2014 2013 
restated

2014 2013 
restated

Actuarial (loss) gain on plan assets $ (22,452) $ (2,239) $ - $ - $ 2,268 $ (13,251)
Effect of changes in demographic 

assumptions 20,801 - 504 - - -
Effect of changes in financial 

assumptions (19,438) 30,364 (593) 1,061 (9,150) 18,933
Experience (gain) loss on plan 

liabilities - - (1,347) 1,472 (32,084) 11,035
Amount recognized in other 

comprehensive income $ (21,089) $ 28,125 $ (1,436) $ 2,533 $ (38,966) $ 16,717
Beginning balance, accumulated 

other comprehensive income 77,927 49,802 4,117 1,584 33,512 16,795
Ending balance, accumulated other 

comprehensive income $ 56,838 $ 77,927 $ 2,681 $ 4,117 $ (5,454) $ 33,512
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Change in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations
Changes	in	the	estimated	financial	position	of	the	DB	provisions	of	the	ATB	Plan,	the	PSPP,	and	
the	SRP	and	OPEB	obligations	consist	of	the	following:

Registered plan Supplemental and other ATB’s share of PSPP
As at March 31 
($ in thousands)

2014 2013 
restated

2014 2013 
restated

2014 2013 
restated

Change in fair value of plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the 

year $ 302,580 $ 217,166 $ - $ - $ 180,468 $ 157,216
Contributions from ATB 25,660 74,426 621 200 13,664 12,160
Contributions from employees 1,188 1,329 - - - -
Interest income 13,034 12,978 - - 7,851 7,855
Actuarial gain (loss) on plan assets 22,452 2,239 - - (2,268) 13,251
Benefits paid (8,651) (9,343) (621) (200) (10,096) (10,014)
Net transfer in – PSPP 4,749 4,925 - - - -
Actual plan expenses (2,393) (1,140) - - - -
Fair value of plan assets at end of the year $ 358,619 $ 302,580 $ - $ - $ 189,619 $ 180,468
Change in defined benefit obligation
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of 

the year $ 324,802 $ 277,916 $ 14,499 $ 10,620 $ 281,812 $ 240,374
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions 20,801 - 504 - - -
Effect of changes in financial assumptions (19,438) 30,364 (593) 1,061 (9,150) 18,933
Experience (gain) loss on plan liabilities - - (1,347) 1,472 (32,084) 11,035
Current-service cost 4,234 3,280 1,123 1,030 12,032 9,899
Expenses paid - - - - - -
Contributions from employees 1,188 1,329 - - - -
Past-service costs 3,863 2,891 - - - -
Net transfer in – PSPP 4,749 4,925 - - - -
Interest expense 13,445 13,440 546 516 11,898 11,585
Benefits paid (8,651) (9,343) (621) (200) (10,096) (10,014)
Defined benefit obligation at end of the year $ 344,993 $ 324,802 $ 14,111 $ 14,499 $ 254,412 $ 281,812
Net pension-benefit asset (liability) $ 13,626 $ (22,222) $ (14,111) $ (14,499) $ (64,793) $ (101,344)
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Defined Benefit Pension Expense
Benefit	expense	for	the	DB	provisions	of	the	ATB	Plan	and	for	the	PSPP,	SRP,	and	OPEB	consists	of	
the	following:

Registered plan Supplemental and other ATB’s share of PSPP
As at March 31  
($ in thousands)

2014 2013 
restated

2014 2013 
restated

2014 2013 
restated

Current-service cost $ 4,234 $ 3,280 $ 1,123 $ 1,030 $ 12,032 $ 9,899
Past-service costs 3,863 2,891 - - - -
Interest expense 13,445 13,440 546 516 11,898 11,585
Interest income (13,034) (12,978) - - (7,851) (7,855)
Administrative expenses and taxes 1,022 1,140 - - - -
Net pension-benefit expense recognized $ 9,530 $ 7,773 $ 1,669 $ 1,546 $ 16,079 $ 13,629

Key Assumptions and Sensitivities
The	significant	assumptions	used	in	the	actuarial	determination	of	projected	benefit	obligations	
and	the	related	net	benefit	expense	are,	on	a	weighted-average	basis,	as	follows:

Registered plan Supplemental and other ATB’s share of PSPP
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Accrued benefit obligation as at March 31
Discount rate at end of year 4.5% 4.2% 4.5% 4.2% 4.5% 4.3%
Rate of compensation increase(1) 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.8%

Defined benefit expense for the year ended 
March 31
Discount rate at beginning of year 4.2% 4.9% 4.2% 4.9% 4.3% 4.9%
Rate of compensation increase(1) 3.5% 3.9% 3.5% 3.9% 3.8% 3.8%

ATB’s share of PSPP contributions - - - - 4.2% 4.7%

1 The long-term weighted-average rate of compensation increase, including merit and promotion.
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The	 following	 table	outlines	 the	possible	 impact	of	 changes	 in	certain	key	weighted-average	
economic	assumptions	used	to	measure	the	accrued	pension-benefit	obligations	as	at	March	31,	
2014,	and	the	related	expense	for	the	year	then	ended:

Registered plan Supplemental and other ATB’s share of PSPP
As at March 31, 2014  
($ in thousands)

Benefit 
obligation

Benefit  
expense

Benefit 
obligation

Benefit  
expense

Benefit 
obligation

Benefit  
expense

Discount rate
Impact of:  1.0% increase $ (50,038) $ (5,254) $ (1,472) $ (34) $ (36,320) $ (3,103)
  1.0% decrease 64,540 5,950 1,827 37 36,320 2,298
Inflation rate
Impact of:  1.0% increase 33,114 2,767 260 30 15,898 1,241
  1.0% decrease (29,027) (2,366) (255) (29) (15,898) (1,241)
Rate of compensation increase
Impact of:  0.25% increase 2,652 360 2 - 8,276 1,104
  0.25% decrease (2,592) (348) - - (8,276) (1,104)
Expected long-term rate of return on  

plan assets
Impact of:  1.0% increase (3,987) (1,329) (138) (12) N/A(1) N/A(1)

  1.0% decrease 4,414 1,523 147 14 N/A(1) N/A(1)

1 Mortality sensitivity information for the PSPP is not available.

This	sensitivity	analysis	should	be	used	with	caution	as	it	is	hypothetical	and	the	effect	of	changes	
in each significant assumption may not be linear. Also, the sensitivities in each key variable have 
been	calculated	 independently	of	changes	 in	other	key	variables,	 and	actual	experience	may	
result	 in	simultaneous	changes	to	a	number	of	key	assumptions.	Changes	in	one	factor	could	
result in changes to another that may serve to amplify or reduce certain sensitivities.

21. Payment in Lieu of Tax

Pursuant	to	the	ATB Act,	the	Government	of	Alberta	may	assess	a	charge	to	ATB	as	prescribed	by	
the ATB Regulation.	The	ATB Regulation	defines	the	charge	to	be	an	amount	equal	to	23%	of	ATB’s	
consolidated	net	income	as	reported	in	its	audited	annual	financial	statements.	The	payment	in	
lieu	of	tax	is	calculated	as	23%	of	net	income	reported	under	IFRS.	

As	at	March	31,	2014,	ATB	accrued	a	total	of	$82,564	(2013:	$73,122)	for	payment	in	lieu	of	tax.	
The	amount	outstanding	as	at	March	31,	2013,	was	settled	on	June	30,	2013,	with	ATB	issuing	a	
subordinated	debenture	to	the	Government	of	Alberta.	(Refer	to	note	18.)	The	payment	in	lieu	
of	tax	will	continue	to	be	settled	by	issuing	subordinated	debentures	until	ATB’s	Tier	2	notional	
capital	is	eliminated.	(Refer	to	note	26.)
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22. Related-Party Transactions

In	the	ordinary	course	of	business,	ATB	provides	normal	banking	services	to	various	departments	
and agencies of the Government of Alberta on terms similar to those offered to non-related 
parties.	(Refer	to	note	14.)	During	the	year,	ATB	leased	certain	premises	from	the	Government	of	
Alberta.	For	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014,	the	total	of	these	payments	was	$283	(2013:	$733).	
ATB	recognized	a	deposit	guarantee	fee	payable	to	the	Crown	in	right	of	Alberta	in	return	for	a	
guarantee	on	all	customer	deposits	and	a	payment	in	lieu	of	tax.	(Refer	to	notes	14	and	21.)	ATB	
also	has	subordinated	debt	outstanding	with	the	Crown	in	right	of	Alberta.	(Refer	to	note	18.)

ATB	entered	 into	a	wholesale	borrowing	agreement	with	 the	Minister	on	November	24,	2003	
(amended	November	9,	 2007).	Under	 this	 agreement,	 the	Minister	 acts	 as	fiscal	 agent	of	ATB	
under the Financial Administration Act and is involved in raising wholesale deposits in the 
marketplace.	As	at	March	31,	2014,	wholesale	borrowings	include	$2.7	billion	(March	31,	2013:	
$2.2	billion)	payable	to	the	Minister.

Key	management	personnel	are	defined	as	those	personnel	having	authority	and	responsibility	
for	planning,	directing,	and	controlling	the	activities	of	ATB,	and	are	considered	related	parties.	
ATB	provides	loans	to	key	management	personnel,	their	close	family	members,	and	their	related	
entities	 on	market	 conditions,	 with	 the	 exception	 of	 banking	 products	 and	 services	 for	 key	
management	personnel,	which	are	subject	to	approved	guidelines	that	govern	all	employees.	
As	at	March	31,	2014,	 there	was	$4,666	(2013:	$4,531)	 in	 loans	outstanding.	Key	management	
personnel	have	deposits	provided	at	standard	market	rates.	As	at	March	31,	2014,	there	was	$482	
(March	31,	2013:	$233)	 in	deposits	outstanding.	Key	management	personnel	compensation	 is	
disclosed	 in	note	19.	No	 impairment	 losses	were	recorded	against	balances	outstanding	from	
key management personnel, and no specific allowances for impairment were recognized on 
balances with key management personnel and their close family members.

Key	management	personnel	may	also	purchase	Achievement	Notes	based	on	their	role	within	
ATB.	 As	 at	March	 31,	 2014,	 there	was	 $5,337	 (March	 31,	 2013:	 $3,380)	 in	 Achievement	Notes	
outstanding	to	this	group.	There	were	no	termination	payments	(March	31,	2013:	nil)	made	to	
key management personnel during the year.
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23. Commitments, Guarantees, and Contingent Liabilities

Credit Instruments
In	 the	 normal	 course	 of	 business,	 ATB	 enters	 into	 various	 off-balance-sheet	 commitments	 to	
provide	customers	with	sources	of	credit.	These	may	include	letters	of	credit,	letters	of	guarantee	
and	loan	guarantees,	and	commitments	to	extend	credit.

All	 of	 these	 credit	 arrangements	 are	 subject	 to	 ATB’s	 normal	 credit	 standards,	 and	 collateral	
may	be	obtained	where	appropriate.	The	contract	amounts	represent	the	maximum	credit	risk	
exposure	to	ATB	should	the	contracts	be	fully	drawn	and	any	collateral	held	prove	to	be	of	no	
value.	As	many	of	these	arrangements	will	expire	or	terminate	without	being	drawn	upon,	the	
contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.

Letters of Credit
Standby	letters	of	credit	represent	an	irrevocable	obligation	to	make	payments	to	a	third	party	if	
the	customer	cannot	meet	its	financial	or	performance	contractual	obligations.	In	the	event	of	a	
call	on	such	commitments,	ATB	has	recourse	against	the	customer.

Documentary	and	commercial	letters	of	credit	require	ATB	to	honour	drafts	presented	by	third	
parties upon completion of specific activities. 

Guarantees
Guarantees also represent an irrevocable obligation to make payments to a third party in certain 
situations.	Guarantees	 include	contracts	or	 indemnities	that	contingently	require	ATB	to	make	
payments (either in the form of some asset or in the form of services) to another party based on 
changes	in	an	asset,	liability,	or	equity	the	other	party	holds;	failure	of	a	third	party	to	perform	
under	an	obligating	agreement;	or	failure	of	a	third	party	to	pay	its	indebtedness	when	due.	The	
term	of	these	guarantees	varies	according	to	the	contracts	and	normally	does	not	exceed	one	
year.	In	the	event	of	a	call	on	such	commitments,	ATB	has	recourse	against	the	customer.

Commitments to Extend Credit
Commitments	to	extend	credit	 represent	undertakings	by	ATB	to	make	credit	available	 in	the	
form	of	loans	or	other	financing	for	specific	amounts	and	maturities,	subject	to	certain	conditions,	
and include recently authorized credit not yet drawn down and credit facilities available on a 
revolving basis.
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The	 amounts	 presented	 in	 the	 current	 and	 comparative	 year	 for	 commitments	 to	 extend	
credit	 include	demand	 facilities	of	 $13,434,068	 (2013:	 $11,857,202).	 For	demand	 facilities,	ATB	
considers	the	undrawn	portion	to	represent	a	commitment	to	our	customer;	however,	the	terms	
of	the	commitment	allow	ATB	to	adjust	the	credit	exposure	if	circumstances	warrant	doing	so.	
Accordingly,	these	demand	facilities	are	considered	to	represent	a	lesser	exposure	than	facilities	
with	extended	commitment	terms.	Credit	facilities	are	contracted	for	a	limited	period	of	usually	
less	 than	one	 year	 and	may	 expire	 or	 terminate	without	being	drawn	upon.	The	 contractual	
amounts	of	all	such	credit	instruments	are	outlined	in	the	table	below:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Loan guarantees and standby letters of credit $ 550,659 $ 437,163
Commitments to extend credit 13,869,959 12,654,778
Total $ 14,420,618 $ 13,091,941

Pledged Assets
In	the	ordinary	course	of	business,	ATB	grants	a	security	interest	in	certain	collateral	(including	
securities, interest-bearing deposits with financial institutions, and loans and accounts) to the 
Bank	 of	 Canada	 in	 order	 to	 participate	 in	 clearing	 and	payment	 systems	 and	 to	 have	 access	
to	 its	 facilities.	ATB	also	pledges	securities	 to	Clearing	and	Depository	Services	 Inc.	 in	order	to	
participate in a settlement-agent credit ring.

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Assets pledged to:

Bank of Canada(1) $ 401,274 $ 401,293
Clearing and Depository Services Inc. 14,000 14,000

Total $ 415,274 $ 415,293

1 Assets pledged to the Bank of Canada include encumbered amounts of $101,406 (2013: $78,041).

In	addition	to	the	amounts	above,	ATB	has	pledged	assets	relating	to	certain	derivative	contracts	
and	collateralized	borrowing.	(Refer	to	notes	10	and	15.)	
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Indemnification Agreements
In	 the	normal	 course	of	operations,	ATB	enters	 into	 various	 agreements	 that	provide	general	
indemnification	to	the	other	party.	Examples	of	such	agreements	 include	service	agreements,	
leasing	agreements,	clearing	arrangements,	and	service	contracts.	These	indemnifications	may	
require	ATB,	in	certain	circumstances,	to	compensate	the	other	party	for	costs	incurred	as	a	result	
of	 various	 contingencies.	ATB	 also	 indemnifies	directors	 and	officers,	 to	 the	extent	permitted	
by law, against certain claims that may be made against them as a result of their services to the 
company.	The	terms	of	these	indemnifications	vary	based	on	the	contract,	the	nature	of	which	
prevents	ATB	 from	making	a	 reasonable	estimate	of	 the	maximum	potential	amount	 it	 could	
be	 required	 to	pay	 to	other	parties.	Historically,	 any	 such	amounts	have	not	been	 significant.	
No	amount	has	been	accrued	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	in	respect	of	
such indemnifications.

Contingent Liabilities
Various actions and legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business are pending 
against	ATB.	Management	does	not	consider	the	aggregate	liability,	if	any,	of	these	actions	and	
proceedings to be material.

Margin-Funding Facility
As	a	participant	of	MAV	1	under	the	Montreal	Accord,	ATB	must	provide	a	margin-funding	facility	
(MFF)	 to	cover	any	potential	collateral	calls	associated	with	 the	 leveraged	super-senior	 trades	
underlying	the	Montreal	Accord	notes.	ATB	has	the	same	rank	as	the	other	participants	 in	the	
MFF.	This	 credit	 commitment	 totals	$551,500	and	matures	 in	 July	2017.	ATB	does	not	 receive	
any	fee	for	providing	this	commitment.	The	advances	that	could	be	made	under	the	MFF	are	
expected	to	bear	interest	at	the	bankers’	acceptance	rate.	All	amounts	advanced	under	the	MFF	
will	take	precedence	over	amounts	payable	on	the	notes	issued	under	MAV	1.
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Contractual Obligations
ATB	has	various	obligations	under	 long-term	non-cancellable	contracts,	which	 include	service	
contracts	and	operating	leases	for	buildings	and	equipment.	The	expected	payments	for	such	
obligations	for	each	of	the	next	five	fiscal	years	and	thereafter	are	outlined	as	follows:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
2014 $ - $ 158,398
2015 132,623 78,176
2016 37,968 29,468
2017 13,603 7,219
2018 8,803 4,508
2019 3,096 4,935
Thereafter 7,020 -
Total $ 203,113 $ 282,704

The	total	expense	 for	premises	and	equipment	operating	 leases	charged	to	the	Consolidated	
Statement	of	Income	for	the	year	ended	March	31,	2014,	is	$3,961	(2013:	$11,323).

Finance Lease Commitments
The	future	minimum	lease	payments	required	under	ATB’s	finance	leases	were	as	follows:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Future minimum lease payments:

Not later than 1 year $ 26,011 $ 17,307
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 99,214 63,747
Later than 5 years 183,186 72,273

Total future minimum lease payments 308,411 153,327
Less: finance charges not yet due 126,541 47,498
Present value of finance lease commitments $ 181,870 $ 105,829
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24. Interest Rate Risk

Interest Rate Gap Analysis
Gap analysis involves the allocation of interest-rate-sensitive assets and interest-rate-sensitive 
liabilities into categories according to their maturity or repricing date. Gaps can change 
significantly	within	a	short	period	of	time.	The	impact	of	changes	in	interest	rates	on	net	interest	
income will depend upon the size and rate of change in interest rates, the size and maturity of 
the	total	gap	position,	and	management	of	these	positions	over	time.	ATB	actively	manages	its	
interest	 rate	gap	position	 to	protect	net	 interest	 income	while	minimizing	 risk.	The	 following	
table	shows	ATB’s	interest	rate	gap	position	as	at	March	31:

($ in thousands) Term to maturity/repricing
Fixed-rate 

within 3 
months

Floating-rate 
within 3 
months

Within  
3 months

3–12  
months

Total within 
1 year

1–5  
years

Over  
5 years

Non-interest- 
rate-sensitive Total

As at March 31, 2014
Assets
Cash resources  

and securities $ 279,314 $ 1,823,208 $ 2,102,522 $ 7,071 $ 2,109,593 $ 339,018 $ - $ 55,763 $ 2,504,374

Loans 5,100,814 14,905,332 20,006,146 3,313,597 23,319,743 9,932,200 303,792 329,409 33,885,144

Other assets - - - - - - - 1,277,711 1,277,711

Derivative financial 
instruments(1) - - 4,250,881 975,000 5,225,881 5,292,780 430,884 - 10,949,545

Total $ 5,380,128 $ 16,728,540 $ 26,359,549 $ 4,295,668 $ 30,655,217 $ 15,563,998 $ 734,676 $ 1,662,883 $ 48,616,774

Liabilities and equity
Deposits 13,690,131 354,188 14,044,319 3,236,483 17,280,802 3,573,596 304 6,461,736 27,316,438

Wholesale 
borrowings 119,466 669,006 788,472 - 788,472 1,911,445 - (5,756) 2,694,161

Collateralized 
borrowings 297,636 447,374 745,010 869,135 1,614,145 1,493,806 304,840 (1,439) 3,411,352

Other liabilities 34,225 - 34,225 - 34,225 - - 1,147,836 1,182,061

Capital investment 
notes - - - 250,498 250,498 - - 10 250,508

Subordinated 
debentures - - - - - 228,775 - - 228,775

Equity - - - - - - - 2,583,934 2,583,934

Derivative financial 
instruments(1) - - 7,123,665 750,000 7,873,665 2,883,824 192,056 - 10,949,545

Total $ 14,141,458 $ 1,470,568 $ 22,735,691 $ 5,106,116 $ 27,841,807 $ 10,091,446 $ 497,200 $ 10,186,321 $ 48,616,774

Interest-rate-
sensitive gap $ (8,761,330) $ 15,257,972 $ 3,623,858 $ (810,448) $ 2,813,410 $ 5,472,552 $ 237,476 $ (8,523,438)

As percentage of 
assets (18.0%) 31.4% 7.5% (1.7%) 5.8% 11.3% 0.5% (17.5%)

1 Derivative financial instruments are included in this table at the notional amount.
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($ in thousands) Term to maturity/repricing
Fixed-rate 

within 3 
months

Floating-rate 
within 3 
months

Within  
3 months

3–12  
months

Total within 
1 year

1–5  
years

Over  
5 years

Non-interest- 
rate-sensitive Total

As at March 31, 2013
Assets
Cash resources  

and securities $ 592,240 $ 1,607,709 $ 2,199,949 $ 39,875 $ 2,239,824 $ - $ - $ 102,168 $ 2,341,992

Loans 4,443,417 13,729,696 18,173,113 2,486,910 20,660,023 8,996,532 72,614 (70,708) 29,658,461

Other assets - - - - - - - 1,079,641 1,079,641

Derivative financial 
instruments(1) - - 4,092,000 400,000 4,492,000 3,125,000 325,000 - 7,942,000

Total $ 5,035,657 $ 15,337,405 $ 24,465,062 $ 2,926,785 $ 27,391,847 $ 12,121,532 $ 397,614 $ 1,111,101 $ 41,022,094

Liabilities and equity
Deposits 11,986,140 315,766 12,301,906 3,010,480 15,312,386 2,662,716 175 5,756,094 23,731,371

Wholesale 
borrowings 96,296 674,064 770,360 385,180 1,155,540 1,444,424 - (4,253) 2,595,711

Collateralized 
borrowings - 315,284 315,284 740,872 1,056,156 2,050,430 - (3,094) 3,103,492

Other liabilities 104,192 - 104,192 - 104,192 - - 889,597 993,789

Capital investment 
notes - - - 59 59 244,086 - 472 244,617

Subordinated 
debentures - - - - - 155,653 - - 155,653

Equity - - - - - - - 2,255,461 2,255,461

Derivative financial 
instruments(1) - - 6,762,000 - 6,762,000 1,180,000 - - 7,942,000

Total $ 12,186,628 $ 1,305,114 $ 20,253,742 $ 4,136,590 $ 24,390,333 $ 7,737,310 $ 175 $ 8,894,277 $ 41,022,094

Interest-rate-
sensitive gap $ (7,150,971) $ 14,032,291 $ 4,211,320 $ (1,209,806) $ 3,001,514 $ 4,384,223 $ 397,439 $ (7,783,176)

As percentage of 
assets (17.4%) 34.2% 10.2% (2.9%) 7.3% 10.6% 1.0% (18.8%)

1 Derivative financial instruments are included in this table at the notional amount.

The	 effective	 yield	 represents	 the	 weighted-average	 effective	 yield	 based	 on	 the	 earlier	 of	
contractual	repricing	and	maturity	dates.	The	weighted-average	effective	yield	for	each	class	of	
financial	asset	and	liability	is	shown	below:

(%)
Within  

3 months
3–12  

months
Total within  

1 year
1–5  

years
Over 5  

years Total
As at March 31, 2014
Total assets 3.1% 3.4% 3.2% 3.1% 3.6% 3.2%
Total liabilities and equity 1.0% 1.5% 1.1% 1.3% 2.9% 1.2%
Interest-rate-sensitive gap 2.1% 1.9% 2.1% 1.8% 0.7% 2.0%

(%)
Within  

3 months
3–12  

months
Total within  

1 year
1–5  

years
Over 5  

years Total
As at March 31, 2013
Total assets 3.2% 3.9% 3.3% 3.6% 2.3% 3.3%
Total liabilities and equity 1.0% 1.6% 1.1% 1.3% 0.9% 1.2%
Interest-rate-sensitive gap 2.2% 2.3% 2.2% 2.3% 1.4% 2.2%
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Interest Rate Sensitivity
The	following	table	provides	the	potential	impact	of	an	immediate	and	sustained	100-basis-point	
and	200-basis-point	increase	and	decrease	in	interest	rates	on	ATB’s	net	income:

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014 2013
Impact on net earnings in succeeding year from:

Increase in interest rates of:
100 basis points $ 19,795 $ 27,561
200 basis points 37,772 53,752

Decrease in interest rates of:
100 basis points (39,133) (40,307)
200 basis points (51,485) (44,292)

25. Achievement Notes

ATB	sold	Principal	at	Risk	Achievement	Notes	to	certain	eligible	employees	as	an	incentive	for	
promoting	 the	 growth	 of	 the	 subsidiaries	 of	 ATB	 Financial	 that	 provide,	 or	 will	 in	 the	 future	
provide,	services	under	the	ATB	Investor	Services	brand	name.	Under	this	plan,	eligible	employees	
could	purchase	a	25-year	note	with	a	rate	of	return	linked	to	the	value	of	certain	ATB	subsidiaries.	
Holders	of	these	notes	do	not	have	an	ownership	interest	in	ATB	or	its	subsidiaries,	nor	do	they	
have	the	rights	of	a	direct	holder	of	an	interest	in	ATB	or	its	subsidiaries.

Each	note	holder	is	entitled	to:

•	 A	 cash	 payment	 at	 maturity,	 representing	 the	 original	 invested	 amount	 adjusted	 for	 a	
proportionate	share	in	the	change	in	fair	value	of	certain	ATB	subsidiaries

•	 Cash	distributions,	if	any,	based	on	the	net	positive	dividends	paid	by	certain	ATB	subsidiaries	
to	ATB	

There	is	no	public	market	for	these	notes;	thus	the	valuation	is	based	on	a	model	prepared	by	
an	 external	 consultant	 using	market	 data	where	 available.	This	 valuation	model	was	 used	 to	
establish the initial purchase price of the notes and the changes in fair value period to period 
until the notes mature.

The	notes	are	not	redeemable	at	the	option	of	the	note	holder,	or	ATB,	prior	to	maturity,	subject	
to	the	occurrence	of	an	extraordinary	event	for	ATB	(i.e.,	winding	up,	dissolution,	or	liquidation	of	
ATB)	or	a	catastrophic	event	for	the	note	holder.	The	notes	are	not	guaranteed	under	the	deposit	
guarantee	provided	by	the	Crown	in	right	of	Alberta,	and	there	is	the	risk,	if	the	valuation	of	the	
ATB	subsidiaries	reduces,	that	the	note	holder	will	lose	some	or	all	of	the	original	investment.

During	 the	year,	ATB	 issued	$2,298	 (2013:	$2,667)	of	 these	notes,	which	are	 recorded	 in	other	
liabilities	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position.	During	the	current	year	$314	(2013:	
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$826)	of	the	notes	have	been	redeemed.	An	expense	of	$12,936	(2013:	$4,801)	was	recognized	
during	the	year	to	reflect	the	increase	in	the	fair	value	of	the	notes	based	on	their	valuation	as	
at	March	31,	2014.	As	at	March	31,	2014,	the	liability	for	these	notes	was	$37,466	(2013:	$22,546).

26. Capital Management

ATB	measures	and	reports	capital	adequacy	to	ensure	it	meets	the	minimum	levels	set	out	by	
its	 regulator,	 Alberta	Treasury	 Board	 and	 Finance,	while	 supporting	 the	 continued	 growth	 of	
its business. 

As	a	Crown	corporation,	ATB	and	its	subsidiaries	operate	under	a	regulatory	framework	established	
pursuant to the Alberta Treasury Branches Act	 and	 associated	 regulations	 and	 guidelines.	 The	
capital	adequacy	 requirements	 for	ATB	are	defined	 in	a	guideline	authorized	by	the	President	
of	Treasury	Board	and	Minister	of	Finance	 (the	Minister),	which	was	modelled	after	guidelines	
governing	other	Canadian	deposit-taking	institutions.	ATB’s	minimum	Tier	1	capital	requirement	
is	7%,	and	the	total	capital	requirement	is	the	greater	of	10%	of	risk-weighted	assets	or	5%	of	total	
assets.	Risk	weights	are	established	 for	various	on-balance-sheet	and	off-balance-sheet	assets	
according	to	the	degree	of	credit	risk.	Tier	1	capital	consists	of	retained	earnings,	and	Tier	2	capital	
consists of notional capital and eligible portions of the collective allowance for credit losses, 
subordinated	debentures,	and	capital	 investment	notes	(to	a	maximum	of	$500,000).	Effective	
March	30,	2009,	$600,000	of	notional	(or	deemed)	capital	was	made	available	to	ATB.	This	amount	
reduces	by	25%	of	net	income	each	quarter.

As	at	March	31,	2014,	ATB	has	exceeded	both	the	total	capital	requirements	and	the	Tier	1	capital	
requirement	of	the	Capital	Adequacy	Guideline.

As at March 31  
($ in thousands) 2014

2013  
restated (note 3)

Tier 1 capital
Retained earnings $ 2,591,694 $ 2,315,285

Tier 2 capital
Eligible portions of:

Subordinated debentures 124,800 97,433
Capital investment notes - 48,923
Collective allowance for credit losses 73,465 69,200
Notional capital 364,515 433,617

562,780 649,173
Total regulatory capital $ 3,154,474 $ 2,964,458
Total risk-weighted assets $ 27,355,286 $ 24,335,887
Risk-weighted capital ratios:

Tier 1 capital ratio 9.5% 9.5%
Total regulatory capital ratio 11.5% 12.2%
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27. Segmented Information

ATB	has	organized	its	operations	and	activities	around	the	following	four	business	segments	or	
areas	of	expertise:	

•	 Retail Financial Services	 comprises	 the	branch,	 agency,	 and	ABM	networks	 and	provides	
financial services to individuals.

•	 Business and Agriculture provides financial services to independent business and 
agricultural customers.

•	 Corporate Financial Services provides financial services to mid-sized and large corporate  
borrowers.

•	 Investor Services provides wealth management solutions, including retail brokerage, mutual 
funds, portfolio management, and investment advice.

The	four	identified	segments	differ	in	products	and	services	offered,	but	are	all	within	the	same	
geographic	 region,	as	virtually	all	of	ATB’s	operations	are	 limited	to	customers	 in	 the	Province	
of Alberta.

Basis of Presentation
Results	 presented	 in	 the	 following	 schedule	 are	 based	 on	 ATB’s	 internal	 financial	 reporting	
systems.	 The	 accounting	 policies	 used	 in	 preparing	 the	 schedules	 are	 consistent	 with	 those	
followed in preparing the consolidated financial statements, as is disclosed in the notes to the 
statements.	Since	these	areas	of	expertise	are	based	on	ATB’s	 internal	management	structure,	
they may not be directly comparable to those of other financial institutions.

Net	 interest	 income	 is	 attributed	 to	 each	 area	 of	 expertise	 according	 to	 ATB’s	 internal	 funds	
transfer	pricing	(FTP)	system,	whereby	assets	earn	net	interest	income	to	the	extent	that	external	
revenues	exceed	internal	FTP	expense,	and	liabilities	earn	net	interest	income	to	the	extent	that	
internal	FTP	revenues	exceed	external	interest	expense.	Individually	assessed	provisions	for	credit	
losses are allocated based on the individual underlying impaired loan balances, and collectively 
assessed provisions are allocated pro rata based on total performing loan balances.

Direct	expenses	are	attributed	between	areas	of	expertise	as	incurred.	Certain	indirect	expenses	
are	 allocated	between	 Investor	 Services	 and	 the	 other	 areas	 on	 the	 basis	 of	 interline	 service	
agreements.	Certain	other	costs	are	allocated	between	 the	 reporting	 segments	using	 refined	
allocation	methods	 incorporating	 activity-based	 estimates	 of	 indirect	 cost	 allocation.	 Indirect	
expenses	that	are	not	allocated	and	direct	expenses	of	a	corporate	or	support	nature	are	reported	
under strategic service units.
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($ in thousands)

Retail 
Financial 
Services 

Business and 
Agriculture

Corporate 
Financial 
Services

Investor 
Services

 Strategic
  service

 units(1) Total
March 31, 2014
Net interest income $ 374,781 $ 225,416 $ 245,187 $ 4,100 $ 116,528 $ 966,012
Other income 86,777 72,766 96,448 101,247 27,209 384,447
Total operating revenue 461,558 298,182 341,635 105,347 143,737 1,350,459
Provision for credit losses 12,662 8,454 20,423 - 856 42,395
Non-interest expenses 370,706 162,915 76,934 87,802 250,734 949,091
Income (loss) before payment in lieu 

of tax 78,190 126,813 244,278 17,545 (107,853) 358,973
Payment in lieu of tax - - - - 82,564 82,564
Net income (loss) $ 78,190 $ 126,813 $ 244,278 $ 17,545 $ (190,417) $ 276,409
Total assets $ 18,483,339 $ 5,712,616 $ 9,735,770 $ 136,640 $ 3,598,900 $ 37,667,229
Total liabilities $ 11,325,690 $ 8,005,506 $ 7,364,220 $ 97,454 $ 8,290,425 $ 35,083,295

March 31, 2013(2)

Net interest income $ 376,755 $ 208,119 $ 213,785 $ 4,480 $ 75,013 $ 878,152
Other income 86,934 66,753 80,008 76,096 41,794 351,585
Total operating revenue 463,689 274,872 293,793 80,576 116,807 1,229,737
Provision for (recovery of ) credit losses 26,025 (404) 17,051 - 3,251 45,923
Non-interest expenses 365,648 150,260 63,844 73,797 215,843 869,392
Income (loss) before payment in lieu 

of tax 72,016 125,016 212,898 6,779 (102,287) 314,422
Payment in lieu of tax - - - - 73,122 73,122
Net income (loss) $ 72,016 $ 125,016 $ 212,898 $ 6,779 $ (175,409) $ 241,300
Total assets $ 16,684,902 $ 4,808,883 $ 8,151,100 $ 136,376 $ 3,298,833 $ 33,080,094
Total liabilities $ 10,548,810 $ 7,113,886 $ 5,553,768 $ 105,623 $ 7,502,546 $ 30,824,633

1  Composed of business units of a corporate nature, such as investment, risk management, asset/liability management, and treasury operations, as well 
as expenses, collective allowances, and recoveries for credit losses not expressly attributed to any area of expertise.

2 Prior-period results have been restated based on a change in corporate allocation methodology and accounting policy.

28. Comparative Amounts

Certain	 comparative	 amounts	 have	 been	 reclassified	 to	 conform	 to	 the	 current	 period’s	 
presentation.
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Allowance	for	Credit	Losses

Total	 allowance	 for	 credit	 losses	 consists	 of	 individual	 and	 collective	 allowances.	 The	 allowance	
represents management’s best estimate of anticipated credit-related losses inherent in the 
loans portfolio.

Assets	Under	Administration	and	Management

Assets that are beneficially owned by customers for which management and custodial services are 
provided.	These	assets	are	not	reported	on	ATB’s	balance	sheet.

Average Assets

The	simple	average	of	the	daily	total	asset	balances	during	the	year.

Average	Earning	Assets

The	monthly	average	for	the	year	of	deposits	with	financial	institutions,	securities,	and	loans	excluding	
impaired loans and loan loss provisions.

Basis	Point

One	one-hundredth	of	one	per	cent	(0.01%).

Carrying	Value

The	value	of	an	asset	or	liability	as	reported	within	the	consolidated	financial	statements.

Cash	Flow	at	Risk	(CFaR)

The	statistically	modelled	change	in	replacement	costs,	relative	to	a	particular	expectation,	that	could	
be	experienced	due	to	the	impact	of	market	risks	on	a	specified	set	of	financial	instruments	(bonds,	
swaps, investments, etc.), over a particular period of time and selected confidence level.

Clean	Price

The	fair	value	of	the	assets,	excluding	accrued	interest.

Collateral

Assets pledged as security for a loan or other obligation.

Credit	Losses	to	Average	Loans

Provision	for	(recovery	of )	credit	losses	to	average	net	loans.

Derivative	or	Derivative	Contract

A contract whose value changes by reference to a specified underlying variable such as interest rates, 
foreign-exchange	rates,	or	equity	or	commodity	prices.	Use	of	derivatives	allows	for	the	mitigation	of	
current	or	expected	risks	relating	to	these	variables.	Derivatives	typically	require	little	or	no	initial	net	
investment	and	are	settled	at	a	future	date.	The	most	common	types	of	derivatives	ATB	uses	include	

Glossary
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interest	rate	swaps	and	forward-rate	agreements,	foreign-exchange	forward	contracts,	and	foreign-
currency, equity, and interest rate options and swap options.

Effective	Interest	Rate

A	rate	that	exactly	discounts	estimated	future	cash	payments	or	receipts	over	the	expected	life	of	
a financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or liability.

Efficiency	Ratio

Non-interest	expenses	for	the	year	divided	by	total	operating	revenue	for	the	year.	May	be	referred	to	
as the “productivity ratio” by other financial institutions.

Embedded	Derivative

A component within a financial instrument or other contract that has features similar to a derivative.

Equity-	and	Commodity-Linked	Options

A class of options that gives the purchaser the right but not the obligation to buy an individual share, 
a	basket	of	shares,	or	an	equity	or	commodity	index	at	a	predetermined	price,	on	or	before	a	fixed	
date,	on	a	fixed	date,	or	on	a	series	of	fixed	dates.

Fair	Value

Fair	value	is	the	amount	for	which	an	asset	or	liability	could	be	exchanged	between	knowledgeable,	
willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction.

Financial	Instrument

Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. A financial asset/liability is the right to receive/deliver cash or another 
financial	asset	or	the	right	to	exchange	financial	instruments	with	another	party	under	favourable	
or unfavourable conditions. An equity instrument is a contract that represents a residual interest in 
another entity’s assets.

Foreign-Exchange	Forward	Contract

A	commitment	to	buy	or	sell	a	fixed	amount	of	foreign	currency	on	a	future	specified	date	at	a	set	
rate	of	exchange.

Forward-Rate	Agreement

A contract between two parties whereby a designated interest rate, applied to a notional principal 
amount,	is	locked	in	for	a	specified	period	of	time.	The	difference	between	the	contracted	rate	and	
prevailing	market	rate	is	paid	in	cash	on	the	settlement	date.	These	agreements	are	used	to	protect	
against, or take advantage of, future interest rate movements.
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Forwards	and	Futures

Commitments	to	buy	or	sell	designated	amounts	of	securities	or	currencies	on	a	specified	date	at	a	
predetermined	price.	Forwards	are	customized	contracts	transacted	in	the	over-the-counter	market.	
Futures	are	traded	on	recognized	exchanges.

Guarantee	or	Letter	of	Credit

A contractual agreement to provide assurance that if a client defaults on payment to a third party, 
ATB	will	make	that	payment	under	specified	conditions.	ATB	has	recourse	against	its	clients	for	any	
such advanced funds.

Hedging

A risk management technique used to reduce uncertainty associated with current or anticipated 
exposure	 to	 future	 movements	 in	 interest	 rates,	 foreign-exchange	 rates,	 and	 equity	 or	
commodity prices.

Impaired	Loan

Loans	for	which	there	is	no	longer	reasonable	assurance	of	the	timely	collection	of	principal	or	interest.

Interest	Rate	Cap

Contract	whereby	the	buyer	pays	the	seller	a	premium	in	exchange	for	the	payment	of	any	difference	
above a set strike interest rate and the prevailing market interest rate on a predetermined basis.

Interest	Rate	Collar

The	simultaneous	purchase	of	an	interest	rate	cap	and	the	sale	of	an	interest	rate	floor	with	the	goal	
of	maintaining	interest	rates	within	a	defined	range.	The	premium	income	from	the	sale	of	the	floor	
reduces or offsets the cost of buying the cap.

Interest	Rate	Floor

Contract	whereby	the	buyer	pays	the	seller	a	premium	in	exchange	for	the	payment	of	any	difference	
below a set strike interest rate and the prevailing market interest rate on predetermined dates.

Market	Value	of	Equity

The	difference	between	the	current	fair	market	value	of	assets	less	the	current	fair	market	value	of	
liabilities.	Market	value	of	equity	does	not	attempt	to	measure	the	value	of	non-financial	assets,	such	
as	goodwill,	or	measure	an	external	expectation	of	value	based	on	future	enterprise	earnings	capacity.	
It	is	used	solely	to	measure	the	impact	of	market	risks	(e.g.,	interest	rates	and	foreign-exchange	rates)	
on the fair market value of financial instruments held or issued by the company.

Mark-to-Market

A	valuation	that	reflects	current	market	rates	as	at	the	balance	sheet	date	for	financial	instruments	
that are carried at fair value.
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Net	Impaired	Loans	to	Total	Gross	Loans

Impaired	loans	less	any	allowance	for	credit	losses	compared	to	total	loans	outstanding.

Net	Income

Net	income	net	of	payment	in	lieu	of	tax.

Net	Interest	Income

The	difference	between	interest	earned	on	assets,	such	as	securities	and	loans,	and	interest	paid	on	
liabilities, such as deposits.

Net	Interest	Margin

The	ratio	of	net	interest	income	for	the	year	to	the	value	of	average	total	assets	for	the	year.

Net	Interest	Spread

The	ratio	of	net	interest	income	for	the	year	to	the	value	of	average	earning	assets	for	the	year.

Net	Loans

Gross loans, net of loan loss provisions.

Net	Loan	Growth

Net	loans	outstanding	at	year-end	less	net	loans	outstanding	at	the	previous	year-end,	divided	by	
net	loans	outstanding	at	the	previous	year-end.

Notional	Amount

The	principal	value	used	to	calculate	 interest	and	other	payments	under	derivative	contracts.	The	
amounts	are	termed	“notional”	because	they	are	not	usually	exchanged,	except	in	the	case	of	cross-
currency swaps; they serve only as the basis for calculating amounts that do change hands.

Off-Balance-Sheet	Instruments

Assets or liabilities that are not recorded on the balance sheet but have the potential to produce 
positive	or	negative	cash	flows	in	the	future.	A	variety	of	products	offered	to	clients	can	be	classified	
as	off	balance	sheet,	and	they	fall	into	two	general	categories:	credit-related	arrangements,	such	as	
letters of credit, and the notional amount of derivatives for hedging.

Operating	Expense	Growth

The	current	year’s	non-interest	expenses	less	the	previous	year’s	non-interest	expenses,	divided	by	
the	previous	year’s	non-interest	expenses.

Operating	Revenue	Growth

The	current	year’s	total	operating	revenue	less	the	previous	year’s	total	operating	revenue,	divided	by	
the previous year’s total operating revenue.
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Option

Contract	between	two	parties	whereby	the	buyer	of	the	option	has	the	right	but	not	the	obligation	
to buy (call) or sell (put) a specified financial instrument or currency at a set price or rate on or before 
a specified future date, on a specified date, or on a series of specified dates.

Other	Income	to	Operating	Revenue

Other income for the year divided by operating revenue for the year.

Performing	Loans

Net	loans	excluding	the	impacts	of	securitization,	impaired	loans,	and	loan	loss	provisions.

Performing	Loan	Growth

Performing	loans	outstanding	at	year-end	less	performing	loans	outstanding	at	the	previous	year-
end, divided by performing loans outstanding at the previous year-end.

Provision	for	Credit	Losses

An amount charged to income that represents an amount deemed by management to fully provide for 
impairment	in	existing	credit	portfolios,	given	the	composition	of	the	credit	portfolios,	the	probability	
of default, the economic environment, and the allowance for credit losses already established.

Return	on	Average	Assets

Net income for the year divided by average total assets for the year.

Risk-Weighted	Assets

Value of assets calculated by applying a predetermined risk-weight factor to on- and off-
balance-sheet	exposures.

Securitization

The	 process	 by	 which	 a	 pool	 of	 financial	 assets,	 mainly	 loans,	 are	 converted	 into	 asset-backed	
securities and transferred to a trust that normally issues a series of asset-backed securities to investors 
to fund the purchase of loans.

Swaps

A	contractual	agreement	between	two	parties	to	exchange	a	series	of	cash	flows.	For	interest	rate	
swaps,	 counterparties	 generally	 exchange	 fixed-	 and	 floating-rate	 interest	 payments	 based	 on	 a	
notional	amount	in	a	single	currency.	For	cross-currency	swaps,	counterparties	generally	exchange	
one currency for another, at a set date.

Swap	Option	or	“Swaption”

An	option	on	an	interest	rate	swap.	The	buyer	of	a	swap	option	has	the	right	to	enter	into	an	interest	
rate	swap	agreement	by	some	specified	date	in	the	future.	The	swap	option	agreement	will	specify	
whether	the	buyer	of	the	swap	option	will	be	a	fixed-rate	receiver	or	fixed-rate	payer.
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Total	Asset	Growth

Total	assets	outstanding	at	year-end	less	total	assets	outstanding	at	the	previous	year-end,	divided	
by	total	assets	outstanding	at	the	previous	year-end.

Total	Deposit	Growth

Total	 deposits	 outstanding	 at	 year-end	 less	 total	 deposits	 outstanding	 at	 the	 previous	 year-end,	
divided	by	total	deposits	outstanding	at	the	previous	year-end.

Total	Operating	Revenue

The	total	of	net	interest	income	and	other	income.
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Our Branches

Airdrie	(2) Castor	 Fort	Macleod	 Leduc	 Provost	 Sylvan	Lake

Andrew Claresholm	 Fort	McMurray	(2)	 Lethbridge	(3)	 Raymond	 Taber	

Athabasca Coaldale	 Fort	Saskatchewan	 Linden	 Red	Deer	(3)	 Thorsby	

Banff	 Cochrane	 Fort	Vermilion	 Lloydminster	 Redwater	 Three	Hills	

Barrhead	 Cold	Lake	 Grande	Prairie	(3)	 Magrath	 Rimbey	 Tofield	

Beaverlodge	 Consort	 Granum Manning	 Rocky	Mountain	House	 Trochu	

Black	Diamond	 Coronation	 Grimshaw Mayerthorpe	 Rycroft	 Two	Hills	

Bonnyville	 Crossfield	 Hanna	 McLennan	 Ryley	 Valleyview 

Bow	Island	 Daysland	 High	Level	 Medicine	Hat	(3)	 Sherwood	Park	(2)	 Vegreville 

Boyle	 Didsbury	 High	Prairie	 Milk	River	 Slave	Lake	 Vermilion 

Breton	 Drayton	Valley	 Hinton	 Nanton Smoky	Lake	 Viking 

Brooks	 Drumheller	 Hythe	 Okotoks Spirit	River	 Vulcan 

Bruderheim	 Edmonton	(23)	 Innisfail	 Olds Spruce	Grove	 Wainwright 

Calgary	(26) Edson	 Jasper Onoway St.	Albert	(2)	 Westlock

Camrose	 Elk	Point	 Killam	 Oyen St.	Paul	 Wetaskiwin 

Canmore	 Fairview	 La	Crete	 Peace	River	 Stettler	 Whitecourt

Cardston	 Falher	 Lac	La	Biche	 Picture	Butte	 Stony	Plain	 Wildwood

Caroline	 Foremost	 Lacombe	 Pincher	Creek	 Strathmore	  

Carstairs	 Forestburg	 Lamont	 Ponoka	 Sundre	

Our Agencies

Acadia Valley 

Alberta	Beach	

Alder	Flats	

Alix	

Alliance 

Amisk 

Barons	

Bashaw	

Bassano	

Bawlf	

Beaumont	

Benalto	

Berwyn	

Big	Valley	

Blackfalds

Blackie	

Blairmore	

Bon	Accord	

Bonanza	

Bowden	

Bragg	Creek	

Bruce	

Calgary, 
11th Avenue

Calmar

Carbon

Carmangay	

Carseland	

Cereal	

Champion	

Chauvin	

Chipman	

Cleardale	

Clive	

Compeer	

Coutts	

Czar	

Delburne	

Delia	

Devon	

Dewberry	

Donalda	

Duchess	

Eaglesham	

Eckville	

Edberg	

Edgerton	

Edmonton, 
Edmonton	Centre

Elnora

Enchant	

Evansburg	

Fawcett	

Ferintosh	

Fort	Assiniboine	

Fox	Creek	

Galahad 

Gibbons 

Gleichen 

Glendon 

Glenwood 

Grande	Cache	

Grassland 

Halkirk	

Hardisty	

Hay	Lakes	

Heisler	

High	River	

Hines	Creek	

Holden	

Innisfree	

Irma	

Irricana	

Irvine	

Islay

Kinuso	

Kitscoty

Lake	Louise	

Lomond	

Lougheed	

Mallaig	

Mannville	

Marwayne	

Millarville	

Millet	

Minburn	

Mirror	

Morinville	

Morrin	

Mulhurst	

Mundare	

Myrnam	

Nampa 

New Norway 

New	Sarepta	

Newbrook 

Nobleford 

Paradise	Valley	

Peers	

Plamondon

Radway	

Rainbow	Lake	

Red	Earth	Creek	

Redcliff	

Rockyford	

Rolling	Hills	

Rosemary	

Sangudo	

Sedgewick	

Sexsmith	

Standard	

Stavely	

Stirling	

Strome	

Swan	Hills	

Tangent	

Thorhild	

Tilley	

Torrington	

Vauxhall	

Veteran 

Vilna 

Wabamun 

Wabasca 

Wandering	River

Wanham 

Warburg 

Warner 

Waskatenau 

Wembley 

Westerose 

Willingdon 

Winfield 

Worsley 

Youngstown
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